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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20463

VIA EMAIL January 19, 2022

E. Stewart Crosland, Esq.
Jones Day

51 Louisiana Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20001
scrosland@jonesday.com

RE: MURs 7207, 7268, and 7623
Donald J. Trump
Make American Great Again PAC (f/k/a
Donald J. Trump for President, Inc.) and
Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity
as treasurer

Dear Mr. Crosland:

On December 22, 2016, August 15, 2017, and July 25, 2019, the Federal Election
Commission notified your clients, Donald J. Trump and Make America Great Again PAC (f/k/a
Donald J. Trump for President, Inc.), and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer
(the “Trump Committee”), of the complaints in MURs 7207, 7268 and 7623, alleging that your
clients violated certain sections of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended.

On April 22, 2021, the Commission considered the complaints and their supplements but
was equally divided on whether to find reason to believe that Trump and the Trump Committee
violated 52 U.S.C. 8 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. 8 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting, accepting
or receiving an in-kind contribution from the Russian Federation in connection with Trump’s
press conference statement; that the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and
11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting a prohibited in-kind contribution from WikiLeaks;
and that the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. 8§ 30114(b), 30121 and 11 C.F.R.

88 113.1(g)(3), 110.20(g) by transferring a campaign committee asset without charge or by
knowingly soliciting a prohibited in-kind foreign national contribution in connection with polling
data allegedly sent by Trump Committee official Paul Manafort. Accordingly, on August 10,
2021, the Commission closed its file in these matters. On September 28, 2021, the Commission
reopened the file in these matters for further consideration. On January 13, 2022, the
Commission closed the files in these matters without making any additional findings.

Documents related to the case will be placed on the public record within 30 days. See
Disclosure of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702 (Aug.
2, 2016), effective September 1, 2016. A Statement of Reasons providing the basis for the
Commission’s decision will follow.


mailto:scrosland@jonesday.com

MUR726800263

E. Stewart Crosland
MURs 7207, 7268, and 7623
Page 2

If you have any questions, please contact Nicholas Bamman, the attorney assigned to this
matter, at (202) 694-1650 or nbamman@fec.gov.

Sincerely,

Claudio Pavia
Acting Deputy Associate General Counsel
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	August 4, 2017 
	Office of General Counsel Federal Election Commission 999 E Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20463 
	To Whom It May Concern, 
	I, Robert Sinnot, complainant, am filing this written complaint with the Federal Election Commission, against President Vladimir Putin of Russia, President Donald J. Tmmp of the United States, Mr. Paul Manafort, Mr. Jared Kushner, and the Presidential Election Commission of 2016, respondents, regarding the 2016 Presidential Election. 
	This complaint is based on the grounds that the 2016 Presidential Election was unfair, irreparably harmed by an act of war, and critical voter information was deliberately censored by the GOP. The Presidential Election Commission failed its mandated requirements for a fair and equal process for the 2016 Presidential election for a number of reasons including: (I) failing to insure that balloting was secure and not tampered with; (2) ignoring the expenses of foreign nationals used to disrupt the election pro
	President Vladimir Putin, the current president of Russia, ordered a political espionage campaign against the United States some time prior to 2015. There is publicly confirmed CIA acknowledgment of the order. I believe the goals of this espionage campaign were to hurt Secretary of State Hilary Clinton and to politically character-assassinate Mrs. Clinton so the targeted people either did not vote or voted for whoever the other candidate would be. The Russian government hacked the DNC, at least twenty-one v
	President Vladimir Putin, the current president of Russia, ordered a political espionage campaign against the United States some time prior to 2015. There is publicly confirmed CIA acknowledgment of the order. I believe the goals of this espionage campaign were to hurt Secretary of State Hilary Clinton and to politically character-assassinate Mrs. Clinton so the targeted people either did not vote or voted for whoever the other candidate would be. The Russian government hacked the DNC, at least twenty-one v
	accepted help from the Russians on June 9th, 2016. The extent of information passed and what quid pro quo agreements were made is as of yet, uncertain. Mr. Paul Manafort has been in the employment of the Russians to support illegally elected regimes. Mr. Jared Kushner has had multiple prior contacts with Russian businesses. 

	I believe that the above stated facts can be considered an act of war. Although its target was not infrastructure or our military, it deliberately damaged the election process, defeated a known enemy, Mrs. Clinton, and weakened our nation. All objectives of the Russian government have so far succeeded. In summary, our government failed to provide a fair and unbiased election for the President. Critical information was censored for political gain. The voting machines were tampered with. The voting process wa
	52 USC 30104 was violated. 
	Figure
	Complainant 
	Medford, OR 97504 
	STATE OF OREGON ) 
	) ss. County of Jackson ) 
	Sworn and subscribed before me this +-fit day of Avtrv5T , 2017, by Robert C. Sinnot. 
	Figure
	Notary Public, State ofOregon 
	Figure
	OFFICIAL STAMP CARRIE MERTZLUFFT NOTARY PUBLIC • OREGON COMMISSION NO. 942933 
	MY COMMISSION EXPIRES SEPTEMBEA 21, 2019 
	Figure
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	WASHINGTON, D,C. 20463 
	Megan Sowards Newton, Esq. 
	Megan Sowards Newton, Esq. 
	Megan Sowards Newton, Esq. 
	AUG 15 2017 

	Jones Day 
	Jones Day 

	51 Louisiana A venue, NW 
	51 Louisiana A venue, NW 

	Washington, DC 20001 
	Washington, DC 20001 

	TR
	RE: MUR 7268 

	TR
	Donald J. Trump 

	TR
	Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. 

	TR
	and Bradley T. Crate, as treasurer 

	Dear Ms. Newton: 
	Dear Ms. Newton: 


	The Federal Election Com.mission received a complaint that indicates your clients, Donald J. Trump, and Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer, may have violated the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the "Act"). A copy ofthe complaint is enclosed. We have numbered this matter MUR 7268. Please refer to this number in all future correspondence. 
	The Act affords you the opportunity to demonstrate in writing that no action should be taken against your clients, Donald J. Trump, and Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer, in this matter. If you wish to file a response, you may submit any factual or legal materials that you believe are relevant to the Commission's consideration ofthis matter. Where appropriate, statements should be submitted under oath by persons with relevant knowledge. Your respo
	available information. 
	This matter will remain confidential in accordance with 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(4)(B) and § 30109(a)(l2)(A) unless you notify the Commission in writing that you wish the matter to be made public. Please be advised that, although the Commission cannot disclose information regarding an investigation to the public, it may share information on a confidential basis with other law enforcement agencies. 
	1 

	Please note that you have a legal obligation to preserve all documents, records and materials relating to the subject matter ofthe complaint until such time as you are notified that the Commission has closed its file in this matter. See 18 U.S.C. § 1519. 
	The Commission has the statutory authority to refer knowing and willful violations ofthe Act to the Department ofJustice for potential criminal prosecution, 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(5)(C), and to report information regarding violations oflaw not within its jurisdiction to appropriate law enforcement authorities. Id. § 30107(a)(9). 
	Any correspondence sent to the Commission, such as a response, must be addressed to one ofthe following (llote, ifsubmitting via email this Office will provide an electronic receipt 
	by email): 
	by email): 
	by email): 

	Mail 
	Mail 
	OR 
	Email 

	Fe4eral Election Commission Office ofComplaints Examination anti l egal Administration Attn: Christal Dennis, Paralegal 999 E Street, NW Washington, DC 20463 
	Fe4eral Election Commission Office ofComplaints Examination anti l egal Administration Attn: Christal Dennis, Paralegal 999 E Street, NW Washington, DC 20463 
	CELA@fec.gov 


	Ifyou have any questions, please contact Christal Dennis at (202) 694-1650 or toll free at 1-800-424-9530. For your information, we have enclosed a brief description ofthe Commission's procedures for handling complaints. 
	Sincerely, 
	{)z9-~ 
	{)z9-~ 
	Jeff S. Jordan Assistant General Counsel Complaints Examination & Legal Administration 
	Figure
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 
	AUG 15 2017 
	AUG 15 2017 
	Paul Manafort 
	Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33418 RE: MUR 7268 
	Dear Mr. Manafort: 
	The Federal Election Commission received a complaint that indicates you may have violated the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the "Act"). A copy ofthe complaint is enclosed. We have numbered this matter MUR 7268. Please refer to this number in all future correspondence. 
	The Act affords you the opportunity to demonstrate in writing that no action should be taken against you in this matter. Ifyou wish to file a response, you may submit any factual or legal materials that you believe are relevant to the Commission's consideration ofthis matter. Where appropriate, statements should be submitted under oath by persons with relevant knowledge. Your response, which should be addressed to the General Counsel's Office, must be submitted within 15 days ofreceipt ofthis letter. Ifno r
	This matter will remain confidential in accordance with 52 U.S.C. §30109(a)(4)(B) and § 30109(a)(12)(A) unless you notify the Commission in writing that you wish the matter to be made public. Please be advised that, although the Commission cannot disclose information regarding an investigation to the public, it may share information on a confidential basis with other law enforcement agencies. 
	1 

	Ifyou intend to be represented by counsel in this matter, please advise the Commission by completing the enclosed form stating the name, address and telephone number ofsuch counsel, and authorizing such counsel to receive any notifications and other communications from the Commission. Please note that you have a legal obligation to preserve all documents, records and materials relating to the subject matter ofthe complaint until such time as you are notified that the Commission has closed its file in this m
	The Commission has the statutory authority to refer knowing and willful violations ofthe Act to the Department ofJustice for potential criminal prosecution, 52 U.S.C. § 30l 09(a)(5)(C), and to report information re2arding violations oflaw not within its iurisdiction to aoorooriate law enforcement authorities. Id § 30107(a)(9). 
	Any correspondence sent to the Commission, such as a response, must be addressed to one ofthe following (note, ifsubmitting via email this Office will provide an electronic receipt by email): 
	Mail 
	Mail 
	Mail 
	Email 

	Federal Election Commission 
	Federal Election Commission 
	CELA@fec.gov 

	Office ofComplaints Examination 
	Office ofComplaints Examination 

	and Legal Administration 
	and Legal Administration 

	Attn: Christal Dennis, Paralegal 
	Attn: Christal Dennis, Paralegal 

	999 E Street, NW 
	999 E Street, NW 

	Washington, DC 20436 
	Washington, DC 20436 


	Ifyou have any questions, please contact Christal Dennis at (202) 694-1650 or toll free at 1-800-424-9530. For your information, we have enclosed a brief description ofthe Commission's procedures for handling complaints. 
	Sincerely, 


	~01~ 
	~01~ 
	Jeff S. Jordan Assistant General Counsel Complaints Examination & Legal Administration 
	Figure
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	WASI-IINGTON, D.C. 20463 
	AUG 15 2017 
	AUG 15 2017 
	Jared Kushner 
	Washington, DC 20008 RE: MUR 7268 
	Dear Mr. Kushner: 
	The Federal Election Commission received a complaint that indicates you may have violated the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the "Act"). A copy ofthe complaint is enclosed. We have numbered this matter MUR 7268. Please refer to this number in all future correspondence. 
	The Act affords you the opportunity to demonstrate in writing that no action should be taken against you in this matter. Ifyou wish to file a response, you may submit any factual or legal materials that you believe are relevant to the Commission's consideration ofthis matter. Where appropriate, statements should be submitted under oath by persons with relevant knowledge. Your response, which should be addressed to the General Counsel's Office, must be submitted within 15 days ofreceipt oftbis letter. Ifno r
	This matter will remain confidential in accordance with 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(4)(B) and § 30109(a)(12)(A) unless you notify the Commission in writing that you wish the matter to be made public. Please be advised that, although the Commission cannot disclose information regarding an investigation to the public, it may share information on a confidential basis with other law enforcement agencies.
	1 

	If you intend to be represented by counsel in this matter, please advise the Commission by completing the enclosed form stating the name, address and telephone number ofsuch counsel, and authorizing such counsel to receive any notifications and other communications from the Commission. Please note that you have a legal obligation to preserve all documents, records and materials relating to the subject matter ofthe complaint unti\ such time as you are notified that the Commission has closed its file in this 
	The Commission has the statutory authority to refer knowing and willful violations ofthe Act to the Department ofJustice for potential criminal prosecution, 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(5)(C), and to report information regarding violations oflaw not within its jurisdiction to appropriate law enforcement authorities. Id. § 30107(a)(9). 
	Any correspondence sent to the Commission, such as a response, must be addressed to one ofthe following (note, if submitting via email this Office will provide an electronic receipt by email): 
	Mail 
	Mail 
	Mail 
	Email 

	Federal Election Commission 
	Federal Election Commission 
	CELA@fec.gov 

	Office of Complaints Examination 
	Office of Complaints Examination 

	and Legal Administration 
	and Legal Administration 

	Attn: Christal Dennis, Paralegal 
	Attn: Christal Dennis, Paralegal 

	999 E Street, NW 
	999 E Street, NW 

	Washington, DC 20436 
	Washington, DC 20436 


	Ifyou have any questions, please contact Christal Dennis at (202) 694-1650 or toll free at 1-800-424-9530. For your information, we have enclosed a brief description ofthe Commission's procedures for handling complaints. 
	Sincerely, 
	Figure
	Jeff S. Jordan Assistant General Counsel Complaints Examination & Legal Administration 
	Jeff S. Jordan Assistant General Counsel Complaints Examination & Legal Administration 
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	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 

	AUG 15 2017 
	AUG 15 2017 
	Donald Trump Jr. 
	721 5A venue 
	th 

	New York, NY I 0022 RE: MUR 7268 
	Dear Mr. Trump: 
	The Federal Election Commission received a complaint that indicates you may have violated the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the "Act"). A copy ofthe complaint is enclosed. We have numbered this matter MUR 7268. Please refer to this number in all future correspondence. 
	The Act affords you the opportunity to demonstrate in writing that no action should be taken against you in this matter. Ifyou wish to file a response, you may submit any factual or legal materials that you believe are relevant to the Commission's consideration ofthis matter. Where appropriate, statements should be submitted under oath by persons with relevant knowledge. Your response, which should be addressed to the General Counsel's Office, must be submitted within 15 days of receipt ofthis letter. Ifno 
	This matter will remain confidential in accordance with 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(4)(B) and § 30109(a)(12)(A) unless you notify the Commission in writing that you wish the matter to be made public. Please be advised that, although the Commission cannot disclose information regarding an investigation to the public, it may share information on a confidential basis with other law enforcement agencies. 
	1 

	Ifyou intend to be represented by counsel in this matter, please advise the Commission by completing the enclosed form stating the name, address and telephone number ofsuch counsel, and authorizing such counsel to receive any notifications and other communications from the Commission. Please note that you have a legal obligation to preserve all documents, records and materials relating to the subject matter ofthe complaint until such time as you are notified that the Commission has closed its file in this m
	The Commission has the statutory authority to refer knowing and willful violations ofthe Act to the Department ofJustice for potential criminal prosecution, 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(5)(C), and to report information regarding violations oflaw not within its iurisdiction to aoorooriate law enforcement authorities. Id. ~ 30107(a)(9). 
	Any correspondence sent to the Commission, such as a response, must be addressed to one ofthe following (note, ifsubmitting via email this Office will provide an electronic receipt by email): 
	Mail 
	Mail 
	Mail 
	Email 

	Federal Election Commission 
	Federal Election Commission 
	CELA@fec.gov 

	Office ofComplaints Examination 
	Office ofComplaints Examination 

	and Legal Administration 
	and Legal Administration 

	Attn: Christal Dennis, Paralegal 
	Attn: Christal Dennis, Paralegal 

	999 E Street, NW 
	999 E Street, NW 

	Washington, DC 20436 
	Washington, DC 20436 


	Ifyou have any questions, please contact Christal Dennis at (202) 694-1650 or toll free at 1-800-424-9530. For your information, we have enclosed a briefdescription ofthe Commission's procedures for handling complaints. 
	Sincerely, 
	Figure
	JeffS. Jordan Assistant General Counsel Complaints Examination & Legal Administration 
	Figure
	Digitally signed by 
	BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION Christal Dennis 
	Date: 2017.09.14 
	Date: 2017.09.14 

	) 15:53:56 -04'00' 
	) MUR 7265/7266/7268 
	) MUR 7265/7266/7268 
	) 
	RESPONSE OF DONALD J. TRUMP FOR PRESIDENT, INC. AND BRADLEY T. CRATE, AS TREASURER, TO THE COMPLAINTS 
	By and through undersigned counsel, Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., and Bradley T. Crate, as Treasurer, ("Respondents" or the "Campaign") respond to the Complaints in the above­captioned MURs. We respectfully request that the Commission find no reason to believe a violation has occurred, dismiss the Complaints, and close the files. 
	1 

	1 Since MUR 7266 appears to supplement the same allegations and repeat the same circumstances as MUR 7265 and MUR 7268, Respondents submit this response to address the allegations in all three Complaints. 
	1 Since MUR 7266 appears to supplement the same allegations and repeat the same circumstances as MUR 7265 and MUR 7268, Respondents submit this response to address the allegations in all three Complaints. 

	Introduction 
	Introduction 
	These Complaints state that federal campaign finance laws prohibit a person from "solicit[ing]" "a contribution or donation of money or other thing of value" from "a foreign national" "in connection with a Federal, State, or local election." 52 U.S.C. § 30121. That much is true. Yet the email record Complainants attach to their Complaint makes clear that the meeting at issue was not solicited by Donald Trump, Jr. but by Ms. Veselnitskaya or her associates, with the false promise that infonnation damaging to
	In any event, even assuming for the sake of argument that Donald Trump, Jr. (or any agent of the campaign) somehow "solicited" infonnation ---an assumption for which there is no evidence ---such infonnation would not amount to "a contribution or donation ofmoney or other 
	thing of value". Furthermore, any conversation in which such information is revealed would be 
	political speech, and such political speech is both encouraged by the law and takes place frequently in all campaigns as individuals, institutions and campaigns exchange ideas and information. This is not, and cannot be, a contribution under the Federal Election Campaign Act ("Act") or the Commission's regulations. 
	The Commission should dismiss these Complaints for four reasons: 
	I. The Complaints are legally deficient under the Commission's precedents because they fail to recite any facts that constitute a violation of the Act or Commission Regulations by the Campaign. 
	II. A conversation regarding a candidate's fitness for office is pure political speech protected by the First Amendment. 
	III. The information at issue does not meet the definition of a "contribution" under Commission Regulations, precedent or basic principles of statutory interpretation. 
	IV. Because the alleged information at issue does not meet the definition of a "contribution", it also could not have been "solicited" within the meaning ofthe Act. 
	At its core, a meeting between campaign representatives and those who seek to provide it with information or ideas cannot be a "contribution" or a "solicitation". As a practical matter, in every election cycle, advocates, experts, think tanks and interest groups, some of them representing foreign countries, meet with campaigns. Often campaign representatives meet with and solicit ideas on policies and politics from interest groups, university professors or representatives of foreign governments. These exper
	2 
	2 

	papers have never been considered a "thing of value" required to be reported as contributions or 
	prohibited as impermissible foreign contributions. 
	Neither the Act nor any other law requires a campaign to reject these ideas, meetings or information provided by representatives of these entities because the sources of the research are non-federal dollars. It has never been and it is not now a "contribution" ifa scholar leaves behind 
	a white paper developed with the research funds of an incorporated educational institution or a lobbyist leaves behind a white paper on an issue of importance to his union or her trade association in hopes those ideas make their way into a candidate's platform, speeches or web site. 
	As a matter of law, it does not matter if these advocates or experts are foreign nationals. The political attaches of many foreign governments meet with campaigns. As Clinton campaign chairman John Podesta acknowledged on MSNBC, meetings with foreign representatives by campaigns are common. Podesta said, "I think it's a sort of a little bit of a cottage industry for foreign representatives in the country to try to figure out what's happening, what's the likely result .. . so that they can report back to the
	3 
	no one has suggested that these forms ofspeech constitute "contributions" of"things ofvalue" or 
	resulted from improper "solicitations". 
	In the course of such meetings, it has never been a violation to seek a non-U.S. citizen's views on an issue impacting his or her country or to ask what he or she knows of a political opponent. If a representative of Great Britain offers a white paper on how the U.S. and its leaders might approach Brexit, it cannot be a violation to accept that product. Even if a representative of a foreign government or a non-U.S. citizen presents negative information about a political opponent, it is not a violation ofthe
	Significantly, the Complaint here does not allege that the Clinton campaign, the Democratic Party or its operatives violated the law for accepting and pedaling the infamous "Steele Dossier" prepared by Fusion GPS concerning Donald Trump. As The Independent reported earlier this year, "Fusion GPS, which is based in Washington DC and was established by former Wall Street Journal reporters Glenn Simpson and Peter Fritsch, found itself in the spotlight earlier this year after it was discovered to have been behi
	The Complaint alleges, without a shred of evidence, that "opposition research" was exchanged and should be a "thing ofvalue". Yet in MUR 6958 (Senator Claire McCaskill et al.) 
	4 
	the Commission dismissed a similar complaint which involved a conversation in which polling 
	infonnation was exchanged. As Senator McCaskill's attorney, Marc Elias (who also represented Hillary Clinton's Presidential campaign) successfully argued: "[I]t would be antithetical to that [American political] tradition to suggest that the Federal Election Commission should step in to regulate [conversations] as 'contributions."' Response of McCaskill for Missouri in MUR 6958 
	at I. 
	I. The Complaints Are Legally Deficient and Must Be Dismissed Because They Fail to Clearly and Concisely Recite Any Facts That Constitute a Violation of the Act or Commission Regulations by the Campaign. 
	Under the Act and Commission regulations, a complaint must satisfy specific requirements in order to be deemed legally sufficient. Specifically, a complaint must contain a "clear and concise recitation ofthe facts which describe a violation ofstatute or regulation over which the Commission has jurisdiction." 11 C.F.R. § l l I.4(d)(3). Indeed, absent such a "clear and concise recitation ofthe facts," a complaint is legally deficient and must be dismissed. See MUR 6554 (Friends of Weiner), Factual and Legal A
	Consistent with these regulatory requirements, the Commission has already made clear that simple speculation by a complainant is insufficient and does not establish that there is reason to believe a violation occurred. MUR 5467 (Michael Moore), First General Counsel's Report at 5 ("Purely speculative charges, especially when accompanied by a direct refutation, do not form the adequate basis to find reason to believe that a violation of [the Act] has occurred" (quoting 
	5 
	5 

	MUR 4960 Statement ofReasons at 3)). Due process and fundamental fairness dictate that the 
	burden must not shift to a respondent merely because a complaint is filed with the Commission. See MUR 4850 (Deloitte & Touche, LLP), Statement of Reasons of Chairman Darryl R. Wold and Commissioners David M. Mason and Scott E. Thomas at 2 (rejecting the Office ofGeneral Counsel's recommendation to find reason to believe because the respondent did not specifically deny conclusory allegations, and holding that "[a] mere conclusory allegation without any supporting evidence does not shift the burden ofproof t
	Furthermore, "the RTB standard does not permit a complainant to present mere allegations that the Act has been violated and request that the Commission undertake an investigation to determine whether there are facts to support the charges [ ... ] . The Commission must have more than anonymous suppositions, unswom statements and unanswered questions before it can vote to find RTB and thereby commence an investigation." See MUR 6056 (Protect Colorado Jobs, Inc.), Statement of Reasons ofVice Chairman Matthew S
	These Complaints' wishful legal theories do not satisfy the Commission's regulatory requirements to support a reason to believe finding. Machinists Non-partisan Political Action 
	6 
	Comm. v. FEC, 655 F.2d 380, 388 (D.C. Cir. 1981) ("[M]ere 'official curiosity' will not suffice 
	as the basis for FEC investigations"). 

	II. A Conversation Regarding a Candidate's Fitness for Office Is Pure Political Speech Protected by The First Amendment. 
	II. A Conversation Regarding a Candidate's Fitness for Office Is Pure Political Speech Protected by The First Amendment. 
	A conversation in which information regarding a candidate's fitness for office is revealed is pure political speech protected by the First Amendment, which prohibits any reading that treats speech as a "thing of value" regulated by the campaign finance laws. The cornerstone of the Supreme Court's modem campaign finance jurisprudence is the distinction between engaging in "pure (political] expression" and making a political contribution. Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. I, 17 ( 1976). Congress, of course, lacks th
	7 
	These observations apply with full force to speech about a political candidate's flaws. 
	The First Amendment protects the rights of speakers to engage in "criticism of [a political candidate's] character and her fitness for the office of the Presidency," and the rights of listeners to hear such criticisms. Citizens United v. FEC, 558 U.S. 310, 325 (2010). Speakers thus have the right to present, and campaigns have the right to request, infonnation about political candidates. And Congress has no constitutional authority to criminalize such an exchange of information by labeling it a "contributio
	This equally is true when the source of the infonnation is a foreign national. It is "inherent in the nature ofthe political process" that candidates and voters "must be free to obtain infonnation from diverse sources" in order to determine how to campaign and to cast their votes. Id. at 341. And while foreign nationals may not have a First Amendment right to make monetary or in-kind contributions in American elections (see Bluman v. FEC, 800 F. Supp. 2d 281, 288 (2011)), American citizens unquestionably ha
	Moreover, even if viewed exclusively from the perspective of the foreign national' s right to speak, Bluman itself made clear that such people have a right to "speak out" about political issues. Bluman, at 290; see Bridges v. Wixon, 326 U.S. 135, 148 (1945). Indeed, 
	800 F.Supp.2d 

	8 
	as John Podesta's comments earlier this year acknowledged, foreign nationals, often but not 
	always embassy attaches, regularly talk to campaign staff (since foreign governments want to keep track of the campaigns) and sometimes help campaigns, see p. 3, supra. Presumably in these meetings, U.S. campaign staff can seek information about developments in the foreign country from the foreign embassy attaches or foreign nationals and that information can be used 
	by the campaign without triggering a contribution. 
	A contrary understanding of the First Amendment would lead to bizarre results. Under such a reading, for example, ifa politician violates the law by hiring an illegal alien to work as a nanny, Congress could prohibit the nanny from revealing this to the opposing campaign. If a politician hires a foreign prostitute, Congress could prohibit a campaign staffer from asking for information about the scandal. These outcomes, of course, cannot be squared with the bedrock principle that "debate on the fitness of ca
	III. The Information at Issue Does Not Meet the Definition ofA 'Contribution' Under the Act, Commission Regulations or Commission Precedent. 
	The Act defines "contribution" to mean "any gift, subscription, loan, advance or deposit of money or anything of value made by any person for the purpose ofinfluencing any election for Federal office." 52 U.S.C. § 30101(8)(A)(i); see also l l C.F.R. §§ . Yet the campaign finance regulations have never been read to construe a mere conversation between an individual and a campaign as a "contribution." The phrase "contribution or donation ofmoney or other thing ofvalue" indicates the item must have ascertainab
	100.51-100.56
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	9 

	perfectly natural to refer to items with an ascertainable monetary value as a "contribution or 
	donation"; one might contribute non-monetary items to a political campaign such as office equipment and supplies, polling data, a donor list, or shares ofstock. But no one would use the words "contribution" or "donation" to characterize a conversation between a third party and a campaign regarding the shortcomings ofan opposing candidate. 
	This commonsense notion is confinned by precedent. In recently decided MUR 6958, three Commissioners concluded that a pollster "discussing poll results 'in general"' with a campaign committee but not providing the recipient with "access to data, cross-tabulations, questions asked, and methodology" is not "something of value." MUR 6958 (Senator Claire McCaskill et al.), Statement of Reasons of Vice Chair Caroline C. Hunter and Commissioners Lee E. Goodman, and Matthew S. Peterson at 6-7. In voting against fi
	Even so, Complainants attempt to twist several advisory opinionsand enforcement actions to support their position that information can qualify as a "thing ofvalue." To be sure, the FEC has treated information as a "thing ofvalue" when it comes in the form ofa commercially distributed product that has an ascertainable value -for example, a voter contact list or a collection ofpoll results. See, e.g., Advisory Opinion 1990-12 (treating poll results as a thing ofvalue); Advisory Opinion 2007-22 (treating voter
	2 

	As the Commission understands, advisory opinions are specific to the activity set forth in a request and may not be used as a sword against others. 
	2 

	11 
	vendors provided information with no ascertainable commercial value and without any 
	contractual obligation to provide such information. 
	Taken to its logical conclusion, Complainants would have the Commission find that representatives ofthe Center for American Progress or the Heritage Foundation who provide a research paper in conjunction with a campaign meeting constitutes a thing ofvalue which must be reported by a campaign as an in-kind contribution. Or that a campaign policy director talking with the AFL-CIO or U.S. Chamber of Commerce about an issue, and incorporating those thoughts into a candidate's position papers or speeches, would 
	In short, the citations provided by the Complainants offer no support for the notion that a conversation in which a speaker provides negative information about an opposing candidate amounts to a contribution. 
	3 

	IV. Principles ofStatutory Interpretation Support the View That Under the Act the Information at Issue Is Not a Contribution. 
	12 
	Under basic principles of statutory construction, the Act's provisions that tie the penalties 
	for unlawful contributions to the monetary value of the contribution demonstrate that conversations and information cannot be a contribution. For example, the statute imposes a five­year prison term for unlawful contributions "aggregating $25,000 or more during a calendar year," but a one-year prison term for unlawful contributions "aggregating $2,000 or more (but less than $25,000) during a calendar year." 52 U.S.C. § 30109(d). Similarly, the statute authorizes the imposition of a civil penalty in "an amou
	Another familiar principle of statutory interpretation "counsels that a word is given more precise content by the neighboring words with which it is associated." Freeman v. Quicken Loans, Inc., 132 S. Ct. 2034, 2042 (2012). Since the word ''value" neighbors the word "money," it plainly refers to monetary value-not some intangible value such as political value or sentimental value. Whether or not discussion of a political candidate's flaws has intangible political value, it certainly lacks an ascertainable m
	13 
	value" follow the more specific word "money." So the general words "other thing of value" must be interpreted to encompass only things similar to money-again, things with ascertainable monetary value. Speech about a political candidate's flaws is not a thing with ascertainable 
	monetary value. 
	Finally, even if the Commission were to conclude that the information provided had an ascertainable value, a point which we do not concede, these views cannot trump the First Amendment nor can they carry any weight in the interpretation of 52 U.S.C. § 30121. Section 30121 is a criminal law, and "[c]riminal laws are for the courts, not for the Government, to construe." Abramski v. United States, 134 S. Ct. 2259, 2274 (2014); see also United States v. Apel, 134 S. Ct. l 144, 1151 ("we have never held that the
	V. Because the Information at Issue Does Not Meet the Definition of a 'Contribution,' It Also Cannot Have Been Solicited Within the Meaning ofthe Act. 
	Under the Act, "to solicit" means "to ask, request, or recommend, explicitly or implicitly, that another person make a contribution, donation, transfer of funds, or otherwise provide anything of value." 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m). "A solicitation is an oral or written communication that, construed as reasonably understood in the context in which it is made, contains a clear message asking, requesting, or recommending that another person make a contribution, donation, transfer of funds, or otherwise provide anythi
	14 
	§ 300.2(m)(3)(iv) states that a comment such as, "Thank you for your continuing support," offered at a GOTV rally would not constitute a solicitation. Therefore, as a matter of law, the conduct at issue in the Complaints cannot satisfy the definition of"to solicit" and the Commission should dismiss these Complaints and close the files. 
	That "infonnation" must not be treated as a "contribution" or something of value is also recognized by the ethics and gift rules applicable to executive and legislative branch officials. See e.g., Senate Code of Official Conduct, Rule XXXV (gift rules "shall not apply to the following ... Informational materials that are sent to the office of the Member, officer, or employee in the form ofbooks, articles, periodicals, other written materials, audiotapes, videotapes, or other forms of communication"); House 
	That "infonnation" must not be treated as a "contribution" or something of value is also recognized by the ethics and gift rules applicable to executive and legislative branch officials. See e.g., Senate Code of Official Conduct, Rule XXXV (gift rules "shall not apply to the following ... Informational materials that are sent to the office of the Member, officer, or employee in the form ofbooks, articles, periodicals, other written materials, audiotapes, videotapes, or other forms of communication"); House 
	3 



	Conclusion 
	Conclusion 
	For the aforementioned reasons, Complainants have failed to demonstrate any reason to believe that the Campaign has violated the law, and we respectfully request that the Commission dismiss the Complaints and close the files. 
	Respectfully, 



	~)4-~ 
	~)4-~ 
	Benjamin L. Ginsberg Megan S. Newton JONES DAY 51 Louisiana Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20001 (202) 879-3939 
	Counsel for Donald J Trump for President, Inc., and Bradley T Crate, Treasurer 
	15 
	Figure
	Complaints Examinations & Legal Administration Federal; Election Commission Office of the Complaints and Legal Administration 999E Street NW Washington, DC 20463 
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	ATTN: Christi Dennis, Paralegal regarding MUR 7268 ~' ·.. · ·· · 
	September 11, 2017 
	Medford, Oregon 97504 
	Dear Ms. Dennis: 
	It has become inescapably obvious through the announcement of one Mr. M.Zuckerberg that at the very minimum $100,000 has been allocated and spent illegally for the election campaign ofMr. Trump. In addition, public statements alleged by Ms. Rachael Maddow tie, Mr. Jared Kushner, with the co-ordination of the dissemination ofdigital data provided by President Putin. Due to the undisclosed nature ofMr. Putins action, it is difficult to determine the extent, breadth, and more importantly for this action, his c
	1
	extension, the Russian government since 1990
	1

	Fortunately, the Russians are highly reliable record keepers, and I believe they could provide you with the sums spent on this project within the range of Rl ,000, to Rl0,000. 
	Due to the untimely and extensive physical injuries to our country by presumed random acts of God, we are currently in a somewhat weakened state. While this should not alter a deliberate, sound, and rigorous investigation ofthe allegations cataloged in complaint MUR 7268, we feel that any delay leaves our democracy to the whims of a hostile nation's actions and powers, and burdens our fate with a leadership that increasingly appears beholden to that foreign power for their election. 
	WE THEREFORE urge you to consider this a most pressing matter. 
	Figure
	Robert C. Sinnott COL retired 
	Robert C. Sinnott COL retired 
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	STATE OF OREGON 
	STATE OF OREGON 
	STATE OF OREGON 
	) 

	TR
	) ss. 

	County of Jackson 
	County of Jackson 
	) 


	On this 11day ofSeptember, 2017, personally appeared before me Robert C. Sinnott and acknowledged said instrument to be his voluntary act and deed. 
	th 
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	OFFICIAL STAMP CARRIE MERTZLUFFT 
	NOTARYPUBUC·OREGON COMMISSION NO. 942933 
	~ COMMISSION EXPIRES SEPTEMBER 21, 2019 
	Notary Public for Oregon 
	<>i. 2 { · l<f
	My Commission Expires: __I _______ 
	OFFICE OF 
	Mr. Jeff S Gordon GENERAL COUNSEi. 
	Asst General Counsel 
	Complaints Examination & Legal Administno9AN -9 PK 2: 2I 
	Federal Election Commission 
	Office of Complaints Examination and Legal Administration 
	Attn: Christal Dennis, Paralegal 
	999 E Street NW 
	Washington, DC 20463 
	30 December 2017 RE: MUR 7268 
	Medford, Oregon 97504 
	Dear Ms. Deimis: 
	Regarding MUR 7268: 
	1. 
	1. 
	1. 
	President Vladamir Putin's order starting the interference is now public record. 

	2. 
	2. 
	The series ofBritish field notes on the operation date the start time to approximately 5 years ago. 

	3. 
	3. 
	There are multiple findings within the public realm ofthe Trump campaign, and his family, plus others who where recruited to forge an illegal political alliance to provide aid to the Trump campaign. Please review the Mueller investigation data, the "Dossier" information reporting that cooperation, and extensive public news reporting. 

	4. 
	4. 
	This fraudulent behavior has clearly harmed our nation. 

	5. 
	5. 
	The fraud obstructed Ms. Clinton's rights to a fair election. 

	6. 
	6. 
	The number of votes altered by this fraudulent behavior had a direct and tangible effect on the final tally. 

	7. 
	7. 
	Mr. Trump is a business partner of, and who has ties and obligations to, the oligarchs and thus the Kremlin. A considerable portion ofhis business is Russian. It virtually impossible to separate collusion from obligation. 

	8. 
	8. 
	Available public documents show an attempt by the Russian's to curry favor for specific projects. 


	All ofthe above tie the Russian political intervention and are illegal, and were part ofthe long term Hybrid assault. That assault had costs between 100 of thousands and 1 00s ofmillions of dollars. Can I presume no costs have been forwarded to the appropriate agency.? There is an ever mounting surge ofevidence ofviolation of52 USC 3014 . 
	Of secondary concern: my Facebook account has been pulled off line due to illegal access activity. This has created the incentive to question who has violated my privacy, and leads us to ask, with the above information available to you, where our complaint is in the legal process in the investigation ofthis complaint. 
	Page 1 of2 
	Sincerely, 
	R. C. Sinnott MD Col USAret 
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	OFFICIAL STAMP KATE JULIA MCGUIRE NOTARY PUBLIC· OREGON COMMISSION NO. 967783 
	MY COMMISSION EXPIRES OCTOBER 19, 2021 
	-
	Figure
	O.Ff'ICE CtF GENERAL COUNSEL 
	Mr. JeffS. Gordon Asst General Counsel 
	,lO 18 ncr?. 9 PM I: 3 9
	Complaints Examination & Legal Administration Federal Election Commission Office of Complaints Examination and Legal Administration Attn: Christal Dennis Paralegal 999 E Street NW Washington, DC, 20463 
	20 September 2018 
	RE: MUR 7268 
	Ashland, Oregon 97504 
	Dear Ms. Dennis: 
	In regards to MUR 7268, the following documentation references are supplied to support the complaint: 
	1. 
	1. 
	1. 
	The Spy Masters, Massimo Calabresi, Time June 11, 2018 pages 41-45 .............. This sums up that the Russians carried out an active measures campaign using a "hybrid warfare"strategy. The Russians spent between $200 to $800,000,000. 

	2. 
	2. 
	Gen Clapper is certain that the action altered the election results. That is the same assessment made by Swansea university and USC. 


	a. 
	www.swansea.ac.uk/press-office/news
	-

	archive/2018/ datainvestigationsuggestsrussianattemptstoinfluencethegeneral election .php 's-wicked-power-2016-us-election 
	b.www.uscpublicdiplomacy.org/bloe/ntssia

	2.House of Trump, House of Putin: The Untold Story of Donald Trump and the Russian Mafia by Craig Unger 
	3. Putin's Kleptocracy by Karen Dawisha 
	3. Putin's Kleptocracy by Karen Dawisha 

	# 2 & 3, are books that I wish to submit as evidence to support the allegation that Mr. Donald J. Trump had to know that the Russians' were harming Ms.Clinton and aiding his electoral campaign. The facts are footnoted and written by experts in investigative journalism. Even the GOP leadership knew of the Russian aid in August ~ of 2016. Page 1 o~ 
	Mr. Unger's book is written in the format of an allegation. It is logical and legally sound. 
	Mr. Trump lies. His personal statements can be true, may bear some semblance of truth, or are complete fabrications. The only option is to depose him, depose the appropriate individuals, and perform a complete forensic audit of his last 35 years of his businesses. The people who attacked us are his customers, partners business associates, or friends. There is nothing to suggest that he would have been kept out of the loop by the Russian government, the oligarchy, or the ROC. In Russia they are all interrela
	Robert C. Sinnott MD 
	Col USA rtd 
	~ 
	Page 2 ofj 
	STATE OF OREGON 
	STATE OF OREGON 
	STATE OF OREGON 
	) 

	TR
	) ss. 

	County ofJackson 
	County ofJackson 
	) 


	On this 22day of October 2018, before me, the undersigned Notary Public in and for said State, personally appeared ROBERT C. SINNOT, M.D., known or identified to me to be the person whose name is subscribed to the within instrument, and acknowledged to me that he executed the same. 
	nd 

	Figure
	Notary Public for Oregon 
	OFFICIAL STAMP TARA RENEE 8AOWN NOTARY PUBLIC.OREGON 
	. COMMISSION NO, 978007 UY COIIMl8810N EXPIRES JUNE 18, mu 
	-
	Figure
	uF FICEOF 
	uF FICEOF 
	,JENERAL COUNSEL 
	Mr. Jeff S. Gordon Asst. General Counsel 2020 JAN 16 PM I: 59 Complaints Examination & Legal Administration Federal Election Commission Office of Complaints Examination and Legal Administration Attn: Christal Dennis, paralegal 999E. Street NW Washington, DC 20463 
	January 9, 2020 MUR 7268 
	Ashland, Oregon 97520 Dear Miss Dennis: 
	1. The complaint contains a typo. The violation of the code should read: 52 U.S.C. ·30121, (1) A. &C. 
	Manafort's testimony and Mueller Investigation revealed that he, Manafort, provided the GOP political strategy and polling data to a GRU agent, Konstantin V. Kilimnik. Cambridge Analytica, owned by Robert Mercer and Steven Bannon, provided illegally sourced social profiles to the Russians as reported in the British investigation of Cambridge Analytica. The Russians illegally 
	entered and stole personal and political data from the DNC and the Clinton campaign. The totality of the combined efforts and materials culminated in a successful political electoral I military campaign to disrupt the 2016 electoral process. The Russian's action was suspected or known by the GOP and the Trump campaign. 
	Trump won with the Russian help. ....... It cannot be said: "Trump won without Russian help.": There has to be an equivalent or estimable value to the Russian government's aid. If there was no value or effect; Why would they have done it? An impartially constructed back projection of the now knl'll:A7!'1--clection data would show this to be true. Trump knowingly violated FEC rules 
	and his lection s ould be nulled. OFFICIAL STAMP ASHLEY MARIE PRIDOLE NOTARY PUBLIC-OREGON COMMISSION NO. 986510 o,Jap,oZo 2 0
	UY COIIIIISSION EXPIRES APRl 22, 2023 
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 
	Figure
	Via Electronic Mail Only June 23, 2020 
	scrosland@jonesday.com 

	E. Stewa11 Crosland Jones Day 51 Louisiana Avenue NW Washington, DC 20001 
	RE: MUR 7268 Supplements 
	Dear Mr. Crosland: 
	On August 15, 2017, your clients Donald J. Tmmp, Donald J. Tmmp for President, Inc., and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer were notified that the Federal Election Commission received a complaint alleging violations ofce11ain sections ofthe Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the "Act"). At that time, your clients were given a copy of the complaint and infonned that a response to the complaint should be submitted within 15 days ofreceipt ofnotification. 
	On September 15, 2017, Januaiy 9, 2018, October 29, 2018 and Januaiy 6, 2020, the Commission received additional information from the complainant pertaining to the allegations in the complaint. Theses supplements were not sent to you eai·lier due to administrative oversight. Enclosed are copies ofthis additional infonnation. Ifyou wish to consider this info1mation in your response to the allegations, you are hereby afforded an additional 15 days to do so, or we will assume the previous response is also inte
	Any con espondence sent to the Commission, such as a response, must be addressed to one ofthe following (note, ifsubmitting via email this Office will provide an electronic receipt 
	by email): 
	by email): 
	by email): 

	Mail Federal Election Commission Office ofComplaints Examination & Legal Administration Attn: Christal Dennis, Paralegal 1050 First Street, NE Washington, DC 20463 
	Mail Federal Election Commission Office ofComplaints Examination & Legal Administration Attn: Christal Dennis, Paralegal 1050 First Street, NE Washington, DC 20463 
	OR 
	Email cela@fec.gov 


	content/documents/website_notice_regarding_status_of_FEC_operations_3-17-20.pdf, the office’s mailroom is not processing correspondence at this time and, therefore, we strongly encourage you to file your response via email. 
	As indicated in the FEC’s Notice found at https://www.fec.gov/resources/cms
	-


	If you have any questions, please contact Christal Dennis at (202) 694-1519.  For your information, we have enclosed a brief description of the Commission's procedures for handling complaints. 
	Sincerely, 
	Figure
	Jeff S. Jordan Assistant General Counsel Complaints Examination & Legal Administration 
	Jeff S. Jordan Assistant General Counsel Complaints Examination & Legal Administration 


	Figure
	Figure
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	WAS! IINGTON, D.C, 20463 
	JUN 2 3 2020 
	Paul Manafort 
	Arlington, VA 22201 RE: MUR 7268 Supplements 
	Dear Mr. Manafoti: 
	On August 15, 2017, you were notified that the The Federal Election Commission received a complaint alleging violations of certain sections of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the "Act"). At that time, you werer given a copy ofthe complaint and informed that a response to the complaint should be submitted within 15 days ofreceipt ofthe notification. 
	On September 15, 2017, January 9, 2018, October 29, 2018 and January 6, 2020, the Commission received additional information from the complaintaint pertaining to the allegations in the complaint. Theses supplements were not sent to you earlier due to administrative oversight. Enclosed are copies ofthis additional information. Ifyou wish to consider this info1mation in your response to the allegations, you are hereby afforded an additional 15 days to do so, or we will assume the previous response is also int
	Any correspondence sent to the Commission, such as a response, must be addressed to one of the following (note, if submitting via email this Office will provide an e1ectronic receipt 
	by email): 
	by email): 
	by email): 

	Mail Federal Election Commission Office ofComplaints Examination & Legal Administration Attn: Christal Dennis, Paralegal 1050 First Street, NE Washington, DC 20463 
	Mail Federal Election Commission Office ofComplaints Examination & Legal Administration Attn: Christal Dennis, Paralegal 1050 First Street, NE Washington, DC 20463 
	OR 
	Email cela@fec.gov 


	As indicated in the FEC's Notice found content/documents/website _notice _regarding_status _ of_FEC _operations_ 3-17-20.pdf, the office's mailroom is not processing correspondence at this time and, therefore, we strongly encourage you to file your response via email. 
	at https://www.fec.gov/resources/cms­

	If you have any questions, please contact Christal Dennis at (202) 694-1519. For your infonnation. we have enclosed a brief description ofthe Commission's procedures for handling complaints. 
	Sincerely, 

	CJv '/v1vr
	CJv '/v1vr
	Jeff S. Jordan Assistant General Counsel Complaints Examination & Legal Administration 
	cc: Paul Manafort P.O. Box 2369 Clifton, NJ 07015-2369 
	Figure
	JUN 23 2020 
	JUN 23 2020 
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 
	Jared Kushner 
	Washington, DC 20008 
	RE: MUR 7268 Supplements 
	Dear Mr. Kushner: 
	On August 15, 2017, you were notified that the The Federal Election Commission received a complaint alleging violations of certain sections ofthe Federal Election Campaign Act of1971, as amended (the "Act"). At that time, you werer given a copy of the complaint and informed that a response to the complaint should be submitted within 15 days of receipt of the notification. 
	On September 15, 2017, January 9, 2018, October 29, 2018 and January 6, 2020, the Commission received additional information from the complaintaint pe11aining to the allegations in the complaint. Theses supplements were not sent to you earlier due to administrative oversight. Enclosed are copies ofthis additional information. Ifyou wish to consider this information in your response to the alJegations, you are hereby afforded an additional 15 days to do so, or we will assume the previous response is also int
	A.riy correspondence sent to the Commission, such as a response, must be addressed to one ofthe following (note, ifsubmitting via email this Office will provide an electronic receipt 
	by email): 
	by email): 
	by email): 

	Mail Federal Election Commission Office ofComplaints Examination & Legal Administration Attn: Christal Dennis, Paralegal l 050 First Street, NE Washington, DC 20463 
	Mail Federal Election Commission Office ofComplaints Examination & Legal Administration Attn: Christal Dennis, Paralegal l 050 First Street, NE Washington, DC 20463 
	OR 
	Email cela@fec.gov 


	As indicated in the FEC's Notice found at ­content/documents/website_ notice _regarding_ status_of_FEC_ operations _3-17-20.pdf, the office's mailroom is not processing correspondence at this time and, therefore, we strongly encourage you to file your response via email. 
	https://www.fec.gov/resources/cms

	If you have any questions, please contact Christal Dennis at (202) 694-1519. For your information, we have enclosed a brief description ofthe Commission's procedures for handling complaints. 
	Sincerely, 


	t-V1~ 
	t-V1~ 
	JeffS. Jordan Assistant General Counsel Complaints Examination & Legal Administration 
	Figure
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	WASl IINGTON_ D.C. 20463 
	JUN 2 3 2020 
	Donald Trump, Jr. 721 5th Avenus New York, NY 10022 
	RE: MUR 7268 Supplements 
	Dear Mr. Trump: 
	On August 15, 2017, you were notified that the The Federal Election Commission received a complaint alleging violations of certain sections of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the "Act"). At that time, you werer given a copy ofthe complaint and informed that a response to the complaint should be submitted within 15 days of receipt ofthe notification. 
	On September 15, 2017, January 9, 2018, October 29, 2018 and January 6, 2020, the Commission received additional information from the complaintaint pertaining to the allegations in the complaint. Theses supplements were not sent to you earlier due to administrative oversight. Enclosed are copies of this additional information. If you wish to consider this information in your response to the allegations, you are hereby afforded an additional 15 days to do so, or we will assume the previous response is also i
	Any correspondence sent to the Commission, such as a response, must be addressed to one of the following (note, if submitting via email this Office will provide an electronic receipt 
	by email): 
	by email): 
	by email): 

	Mail 
	Mail 
	OR 
	Email 

	Federal Election Commission Office of Complaints Examination & Legal Administration Attn: Christal Dennis, Paralegal 1050 First Street, NE Washington, DC 20463 
	Federal Election Commission Office of Complaints Examination & Legal Administration Attn: Christal Dennis, Paralegal 1050 First Street, NE Washington, DC 20463 
	cela@fec.gov 


	As indicated in the FEC's Notice found at ­content/documents/website_notice_regarding_status_of_FEC_operations_3-17-20.pdf, the office's mailroom is not processing correspondence at this time and, therefore, we strongly encourage you to file your response via email. 
	https://www.fec.gov/resources/cms

	If you have any questions, please contact Christal Dennis at (202) 694-1519. For your infonnation, we have enclosed a brief description ofthe Commission's procedures for handling complaints. 
	Sincerely, 
	/11() 
	/11() 
	~ ~ 

	JeffS. Jordan Assistant General Counsel Complaints Examination & Legal Administration 
	Figure
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 
	  July 2, 2020 
	info@lhmlawfirm.com 
	info@lhmlawfirm.com 
	info@lhmlawfirm.com 


	LaMonica Herbst & Maniscalco, LLP 3305 Jerusalem Avenue Wantagh, NY 11793 
	RE:  MUR 7268 
	Dear Sir/Madam: 
	The Federal Election Commission (FEC) received a complaint that indicates Cambridge Analytica, LLC may have violated the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the “Act”). A copy of the original complaint and the complaint supplements are enclosed. We have numbered this matter MUR 7268.  Please refer to this number in all future correspondence.  
	The complaint was not sent out to you earlier due to administrative oversight.  Under the Act, you have the opportunity to demonstrate in writing that no action should be taken against Cambridge Analytica, LLC in this matter. Please submit any factual or legal materials which you believe are relevant to the Commission’s analysis of this matter. Where appropriate, statements should be submitted under oath by persons with relevant knowledge.  Your response, which should be addressed to the General Counsel's O
	This matter will remain confidential in accordance with 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(4)(B) and § 30109(a)(12)(A) unless you notify the Commission in writing that you wish the matter to be made public.  Please be advised that, although the Commission cannot disclose information regarding an investigation to the public, it may share information on a confidential basis with other law enforcement agencies.
	1 

	If you intend to be represented by counsel in this matter, please advise the Commission by completing the enclosed form stating the name, address and telephone number of such counsel, and authorizing such counsel to receive any notifications and other communications from the Commission.  Please note that you have a legal obligation to preserve all documents, records, and materials relating to the subject matter of the complaint until such time as you are notified that the Commission has closed its file in t
	The Commission has the statutory authority to refer knowing and willful violations of the Act to the Department of Justice for potential criminal prosecution, 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(5)(C), and to report information regarding violations of law not within its jurisdiction to appropriate law enforcement authorities. Id. § 30107(a)(9). 
	Any correspondence sent to the Commission, such as a response, must be addressed to one of the following (note, if submitting via email this Office will provide an electronic receipt 
	by email): 
	by email): 
	by email): 

	Mail 
	Mail 
	OR 
	Email 

	Federal Election Commission Office of Complaints Examination & Legal Administration Attn:  Christal Dennis, Paralegal           1050 First Street, NE           Washington, DC 20463 
	Federal Election Commission Office of Complaints Examination & Legal Administration Attn:  Christal Dennis, Paralegal           1050 First Street, NE           Washington, DC 20463 
	cela@fec.gov 


	content/documents/website_notice_regarding_status_of_FEC_operations_3-17-20.pdf, the office’s mailroom is not processing correspondence at this time and, therefore, we strongly encourage you to file your response via email. 
	As indicated in the FEC’s Notice found at https://www.fec.gov/resources/cms
	-


	If you have any questions, please contact Christal Dennis at (202) 694-1519.  For your information, we have enclosed a brief description of the Commission's procedures for handling complaints. 
	Sincerely, 
	Figure
	Jeff S. Jordan Assistant General Counsel Complaints Examination & Legal Administration 
	Figure
	cc: The Corporation Trust Company, Registered Agent       Corporation Trust Center       1209 Orange Street       Williminton, DE 19801 
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	MUR: 7207
	MUR: 7207
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	DATE COMPLAINT FILED:  12/19/2016 DATES OF SUPPLEMENTS:  05/04/2017 06/02/2017 
	DATES OF NOTIFICATIONS:  12/22/2016 05/10/2017 06/09/2017 
	LAST RESPONSE RECEIVED:  08/22/2017 DATE ACTIVATED:  10/02/2017 
	Figure

	EXPIRATION OF SOL: 01/01/2020 – 11/08/2021  ELECTION CYCLE: 2016 
	Free Speech for People Campaign for Accountability Allen J. Epstein Rose Clara White 
	Russian Federation Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T.  
	Crate in his official capacity as treasurer Donald J. Trump Unknown Congressional Candidate 
	We administratively severed from MURs 7637  the allegations against Donald J. Trump and Donald J. Trump for President involving Russian interference in the 2016 election and merged them into MUR 7207, which involves similar allegations.  First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 1-2 n.2, MUR 7637 (Donald J. Trump for President, et al.).  Consequently, the Complainant in MUR 7637, Allen J. Epstein, and the Complainant 
	We administratively severed from MURs 7637  the allegations against Donald J. Trump and Donald J. Trump for President involving Russian interference in the 2016 election and merged them into MUR 7207, which involves similar allegations.  First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 1-2 n.2, MUR 7637 (Donald J. Trump for President, et al.).  Consequently, the Complainant in MUR 7637, Allen J. Epstein, and the Complainant 
	1 
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure



	MUR: 7268
	MUR: 7268
	2 

	DATE COMPLAINT FILED:  08/08/2017 
	DATES OF SUPPLEMENTS: 09/15/2017 01/09/2018 10/29/2018 
	 Rose Clara White, have been added to MUR 7207.  Respondents Donald J. Trump and Donald J. Trump for President were not removed from MURs 7637 because additional allegations remain against them in those 
	matters. 
	The Complaint in MUR 7268 alleges, among other things, that Trump campaign officials met with Russian nationals on June 9, 2016, to obtain opposition research, an allegation that is at issue in MURs 7265 and 7266. We administratively severed and merged that allegation into MUR 7266.  Respondents Donald Trump Jr., Paul Manafort, and Jared Kushner were removed from MUR 7268 and added to MUR 7266; Donald J. Trump for President was added to MUR 7266 but not removed from MUR 7268 because additional allegations r
	MURs 7207, 7268, 7274, & 7623 (Russian Federation, et al.) 
	First General Counsel’s Report Page ii of v 
	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 
	10 COMPLAINANT: 11 12 RESPONDENT: 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 COMPLAINANTS: 28 29 30 RESPONDENT: 31 32 33 34 35 36 37 38 
	DATES OF SUPPLEMENTS:  01/16/2020 
	DATES OF NOTIFICATIONS:  08/15/2017 
	06/23/2020 
	07/02/2020 
	LAST RESPONSE RECEIVED:  09/14/2017 DATE ACTIVATED:  10/02/2017 
	Figure

	EXPIRATION OF SOL: 01/01/2020 – 11/08/2021 ELECTION CYCLE: 2016 
	Robert C. Sinnot 
	Donald J. Trump Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T.  
	Crate in his official capacity as treasurer Cambridge Analytica, LLC 
	MUR: 7274 
	DATE COMPLAINT FILED:  09/07/2017 DATE OF NOTIFICATION:  09/14/2017 LAST RESPONSE RECEIVED:  10/31/2017 DATE ACTIVATED:  10/02/2017 
	Figure

	EXPIRATION OF SOL: 01/01/2020 – 11/08/2021  ELECTION CYCLE: 2016 
	Common Cause Paul S. Ryan 
	Internet Research Agency 
	MUR: 7623
	3 

	DATE COMPLAINT FILED:  07/22/2019 DATE OF NOTIFICATION:  07/25/2019 LAST RESPONSE RECEIVED:  09/05/2019 DATE ACTIVATED:  11/18/2019   
	Figure
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	The Complaint in MUR 7623 alleges, among other things, that Trump campaign officials met with Russian nationals on June 9, 2016, to obtain opposition research, an allegation that is at issue in MURs 7265 and 7266. We administratively severed and merged that allegation into MUR 7266.  Respondents Donald Trump Jr. and Jared Kushner were removed from MUR 7623 and added to MUR 7266; Donald J. Trump for President and Paul Manafort were added to MUR 7266 but not removed from MUR 7623 because additional allegation
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	1 I. INTRODUCTION 
	1 I. INTRODUCTION 
	2 The Complaints in these matters allege that Respondents violated the Federal Election 
	3 Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the “Act”), in a variety of ways based upon the Russian 
	4 Federation’s interference in the 2016 U.S. presidential election.  A number of the Complaints 
	5 rely on the findings in official government reports, including those issued by the United States 
	6 Intelligence Community and the Special Counsel for the DOJ, which have uniformly concluded 
	7 that the Russian Federation engaged in a wide-ranging campaign to influence the 2016 U.S. 
	8 presidential election.  The Russian Federation perpetrated its so-called “influence campaign,” 
	5

	9 also known as “active measures,” in two ways:  (1) by conducting a social media campaign 
	10 through a Russian LLC known as the Internet Research Agency (the “IRA”); and (2) a hack-and
	-

	See OFFICE OF THE DIR. OF NAT’L INTELLIGENCE, INTELLIGENCE COMMUNITY ASSESSMENT: ASSESSING RUSSIAN ACTIVITIES AND INTENTIONS IN RECENT US ELECTIONS at ii, 1 (Jan. 6, 2017) (“Intelligence Community Assessment”); SPECIAL COUNSEL ROBERT S. MUELLER, III, U.S. DEP’T OF JUSTICE, REPORT ON THE INVESTIGATION INTO RUSSIAN INTERFERENCE IN THE 2016 PRESIDENTIAL ELECTION at 1, 4 (Mar. 22, 2019) (redactions partially removed on June 19 and November 2, 2020) (“Special Counsel’s Report”) (citations reference Volume 1).  T
	5 

	In addition to these official reports, testimony and statements by expert and U.S. government witnesses 
	called before Congress, indictments brought by the Special Counsel against individuals and entities involved in the 
	Russian influence campaign, and the trial transcript of an individual associated with the Trump campaign charged 
	with obstructing investigations into the Russian influence campaign provide relevant information about the Russian 
	Federation’s activities.  E.g., Disinformation: A Primer in Russian Active Measures and Influence Campaigns: 
	Hearing Before the S. Select Comm. on Intelligence, 115th Cong. (Mar. 30, 2017); Open Hearing on Foreign 
	Influence Operations’ Use of Social Media Platforms (Company Witnesses) Before the S. Select Comm. on 
	Intelligence, 115th Cong. (Sept. 5, 2018); Superseding Indictment, United States v. Internet Research Agency, et al., 
	1:18-cr-00032 (D.D.C. Nov. 8, 2019) (“IRA Indictment”); Indictment, United States v. Netyksho, et al., 1:18-cr
	-

	00215 (D.D.C. July 13, 2018) (“GRU Indictment”); Transcript, United States v. Roger J. Stone, Jr., 1:19-cr-00018 
	Figure

	(D.D.C.) (“Stone Trial Tr.”). All of the sources cited in this Report are available 
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	1 release operation through a Russian military agency, the Main Intelligence Directorate of the 2 General Staff of the Russian Army (the “GRU”). Both measures are subjects of the instant 3 Complaints. 4 Allegations of Russian efforts to influence the 2016 U.S. presidential election garnered 5 significant attention and media coverage beginning in June 2016, when the Democratic National 6 Committee (the “DNC”) announced that it had been hacked and identified Russian military 7 intelligence as the most likely 
	6 

	10 published documents stolen from John Podesta, the Chair of Hillary Clinton’s 2016 presidential 11 campaign.At the same time, researchers and journalists began observing a proliferation of 12 suspected Russian “troll” accounts on social media platforms posing as U.S. citizens and 13 organizations while engaging in online discussions about the election.14 About a month before Election Day, on October 7, 2016, the United States Intelligence 15 Community published a press release assessing that the Russian F
	7 
	8 

	See David E. Sanger and Nick Corasaniti, D.N.C. Says Russian Hackers Penetrated its Files, Including Dossier on Donald Trump, N.Y. TIMES, June 14, 2016. 
	6 

	Joe Uchill, WikiLeaks Posts 20,000 DNC Emails, THE HILL, July 22, 2016; Ellen Nakashima, U.S. Government Officially Accuses Russia of Hacking Campaign to Interfere with Elections, WASH. POST, Oct. 7, 2016 (cited by First Am. Compl. at 4 n.1, MUR 7207 (May 4, 2017)). 
	7 

	E.g., Andrew Weisburd and Clint Watts, How Russia Dominates Your Twitter Feed to Promote Lies (And, Trump, Too), DAILY BEAST, Aug. 6, 2016 (cited by First Am. Compl. at 10 n.26, MUR 7207); Natasha Bertrand, It Looks Like Russia Hired Internet Trolls to Pose as Pro-Trump Americans, BUSINESS INSIDER, July 27, 2016 (cited by First Am. Compl. at 11 n.27, MUR 7207); see also Special Counsel’s Report at 18 n.28 (defining the term “troll” as “paid operatives—who post inflammatory or otherwise disruptive content on
	8 
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	1 the hackings and releases of stolen documents.  Two months after the election, on January 6, 2 2017, the United States Intelligence Community published a declassified version of a highly 3 classified assessment coordinated among the Central Intelligence Agency, Federal Bureau of 4 Investigation, and National Security Agency.  The Intelligence Community Assessment 5 concluded that the Russian Federation perpetrated an influence campaign targeting the 2016 6 presidential election and described the GRU’s hac
	9
	campaign.
	10 

	10 T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer (the “Trump Committee”), and individuals having or 11 claiming to have ties to the Russian government and concluded, in a report publicly released on 12 April 18, 2019, that evidence was insufficient to criminally prosecute Trump Committee officials 13 for conspiring or coordinating with the Russian Federation in its election interference activities, 14   However, during the course of the Special 15 Counsel’s investigation, the DOJ indicted individuals who w
	among other reasons for declining to prosecute.
	11
	their efforts to influence the 2016 election.
	12

	Intelligence Community Assessment at 1-5. 
	10 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 180. 
	11 

	IRA Indictment ¶ 9 (charging the IRA, two companies that funded the IRA, and 13 individuals who controlled or worked for the IRA with various crimes relating to the social media campaign, such as conspiracy to defraud the United States including by failing to report political expenditures to the Commission); GRU Indictment ¶¶ 1-2 (charging 12 individuals who served as Russian military intelligence officers with various crimes relating to the hack-and-release operation, such as conspiracy to commit an offens
	12 
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	1 Russian election interference or for conduct unrelated to the 2016 presidential election but 2 3 The Senate Intelligence Committee released a five-volume series of reports, between July 4 2019 and August 2020, providing further details on Russian efforts to influence the 2016 election 5 and related interactions with the Trump Committee.  The Senate Intelligence Committee 6 similarly concluded that “the Russian government engaged in an aggressive, multi-faceted effort 7 to influence, or attempt to influenc
	discovered during the Special Counsel’s investigation.
	13 
	14 

	10 criminal activity.”11 The Complaints in these matters each cite to the official reports regarding Russian efforts 12 The Complaints in MURs 7207, 7268, and 7274 specifically 13 allege that the Russian Federation and the IRA violated the Act by making impermissible foreign 14 national expenditures and independent expenditures in connection with the presidential election 15 
	15 
	to interfere in the 2016 election.
	16 
	and by failing to report the independent expenditures.
	17 

	E.g., Indictment, United States v. Roger J. Stone, Jr., 1:19-cr-00018 (D.D.C. Jan. 24, 2019); Indictment, United States v. Paul J. Manafort, Jr. and Richard W. Gates III, l:17-cr-00201 (D.D.C. Oct. 30, 2017); Superseding Indictment, United States v. Manafort and Gates, l:18-cr-00083 (E.D. Va. Feb. 22, 2018); Statement of the Offense, United States v. Michael T. Flynn, 1:17-cr-00232 (D.D.C. Dec. 1, 2017); Information, United States v. George Papadopoulos, 1:17-cr-00182 (D.D.C. Oct. 3, 2017). 
	13 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at v. 
	14 

	Id. at 4. 
	15 

	First Am. Compl. ¶¶ 9-12, MUR 7207; Compl. at 1, MUR 7268 (Aug. 8, 2017); Compl. ¶ 4, MUR 7274 (Sept. 7, 2017); Compl. at 4-5, MUR 7623 (July 22, 2019). 
	16 

	First Am. Compl. ¶¶ 46-60, MUR 7207; Second Am. Compl. ¶¶ 5-13, MUR 7207 (June 2, 2017); Compl. at 1, MUR 7268; Supp. Compl. at 1-2, MUR 7268 (Sept. 15, 2017); Compl. ¶¶ 17-20, MUR 7274. 
	17 
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	1 The Complaints in MURs 7207, 7268, 7623, further allege that the Trump 2 Committee coordinated with the Russian Federation, resulting in the acceptance of prohibited 3 foreign national in-kind contributions, and that the Trump Committee failed to report the in-kind 4   As support for the coordination allegations, the Complaints specifically allege 5 that the Trump Committee solicited an impermissible foreign national in-kind contribution when 6 candidate Trump made a statement about Clinton’s emails direc
	Figure
	contributions.
	18
	19 

	10 releases on WikiLeaks, and that Paul J. Manafort, the Chairman and Chief Strategist of the 11 Trump Committee, shared internal polling data with certain Ukrainian and Russian oligarchs and 12 13 In Response, the Russian Federation argues that it is immune from the Commission’s 14 jurisdiction The IRA filed a video Response, which appears to deny 15   Trump and the Trump Committee argue that the allegations regarding 
	20
	briefed an intermediary for the oligarchs about the campaign’s strategy.
	21 
	Figure
	the allegations.
	23

	Figure
	First Am. Compl. ¶¶ 61-66, MUR 7207; Compl. at 1, MUR 7268; Supp. Compl. at 1, MUR 7268; Compl. at 6, 13, MUR 7623 (July 22, 2019); 
	18 
	Figure

	First Am. Compl. ¶¶ 29, 64(a), MUR 7207; Compl. at 15, MUR 7623; Compl. at 1, MUR 7637 (Aug. 16, The phrase “emails that are missing” was a reference to allegedly missing or 
	19 

	First Am. Compl. ¶ 32, MUR 7207. Compl. at 12-13, MUR 7623. 
	20 
	21 

	2019); deleted emails from Clinton’s personal server during her tenure as Secretary of State. 
	Figure
	23 
	The video depicts what appears to be a child speaking in Russian wearing a Guy Fawkes mask in a dark office who states, in part:  “The letter accuses me of interfering in the election of the President of the USA.  This is unbelievable.  I am only 8 years old. . . . Dear U.S. authorities, please do not accuse me of something I did not do.” IRA Video Resp., MUR 7274 (Oct. 30, 2017). 
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	1 coordination are speculative and fail to satisfy the “conduct” standard of the coordinated 2 communications test.They also argue that Trump’s “Russia, if you’re listening” statement was 3 The Trump Committee further 4 argues that the Commission should dismiss the allegations because the Special Counsel declined 5 to indict anyone associated with the Trump Committee for conspiracy or coordination with the 6 7 As discussed below, the factual record before the Commission indicates that the Russian 8 Federati
	24 
	an “offhand remark,” and not an actual request or suggestion.
	25 
	Russian Federation in its election interference activities.
	26 
	27 

	10 to believe that the Russian Federation and the IRA violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(1)(C) and 11 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(f) by making prohibited foreign national expenditures and independent 12 expenditures and 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c) and 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(b) by failing to report 13 independent expenditures.  14 Further, the information indicates that Trump solicited the Russian Federation’s help in 15 attempting to locate 30,000 Clinton emails, and that the Russian Federation through the GRU 16 responded by attem
	Trump Committee Resp. at 3, 5, MUR 7207 (Jan. 25, 2017); Trump Committee & Trump Joint Resp. at 1, MUR 7207 (May 26, 2017) (incorporating prior response); Trump Committee Resp. at 2, 5-7, MUR 7268 (Sept. 14, 2017); Trump Committee Resp. at 1, MUR 7623 (Sept. 5, 2019); Trump Committee Resp. at 1, MUR 7637 (Sept. 16, 2019) (citing to prior responses). 
	24 

	Trump Committee Resp. at 5, MUR 7207; see Trump Committee & Trump Joint Resp. at 1, MUR 7207. 
	25 

	The Russian Federation’s actions include those of the GRU, an instrumentality of the Russian Federation, as well as those of the IRA, an agent of the Russian Federation. Infra notes 238-242 and accompanying text. 
	27 

	26 Trump Committee Resp. at 1, MUR 7623 (citing Special Counsel’s Report at 2); Trump Committee Resp. at 1-2, 
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	made, and that Donald J. Trump and the Trump Committee knowingly solicited, accepted or received, a foreign national in-kind contribution, in violation of 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(b), (g).  
	In addition, the Special Counsel’s Report and evidence introduced at Stone’s trial indicates that Stone, acting as an agent of the Trump Committee, unlawfully solicited WikiLeaks, a foreign national, for specific hacked emails relating to Clinton.  Consequently, we recommend that the Commission find reason to believe that the Trump Committee knowingly solicited an in-kind foreign national contribution from WikiLeaks in violation of 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g).  
	The Special Counsel’s investigation also uncovered information that an Unknown Congressional Candidate solicited hacked documents from a social media account controlled by the GRU and that the GRU, in response, sent the candidate hacked documents relating to his or her opponent.  Accordingly, we recommend that the Commission find reason to believe that the Russian Federation made, and the Unknown Congressional Candidate knowingly solicited, accepted or received, a prohibited in-kind foreign national contrib
	With respect to Manafort, the record reflects that he appears to have violated the Act when he provided internal proprietary Trump Committee polling data to Russian and Ukrainian oligarchs.  The record indicates that Manafort sent the polling data for one or both of two possible purposes, both of which are impermissible under the Act:  Manafort either violated the personal use regulations by transferring a committee asset without charge, apparently to resolve business disputes with the recipients, or violat
	MURs 7207, 7268, 7274 & 7623 (Russian Federation, et al.) First General Counsel’s Report Page 8 of 96 
	we recommend that the Commission find reason to believe that Manafort and the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30114(b) and 11 C.F.R. § 113.1(g)(3) by transferring a campaign committee asset without charge, and that Manafort and the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.2(g) by knowingly soliciting a prohibited in-kind foreign national contribution. 
	Finally, the Supplemental Complaint in MUR 7268 alleges that Cambridge Analytica, LLC, a former political consulting company, provided illegally sourced social profiles to the Russian   The allegation here is vague, speculative, and unsupported by the available information.  Therefore, we recommend that the Commission dismiss the allegation that Cambridge Analytica, LLC, violated the Act, as alleged. 
	Federation.
	28

	To expeditiously resolve the allegations as to the Trump Committee, Trump, and Manafort, we recommend that the Commission enter into pre-probable cause conciliation with them.  In addition, we plan on conducting a limited investigation to determine the identity of the Unknown Congressional Candidate who requested hacked documents from the Russian Federation and to uncover additional facts about the circumstances of the alleged solicitation.  
	Finally, we 
	recommend that the Commission take no further action as to the Russian Federation and IRA beyond the recommended reason to believe findings, in light of prudential factors discussed below.   
	Fourth Supp. Compl. at 1, MUR 7268 (Jan. 16, 2020). 
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	1 II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 2 A. Russian Social Media Campaign Conducted by the IRA 3 The IRA was a Russian LLC that formed in or around 2013 and was located in St. 4   The IRA operated as a quasi-governmental 5 entity that operated “at the direction of the Kremlin” and conducted what it called “information 6 warfare against the United States of America.”The IRA employed hundreds of paid staff7 and received its funding from Yevgeny Prigozhin, a Russian oligarch and “close Putin ally with 8 ties to Russian inte
	Petersburg, Russia during the relevant period.
	29
	30
	31 
	32 
	government contracts.
	33 

	10 Currently available information does not indicate precisely how much the IRA spent on 11 operations to interfere with the 2016 U.S. election, but the Senate Intelligence Committee has 12 determined that it was a “multi-million dollar”  The Special Counsel’s investigation 13 obtained information that the IRA’s monthly budget, by September 2016, was approximately 
	 effort.
	34

	Special Counsel’s Report at 4; IRA Indictment ¶ 10; see also Special Counsel’s Report at 16 (explaining that the Internet Research Agency, LLC dissolved in 2014, and was followed by a series of successor companies as part of an effort to “hide its funding and activities”). For purposes of this Report, the term IRA refers to the Internet Research Agency, LLC and its successor companies. 
	29 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 32; see Intelligence Community Assessment at 3-4; see also id. at 2 (“We assess that influence campaigns are approved at the highest levels of the Russian Government— particularly those that would be politically sensitive.”). 
	30 

	IRA Indictment ¶ 10(c).  Indeed, the title of the IRA’s internal manual was “Waging Information Warfare Against the United States.”  Special Counsel’s Report at 20. 
	31 

	IRA Indictment ¶ 10(a); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 25; see Special Counsel’s Report at 15-16. 
	32 

	Intelligence Community Assessment at 4; accord Special Counsel’s Report at 16-17; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 23-24; see IRA Indictment ¶¶ 11-12; see also U.S. Dep’t of the Treasury, Treasury Sanctions Individuals and Entities in Connection with Russia’s Occupation of Crimea and the Conflict in Ukraine 
	33 

	(Dec. 20, 2016) (sanctioning Prigozhin). Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 22-23. 
	34 
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	1 2 There is information suggesting that, by July 2016, “more than eighty” IRA employees were 3 specifically tasked with U.S.-related operations, and each were paid approximately $1,000 per 4 month, which equates to roughly $1.8 million over the course of the 2016 election in salary 5 6 Ahead of the 2016 election, IRA employees traveled to the United States on at least two 7 intelligence-gathering missions:  a June 2014 trip lasting approximately three weeks to locations 8 in Nevada, California, New Mexico,
	$1.25 million, although that figure includes operations that did not target the United States.
	35 
	payments alone.
	36 
	York; and a November 2014 trip to Atlanta, Georgia.
	37

	10 uncovered information showing that by approximately 2014, the IRA “began to track and study 11 groups on U.S. social media sites dedicated to U.S. politics and social issues,” and formed a 12 specific department, known as the “Translator Department,” which focused exclusively on the 13 U.S. 14 During the 2016 election, IRA employees operated accounts on U.S. social media 15 platforms, including Facebook, Twitter, YouTube, and Instagram, masquerading as U.S. citizens 16   The Special Counsel’s Report stat
	population.
	38 
	and grassroots organizations.
	39

	IRA Indictment ¶ 11(b); see Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 25.  IRA Indictment ¶ 10(d); see Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 26-27. IRA Indictment ¶ 30 (stating that IRA employees purchased equipment such as cameras, SIM cards, and 
	35 
	36 
	37 

	drop phones); Special Counsel’s Report at 21 (describing how the travelers lied about the purpose of their trip to the 
	U.S. Department of State on their applications to enter the United States). 
	IRA Indictment ¶ 29; Special Counsel’s Report at 19; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 30. 
	38 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 22; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 3; see New Knowledge, White Paper at 4-5, The Tactics & Tropes of the Internet Research Agency (Dec. 17, 2018) (“New Knowledge White Paper”) (drafted at the request of the Senate Intelligence Committee); Univ. of Oxford, Graphika, Working Paper at 8, Computational Propaganda Research Project: The IRA, Social Media and Political Polarization in the United States, 2012-2018 (Dec. 17, 2018) (“Computational Propaganda Research Projec
	39 
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	1 designed to “influence public opinion” and, more specifically, to “influence U.S. audiences on 2 the election.”In the words of one IRA employee:  “I created all these pictures and posts, and 3 the Americans believed that it was written by their people.”4 First, there were individual accounts in 5 which IRA users pretended to be U.S. citizens, many adopting a scripted persona, such as 6 “Pamela Moore,” a Texas conservative; “@MRNyc2015,” a liberal gay man; and “Crystal 7 Second, there were organizational a
	40 
	41 
	The accounts fall primarily into two categories.
	42 
	Johnson,” an African American.
	43 
	-

	10 immigration group; and “Blacktivist,” IRA employees “spent months 11 developing fake . . . personas and cultivating networks of supporters and followers among 12 sympathetic and agreeable Americans.”Social media experts analyzing the IRA’s activity at 13 the request of the Senate Intelligence Committee explained that the accounts were “designed to 14 blend their activities with those of authentic and highly engaged users” and “infiltrate political 15 discussion.”In addition to operating accounts in the t
	a social-justice group.
	44 
	45 
	46 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 19, 27; see Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 3. 
	40 

	IRA Indictment ¶ 58(d); see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol 2. at 29 (explaining that IRA employees “were required to study and monitor . . . the language and trends of internet users in the United States”). 
	41 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 22. The IRA also deployed automated Twitter accounts (or bots) to amplify the content generated by the individual, organizational, and news accounts. Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 51; Special Counsel’s Report at 26. 
	42 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 27; New Knowledge White Paper at 85, 90. 
	43 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 6, 45; Special Counsel’s Report at 24-25. The pages for the purported U.S. organizations were professional looking and many used branded logos and typographies.  New Knowledge White Paper at 42. 
	44 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 54. 
	45 

	Computational Propaganda Research Project Working Paper at 27, 39; see New Knowledge White Paper at 13; Special Counsel’s Report at 27. 
	46 
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	1 operated accounts that purported to be U.S. news media entities, such as Baton Rouge Voice, 
	2   Finally, the IRA operated a fake account that 
	@MissouriNewsUS, and @OnlineCleveland.
	47

	3 
	impersonated the Tennessee Republican Party using the handle @TEN_GOP.
	48 

	4 According to information released by Twitter and Facebook, the IRA operated 
	5 approximately 3,800 accounts on Twitter, 470 on Facebook, and 170 on Instagram, which is 
	6 
	owned by Facebook.
	49
	  Among these were accounts with hundreds of thousands of followers.
	50 

	7 The IRA-controlled accounts attracted millions of aggregate followers and millions more 
	8 “engagements” (shares, likes, comments, etc.); collectively, the IRA reached at least 126 million 
	9 Many IRA posts gained significant 
	people, according to an estimate provided by Facebook.
	51 

	10 popularity or “went viral.”High-profile individuals, including Donald Trump Jr., Eric Trump, 
	52 

	11 Kellyanne Conway, Roger Stone, Sean Hannity, Michael Flynn, and Brad Parscale, retweeted or 
	Russia Investigative Task Force Hearing with Social Media Companies Before the H. Permanent Select Comm. on Intelligence, 115th Cong. (Nov. 1, 2017) (support documents, labeled SD002 at 53); New Knowledge White Paper at 66. 
	47 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 22; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 54. This IRA-created account had more followers than the official account of the Tennessee Republican Party and garnered attention from senior officials of the Trump Committee.  U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES PERMANENT SELECT COMM. ON INTELLIGENCE, REPORT ON RUSSIAN ACTIVE MEASURES at 33 (Mar. 22, 2018); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 54; Special Counsel’s Report at 33-34 (citing tweets by Trump, Donald Trump Jr., 
	48 

	Open Hearing: Social Media Influence in the 2016 U.S. Election Before the S. Select Comm. on Intelligence, 115th Cong. (Nov. 1, 2017); Open Hearing on Foreign Influence Operations’ Use of Social Media Platforms (Company Witnesses) Before the S. Select Comm. on Intelligence, 115th Cong. (Sept. 5, 2018); Twitter, Update on Twitter’s Review of the 2016 Election (Jan. 19, 2018) (updated Jan. 31, 2018); Special Counsel’s Report at 15; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 50, 76-77.  Much of the data pr
	49 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 14-15. 
	50 

	Id.; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 40, 45, 48, 50 (identifying “over 61,500 Facebook posts, 116,000 Instagram posts, and 10.4 million tweets that were the original creations of IRA influence operatives”); New Knowledge White Paper at 7, 32; see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 4 (cautioning that the “full scope of this activity remains unknown”). 
	51 

	See Special Counsel’s Report at 27. 
	52 
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	1   The Special Counsel’s Report cited a study that found that U.S. 
	responded to IRA accounts.
	53

	2 news outlets often quoted the IRA-controlled accounts believing they were the accounts of U.S. 
	3 
	citizens.
	54 


	4 The IRA used some of its fake organizational accounts, i.e., those pretending to be 
	5 associated with U.S. grassroots organizations, to disseminate paid ads over the internet.  Often 
	6 these ads contained a simple pitch describing the fictitious organization, apparently for the 
	7 purpose of attracting additional followers to whom the IRA could later disseminate further 
	8 For example, the IRA ran an ad from a fictitious organization called “Heart 
	communications.
	55 

	9 of Texas”   During the 2016 
	criticizing the “establishment” and proposing that Texas secede.
	56

	10 The Senate 
	election cycle, the IRA purchased over 1,000 ads totaling approximately $70,000.
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	11 Intelligence Committee concluded that approximately 5 million people viewed the IRA
	-

	12 
	purchased ads during the 2016 election cycle.
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	Id. at 27-28, 33-34; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 40. 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 27 (citing Josephine Lukito and Chris Wells, Most Major Outlets Have Used Russian Tweets as Sources for Partisan Opinion: Study, COLUMBIA JOURNALISM REV. (Mar. 8, 2018)). 
	54 

	See id. at 25; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 44; see also New Knowledge White Paper Slide Deck at 60 (example Facebook ads for “Being Patriotic,” with text “United We Stand!  Welcome every patriot we can reach. Flag and news!” and for “Back the Badge,” with text “Community of people who support our brave Police Officers”). 
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	See App., Ex. 1 at 1. 
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	Public Statement, Minority Members of the U.S. House of Representatives Permanent Select Comm. on Intelligence, Exposing Russia’s Effort to Sow Discord Online: The Internet Research Agency and Advertisements (May 10, 2018) (figure derived by analyzing database of IRA ads provided in statement).  The Senate Intelligence Committee determined that the IRA created 1,519 ads that were “viewed” prior to the election.  Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 44. The mix of keywords in Facebook’s “Ad Manager
	57 

	See Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 44. A review of the public database of IRA ads shows approximately 17.8 million ad impressions (or total views) during the 2016 election cycle. 
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	1 A relatively small number of the IRA’s publicly known paid ads referenced the election 2 Based on our review of the ads made available by the House Intelligence 3 Committee, we identified at least 58 IRA-purchased ads totaling approximately $3,000, 4 accounting for 698,000 impressions (or views), which appear to support or oppose a candidate, 5 The Special Counsel’s Report refers to “dozens” 6 supporting the Trump Committee, and cites to an ad purchased by “Tea Party News,” which asks 7 viewers to help th
	or candidates.
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	namely Trump and Clinton, respectively.
	60 
	61 

	10 be found in Exhibit 1 in the Appendix to this Report. 11 The Senate Intelligence Committee explained that, despite “being a focus of early press 12 reporting,” paid social media ads “were not key to the IRA’s activity.”Rather, the thrust of the 13 IRA’s operation focused on “organic” content, that is, the non-ad social media posts and tweets 14 15 Numerous posts from these fake accounts mentioned political candidates:  in excess of 16 According to the Special 
	62 
	generated by paid IRA employees posing as U.S. citizens and grassroots organizations.
	63 
	4,300 on Facebook; 21,000 on Instagram; and 628,000 on Twitter.
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	Id. 
	59 

	See supra note 57 (database of ads). The amounts for ads purchased in rubles were calculated based on the exchange rate to USD on the date that the ad was created. The Senate Intelligence Committee determined that “77 of 1,519” ads, roughly five percent, “viewed prior to the election . . . included text referencing Hillary Clinton or Donald Trump.”  Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 44. 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 25. 
	61 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 40. 
	62 

	Id. at 43-45, 77. 
	63 

	New Knowledge White Paper at 76; see Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 32. The majority of content disseminated by IRA accounts did not mention candidates, but rather involved “innocuous content” to “build character details for their fake personas . . . until the opportune moment arrived when the account was used to 
	64 
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	1 Counsel’s Report, the IRA pursued “a targeted operation” that “favored [] Trump and disparaged 2 Clinton.”The Senate Intelligence Committee similarly concluded that “IRA social media 3 activity was overtly and almost invariably supportive of then-candidate Trump, and to the 4 detriment of Secretary Clinton’s campaign.”  An internal IRA document gave the following 5 instruction to its paid employees:  “Main idea: Use any opportunity to criticize Hillary and the 6 rest (except Sanders and Trump — we support
	65 
	66
	67
	68 

	10 some IRA accounts bore election-related handles (e.g., “Clinton FRAUDation,” “Trumpsters 
	11 The IRA accounts also pushed voter suppression messages — primarily targeting 
	United”).
	69 

	12 African Americans — such as promoting an election boycott or spreading incorrect voting 
	13   Examples of organic IRA posts targeting the election, drawn from the Special 
	instructions.
	70

	deliver tailored ‘payload content’ designed to influence the targeted user.”  Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 32. Thus, the relatively low number of election-related posts (and for that matter election-related ads) as compared to total amounts of such content, is “not dispositive of the IRA’s intent to influence voters.” Id. 
	Special Counsel’s Report at 4.  The IRA used real, unwitting Americans as a source of information.  For example, in June 2016, IRA employees communicated with a Texas grassroots activist who advised them to focus on “purple states like Colorado, Virginia & Florida.” IRA Indictment ¶ 31. The IRA followed that advice, thereafter using the term “purple states” as part of its strategy lexicon. Id. 
	65 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 4; see also id. at 6 (explaining that the IRA also targeted Republican candidates during the presidential primaries that were apparently hostile to Russian interests). 
	66 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 23 (“The document provided different talking points and considerations for the different social media accounts operated by the IRA, broken into the following categories: ‘Black Community,’ ‘Don’t Shoot,’ ‘Patriotic,’ ‘Texas,’ ‘LGBT, ‘Muslims,’ and ‘Refugees.’”).  
	67 

	Id. at 24. 
	68 

	IRA Indictment ¶ 44; see Special Counsel’s Report at 33 n.96; Computational Propaganda Research Project Working Paper at 27. 
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	See Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 35, 38 (“No single group of Americans was targeted by IRA information operatives more than African-Americans.”); Computational Propaganda Research Project Working Paper at 19, 26; New Knowledge White Paper at 8, 81, 84. 
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	1 Counsel’s Report, New Knowledge White Paper, and Computational Propaganda Research 2 Project Working Paper, can be found in Exhibit 2 in the Appendix to this Report. 3 The IRA, mainly through its fake organizational accounts, also planned and organized 4 dozens of political rallies in U.S.  Some appear to have drawn “hundreds” of attendees 5 while others drew “few (if any).”Many of the rallies, and almost all in the five months 6 preceding the 2016 election, “focused on the U.S. election, often promoting 
	 cities.
	71
	72 
	73 

	10 these activities as well as payments sent to real U.S. persons who carried out tasks on behalf of 
	11 In August 2016, the IRA paid an American to 
	the IRA unaware of the Russian connection.
	74 

	12 build a cage on a flatbed truck, and another to sit inside the cage wearing a costume of Clinton in 
	13 
	a prison uniform; this display was featured at an IRA-organized pro-Trump rally in Florida.
	75 

	14 Several of the IRA-organized rallies received support from or drew the attention of the Trump 
	Special Counsel’s Report at 29. The IRA organized the rallies without a physical presence in the United States by relying on real-world assistance from unwitting Americans.  First, an IRA-controlled social media account would announce the rally.  Next, the IRA-controlled account would reach out to followers, looking for someone to serve as the event coordinator (often pretending that the true coordinator could not attend); from those responding, the IRA-controlled account would select a real U.S. person to 
	71 
	-

	Special Counsel’s Report at 29. 
	72 

	Id. at 31. 
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	IRA Indictment ¶ 94; Special Counsel’s Report at 32 n.94 (citing private social media messages discussing payments for rally supplies and construction materials). 
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	IRA Indictment ¶¶ 72, 77; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 37.  In September 2016, the IRA paid the same person to travel from Florida to New York to appear at another IRA-organized, pro-Trump rally. IRA Indictment ¶ 84. 
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	1   However, there is no public information indicating that the Trump Committee was 2 Examples of IRA-organized 3 political rallies, based on information gathered by the Special Counsel’s investigation, can be 4 found in Exhibit 3 in the Appendix to this Report. 5 B. Russian Hack-and-Release Operation Conducted by the GRU 6 During the 2016 election, the GRU, a Russian military intelligence agency, hacked 7 computer networks and email accounts of the DNC, the DCCC (formerly known as the 8 “Democratic Congres
	Committee.
	76
	aware of the Russian organization and execution of these events.
	77 
	78
	campaign.
	79

	10 distributed documents stolen from those networks and accounts primarily by transferring them to 
	11 WikiLeaks for publication, but also by releasing them on a GRU-operated WordPress blog, 
	12 releasing them on a GRU-operated website called “DCLeaks,” sending the documents directly to 
	13 news reporters, and, in at least one instance, sending documents upon request to a congressional 
	Special Counsel’s Report at 35.  For example, in June 2016, a Trump Committee volunteer agreed to provide signs for an IRA-organized “March for Trump,” and the official Trump Committee Facebook account reposted photos from an IRA-organized “Florida Goes Trump” rally held in Miami. Id. at 31, 34, 35 n.108. 
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	Id. at 35. 
	77 

	Compare DCCC, Am. Statement of Org. (Oct. 15, 2015), with Democratic Congressional Campaign Committee, Am. Statement of Org. (May 22, 2015). 
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	Intelligence Community Assessment at 2; Special Counsel’s Report at 36; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 7-8, 63-70. The GRU also attempted to hack individuals and entities responsible for election administration such as state boards of election, secretaries of state, and private companies that supply election-related technology. Special Counsel’s Report at 50; Intelligence Community Assessment at 3. The Senate Intelligence Committee found that Russian actors may have targeted “all 50 states.”
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	1   The Special Counsel’s Report assessed that the releases were “designed and timed 
	candidate.
	80

	2 to interfere with the 2016 U.S. presidential election and undermine the Clinton campaign.”
	81 

	3 By March 2016, the GRU targeted persons affiliated with the Clinton campaign with 
	4 email “spearphishing”   Spearphishing is a method of hacking 
	attacks to steal their credentials.
	82

	5 The 
	whereby the victim is unknowingly lured into providing credentials to a malicious actor.
	83 

	6 GRU attempted to spearphish “over 300 individuals” affiliated with Clinton, the DCCC, and the 
	7 DNC.Included among those whom the GRU successfully spearphished was Podesta, whose 
	84 

	8 hacked documents, as discussed below, were published on WikiLeaks in October 2016, about a 
	9 month before Election Day.  Further, by using the credentials of certain spearphishing targets, 
	85

	10   The GRU stole thousands 
	the GRU was able to access the DNC and DCCC computer servers.
	86

	Special Counsel’s Report at 36, 42-43; Intelligence Community Assessment at 2-3; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 170-72. 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 36. The GRU, like the IRA but to a lesser extent, also published “anti-Clinton content” on social media using fake accounts. Id. at 37; see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 64 (describing the GRU’s use of social media accounts, pretending to be U.S. persons, posting anti-Clinton and pro-DCLeaks content). 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 36; Intelligence Community Assessment at 2. 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 36 n.112; U.S. DEP’T OF JUSTICE, REPORT OF THE ATT’Y GENERAL’S CYBERDIGITAL TASK FORCE at 36 (July 2, 2018); U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES PERMANENT SELECT COMM. ON INTELLIGENCE, REPORT ON RUSSIAN ACTIVE MEASURES at 34 (Mar. 22, 2018). The GRU’s typical mode of operation was to send a “spoofed” email (i.e., from a malicious source made to appear as a trusted source), prompting the recipient to change his or her password.  The reset password button in the email would surreptitious
	83 
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	GRU Indictment ¶ 21(b); Special Counsel’s Report at 37. Although the GRU focused on persons affiliated with the Clinton campaign, DCCC, and DNC, it conducted cyber operations against both Republican and Democratic targets. See Intelligence Community Assessment at 2-3. The GRU used a “variety of means” to perpetrate the hackings, GRU Indictment ¶ 3, but it appears spearphishing was the principal method. 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 37. 
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	This occurred as follows: the GRU spearphished a DCCC employee, obtained the person’s network credentials, and accessed the DCCC network; once on the DCCC network, the GRU was able to access the DNC network through a pre-existing virtual private network (“VPN”).  GRU Indictment ¶¶ 4, 23-24, 26(a); Special Counsel’s Report at 38. 
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	1 of documents, including emails, strategy memos, analyses of congressional races, fundraising 
	2 information, and opposition By June 8, 2016, the GRU began posting stolen emails 
	research.
	87 

	3 The DC Leaks “about” page falsely stated that it was 
	and documents on the DCLeaks website.
	88 

	4 operated by “American hacktivists who respect and appreciate freedom of speech, human rights 
	5 and government of the people,” when in fact the DC Leaks website was controlled by the 
	6 GRU.
	89 

	7 On June 14, 2016, the DNC publicly announced that it had been hacked and blamed 
	8 Russian government-sponsored   The next day, “Guccifer 2.0” — an online persona 
	actors.
	90

	9 controlled by the GRU, but which publicly claimed to be a lone Romanian hacker — opened a 
	91

	10   Guccifer 2.0 
	WordPress blog and issued a post to claim responsibility for the DNC hacking.
	92

	11 published select documents hacked from the DNC, including its opposition research file on 
	12   Thereafter, Guccifer 2.0 posted thousands of additional hacked documents over 
	Trump.
	93

	Special Counsel’s Report at 38, 40, 43; GRU Indictment ¶ 28(a); Intelligence Community Assessment at 2. In order to exfiltrate the data through an encrypted connection, the GRU used a leased computer in Illinois. See GRU Indictment ¶ 28.  
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 36, 41; Intelligence Community Assessment at 2-3. DC Leaks published documents on a periodic basis from victims such as Colin Powell and Clinton campaign staffer William Rinehart. 
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	Disinformation: A Primer in Russian Active Measures and Influence Campaigns: Hearing Before the S. Select Comm. on Intelligence, Prepared Statement of Kevin Mandia, CEO of FireEye, Inc., 115th Cong. 5 (Mar. 30, 2017) (“Mandia Statement”). 
	(archived version from June 20, 2016).  Before it was shut down in March 2017, the DCLeaks website received over one million page views.  GRU Indictment ¶ 36. 
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	DC Leaks | About, https://web.archive.org/web/20160620202602/http://dcleaks.com/index.php/about 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 42; Ellen Nakashima, Russian Government Hackers Penetrated DNC, Stole Opposition Research on Trump, WASH. POST, June 14, 2016. 
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	Intelligence Community Assessment at 3; Special Counsel’s Report at 42; Lorenzo Franceschi-Bicchierai, Here’s the Full Transcript of Our Interview with DNC Hacker ‘Guccifer 2.0,’ VICE, June 21, 2016. 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 41, 43; Intelligence Community Assessment at 3; Mandia Statement at 5. 
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	Guccifer 2.0, DNC’s Servers Hacked by Lone Hacker, / (archived version from June 15, 2016). 
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	1 several months; the GRU promoted the releases through posts on GRU-controlled social media 2 accounts and emails of “exclusive”3 By July 2016, the GRU provided WikiLeaks with hacked documents using the DCLeaks 4 5 WikiLeaks describes itself as a “multi-national media organization and associated library” that 6 specializes in “the analysis and publication of large datasets of censored or otherwise restricted 7 official materials involving war, spying, and corruption.”  Currently available information does 
	94
	 content from Guccifer 2.0 to U.S. news journalists.
	95 
	and Guccifer 2.0 online personas through Twitter direct message and other online channels.
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	97

	10 11 Public statements and known private messages between WikiLeaks and the Guccifer 2.0 12 and DCLeaks accounts controlled by the GRU present a conflicting timeline as to the exact date 13 that the GRU delivered the hacked documents to WikiLeaks.  On June 12, 2016, Assange gave a 14 press interview in which he announced that WikiLeaks was planning to release emails relating to 
	election, resided at the Ecuadorian embassy in London, England.
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 43 n.147 (listing thirteen separate blog post releases that occurred between June 15, 2016, and October 18, 2016); Intelligence Community Assessment at 2-3; Mandia Statement at 4. 
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	Intelligence Community Assessment at 2-3; Special Counsel’s Report at 43; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 186-87; Disinformation: A Primer in Russian Active Measures and Influence Campaigns: Hearing Before the S. Select Comm. on Intelligence, Opening Statement of Thomas Rid, Professor of Security Studies, King’s College London at Ex. 7, 115th Cong. 5 (Mar. 30, 2017) (emails between Guccifer 2.0 and The Smoking Gun). 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 44-46.  
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	https://wikileaks.org/What-is-WikiLeaks html (last accessed Feb. 19, 2021). 

	Id.; Assange “Free to Return Home” Once Legal Challenges Over, Australia PM Says, REUTERS, Jan. 4, 2021. The U.S. filed extradition proceedings in London, England against Assange to stand trial in the U.S. for charges relating to his alleged conspiracy with Chelsea Manning to hack classified documents.  Megan Specia, Julian Assange Appears in London Court for U.S. Extradition Hearing, N.Y. TIMES, Sept. 7, 2020; see also Second Superseding Indictment, United States v. Assange, 1:18-cr-111 (E.D. Va. June 24, 
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	1 Clinton; two days later (the same day that the DNC announced it had been hacked), DCLeaks 2 sent WikiLeaks a Twitter direct message offering assistance and proposing to “do it together.”3 The next day, June 15, 2016, Guccifer 2.0 announced on the WordPress blog that it had given 4 hacked DNC “files and mails” to WikiLeaks.  On July 6, 2016, WikiLeaks sent a message to 5 Guccifer 2.0 via Twitter direct message, asking for “anything hillary related,” and emphasized 6 that “we want it in the next tweo [sic] 
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	100
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	10 subject “big archive,” attaching an encrypted file named “wk dnc link1.txt.gpg” and noting this 11 was a “new attempt.”  On July 22, three days before the Democratic National Convention, 12 WikiLeaks released a tranche of over 20,000 documents from the DNC that had been supplied by 13 the GRU via Guccifer 2.0.
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	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 209; Special Counsel’s Report at 45. 
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	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 209. The Senate Intelligence Committee stated that it could not confirm that the GRU transferred hacked DNC materials to WikiLeaks before Assange’s interview and Guccifer 2.0’s announcement. Id. at 210. The Senate Intelligence Committee does, however, detail multiple communications from June 22 to July 6, 2016, between WikiLeaks and Guccifer 2.0  Id. at 210; see also Special Counsel’s Report at 45 (quoting June 22, 2016, Twitter direct message from WikiLeaks to
	100 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 45 (citing July 6, 2016, Twitter direct message from @WikiLeaks to @Guccifer_2).  According to internal communications obtained by the Special Counsel, WikiLeaks’s employees “privately expressed opposition” to Clinton. Id. at 44. 
	101 

	Id. at 45. 
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	Id. at 46; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 211 (concluding that this email “suggest[s] that previous efforts to share the data through other channels had failed”). 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 46. 
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	1 Later in the fall, on September 15, 2016, DC Leaks messaged WikiLeaks via Twitter 2 direct message: “hi there! I’m from DC Leaks.  How could we discuss some submission-related 3 issue? . . . . You won’t be disappointed, I promise.”  On October 7, 2016, WikiLeaks released 4 a set of emails from Podesta’s personal email account provided by the GRU via DC Leaks.5 The release occurred on the same day as the U.S. government announced that the Russian 6 government was responsible for election hacking and less t
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	107
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	10 Another way in which the GRU disseminated hacked documents was through direct 11 contact with at least one federal candidate. According to information obtained during the Special 12 Counsel’s investigation, on or about August 15, 2016, Guccifer 2.0 “received a request for stolen 13 documents from a candidate for the U.S. Congress,” and responded by sending documents 14 relating to the candidate’s opponent.  Currently, we are aware of no additional information 15 about the interaction between Guccifer 2.0
	109

	Id. (citing to Sept. 15, 2016, Twitter direct message from @dcleaks_ to @WikiLeaks). A few days later, DCLeaks followed up with an encrypted message bearing the subject “Submission.”  Id. at 47 (citing Sept. 22, 2016, 
	105 
	email from dcleaksproject@gmail.com). 

	GRU Indictment ¶ 49. 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 36, 58; Press Release, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Security Press Office, Joint Statement from the Dep’t of Homeland Security and Office of the Dir. of Nat’l Intelligence on Election Security 
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	(Oct. 7, 2016). 
	Special Counsel’s Report at 48; GRU Indictment ¶ 49; Mandia Statement at 5. 
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	GRU Indictment ¶ 43(a); Special Counsel’s Report at 43.  Similarly, Guccifer 2.0 sent a state lobbyist and blogger approximately 2.5 gigabytes of Florida-related data stolen from the DCCC.  GRU Indictment ¶ 43(b); Special Counsel’s Report at 43. 
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	Press Release, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Security Press Office, Joint Statement from the Dep’t of Homeland Security and Office of the Dir. of Nat’l Intelligence on Election Security (Oct. 7, 2016). 
	Press Release, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Security Press Office, Joint Statement from the Dep’t of Homeland Security and Office of the Dir. of Nat’l Intelligence on Election Security (Oct. 7, 2016). 
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	1 C. Interactions Between the Trump Committee and the Russian Federation 
	1 C. Interactions Between the Trump Committee and the Russian Federation 
	2 The Complaints in MURs 7207, 7268, 7623, 7637 allege that Trump and the 
	Figure

	3 Trump Committee coordinated with, and made solicitations to, the Russian Federation in election 
	4 interference activities.  As discussed below, the Special Counsel’s Report found that Trump 
	110

	5 and his campaign interacted with the Russian Federation in three principal ways relevant to the 
	6 Complaints in these matters:  (1) Trump’s “Russia, if you’re listening” statement; (2) contacts 
	7 with WikiLeaks regarding the release of documents hacked by the Russians; and (3) Paul 
	8 Manafort’s sharing of internal polling data with Russian and Ukrainian oligarchs.
	111 

	9 1. 
	Trump’s “Russia, if you’re listening” Statement 

	10 On July 27, 2016, shortly after WikiLeaks’s first publication of DNC documents, Trump 
	11 stated at a televised campaign news conference: 
	12 I have nothing to do with Putin.  I’ve never spoken to him.  I don’t know 13 anything about him other than he will respect me. He doesn’t respect our 14 president.  And if it is Russia — which it’s probably not, nobody knows 15 who it is — but if it is Russia, it’s really bad for a different reason, 16 because it shows how little respect they have for our country, when they 17 would hack into a major party and get everything.  But it would be 18 interesting to see. I will tell you this — Russia, if you’r
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	First Am. Compl. ¶¶ 61-66, MUR 7207; Compl. at 1, MUR 7268; Compl. at 6-13, MUR 7623; Compl. at 1-2, MUR 7637; 
	110 
	Figure

	A fourth way that the Trump Committee interacted with the Russian Federation, or individuals from the Russian Federation, relates to a June 9, 2016, meeting held at Trump Tower in New York City. See Special Counsel’s Report at 110-123. This interaction is the subject of MURs 7265 and 7266 and is addressed in the First General Counsel’s Report for those MURs. As noted above, the allegations in MURs 7268 and 7623 concerning the Trump Tower meeting have been administratively severed and merged into MUR 7266. S
	111 

	C-SPAN, Donald Trump on Russian & Missing Hillary Clinton Emails, YOUTUBE (July 27, 2016), 
	112 
	https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3kxG8uJUsWU (cited by Special Counsel’s Report at 49). 
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	1 Trump’s reference to “the 30,000 emails that are missing” relates to emails allegedly 2 erased from Hillary Clinton’s personal email server that she used while Secretary of State.3 Within approximately five hours after Trump’s statement, the GRU commenced spearphishing 4 attacks targeting email accounts associated with Clinton’s personal office; this was the first time 5 the GRU is known to have targeted Clinton’s personal office.The Special Counsel did not 6 identify whether the GRU successfully hacked a
	113 
	114 
	115

	10 locating Clinton’s emails.  According to Rick Gates, Deputy Chairman of the Trump 11 Committee, the campaign prepared a press strategy, communications campaign, and messaging 12 based on the potential release of the missing Clinton emails.
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	117 

	13 2. 14 The available information reflects that individuals associated with the Trump Committee 15 sought information from WikiLeaks regarding its cache of stolen documents.   
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 61; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 222 n.1437 (“The Committee assesses that, at this time, the references to Clinton’s ‘emails’ reflected a focus on allegedly missing or deleted emails from Clinton’s personal sever during her tenure as Secretary of State.”). 
	113 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 49 (“It is unclear how the GRU was able to identify these email accounts, which were not made public.”); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 232; GRU Indictment ¶ 22. 
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	See, e.g., David E. Sanger and Eric Schmitt, Spy Agency Consensus Grows That Russia Hacked D.N.C., N.Y. TIMES, July 26, 2016.  
	115 

	See Special Counsel’s Report at 61 (Stone pursued offer of Clinton emails in May of 2016); id. at 62 (following Trump’s “Russia, if you’re listening statement,” Trump “repeatedly” instructed campaign associates to locate the emails). 
	116 

	Id. at 54 (citing Gates interviews); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 226; id. at 230 (citing Gates’s FBI interview and Stone trial testimony describing “brainstorming sessions” about the Clinton emails from June to July 2016). 
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	1 a. Roger Stone 
	2 Roger J. Stone, Jr. was a Trump Committee official until August 2015 but maintained 
	3 regular contact with and publicly supported the Trump Committee through the remainder of the 
	4 2016 election.  The Special Counsel’s Report, the Senate Intelligence Committee Report, and 
	118

	5 testimony from Stone’s criminal trial describe multiple conversations between Stone and Trump 
	6 Committee officials in which Stone represented that he was conveying non-public information 
	7 about WikiLeaks’s release of hacked emails.
	119 

	8 Stone told Trump and senior Trump Committee officials that WikiLeaks would release 
	9 emails damaging to Clinton; Stone said this before Assange announced on June 12, 2016, that 
	10 WikiLeaks had information about Clinton that it would publish, and before WikiLeaks released a 
	11 collection of documents hacked from the DNC on July 22, 2016.Gates informed investigators 
	120 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 223 (explaining how Stone “stayed in close communication with the Campaign,” including dozens of phone calls with Manafort and Gates); see also Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 167 (government exhibit identifying, in August 2016, nearly 50 phone calls between Stone and senior members of the Trump campaign); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 227 (describing records obtained by the Committee showing “numerous phone calls” between Trump and Stone). 
	118 

	On November 15, 2019, following a jury trial, Stone was convicted of obstructing an official proceeding, 
	making false statements, and witness tampering, and was sentenced to 40 months in prison. See Verdict Form at 1
	-

	2, United States v. Roger J. Stone, 1:19-cr-00018 (D.D.C. Nov. 15, 2019); Press Release, Dep’t of Justice, 
	https://www.justice.gov/usao-dc/pr/roger-stone-found-guilty-obstruction-false-statements-and-witness-tampering 
	https://www.justice.gov/usao-dc/pr/roger-stone-found-guilty-obstruction-false-statements-and-witness-tampering 

	(accessed Jan. 3, 2020) (summarizing case history and guilty plea); Judgment at 2, United States v. Roger J. Stone, 
	1:19-cr-00018 (D.D.C. Feb. 20, 2020). The charges arose out of Stone’s interviews in connection with 
	investigations regarding Russian interference in the 2016 election by the Senate Intelligence Committee, House 
	Intelligence Committee, and the FBI.  Stone Indictment ¶ 7.  The criminal verdict related to Stone’s alleged efforts 
	to obstruct investigations regarding Russian interference in the 2016 election and does not answer whether there 
	were violations of federal campaign finance law. In July 2020, Trump commuted Stone’s sentence; in December 
	2020, Trump pardoned Stone for the crimes for which he had been convicted. See Executive Grant of Clemency 
	(July 10, 2020); Executive Grant of Clemency (Dec.
	 23, 2020), https://www.justice.gov/file/1349096/download.  

	Special Counsel’s Report at 52-59; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 221-52; Stone Trial Tr. at 927:3-928:4 (Gates testimony). 
	119 

	See Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 223-25; Special Counsel’s Report at 52 (“Other members and associates of the Trump Campaign, however, told the Office that Stone claimed to the Campaign as early as June 2016—before any announcement by Assange or WikiLeaks—that he learned that WikiLeaks would release documents damaging to the Clinton Campaign.”); Stone Trial Tr. at 927:3-928:4 (Gates testimony). 
	120 
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	1 that in approximately May 2016, before Assange’s WikiLeaks announcement, Stone told him 
	2 that something “big” was coming that had to do with a leak of information and, more 
	3 specifically, that Assange had Clinton’s emails.Similarly, Manafort stated that Stone told 
	121 

	4 him, in June 2016, that “a source close to WikiLeaks confirmed that WikiLeaks had the emails 
	5 from Clinton’s server.”  Moreover, Stone appears to have discussed WikiLeaks with Trump 
	122

	6 himself.  Michael Cohen, Trump’s personal attorney, told investigators that, on or around July 
	7 19, 2016, he heard a conversation between Stone and Trump on speakerphone in which Stone 
	8 told Trump, “I got off the telephone a moment ago with Julian Assange.  And in a couple of 
	9 days, there’s going to be a massive dump of emails that’s going to be extremely damaging to the 
	10 Clinton campaign,” to which Trump responded, “that’s good.  Keep me posted.”  Although 
	123

	11 Stone did not specify the date of WikiLeaks’s release and mistakenly predicted that WikiLeaks 
	12 would release Clinton’s purportedly missing emails, Stone correctly predicted that WikiLeaks 
	13 would release hacked emails detrimental to the Clinton campaign before such knowledge was 
	14 made public.
	124 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 52; see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 223; Stone Trial Tr. at 921:3-22, 927:3-928:4 (testimony of Gates). 
	121 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 223-24 (quoting Manafort 9/13/18 FBI 302); see also Special Counsel’s Report at 52. 
	122 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 229-30 (citing interview of Michael Cohen); see also Special Counsel’s Report at 53 (citing separate interview of Cohen). Trump, in written responses to questions from the Special Counsel, stated: “I do not recall discussing WikiLeaks with [Stone], nor do I recall being aware of Mr. Stone having discussed WikiLeaks with individuals associated with my campaign,” and claimed to have “no recollection of the specifics of any conversations I had with Mr. Stone betwe
	123 

	E.g., Stone Trial Tr. at 921:5-11 (testimony of Gates) (“Mr. Stone indicated that he had information that would be coming out at some point, although a date was never given.  And that was the information that he had 
	124 
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	1 Cohen informed investigators that, after WikiLeaks released hacked emails from the 2 DNC on July 22, 2016, Trump told him something to the effect of, “I guess Roger was right” and 3 that “Stone knew what he was talking about.”Similarly, Manafort recalled that he “thought 4 that Stone had been right.”Manafort informed investigators that, on or about July 25, 2016, 5 he spoke with Trump about how Stone had apparently predicted the release and claimed to have 6 access to WikiLeaks; Trump directed Manafort to
	125 
	126 
	127 
	128 
	129 

	10 “Manafort and Gates tasked Stone with communicating with WikiLeaks” and that “[a]fter 11 receiving Trump’s directive via Manafort, Stone channeled his efforts to reach Assange through 12 Jerome Corsi.”13 Corsi, who worked for the media outlet WorldNetDaily, told investigators that he was a 14 self-described “operative” for Stone, seeking to assist the Trump campaign in a personal 
	130 

	passed along.”); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 223-24 (“Like Gates, Manafort recalled Stone telling him that emails would be released ‘soon,’ but Stone ‘did not know when.’”); id. at 231 (describing how Manafort recalled being confused by Stone’s predication, which was that WikiLeaks had emails from “Clinton’s server,” “whereas the document released that day came from the DNC . . . .”). But see id. at 226 (explaining that, shortly after the GRU released hacked documents from the DNC for the
	Special Counsel’s Report at 53 (quoting Cohen 9/18/18 FBI 302); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 231 (quoting Cohen 8/07/18 FBI 302). 
	125 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 232 (quoting Manafort 9/13/18 FBI 302). 
	126 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 53 (citation redacted). 
	127 

	Id. at 53-54; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 232-33 (citing Manafort 9/13/18 FBI 302). 
	128 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 54; Stone Trial Tr. at 938:1-5 (testimony of Gates). 
	129 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 233. 
	130 
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	1 capacity.  On July 25, 2016, Stone emailed Corsi with the instruction:  “Get to Assange [a]t 
	131

	2 Ecuadorian Embassy in London and get the pending wikileaks emails . . . they deal with [the 
	3 Clinton] Foundation, allegedly.”  Corsi forwarded the email to Theodore Malloch, an 
	132

	4 associate who, at the time, lived in London, the same city in which Assange was then-ensconced 
	5 in the Ecuadorian Embassy.  Malloch, however, denied communicating with Assange or 
	133

	6 WikiLeaks and told investigators for the Special Counsel that, although Corsi asked him to get in 
	7 touch with Assange, he made no such attempt because he did not have a way to contact 
	8 Assange.
	134 

	9 In early August 2016, Corsi emailed Stone: 
	10 Word is friend in embassy plans 2 more dumps.  One shortly after I’m 11 back [from Italy on August 12].  2nd in Oct.  Impact planned to be very 12 damaging. . . . I expect presidential campaign to get serious starting Sept.  13 Still in pre-season games.  Time to let more than Podesta to be exposed as 14 in bed w enemy if they are not ready to drop HRC.  That appears to be the 15 game hackers are now about.  Would not hurt to start suggesting HRC old, 16 memory bad, had stroke — neither he nor she well. 
	135 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 54 (quoting Corsi 10/31/18 FBI 302). 
	131 

	Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 35 (email from Stone to Corsi) (emphasis omitted, ellipsis in original); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 235. Previously, Stone contacted Corsi and discussed Corsi’s ability to contact Assange.  Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 234 (citing Corsi 9/6/18 FBI 302 and phone records). 
	132 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 55; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 235 (email from Corsi to Malloch). On July 31, 2016, Stone sent another email to Corsi telling him that Malloch “should see Assange.” Special Counsel’s Report at 55; Stone Trial Tr., Exs. 148 at 3, 164 (call records); id., Ex. 36 (email). 
	133 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 55 n.218.  Malloch also reported to federal investigators that Corsi had no connection to Assange.  Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 236 (citing Malloch 6/8/18 FBI 302). 
	134 

	Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 37 (email from Corsi to Stone); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 237
	135 
	-

	38.  On August 3, 2016, the day after receiving the reply from Corsi, Stone wrote an email to Manafort:  “I have an idea… [t]o save Trump’s ass.  Call me pls.”  Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 25. 
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	1 On August 21, 2016, Stone tweeted: “Trust me, it will soon the [sic] Podesta’s time in the 2 barrel.”Corsi stated to investigators that during numerous phone calls in late August, “Stone 3 was asking for further information” about “timing and content of the Podesta email release.”4 When investigators asked where Corsi obtained the information regarding Podesta, Corsi 5 said that he could not recall, stating only that he thought someone gave him the information 6 while he was traveling in Italy and that “i
	136 
	137 
	138 
	139 

	10 whether Corsi had a connection to Assange and, if he did, who it was.
	140 

	11 Stone also sought information from WikiLeaks through Randy Credico, a New York 
	12 radio host.  On August 27, 2016, two days after Credico interviewed Assange on his show, 
	141

	13 Credico sent Stone a text message stating: “Julian Assange has kryptonite on Hillary.”
	142 

	See First Am. Compl. ¶ 32 n.38, MUR 7207 (citing Aug. 21, 2016, 7:24am tweet from @RogerJStoneJr ); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 241. It is unclear whether Stone’s tweet and the phrase in Corsi’s email — “Time to let more than Podesta to be exposed as in bed w the enemy if they are not ready to drop HRC” — are premised on Stone or Corsi’s knowledge that Podesta had been hacked and that his emails were soon to be published by WikiLeaks. 
	136 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 241 (quoting Corsi 9/21/18 FBI 302). 
	137 

	Id. at 239 (quoting Corsi 9/17/18 FBI 302).  Corsi told investigators that while on his Italy trip someone told him that WikiLeaks had Podesta’s emails and that they would be released “seriatim and not all at once.”  Id. 
	138 

	Id. at 240 (quoting Corsi 11/1/18 FBI 302); see also id. at 233 n.1530 (“[A]lthough some of Corsi’s testimony was consistent and could be corroborated by documents and phone records, the Committee encountered difficulty in determining the veracity of Corsi’s conflicting statements regarding how he had obtained information about WikiLeaks possessing information on John Podesta — namely, whether he had been told the information by a source of had deduced it on his own.”). 
	139 

	See id.; Special Counsel’s Report 53-56. 
	140 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 56; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 242. 
	141 

	Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 189 at 6 (text from Credico to Stone); Special Counsel’s Report at 56 (citing 8/27/16, text message, Credico to Stone); see also Stone Trial Tr. at 366:15 (testimony of FBI agent regarding texts from Credico to Stone discussing Assange appearing on Credico’s show); Stone Trial Tr. at 601:1-602:25 (describing 
	142 
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	1 Credico testified at Stone’s criminal trial that his statement was based on “public statements” by 2 Assange.3 On September 18, 2016, Stone emailed Credico with a “request to pass on to 4 Assange.”The email stated:  “Please ask Assange for any State or HRC e-mail from August 5 10 to August 30 — particularly on August 20, 2011 that mention [the key person named in the 6 article] or confirm this narrative” and contained an article about Clinton’s alleged conduct as 7 Secretary of State regarding Libya.After
	143 
	144 
	145 

	10 copied Stone.At Stone’s trial, however, Kunstler testified that she did not pass Stone’s 11 request to Assange or anyone else at WikiLeaks.  Further, Credico testified that he was not an 12 intermediary between Stone and Assange and that his statements implying that he possessed non-
	146 
	147

	how Credico was friends with an attorney who did work for WikiLeaks, Margaret Kunstler, and how Kunstler arranged for Assange to appear on Credico’s show). 
	Stone Trial Tr. at 613:12-13; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 243. 
	143 

	Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 48 (text from Stone to Credico that he would be “e-mailing u a request to pass on to [A]ssange”); id., Ex. 50 (email from Stone to Credico); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 243. 
	144 

	Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 50; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 243. 
	145 

	Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 55 (email from Credico to Kunstler); see also Stone Trial Tr., Exs. 53-54 (emails between Credico and Stone).  Kunstler represented Sarah Harrison, who at the time worked for WikiLeaks, after lawyers representing Assange “decided that it would be helpful to have a second lawyer for Ms. Harrison,” and Kunstler explained she only represented WikiLeaks to the extent there was overlap; regarding whether she was a WikiLeaks attorney, Kunstler answered: “technically, I don’t know.”  Stone Tri
	146 

	Stone Trial Tr. at 837:10-23; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 244. 
	147 
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	1 public information from Assange were either based on public information or outright 2 fabrications.3 During the time that he was communicating with Corsi and Credico, Stone was also 4 reporting back to the Trump Committee regarding WikiLeaks.  Steve Bannon, who joined the 5 Trump Committee in mid-August 2016 as Chief Executive Officer, stated that Stone told him 6 both before he joined the campaign and repeatedly thereafter, that he had a “connection to 7 Assange” and claimed that “WikiLeaks was going to 
	148 
	149 
	150 

	10 about early August 2016, that damaging information was going to be released about Podesta.11 It appears that Stone may have informed Trump himself about upcoming WikiLeaks releases.  12 Gates told investigators that on or about September 29, 2016, while driving with Trump to 13 LaGuardia Airport, Trump received a call from Stone, after which he told Gates that “more 14 WikiLeaks information would be coming.”
	151 
	152 

	Stone Trial Tr. at 619:24-621:21, 624:17-19, 629:11-18, 630:5-16, 631:8-10.  Credico testified that his sense that a WikiLeaks release was forthcoming was based on his reading of press reports and the fact that someone apparently “followed” him after he stood outside the Ecuadorian Embassy in London. Id. at 624:20-626:7. 
	148 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 241 (quoting Special Counsel’s Report at 54; Stone Trial Tr. at 850, 857-61 (testimony of Bannon)). 
	149 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 244 (quoting Manafort 9/13/18 FBI 302). When he spoke with Stone, Manafort had officially left the campaign but continued to advise senior campaign officials in an informal capacity.  Special Counsel’s Report at 141 (citing 10/21/16 Email, Manafort to J. Kushner; Gates 2/12/18 FBI 302). 
	150 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 240 (citing Gates 10/25/18 FBI 302). 
	151 

	Stone Trial Tr. at 946:13 (testimony of Gates); see id. at 938:19-939:18, 952:14-23; Special Counsel’s Report at 54; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 244-45. 
	152 
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	1 On October 7, 2016, WikiLeaks released the Podesta emails, and Trump Committee 2 officials credited Stone with having correctly predicted the release.The campaign made use 3 of the hacked documents that WikiLeaks released by incorporating them into Trump’s speeches, 4 tweets, and press releases.  WikiLeaks sent a private message to Stone on October 13, 2016, 5 following the Podesta release, admonishing him for spreading “false claims of association” 6 regarding Stone’s public statements taking credit for 
	153 
	154
	155 
	156 

	10 documentary evidence, such as texts or private messages, showing that Stone actually 11 communicated, directly or indirectly through an intermediary, with WikiLeaks or Assange to 12 obtain inside knowledge of forthcoming releases.The Senate Intelligence Committee in its 13 review of the documentary evidence explained that it “could not reliably trace the provision of 14 non-public information from WikiLeaks to Stone.”
	157 
	158 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 250-51 (quoting statements from senior Trump Committee officials). The Special Counsel and the Senate Intelligence Committee investigated whether Stone played any part in the timing of WikiLeaks’s release of Podesta’s emails to coincide with the Access Hollywood tape but could not corroborate evidence that he did. Special Counsel’s Report at 58-59, 176 (noting that phone records did not verify Stone having received the tape in advance); Senate Intelligence Comm
	153 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 253-56. 
	154 

	Id. at 252.  Stone had also made public statements indicating that he was in contact with Assange, to which WikiLeaks issued tweets denying any such communications.  Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 239. 
	155 

	Id. at 252. 
	156 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 52 (“Stone has publicly denied having any direct contact with Assange and claimed not to have had any discussions with an intermediary connected to Assange until July or August 2016.”). 
	157 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 222.  It is also noteworthy that, based on the available communications between WikiLeaks and the GRU (using the Guccifer 2.0 and DCLeaks personas), it is unclear whether WikiLeaks had obtained hacked documents from the GRU by the time Stone was telling Trump Committee officials about upcoming releases. See Special Counsel’s Report at 45 (identifying June 14, 2016, as the first known 
	158 
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	1 As detailed above, investigators were unable to identify Stone’s source, if any, and the 2 two possible sources identified in the Special Counsel’s Report and the Senate Intelligence 3 Committee Reports, Corsi and Credico, do not explain Stone’s predictions to Trump and Trump 4 Committee officials concerning WikiLeaks’s releases.  Nevertheless, the available information 5 shows that Stone attempted to contact WikiLeaks, through Corsi and Credico, not simply to 6 inquire about upcoming releases, but also t
	10 Trump Jr., the candidate’s son and campaign adviser, via Twitter direct message.  First, on 
	11 September 20, 2016, WikiLeaks messaged Trump Jr. to provide the password of an as-yet
	-

	12 unpublished anti-Trump website (WikiLeaks separately tweeted the password to the general 
	13 public) and asked whether he had any comments about the site; Trump Jr. replied:  “Off the 
	14 record, I don’t know what that is but I’ll ask around.”  Second, on October 3, 2016, WikiLeaks 
	159

	15 messaged Trump Jr. to ask him to help disseminate an anti-Clinton link; Trump Jr. responded 
	16 that he “had done so” and asked “what’s behind this Wednesday leak I keep reading about?” 
	contact between WikiLeaks and the GRU, post-dating when Stone first told Trump Committee officials about an upcoming release on WikiLeaks damaging to Clinton; and identifying September 15, 2016, as the first known contact between WikiLeaks and the GRU regarding the Podesta emails, post-dating when Stone continued to tell Trump Committee official about a second release and when Stone engaged in communications with Corsi and Credico about a second release); see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5
	Special Counsel’s Report at 60; see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 256 (indicating direct message was sent September 21, 2016). 
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	1 though WikiLeaks did not respond to that question.  Third, on October 12, 2016, following the 
	160

	2 Podesta release, WikiLeaks messaged Trump Jr. asking for help promoting the URL of a website 
	3 to help “dig through the trove of stolen documents and find stories”; on October 14, 2016, Trump 
	4 Jr. tweeted the URL: “For those who have the time to read about all the corruption and 
	5 hypocrisy all the @wikileaks emails are right here:  wlsearch.tk.”
	161 

	6 3. 
	Sharing of Internal Polling Data by Paul Manafort 

	7 Paul Manafort officially joined the Trump Committee on March 29, 2016, as the 
	8 Campaign’s Convention Manager.  By May 19, 2016, Manafort became Campaign Chairman 
	162

	9 and Chief Strategist, but he left that position and departed the campaign on August 19, 2016.
	163 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 60. The unidentified link apparently directed to a website that alleged Clinton had advocated targeting Assange with a drone. Id.; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 247. 
	160 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 60; see Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 257. 
	161 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 134 (citing Trump Committee, Press Release, Donald J. Trump Announces Campaign Convention Manager Paul J. Manafort (Mar. 29, 2016)); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 56 (explaining that Trump appears to have hired Manafort on March 16, 2016, and that his hiring was not made public until March 29, 2016). The Special Counsel brought indictments against Manafort and Gates, related to their consulting work in Ukraine, resulting in guilty pleas for a variety of charges, 
	162 
	https://www.justice.gov/sco
	https://www.justice.gov/sco

	https://www.justice.gov/file/1349071/download
	https://www.justice.gov/file/1349071/download


	Special Counsel’s Report at 20, 134 (citing Meghan Keneally, Timeline of Manafort’s Role in the Trump Campaign, ABC NEWS, Oct. 20, 2017); Special Counsel’s Report Vol. 2 at 20. 
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	1 However, even after his departure from the campaign, Manafort continued to provide campaign 2 officials with advice.3 Immediately upon joining the Trump Committee, Manafort directed Gates to prepare 4 memoranda addressed to Oleg Deripaska, a Russian oligarch with close ties to Putin, and three 5 Ukrainian oligarchs, Rinat Akhmetov, Serhiy Lyovochkin, and Boris Kolesnikov.The 6 memoranda described Manafort’s appointment to the Trump campaign and expressed his interest 7 in consulting on Ukrainian politics 
	164 
	165
	166 
	167

	10 more detail.  I look forward to speaking with you soon.”11 The Senate Intelligence Committee described Deripaska as someone who “conducts 12 influence operations, frequently in countries where he has a significant economic interest.”13 Before he joined the campaign, Manafort had consulted for Deripaska from 2005 to 2009, but 14 their relationship soured after a failed business deal.In 2014, one of Deripaska’s companies, 
	168 
	169 
	170 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 141 (citing 10/21/16 Email, Manafort to J. Kushner; Gates 2/12/18 FBI 302). 
	164 

	On April 6, 2018, the U.S. Department of the Treasury announced sanctions against Deripaska “for having acted or purported to act for or on behalf of, directly or indirectly, a senior official of the Government of the Russian Federation” in connection with “malign activity around the globe,”  U.S. Dep’t of the Treasury, Press Release, Treasury Designates Russian Oligarchs, Officials, and Entities in Response to Worldwide Malign Activity (Apr. 6, 2018). The Special Counsel’s investigation neither established
	165 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 135 (citing Gates 2/02/18 FBI 302); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 58-59. 
	166 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 135; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 60. 
	167 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 60. 
	168 

	Id. at 27. 
	169 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 131-32 (citing Gates 2/02/18 FBI 302; Gates 3/12/18 FBI 302; Manafort 12/16/15 Dep.). 
	170 
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	1 Surf Horizon Limited, filed a lawsuit against Manafort, seeking millions of dollars in damages, 2 and the litigation remained ongoing during the 2016 election.  Akhmetov, Lyovochkin, and 3 Kolesnikov were senior officials of the Opposition Bloc, a pro-Russian Ukrainian political party 4 that is the successor to the Party of Regions.  From 2005 to 2015, Manafort consulted for the 5 Party of Regions and the Opposition Bloc,receiving millions of dollars from his consulting 6 work, but the Opposition Bloc all
	171
	172
	173 
	174 

	10 dissemination.Kilimnik was a longtime Manafort employee who previously oversaw 11 Manafort’s lobbying office in Kiev.The Senate Intelligence Committee labeled Kilimnik a 12 “Russian intelligence officer” who may have been connected to the GRU’s hack-and-release 13 operation.Kilimnik did not officially work for the Trump Committee but assisted Manafort 
	175 
	176 
	177 

	Surf Horizon Limited initially brought suit against Manafort in the Cayman Islands but later filed in New York State Court.  Compl. ¶¶ 34-48, Surf Horizon Limited v. Manafort & Gates, 650130/2018 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. Jan. 10, 2018); Compl. ¶ 1, Surf Horizon Limited v. Manafort & Gates, 650130/2018 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. Jan. 10, 2018) (alleging that Manafort and Gates “vanished more than $18.9 million”); see Special Counsel’s Report at 132. 
	171 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 132, 135 n.880; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 58-59 (describing the influence and wealth of the Ukrainian oligarchs, their Russian connections, and their previous working relationships with Manafort). 
	172 

	See Special Counsel’s Report at 131-32; see also id. at 132 (explaining that Akhmetov hired Manafort to work for Ukraine’s Party of Regions in 2005 after being introduced by Deripaska). 
	173 

	Id. at 135 (citing Gates 2/2/18 FBI 302), 141 (citing Gates 1/30/18 FBI 302; Patten 5/22/18 FBI 302). 
	174 

	Id. at 131, 135 (citing 3/30/16 Email, Gates to Kilimnik). 
	175 

	Id. at 129, 131-32. Kilimnik did not provide any statements to the Special Counsel’s Office.  Kilimnik was charged, along with Manafort and Gates, with crimes relating to their political consulting work in Ukraine, but he apparently remains at large. See Superseding Indictment, United States v. Manafort & Kilimnik, 1:17-cr-00201 
	176 

	(D.D.C. June 08, 2018); Special Counsel’s Report, App. D-1 ¶ 5. Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 28-29. 
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	1 and Gates with translating documents and transmitting them to the Russian and Ukrainian 
	2 oligarchs.
	178 

	3 The Special Counsel’s Report summarized Gates’s testimony that, in April or early May 
	4 2016, Manafort instructed Gates “to send Kilimnik . . . internal polling data and other updates so 
	5 that Kilimnik, in turn, could share it with Ukrainian oligarchs” and that Gates “understood that 
	6 the information would also be shared with Deripaska.”Gates sent the data on a periodic basis 
	179 

	7 to Kilimnik via WhatsApp pursuant to instructions he received from Manafort.After 
	180 

	8 Manafort resigned from the campaign in August 2016, Gates continued to send the polling 
	9 data.Gates described the data as “topline” data, which included the results of internal polling 
	181 

	10 including state, dates, generic, decided GOP, and other such numbers, and explained that he 
	11 would copy and paste from summary sheets provided by Trump Committee pollster and 
	12 longtime Manafort associate Tony Fabrizio.The Senate Intelligence Committee stated that 
	182 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 131-34 (also explaining how the FBI has assessed that Kilimnik has ties to Russian intelligence). 
	178 

	See id. at 136 (citing Gates 1/31/18 FBI 302; Gates 9/27/18 FBI 302). The Special Counsel’s finding that Manafort sent polling data is based primarily on statements made by Gates and Sam Patten, a Kilimnik associate. See id. at 129 (“Manafort claims not to recall that specific instruction”), 133 n. 862 (noting Patten pled guilty to a FARA violation and also admitted to withholding information from the Senate in its investigation); see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 80 (stating that Patt
	179 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 136 (citing Gates 1/31/18 FBI 302). 
	180 

	Id. (citing Gates 2/12/18 FBI 302); id. at 136 n.893 (explaining that the transmission became less frequent and Gates’s access to internal polling data became limited when Tony Fabrizio, the Trump Committee pollster who prepared the polling data, was “distanced from the Campaign”). 
	181 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 70-71 (citing Gates 2/15/19 FBI 302). Gates recalled that it was not the entire raw data set, nor was it cross tabs. Id. The Special Intelligence Committee analyzed the polling data Fabrizio sent to Manafort and Gates, and described the “topline” data as consisting of “all responses for each polled question on a questionnaire, which usually included approximately 100 questions,” and that the questionnaires “tested a variety of questions related to Trump and Cli
	182 
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	1 “Kilimnik was capable of comprehending the complex polling data he received,” had worked 
	2 with Fabrizio before, and had previous experience with “present[ing] the outcome of polls to 
	3 politicians and colleagues.”
	183 

	4 The Special Counsel’s Report states that the investigation had a “limited ability to gather 
	5 evidence on what happened to the polling data after it was sent to Kilimnik,” and therefore was 
	6 unable to determine “what Kilimnik (or others he may have given it to) did with” the polling 
	7 data.Moreover, neither the Special Counsel nor the Senate Intelligence Committee 
	184 

	8 determined Manafort’s subjective purpose in sharing the Trump campaign’s internal polling 
	9 data.However, Gates believed that Manafort sent polling data to Deripaska “so that 
	185 

	10 Deripaska would not move forward with his lawsuit against Manafort.”Gates also said that 
	186 

	11 Manafort told him that working for the Trump Committee would increase the likelihood that he 
	12 would receive the $2 million allegedly owed to him by the Opposition Bloc.
	187 

	of 247 pages with detailed breakdowns of aggregated responses for each questions tested as part of the poll. Id. It is unclear whether Gates copied and sent only portion of the topline data or the entirety. Id. 
	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 77-78 (describing how, for over a decade, Kilimnik had “regularly helped formulate and review polling questionnaires and scripts, hired and overseen polling experts, [and] analyzed and interpreted polling results”). 
	183 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 131. It appears likely that the Russian and Ukrainian oligarchs received the polling data.  Manafort sent the data over the course of several months which would be unusual if he did not receive some indication that the transmissions had been received. See id. at 132, 135, 137. There is evidence that Kilimnik was in contact with Deripaska’s deputy, and that they spoke about Deripaska’s “attention to the campaign,” again making it unlikely that Manafort would have continuously sent
	184 

	Id. at 136 (citing Gates 2/12/18 FBI 302; Gates 1/31/18 FBI 302); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 29. The investigation “did not identify evidence of a connection between Manafort’s sharing polling data and Russia’s interference in the election.”  Special Counsel’s Report at 131.  However, there is a question as to the certainty of this determination. See id. (noting “questions about Manafort’s credibility” and “our limited ability to gather evidence”). 
	185 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 135-36. 
	186 

	Id. at 135. 
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	1 Manafort met with Kilimnik in person on at least two occasions during the election, both 2 times in New York.  Shortly after the first meeting, which occurred on May 7, 2016, Manafort 3 ordered Gates to send polling data.  During the second meeting, which occurred on August 2, 4 2016, Manafort and Kilimnik discussed Manafort’s strategy for Trump to win the election; this 5 “encompassed the Campaign’s messaging and its internal polling data” and the battleground 6 states of Michigan, Wisconsin, Pennsylvani
	188
	189
	190 

	10 swing.”
	191 

	11 4. 12 The Special Counsel’s Report extensively details a “series of contacts between Trump 13 Committee officials and individuals with ties to the Russian government,” but states that the 14 investigation “did not establish that members of the Trump Committee conspired or coordinated 15 with the Russian government in its election interference activities.”These include, inter alia, 
	Additional Contacts 
	192 

	Id. at 138-39. 
	188 

	Id. at 136 n.888 (citing Gates 11/07/18 FBI 302); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 70. 
	189 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 140 (citing Manafort 9/11/18 FBI 302; Gates 1/30/18 FBI 302). They also discussed Manafort’s legal matter with Deripaska and his financial dispute with the Opposition Bloc. Id. at 141. The Special Counsel Report’s details about the content of the meeting are based on statements by Manafort and Gates, who also attended, and by a business associate of Kilimnik (Sam Patten), who Kilimnik spoke with after the meeting. Id. at 139-41. The original purpose of the meeting was for Kilimni
	190 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 79-80 (citing Gates 2/2/18 FBI 302). 
	191 

	Id. at 5 (recognizing that “the Russian government perceived it would benefit from a Trump presidency and worked to secure that outcome, and that the Campaign expected it would benefit electorally from information stolen and released through Russian efforts”). 
	192 
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	1 a meeting between Jeff Sessions and Russian Ambassador Kislyak, Carter Page’s connections to 2 Russian intelligence, and George Papadopoulos’s purported advanced knowledge of Russia’s 3 hacking operations.  These allegations were not directly raised in any of the Complaints and 4 do not appear relevant to the allegations raised in the Complaints; this Report thus does not 5 address those findings at length here. 6 D. Cambridge Analytica 7 Cambridge Analytica, LLC was a limited liability company organized 
	193
	194 
	195

	10 political committees in the United States during the 2014 election cycle, which continued 
	11 through the 2016 election cycle.
	196 

	12 The Supplemental Complaint in MUR 7268 alleges that “Cambridge Analytica . . . 
	13 provided illegally sourced social profiles to the Russians as reported in the British investigation 
	14 of Cambridge Analytica.”  The Supplemental Complaint does not provide any additional 
	197

	15 information regarding the allegation or cite to a particular source.
	198 

	Id. at 66-110, 123-129; see also id. at 144-73 (post-election and transition-period contacts).  As noted above, supra note 111, the Special Counsel’s Report also details a June 9, 2016, meeting at Trump Tower organized by Donald Trump, Jr. to obtain damaging information on Clinton from Russian nationals, which is the subject of the First General Counsel’s Report in MURs 7265 and 7266. 
	193 

	Cambridge Analytica LLC, Delaware Div.NameSearch.aspx (viewed Feb. 18, 2021). 
	194 
	 of Corps., https://icis.corp.delaware.gov/ecorp/entitysearch/ 

	SCL Group Limited, U.K.house.gov.uk/company/05514098 (last visited Feb. 18, 2021). 
	195 
	 Companies House Registration, Company No. 05514098, https://beta.companies 

	Craig Timberg and Tom Hamburger, Former Cambridge Analytica Workers Say Firm Sent Foreigners to Advise U.S. Campaigns, WASH. POST (Mar. 25, 2018). 
	196 

	Supp. Compl., MUR 7268 (Donald J. Trump) (Jan. 16, 2020). 
	197 

	The term “British investigation” may be a reference to an investigation conducted by the Information Commissioner’s Office of the United Kingdom into Cambridge Analytica, LLC. See Ltr from Elizabeth Denham CBE, UK Information Commissioner, to Julian Knight MP, Chair, Digital, Cultural and Media Sport Select Comm., 
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	1 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 2 A. The Act’s Prohibition of Foreign National Contributions and Expenditures 3 The Act and Commission regulations prohibit any foreign national from “directly or 4 indirectly” making “a contribution or donation of money or other thing of value,” “an express or 5 implied promise to make a contribution or donation,” or “an expenditure, independent 6 expenditure, or disbursement for an electioneering communication,” in connection with a federal, 7 state, or local election.  The Act and C
	199
	200

	10 explicitly or implicitly, that another person make a contribution, donation, transfer of funds, or 11 otherwise provide anything of value.”12 In affirming the constitutionality of the Act’s ban on foreign national contributions and 13 independent expenditures, the court in Bluman v. FEC held: 14 It is fundamental to the definition of our national political community that 
	201 

	15 foreign citizens do not have a constitutional right to participate in, and 16 thus may be excluded from, activities of democratic self-government.  It 17 follows, therefore, that the United States has a compelling interest for 18 purposes of First Amendment analysis in limiting the participation of 
	House of Commons (Oct. 2, 2020) (announcing the findings of investigation into Cambridge Analytica, LLC’s alleged “use of personal information and political influence”), available at taken/2618383/20201002_ico-o-ed-l-rtl-0181_to-julian-knight-mp.pdf.  The Information Commissioner’s Office “referred details of reported possible Russia-located activity to access data linked to the investigation to the National Crime Agency,” but the findings as stated in the October 2, 2020, report do not describe any specifi
	https://ico.org.uk/media/action-weve
	-

	52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(1); 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(b), (c), (e), (f). 
	199 

	52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2); 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g); see also 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(a)(4) (definition of knowingly). 
	200 

	11 C.F.R. § 110.20(a)(6) (incorporating the definition at 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m)). 
	201 
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	1 foreign citizens in activities of American democratic self-government, and 2 in thereby preventing foreign influence over the U.S. political process.3 The Act defines “contribution” as “any gift, subscription, loan, advance, or deposit of 4 money or anything of value made by any person for the purpose of influencing any election for 5 Federal office.”The Act similarly defines “expenditure” as “any purchase, payment, 6 distribution, loan, advance, deposit, or gift of money or anything of value, made by any
	202 
	203 
	204 
	205
	206
	207 

	800 F. Supp. 2d 281, 288 (D.D.C. 2011), aff’d, 565 U.S. 1104 (2012); see also U.S. v. Singh, 924 F.3d 1030, 1043 (9th Cir. 2019) (holding that “Congress was within its power when it acted to protect the country's political processes after recognizing the susceptibility of the elections process to foreign interference”). 
	202 

	52 U.S.C. § 30101(8)(A)(i). Id. § 30101(9)(A)(i). 11 C.F.R. §§ 100.52(d)(1), 100.111(e)(1); see Advisory Op. 2007-22 at 5 (Hurysz) (“AO 2007-22”). Factual & Legal Analysis at 6-7, MUR 7271 (DNC) AO 2007-22 at 6 (citing Contribution Limitations and Prohibitions, 67 Fed. Reg. 69,928, 69,940 (Nov. 19, 
	203 
	204 
	205 
	206 
	207 

	Figure
	2002) (“As indicated by the title of section 303 of BCRA, ‘Strengthening Foreign Money Ban,’ Congress amended [52 U.S.C. § 30121] to further delineate and expand the ban on contributions, donations, and other things of value 
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	1 B. The Commission Has Jurisdiction Over the Russian Federation 2 The Act’s definition of “foreign national” includes an individual who is not a citizen or 3 national of the United States and who is not lawfully admitted for permanent residence, as well 4 as a “foreign principal” as defined at 22 U.S.C. § 611(b), which, in turn, includes a “government 5 of a foreign country” as well as “a partnership, association, corporation, organization, or other 6 combination of persons organized under the laws of or h
	208

	10 any such group and any group or agency to which such sovereign de facto or de jure authority or 
	11 functions are directly or indirectly delegated.”
	209 

	12 Accordingly, the Act’s plain language confers the Commission with jurisdiction over 
	13 foreign governments.  Relying on the Act, the Commission has previously asserted 
	210

	14 jurisdiction over foreign state respondents, concluding that Congress “explicitly prohibited” 
	15 foreign states from making contributions and thus “granted the Commission exclusive 
	by foreign nationals”) (emphasis added) (“2002 Prohibitions E&J”)); see also Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 24-27, MUR 4250 (Republican Nat’l Comm., et al.) (Sep. 8, 1999) (describing the legislative history of the foreign national prohibition which, “unlike other provisions of the Act, has its origins in, and essentially remains, a national security provision with broad application”). 
	52 U.S.C. § 30121(b)(2); 22 U.S.C. § 611(b)(1); accord 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(a)(3); Factual & Legal Analysis, MUR 4583 (Devendra Singh and the Embassy of India) (finding reason to believe that the Indian Embassy as well as an embassy official knowingly and willfully violated the Act’s ban on foreign national contributions). 
	208 

	22 U.S.C. § 611(e). 
	209 

	The Act grants the Commission with administrative jurisdiction over any “person” who is alleged to have violated the Act, and defines “person” to include “an individual, partnership, committee, association, corporation, labor organization, or any other organization or group of persons.”  52 U.S.C. §§ 30109(a), 30101(11). The only stated limitation is that a “person” does not include the United States federal government.  Id. § 30101(11). 
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	1 
	1 
	jurisdiction with respect to civil enforcement of [the Act]” against such persons.211 
	The 

	2 
	2 
	Commission further determined that, “[t]o assert otherwise would be to read an explicit 

	3 
	3 
	prohibition . . . out of the statute.”212
	  The Commission has addressed allegations against four 

	4 
	4 
	foreign state respondents, finding reason to believe that three of those foreign governments had 

	5 
	5 
	violated the Act, conciliating with one, and finding probable cause to believe against another.213 

	6 
	6 
	The Russian Federation nonetheless argues that it is immune from the Commission’s 

	7 
	7 
	jurisdiction 
	Congress enacted the Foreign Sovereign Immunities 


	8 Act of 1976 (“FSIA”) to codify certain principles of international comity with respect the 
	9 assertion of jurisdiction over foreign governments in United States courts.  Under the FSIA, a 
	215

	Factual & Legal Analysis at 10-11, MUR 2892 (Coordination Council of North American Affairs) (“CCNAA”). 
	211 

	Id. at 14; see also Davis v. Mich. Dep’t of Treasury, 489 U.S. 803, 809 (1989) (“It is a fundamental canon of statutory construction that the words of a statute must be read in their context and with a view to their place in the overall statutory scheme.”). 
	212 

	In MUR 2892 (CCNAA), involving an instrumentality of Taiwan, the respondent negotiated a conciliation agreement prior to a finding of probable cause to believe.  Conciliation Agreement, MUR 2892 (CCNAA) (Jan. 13, 1992). In MUR 3801 (Royal Embassy of Saudi Arabia) (“RESA”), the Commission found reason to believe but closed the file, apparently for reasons unrelated to jurisdiction. Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 7-8, MUR 3801 (RESA) (Apr. 24, 1995); see Certification ¶ 1, MUR 3801 (RESA) (May 25, 1995). In MUR 4530 
	213 
	Figure

	In MUR 4583 (Embassy of India), the 
	Figure

	Commission exercised its “exclusive jurisdiction with respect to the civil enforcement of [the Act], the U.S. law that in relevant part prohibits foreign nationals and foreign governments from making direct or indirect contributions to 
	U.S. elections.” Notification to Embassy of India at 1, MUR 4583 (Embassy of India) (Jan. 16, 1997) (internal quotations omitted). The Commission found probable cause to believe, but elected not to pursue the respondent further. Notification to Embassy of India at 1, MUR 4583 (Embassy of India) (Sept. 10, 1999).  Subsequently, Congress strengthened the Act’s foreign national prohibition with the Bipartisan Campaign Reform Act of 2002, in part motivated by concerns about the role the Chinese government playe
	Figure
	215 
	See 28 U.S.C. § 1602 (“The Congress finds that the determination by United States courts of the claims of foreign states to immunity from the jurisdiction of such courts would serve the interests of justice and would protect the rights of both foreign states and litigants in United States courts. Under international law, states are not immune from the jurisdiction of foreign courts insofar as their commercial activities are concerned, and their commercial 
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	1 foreign state is presumptively immune from suit in United States courts unless one of the 2 statute’s enumerated exceptions applies to the alleged conduct.3 The FSIA, however, addresses only sovereign immunity in the courts; FSIA does not 4 purport to address a federal agency’s consideration of an administrative matter against a foreign 5 sovereign, such as whether there is reason to believe the Russian Federation violated the Act.6 As noted above, the Commission has taken the position that the Act itself
	216 
	217 
	218 

	10 under the FSIA “commercial activity” exception.11 There is ample evidence that FSIA’s “commercial activity” exception applies to the 12 Russian Federation’s activity alleged in these matters.  Under the FSIA, courts may exercise 13 jurisdiction over foreign sovereigns where an action is “based upon a commercial activity carried 14 on in the United States by the foreign state . . . or upon an act outside the territory of the United 15 States in connection with a commercial activity of the foreign state el
	219 

	property may be levied upon for the satisfaction of judgments rendered against them in connection with their commercial activities.”). 
	See 28 U.S.C. § 1605 (listing exceptions). 
	216 

	State Bank of India v. Nat’l Labor Relations Bd., 808 F.2d 526, 535 (7th Cir. 1986) (remarking, in dicta, that the FSIA, on its face, does not apply to the administrative process, but rather only when a federal agency seeks to enforce its orders in a court). 
	217 

	See supra note 211-213 and accompanying text.  The Act arguably also confers the Commission with authority to bring civil suits against foreign sovereign respondents (and thus confers courts with jurisdiction to hear such claims). 
	218 

	See, e.g., Certification, MUR 4583 (Embassy of India) (Nov. 10, 1998) (finding probable cause); Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 6-8, MUR 4583 (Embassy of India) (Nov. 3, 1998) (analyzing probable cause under the Act and noting probable jurisdiction under FSIA’s commercial activity exception); Factual & Legal Analysis at 10-11, MUR 2892 (CCNAA) (same). 
	219 
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	1 a direct effect in the United States.”Whether activity can be deemed “commercial” for 
	220 

	2 purposes of the FSIA depends on the “nature” of the transaction, rather than its “purpose.”
	221 

	3 [T]he question is not whether the foreign government is acting 4 with a profit motive or instead with the aim of fulfilling uniquely 5 sovereign objectives.  Rather, the issue is whether the particular 6 actions that the foreign state performs (whatever the motive behind 7 them) are the type of actions by which a private party engages in 8 trade and traffic or commerce.
	222 

	9 A suit over “a contract to buy army boots or even bullets” involves commercial activity because 
	10 “private companies can similarly use sales contracts to acquire goods.”  The “government’s 
	223

	11 purpose in conducting the activity is irrelevant; the only concern is whether the sovereign acted 
	12 in the manner of a private actor.”  Courts have held, for example, that foreign states can be 
	224

	13 subject to suit over the manufacture of defective ammunition,contracts concerning military 
	225 

	14 aircraft,and the sale of uranium resulting from an international agreement to dismantle 
	226 

	15 nuclear warheads.
	227 

	28 U.S.C. § 1605(a)(2). 
	220 

	Id. § 1603(d). 
	221 

	Republic of Argentina v. Weltover, Inc., 504 U.S. 607, 614 (1992) (internal quotation marks omitted) (emphasis in original). 
	222 

	Id. at 614-15 (contrasting the issuance of regulations limiting foreign currency exchange, which is a sovereign activity “because such authoritative control of commerce cannot be exercised by a private party”). 
	223 

	Thai Lao Lignite (Thailand) Co. v. Gov’t of Lao People’s Democratic Rep., No. 10 CIV. 5256 KMW DCF, 2013 WL 1703873, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 19, 2013) (citing NML Capital, Ltd. v. Rep. of Arg., 680 F.3d 254, 260 (2d Cir. 2012); see also Weltover, 504 U.S. at 614) (“We conclude that when a foreign government acts, not as regulator of a market, but in the manner of a private player within it, the foreign sovereign’s actions are commercial within the meaning of the FSIA.” (internal quotations omitted)). 
	224 

	Rote v. Zel Custom Mfg. LLC, 816 F.3d 383, 391 (6th Cir. 2016) (“[W]hether the ammunition was used or intended for military purposes is of no consequence. . . . DGFM does not assert that only governmental actors manufacture and design ammunition”). 
	225 

	UNC Lear Servs., Inc. v. Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, 581 F.3d 210, 217–18 (5th Cir. 2009) (“Regardless of the end use of the F–5 components in aircraft that were used for national defense, the SPAGE contract was for goods and services and is properly construed as commercial activity.”). 
	226 

	Globe Nuclear Servs. & Supply (GNSS), Ltd. v. AO Techsnabexport, 376 F.3d 282, 289 (4th Cir. 2004) (rejecting the Russian Federation’s argument that it was “not merely dealing in uranium; it [wa]s regulating its inventory . . . in a manner that no private player can” (emphasis omitted)). 
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	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 
	Figure
	10 Recently, in DNC v. Russian Federation, a federal court in the Southern District of New 11 York ruled that the Russian Federation was immune to private claims brought by the DNC for a 12 portion of the Russian Federation’s actions alleged in these matters — the hacking of DNC’s 13 computers — because the plaintiff’s causes of action did not qualify for the commercial activity 14 exception.Specifically, the court held that “[t]ransnational cyberattacks are not the type of 15 actions by which a private par
	228 
	229

	Democratic Nat’l Comm. v. Russian Fed’n, 392 F. Supp. 3d 410, 428-29 (S.D.N.Y. 2019) (considering DNC’s private causes of action under six federal statutes, including RICO and DMCA (but not the Act), in addition to causes of action under DC and Virginia statutory and common law). 
	228 

	Id. at 429 (internal quotation omitted). 
	229 
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	1 
	1 
	commerce.230 
	First, the Second Circuit’s per se approach to excluding illegal activity from the 

	2 
	2 
	FSIA commercial activity exception has been questioned by other circuits.231 
	Second, the court 

	3 
	3 
	in DNC v. Russian Federation did not consider any claims under the Act and did not adjudicate 

	4 
	4 
	the Commission as a party to such a claim, and thus did not address how the Commission is 

	5 
	5 
	uniquely empowered to enforce the Act against the Russian Federation for campaign finance 

	6 
	6 
	violations — that is, spending money for the purpose of influencing an election — rather than 

	7 
	7 
	harms flowing from the hack itself, as claimed by the DNC. Third, even accepting the validity of 

	8 
	8 
	the district court’s holding, it does not implicate jurisdiction in the administrative context and is 

	9 
	9 
	thus not applicable here.  As discussed below, we recommend that the Commission find reason 

	10 
	10 
	to believe against the Russian Federation but take no further action.  

	11 
	11 
	Finally, the analysis in DNC v. Russian Federation has no bearing on the Commission’s 

	12 
	12 
	ability to make findings against the Russian Federation on other activity unrelated to the hack 


	13 and release operation, 14 15 16 17 
	Figure
	230 
	See id. at 429 (“Moreover, the alleged actions by the Russian Federation — hacking and theft — are illegal. The Second Circuit has made very clear that, for purposes of the FSIA, a commercial activity must be one in which a private person can engage lawfully.”) (internal quotation omitted). 
	231 
	Cicippio v. Islamic Republic of Iran, 30 F.3d 164, 167 (D.C. Cir. 1994) (questioning the Second Circuit’s determination that illegal activity cannot be commercial, saying that the Supreme Court’s case law “may well undermine the Second Circuit’s categorical approach” (citing Saudi Arabia v. Nelson, 507 U.S. 349 (1993)). 
	Figure
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	Figure

	1 2 3 In summary, because the Act independently confers jurisdiction on the Commission 4 against foreign governments, FSIA does not appear to restrict the Commission’s jurisdiction in 5 an administrative matter, and, to the extent that FSIA would be applicable, an FSIA exception 6 appears to apply to a cause of action the Commission could bring in court, the Commission 7 should exert jurisdiction over the Russian Federation. 8 C. The Commission Should Find Reason to Believe That the Russian Federation 
	9 and the IRA Made Prohibited Foreign National Expenditures and 10 Independent Expenditures, and Failed to Report Independent Expenditures 11 The Russian Federation and the IRA are foreign nationals under the meaning of “foreign 12 principal” incorporated in the Act’s definition.  As discussed above,the term foreign 13 principal includes any “government of a foreign country” and, specifically, includes “any group 14 or agency” such as the GRU, a Russian Federation military intelligence agency, “to which suc
	233
	234 
	235 
	236
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	22 U.S.C. § 611(b); see 52 U.S.C. 30121(b)(1) (defining the term “foreign national” to include “a foreign principal, as such term is defined by section 611(b) of title 22, except that the term “foreign national” shall not include any individual who is a citizen of the United States”). 
	233 

	Supra Part III.B. 22 U.S.C. § 611(b), (e). Id. § 611(b)(3). Special Counsel’s Report at 4, 14, 16. 
	234 
	235 
	236 
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	1 Further, for purposes of liability, because the GRU is included within the meaning of 2 “government of a foreign country” as a subdivision of the Russian Federation, its actions are 3 imputed to the Russian Federation itself.  Indeed, the United States Intelligence Community 4 assessed with high confidence that Russian President Vladimir Putin personally ordered the 5 Russian influence campaign.  Moreover, though the IRA is ostensibly a non-governmental 6 entity, the Russian Federation appears to have act
	238
	239 

	10 intelligence.”The Senate Intelligence Committee further explained how Prigozhin’s “close 11 ties to high-level Russian government officials including President Vladimir Putin, point to 12 significant Kremlin support, authorization, and direction of the IRA’s operations and goals.”13 The State Department has identified both the IRA and Prigozhin as “persons that are part of, or 14 operate for or on behalf of, the defense and intelligence sectors of the Government of the Russian 15 Federation.”
	240 
	241 
	242 

	Intelligence Community Assessment at 1; see also id. at 1-2 (describing the reasons why Putin, his advisors, and the Russian Federation likely sought to interfere in the 2016 presidential election). 
	238 

	See 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(1)(B)-(C) (providing that it shall be unlawful for a foreign national, “directly or indirectly,” to make, inter alia, a contribution, expenditure, independent expenditure).   
	239 

	Intelligence Community Assessment at 3-4. 
	240 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 5; see also Special Counsel’s Report at 16 (“Numerous media sources have reported on Prigozhin’s ties to Putin, and the two have appeared together in public photographs.”); see also Intelligence Community Assessment at 2 (“We assess that influence campaigns are approved at the highest levels of the Russian Government—particularly those that would be politically sensitive.”). 
	241 

	Notice of Department of State Sanctions Actions Pursuant To Section 231(a) of the Countering America’s Adversaries Through Sanctions Act of 2017 (CAATSA) and Executive Order 13849 of September 20, 2018, and Notice of Additions To the CAATSA Section 231(d) Guidance, 83 Fed. Reg. 50,433, 50,434 (Oct. 5, 2018); CAATSA, Pub. Law 115-44, 131 Stat. 898 (2017). 
	242 
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	1 As foreign nationals, the Russian Federation and the IRA are prohibited from making, 
	2 directly or indirectly, “an expenditure, independent expenditure, or disbursement for an 
	3 electioneering communication.”  An “independent expenditure” “means an expenditure by a 
	243

	4 person for a communication expressly advocating the election or defeat of a clearly identified 
	5 candidate; and that is not made in concert or cooperation with or at the request or suggestion of 
	6 such candidate, the candidate’s authorized political committee, or their agents, or a political party 
	7 committee or its agents.”  Every person that is not a political committee that makes 
	244

	8 independent expenditures aggregating in excess of $250 with respect to a given election in a 
	9 calendar year must report such independent expenditures to the Commission.A 
	245 

	10 communication expressly advocates when, it: 
	11 (a) Uses phrases such as . . . “support the Democratic nominee,” . . . “Bill 12 McKay in ’94,” . . . “vote against Old Hickory,” “defeat” accompanied 13 by a picture of one or more candidate(s), “reject the incumbent,” or . . . 14 campaign slogan(s) or individual word(s), which in context can have 15 no other reasonable meaning than to urge the election or defeat of one 16 or more clearly identified candidates, such as posters, . . . 17 advertisements, etc. which say “Nixon’s the One,”. . . or “Mondale!”
	19 (b) When taken as a whole and with limited reference to external events, 20 such as the proximity to the election, could only be interpreted by a 21 reasonable person as containing advocacy of the election or defeat of 22 one or more clearly identified candidate(s) because (1) The electoral 23 portion of the communication is unmistakable, unambiguous, and 24 suggestive of only one meaning; and (2) Reasonable minds could not 25 differ as to whether it encourages actions to elect or defeat one or more 
	52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(C); 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(f). 
	243 

	11 C.F.R. § 100.16(a); see also 52 U.S.C. § 30101(17). 
	244 

	52 U.S.C. § 30104(c); 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(b). 
	245 
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	1 clearly identified candidate(s) or encourages some other kind of 2 action.3 In Bluman v. FEC, the D.C. Circuit upheld the constitutionality of the foreign national 4 prohibition with respect to “contributing to candidates or political parties; [] making expenditures 5 to expressly advocate the election or defeat of a political candidate; and [] making donations to 6 outside groups when those donations in turn would be used to make contributions to candidates 7 or parties or to finance express-advocacy exp
	246 
	247 
	248
	249
	250 

	11 C.F.R. § 100.22; see also Express Advocacy; Independent Expenditures; Corporate and Labor Organization Expenditures, 60 Fed. Reg. 35,292, 35,295 (July 6, 1995) (“[C]ommunications discussing or commenting on a candidate’s character, qualifications or accomplishments are considered express advocacy under new section 100.22(b) if, in context, they have no other reasonable meaning than to encourage actions to elect or defeat the candidate in question.”). 
	246 

	Bluman, 800 F. Supp. 2d at 284. 
	247 

	Id. at 285. 
	248 

	Id. at 286-92; see also id. at 292 (explaining, with respect to plaintiffs’ “concern that Congress might bar them from issue advocacy and speaking out on issues of public policy,” that “[o]ur holding does not address such questions, and our holding should not be read to support such bans”). 
	249 

	Id. at 288. 
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	1 “undermine public faith in the U.S. democratic process,” implicating the precise threat that the 2 foreign national prohibition was designed to address, and greatly exceeding the dangers posed by 3 the two individual plaintiffs’ proposed activities prohibited by the Bluman court.As stated in 4 the Intelligence Community Assessment, “President Vladimir Putin ordered an influence 5 campaign in 2016 aimed at the U.S. presidential election, the consistent goals of which were to 6 undermine public faith in the
	251 
	252 
	253

	10 and independent expenditures, as detailed below.  Information provided in the official reports 11 indicates that salary payments to IRA employees targeting the U.S. election, likely the most 12 significant category of prohibited expenditures, totaled as much as $1.8 million.  Although 13 there is no public information regarding specific amounts, it is reasonable to presume that the 14 GRU also made salary payments to the 12 individuals tasked with conducting the hack-and15 release operation.In addition, 
	254
	-
	255 

	Intelligence Community Assessment at 1; see Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 7, 22-23; IRA Indictment ¶ 11(b); see also Advisory Op. 2018-12 at 7-9 (DDC) (noting that “[f]oreign cyberattacks that entail disbursements by foreign nationals in connection with American elections are violations of section 30121” and stating that prohibition is intended to “exclude foreign citizens from activities intimately related to the process of democratic self-government” (quoting Bluman, 800 F. Supp. 2d at 28
	251 

	See Intelligence Community Assessment at 1. 
	252 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 22-23. 
	253 

	Supra note 36 and accompanying text (approximating total salary payments based on information regarding the number of IRA employees as of July 2016 specifically tasked with U.S.-directed influence operations and their average monthly salaries). 
	254 

	See Special Counsel’s Report at 39, 41; GRU Indictment ¶¶ 39, 57.  The GRU also paid employees to post anti-Clinton content on social media using fake accounts.  Special Counsel’s Report at 37; GRU Indictment ¶¶ 18, 39; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 64. 
	255 
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	1 election (over 1,000 ads totaling approximately $70,000) and spent an unknown amount on 
	2 candidate rally supplies, as well as various research and travel costs.  And the GRU made 
	256

	3 payments for computer infrastructure necessary to execute the hackings.  The total amount of 
	257

	4 those payments is unknown, but there is information that the GRU laundered a pool of more than 
	5 $95,000 in cryptocurrency for this purpose.
	258 

	6 In analyzing whether a payment is a “contribution” or “expenditure” under the Act, the 
	7 Commission has concluded that the question is whether the payment, donation, or service was 
	8 made or provided “for the purpose of influencing a federal election [and] not whether [it] 
	9 provided a benefit to [a federal candidate’s] campaign.”  The electoral purpose of a payment 
	259

	10 may be clear on its face, as in payments to solicit contributions or for communications that 
	11 expressly advocate for the election or defeat of a specific candidate, or inferred from the 
	12 surrounding circumstances.  As discussed above, the United States Intelligence Community, 
	260

	Supra note 57 and accompanying text.  Travel encompassed the journey from Russia to the U.S., travel between locations in at least nine states, and related equipment. IRA Indictment ¶ 30(a)-(d); Special Counsel’s Report at 21. Political rally supplies included buttons, flags, posters, megaphones, and banners and paying real U.S. people to perform tasks such as building a parade float with a Clinton impersonator. IRA Indictment ¶¶ 55(d), 62, 64, 72, 77, 94. 
	256 

	This included the purchase of internet domains used to conduct the spearphishing campaign, the domain and DCCC hackings; further, the GRU leased computer servers, including in the United States, to assist with exfiltrating documents from the DNC and DCCC, operating malware, and hosting the DCLeaks website. GRU Indictment ¶¶ 24, 28, 45(a), 53, 64(c); Special Counsel’s Report at 39, 39 n.126. 
	257 
	DCLeaks.com used to publish hacked materials, and domains to facilitate the operation of malware used in the DNC 

	GRU Indictment ¶¶ 21, 57. 
	258 

	Factual & Legal Analysis at 6, MUR 7024 (Van Hollen for Senate). 
	259 

	See, e.g., Advisory Op. 2000-08 (Harvey) at 1, 3 (“AO 2000-08”) (concluding private individual’s $10,000 “gift” to federal candidate would be a contribution because “the proposed gift would not be made but for the recipient’s status as a Federal candidate”); Advisory Op. 1988-22 (San Joaquin Valley Republican Associates) at 5 (concluding third party newspaper publishing comments regarding federal candidates, coordinated with those candidates or their agents, thereby made contributions because “the financing
	260 
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	1 the Special Counsel, and the Senate Intelligence Committee concluded that the Russian 
	2 Federation and the IRA acted with the purpose of influencing the presidential election.In 
	261 

	3 light of those findings, the specific activity (such as payments for express advocacy 
	4 communications), and the circumstances surrounding other payments, each of the Russian 
	5 Federation’s payments can be fairly described as made for the purpose of influencing a federal 
	6 election.  For Commission purposes, however, these wide-ranging expenses fall into a number of 
	7 different categories subject to different legal analyses. 
	8 First, payments made by the IRA for paid advertising in the form of express advocacy 
	9 communications constitute prohibited foreign national independent expenditures.  The IRA 
	10 purchased ads on Facebook with language such as “Vote Republican, vote Trump, and support 
	11 the Second Amendment” and “#HillaryClintonForPrison2016,” that unambiguously advocate the 
	12 election or defeat of clearly identified candidates.  However, paid advertising containing 
	262

	13 express advocacy totaled roughly $3,000, a fraction of the total cost of the Russian Federation’s 
	14 influence campaign.As explained above, the Senate Intelligence Committee determined that 
	263 

	“uncompensated fundraising and campaign management assistance” and “advertising assistance,” including spending “several million dollars” on coordinated advertisements). 
	See Intelligence Community Assessment at 1 (assessing with high confidence “that Russian President Vladimir Putin ordered an influence campaign in 2016 aimed at the US presidential election”) (emphasis added); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 4 (concluding “that the IRA sought to influence the 2016 U.S. presidential election by harming Hillary Clinton’s chances of success and supporting Donald Trump”) (emphasis added); Special Counsel’s Report at 27, 36 (determining that the IRA used fake soci
	261 

	See 11 C.F.R. § 100.22(a) (listing several examples using the word “vote” as well as others, like “Bill McKay in ’94,” which, like “Hillary Clinton for Prison 2016,” is tied to the electoral date in a manner that, despite the absence of the word “vote,” in context has no other reasonable meaning than to urge the election or defeat of the candidate); App., Exs. 1-3. 
	262 

	Supra note 59-61 and accompanying text; see App., Ex. 1; see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 45 (“While early media reporting on the IRA’s Facebook activity focused on purchased advertising, the organic content generated by IRA influence operatives on their Facebook pages far surpassed the volume of targeted advertisements.”).  We identified at least 58 ads totaling approximately $3,000 that named and supported or opposed a clearly identified candidate or promoted a rally to support or o
	263 
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	1 paid ads were apparently used to attract more followers to IRA-controlled accounts so that they 2 would be subsequently exposed to “payload content.”  The main focus of the IRA’s efforts, 3 discussed below, related to organic content generated by paid IRA staffers.  The IRA’s payments 4 for advertisements containing express advocacy on social media constitute foreign national 5 “independent expenditures,” prohibited under 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(1)(c). 6 Second, the IRA also paid an unknown amount for variou
	264
	-
	265 

	10 purpose of influencing an election.  The IRA’s payments for the costs of these rallies, staged 11 for the purpose of influencing an election, constitute foreign national “expenditures,”12 prohibited under 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(1)(c). 13 Third, payments made by the GRU in connection with the hack-and-release operation 14 constituted prohibited expenditures by a foreign national because they were made for the purpose 15 of influencing a federal election.  The GRU paid at least 12 hackers to steal documents 
	266
	267 
	268 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 32-33, 51, 61 (explaining the role of “‘payload content’ designed to influence the targeted user”). 
	264 

	See supra note 74 and accompanying text. App., Ex. 3 (listing known IRA-organized rallies held during the 2016 election and providing various information regarding relating purchases). 
	265 
	266 

	See 52 U.S.C. § 30101(9)(A)(i). See Special Counsel’s Report at 36 n.109. 
	267 
	268 
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	1 with the 2016 U.S. presidential election and undermine the Clinton Campaign.”The GRU’s 2 purpose of harming Clinton’s electoral chances is evident from the timing of the DNC and 3 Podesta releases and the GRU’s communications with WikiLeaks leading up to the releases, 4 which detail how releasing the documents could raise Trump’s “25% chance of winning against 5 Hillary” by creating “conflict between bernie and hillary.”The cost of the hack-and-release 6 operation is not publicly known but was likely at l
	269 
	270 
	271 
	272 

	10 was premised on the “enhanced threat” to election security posed by foreign cyberattacks, and 11 the Commission’s “obligation to preserve the basic conception of a political community” 12 underlying the foreign national prohibition.  Accordingly, the Russian Federation’s payments, 13 through the GRU, in support of the hack-and-release operation were foreign national 14 “expenditures” and therefore prohibited under 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(1)(c). 
	273

	Id. at 36. 
	269 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 45 (quoting July 6, 2016, Twitter direct message from @WikiLeaks to @Guccifer_2). 
	270 

	In addition to paying the wages of 12 hackers, the GRU also made a variety of payments for the purchase or rental computer technology and resources, such as computer servers (including within the United States) and domain names. Special Counsel’s Report at 39, 41; GRU Indictment ¶¶ 39, 57 (explaining how the GRU laundered more than $95,000 in cryptocurrency). The GRU also paid employees to post anti-Clinton content on social media using fake accounts in a manner similar to the IRA, though to a lesser extent
	271 

	AO 2018-12 at 2 (DDC) (describing instances in 2008, 2012, and 2016 elections where hackers stole, and in some cases released, information from political candidates and others related to U.S. elections). 
	272 

	Id. at 7-9 (explaining that the prohibition is intended to “exclude foreign citizens from activities intimately related to the process of democratic self-government”) (quoting Bluman, 800 F. Supp. 2d at 287). 
	273 
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	1 Fourth, salaries paid to IRA staff members to write and post “organic,” i.e., non-paid 2 advertising, express advocacy communications on social media constituted prohibited 3 independent expenditures by a foreign national.  This category of prohibited expenditures totals 4 in the millions of dollars.  As explained above, an independent expenditure is any expense for a 5 “communication expressly advocating the election or defeat of a clearly identified candidate” 6 made independently of a candidate.  The t
	274
	275
	276 

	10 internal IRA documents that reveal the specific instructions given to paid IRA employees, such 11 as “Main idea:  Use any opportunity to criticize Hillary and the rest (except Sanders and Trump 12 — we support them).”IRA employees’ “organic” content included posts containing express 13 advocacy such as “Hillary is the Worst Candidate for President,” “Vote for Jill Stein,” “I’m not 14 voting for Hillary #HillaryForPrison2016,” and “#MAGA.”  These phrases and slogans can 15 have no reasonable interpretatio
	277 
	278

	11 C.F.R. § 100.16(a). 
	274 

	The term “public communication” does not include “communications over the Internet, except for communications placed for a fee on another person’s Web site.” Id. § 100.26. 
	275 

	The Commission’s regulations on both disclaimers and coordinated communications require a communication to be either an “electioneering communication,” which includes only certain broadcast, cable and satellite communications, or a “public communication,” which includes internet communications only when “placed for a fee on another person’s website.”  11 C.F.R. §100.26 (public communication); see 11 C.F.R. §§ 100.29 (electioneering communication); 109.21 (coordinated communication test); 110.11(a) (disclaim
	276 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 23-24.  Another IRA document criticized an employee’s “lower” number of posts negative to Clinton and ordered him/her to “intensify criticizing Hillary Clinton.” Id. 
	277 

	See 11 C.F.R. § 100.22; App., Ex. 2. Researchers working for the Senate Intelligence Committee identified more than 4,300 posts on Facebook, 21,000 on Instagram, and 628,000 on Twitter that mentioned candidates by name.  NK Working Paper at 76; see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 32. 
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	1 of Clinton.In an analogous context, the Commission determined that payments to door-to
	279 
	-

	2 door canvassers making express advocacy communications are independent expenditures.
	280 

	3 Here, the IRA paid employees to conduct the digital equivalent by posting and engaging with 
	4 U.S. voters on social media.  Thus, the IRA’s payments for salaries for persons to post 
	281

	5 “organic” social media communications with express advocacy were prohibited independent 
	6 expenditures under 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(1)(c). 
	7 Fifth, and finally, the IRA incurred expenses for general administrative costs relating to 
	8 its 2016 election influence campaign, most significantly, to pay staff to post organic, non-express 
	9 advocacy content necessary to develop the fake personas that attracted audiences to subsequently 
	10 receive “payload” content directed at the election, as well as costs for computer infrastructure 
	11 necessary to orchestrate the social media campaign.  Though lacking express advocacy, the 
	282

	12 payments were essential to advance the overall effort to influence the 2016 election.  Therefore, 
	52 U.S.C. § 30104(c); 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(b). 
	279 

	See, e.g., Factual & Legal Analysis at 1-2, MUR 7285 (Worker’s Voice) (finding that an independent expenditure-only political committee failed to report as independent expenditures “paid time and associated expenses” relating to door-to-door canvassing organized by the committee but carried out by individuals who were employed by and paid by other organizations for the time they spent working for the committee). 
	280 

	IRA “trolls” were paid between $700 and $1,000 per month. Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 26. The IRA had at least 80 employees focused on the U.S. population, although the entire organization had “hundreds” of employees. IRA Indictment ¶ 10(d).  Assuming the 80 employees were paid $1,000 per month over an approximate 15 month election cycle, the IRA paid its employees $1.2 million (80 x 1,000 x 15).  This figure does not include the “hundreds” of employees that were not directly focused on t
	281 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 32-33, 51, 61 (describing “payload” content); see also id. at 33 (detailing example of “Army of Jesus” Facebook page which posted thematic religious content but, shortly, before the election, posted an election-related message — “Hillary approves removal of God from the pledge of Allegiance”) (original message in all caps). 
	282 
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	1 such disbursements, made by a foreign national for the purpose of influencing a federal election, 2 are prohibited “expenditures” under 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(1)(c).3 The lack of express advocacy in the communications in this category does not bar 4 enforcement of the Act’s foreign national expenditure prohibition against the Russian Federation 5 and IRA for their payments made for the purpose of interfering with the 2016 election and, 6 ultimately, subverting the U.S. democratic process.  The Bluman court,
	283 
	284

	10 applying the foreign national prohibition to non-express advocacy communications was not 11 before the court, this language is dicta.  Moreover, the facts of that case, involving foreign 12 students living in the United States from making contributions and printing flyers supporting a 13 candidate, did not raise questions regarding other categories of expenditures.Given the nature 14 of the evidence obtained by U.S. government investigators, which shows that the Russian 15 Federation did not act to advan
	285
	286 

	52 U.S.C. § 30101(9)(A). 
	283 

	880 F. Supp. 2d at 284 (citing FEC v. Wisc. Right to Life, Inc., 551 U.S. 449 (2007)); see also id. at 282 (listing activities at issue before the Court none of which constituted issue speech); id. at 292 (listing issues that were not before the court, including “issue advocacy”). 
	284 

	Id. at 292 (explaining, with respect to plaintiffs’ “concern that Congress might bar them from issue advocacy and speaking out on issues of public policy,” that “[o]ur holding does not address such questions, and our holding should not be read to support such bans”); cf. USAID v. Alliance for Open Society, Intl., Inc., 140 S. Ct. 2082, 2086 (2020) (holding that foreign organizations operating abroad do not possess First Amendment rights). 
	285 

	Bluman, 880 F. Supp. 2d at 285. 
	286 
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	1 protects the compelling state interest of excluding foreign nationals from “activities of 
	2 democratic self-government,” extends to the full range of the IRA’s payments for its influence 
	3 campaign to subvert the 2016 election.
	287 

	4 Therefore, we recommend that the Commission find reason to believe that the Russian 
	5 Federation violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(1)(C) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(f) by making prohibited 
	6 foreign national expenditures and independent expenditures with respect to each of the five 
	7 categories listed above and that the IRA violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(1)(C) and 11 C.F.R. 
	8 § 110.20(f) by making prohibited foreign national expenditures and independent expenditures 
	9 with respect to categories one, two, four, and five. In addition, because the IRA did not report 
	10 the independent expenditures, we recommend that the Commission find reason to believe that the 
	11 IRA and the Russian Federation violated 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c) and 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(b) by 
	12 failing to report independent expenditures to the Commission.
	288 

	13 We do not, however, recommend that the Commission further pursue the Russian 
	14 Federation and IRA with respect to these violations.  There is no realistic prospect that the 
	Id. at 288; see Advisory Opinion 2018-12 at 7-9 (DDC) (concluding that foreign national prohibition is intended to “exclude foreign citizens from activities intimately related to the process of democratic self-government”); see also USAID v. Alliance for Open Soc’y, Int’l, Inc., 140 S. Ct. 2082, 2086 (2020) (“[I]t is long settled as a matter of American constitutional law that foreign citizens outside U.S. territory do not possess rights under the U.S. Constitution.”). 
	287 

	As noted above, on February 16, 2018, the Special Counsel brought an indictment against the IRA and a group of non-respondents including individuals who worked for the IRA and companies that funded it, alleging inter alia, conspiracy to defraud the United States for violating the Act — i.e., “making expenditures in connection with the 2016 U.S. presidential election without proper regulatory disclosure.” IRA Indictment ¶¶ 8-85. Only one set of defendants, the companies that allegedly funded the IRA (non-res
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	1 
	1 
	Russian Federation or the IRA will cooperate and voluntarily enter into conciliation with the 

	2 
	2 
	Commission,289 and the likelihood of success in obtaining a collectible judgment through 

	3 
	3 
	litigation against them is uncertain in light of the overall circumstances, including the statute of 

	4 
	4 
	limitations situation and developments in DOJ’s criminal proceedings against the IRA and 

	5 
	5 
	individuals associated with the IRA.290
	  Accordingly, under the unique circumstances presented 

	6 
	6 
	in these matters, we recommend that the Commission take no further action as to the Russian 

	7 
	7 
	Federation and the IRA with respect to these violations, beyond finding reason to believe as 

	8 
	8 
	recommended above.291 


	289 IRA Video Resp., MUR 7274; cf. Certification ¶ 1, MUR 3801 (RESA) (May 25, 1995) (finding reason to believe but closing the file with respect to the Royal Embassy of Saudi 
	Arabia). But see Conciliation Agreement, MUR 2892 (CCNAA) (conciliating with an instrumentality of Taiwan). 
	See supra note 288. 
	290 

	In the Statement of Policy Regarding Commission Action in Matters at the Initial Stage in the Enforcement Process, the Commission announced that, as a matter of non-binding policy, it disfavored finding “reason to believe, but take no further action” and instead would generally “dismiss” matters that do not merit the additional expenditure of Commission resources under Heckler v. Chaney, 470 U.S. 821 (1985). 72 Fed. Reg. 12545 (Mar. 16, 2007). However, in setting forth the types of factors that would warran
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	1 D. The Commission Should Find Reason to Believe That the Russian Federation 2 Made, and Trump and the Trump Committee Solicited, Accepted or 3 Received, a Prohibited Foreign National Contribution by Coordinating in 4 Connection with Trump’s Press Conference Statement 
	5 Soliciting a contribution from a foreign national is a violation of the Act and Commission 6 regulations.As explained above, “to solicit” means “to ask, request, or recommend, explicitly 7 or implicitly, that another person make a contribution, donation, transfer of funds, or otherwise 8 provide anything of value.”A solicitation “is an oral or written communication that, 9 construed as reasonably understood in the context in which it is made, contains a clear message 
	292 
	293 

	10 asking, requesting, or recommending that another person make a contribution, donation, transfer 11 of funds, or otherwise provide anything of value” and may be made “directly or indirectly.”12 Under the Act and Commission regulations, in-kind contributions result when goods or 13 services are provided without charge or at less than the usual and normal charge, and when a 14 person makes an expenditure in cooperation, consultation or in concert with, or at the request or 15 suggest of a candidate or the c
	294 
	295
	296 

	52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2); 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g). 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(a)(6) (incorporating the definition at 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m)). Id. § 300.2(m). 11 C.F.R. § 100.52(d). 52 U.S.C. § 30116(a)(7)(B); 11 C.F.R. § 109.20; see also Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1, 46-47 (1976). 
	292 
	293 
	294 
	295 
	296 
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	1 committee, or political party committee.”  Section 109.20(a) defines coordination to mean 2 “made in cooperation, consultation or concert with, or at the request or suggestion of, a 3 candidate, a candidate’s authorized committee, or a political party committee.”4 Trump’s statement — “Russia, if you’re listening, I hope you’re able to find the 30,000 5 emails that are missing.  I think you will probably be rewarded mightily by our press” — 6 constitutes both a prohibited solicitation of a foreign national
	297
	298 
	299

	10 the meaning of “contribution,” that is, to use its resources to find the purportedly missing 30,000 11 emails belonging to his opponent and to publish them or otherwise make them available to the 12 United States press, at no cost to the Trump Committee. In concluding that tangible and 13 intangible things are “anything of value” under the Act, the Commission has analyzed a number 14 of indicia of value, including, as relevant here, whether the provision of the thing would 15 “relieve” the campaign of an
	300
	301

	Coordinated and Independent Expenditures, 68 Fed. Reg. 421, 425 (Jan. 3, 2003) (“Coordination E&J”); see also Advisory Opinion 2011-14 (Utah Bankers Association). 
	297 

	11 C.F.R. § 109.20(a). 
	298 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 49. 
	299 

	See AO 2007-22 at 6 (noting that the provision of election materials to a campaign results in a contribution because it “would relieve [the] campaign of the expense that it would otherwise incur to obtain such materials”). 
	300 

	See, e.g., Factual & Legal Analysis at 7-8, MUR 7271 (DNC) (finding that a foreign embassy made a contribution when it “utilized its resources and expended ‘funds for opposition research’” that it provided to campaign at no charge); First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 10, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.) (dispositive Commission 
	301 
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	1 use absent the provider’s actions.  For instance, in MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.), the 2 Commission concluded that a master contact list of political activists was “something of value, 3 meeting the Act’s broad definition of contribution,” given that a corporation had “utilized its 4 resources to obtain and compile” the materials; the materials contained “information that may 5 [have been] of value in connection with the [] election”; and it appeared the materials were not 6 “readily or publicly available.
	302
	303 
	304 

	10 released DNC documents.  Although official government investigations had not yet revealed the 11 Russian Federation’s role in the hacking, news reports at the time indicated that the Russian 12 Federation was likely responsible for the DNC hack and, further, that intelligence officials had 13 briefed the White House about the Russian Federation’s role the DNC hack.  During the press 14 conference, just moments before asking Russia to find the 30,000 emails, Trump recognized that 15 Russia had apparently 
	305

	opinion) (recommending finding reason to believe that a nonprofit corporation made prohibited in-kind contributions by providing a campaign with its private lists of conservative organizations and individuals, which the corporation “utilized its resources to obtain and compile”), and Certification, MUR 5409 (Oct. 19, 2004) (approving recommendation). 
	See, e.g., First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 9, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.) (noting that attendee lists provided to a campaign “may not have been publicly available”). 
	302 

	First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 8-10, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.) (internal quotation marks omitted); Certification ¶ 2, MUR 5409 (Oct. 19, 2004). The Commission found reason to believe that the respondents in MUR 5409 violated the prohibition on corporate contributions but took no further action because the value of the materials at issue appeared to be limited. First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 10-12, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.); Certification ¶ 2, MUR 5409. MUR 5409, however, did not involve a foreign national c
	303 

	Supra Part II.C.1. 
	304 

	See, e.g., David E. Sanger and Eric Schmitt, Spy Agency Consensus Grows That Russia Hacked D.N.C., N.Y. TIMES, July 26, 2016.  
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	1 everything.”The segue from that description of Russia’s ability to launch a cyberattack into 2 the request that Russia locate the Clinton emails can be reasonably understood as asking Russia 3 to carry out another similar operation.   4 From March through the election, the Trump campaign devoted considerable time and 5 resources to locating Clinton’s emails, mentioned the emails in multiple internal meetings, sent 6 several senior officials to meet with Russian nationals on the promise of Russian governme
	306 
	307 

	10 phrase “Russia, if you’re listening” — and had an objective, reasonable basis to believe that 11 Russia had the means and will to carry out this request for the benefit of his campaign.  12 Specifically, Trump requested that “Russia” provide, without charge, a thing of benefit 13 and value to his campaign — the public release of the “30,000 emails that are missing” — that 14 would relieve the campaign of the expense of obtaining the thing the campaign had previously 
	C-SPAN, Donald Trump on Russian & Missing Hillary Clinton Emails, YOUTUBE (July 27, 2016), Trump also made public statements questioning whether Russian hackers were responsible for the intrusions. Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 253-54.  However, Trump’s purported uncertainty as to the Russian Federation’s responsibility for the DNC or Podesta hacks is irrelevant to the conclusion that Trump solicited the Russian Federation to find the 30,000 Clinton emails. 
	306 
	https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3kxG8uJUsWU (starting at 0:41) (cited by Special Counsel’s Report at 49).  

	See, e.g., Special Counsel’s Report at 61 (Stone pursued offer of Clinton emails in May of 2016); id.at 62 (following Trump’s “Russia, if you’re listening statement,” Trump “repeatedly” instructed campaign associates to locate the emails); id.at 54 (“According to Gates, by the late summer of 2016, the Trump Campaign was planning a press strategy, a communications campaign, and messaging based on the possible release of Clinton emails by WikiLeaks.”); see also First Gen. Counsel Rpt., MURs 7265 & 7266 (Donal
	307 
	Figure
	Figure

	(detailing record concerning Trump Committee efforts to obtain information in connection with the June 9, 2016, meeting at Trump Tower). 
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	1 tried to procure, and that was not otherwise publicly available for the campaign’s use.In 2 context, the statement therefore constitutes a solicitation of a contribution by Trump individually 3 and on behalf of the Trump Committee from a foreign national, in violation of the foreign 4 national prohibition.5 Although a foreign national need not make a contribution in response to a solicitation to 6 establish a violation of the Act for making a prohibited solicitation, the Russian Federation 7 appears to ha
	308
	309 
	310 
	311

	10 persons whose information might be helpful in tracking down the emails which originated on 
	11 Clinton’s personal server that Trump had solicited.  The Russian Federation’s payments for 
	312

	12 this effort were for the purpose of influencing a federal election and thus an expenditure as 
	13 defined by the Act, for the reasons described above.  The Russian Federation’s contributions 
	313

	See AO 2007-22 at 6 (noting that the provision of materials from previous elections, including “flyers, advertisements, door hangers, tri-folds, signs, and other printed material,” to a campaign results in a contribution because it “would relieve [the] campaign of the expense that it would otherwise incur to obtain such materials”). 
	308 

	See First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 9, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.) (noting that attendee lists provided to a campaign “may not have been publicly available”). 
	309 

	Cf. Factual & Legal Analysis at 8-11, MUR 7048 (Cruz for President) (finding reason to believe candidate committee made a prohibited soft money solicitation through its agent’s statement). 
	310 

	See 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2); Definitions of “Solicit” and “Direct,” 71 Fed. Reg. 13926, 13929 (Mar. 20, 2006)  (“Solicitation E&J”) (explaining removal  of language concerning provision of solicited contribution from definition of “solicit” at section 300.2(m) because such “focus[] on the delivery of the funds or thing of value after the solicitation has taken place, as opposed to how a solicitation is made” is “unnecessary”); see also Factual & Legal Analysis, MUR 7271 (DNC) (finding reason to believe unde
	311 
	Figure
	312 

	See supra Part III.C; Advisory Op. 2018-12 at 8 (foreign cyberattacks against political targets constitute violations of section 30121). 
	313 

	MURs 7207, 7268, 7274 & 7623 (Russian Federation, et al.) First General Counsel’s Report Page 68 of 96 
	1 are analogous to those in MUR 7271, where the Commission found reason to believe, based on 2 the information available prior to initiating an investigation, that the DNC solicited and received 3 prohibited in-kind contributions from the Ukrainian Embassy through research, because the 4 Embassy had reportedly “utilized its resources and expended funds . . . at no charge.”5 The Russian Federation’s expenditures were coordinated with the Trump Committee 6 because they appear to have been made at the request 
	314 
	315
	316

	10 made an expenditure by hacking his opponent at the request or suggestion of Trump, Trump and 11 the Trump Committee therefore accepted or received a prohibited in-kind contribution.  Though 12 the value of the expenditures in furtherance of the Russian hacking operation is unclear, at a 13 minimum, the GRU expended funds for salary and computer infrastructure. 14 The Trump Committee’s Response in MUR 7207 claims that Trump’s statement was an 15 “offhand remark,” and thus not a request or solicitation.  T
	317

	Factual & Legal Analysis at 7, MUR 7271 (DNC) (internal quotations removed); see also First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 10, MUR 5409 (Norquist), Certification, MUR 5409 (Oct. 19, 2004) (approving reason to believe finding that respondent’s utilization of resources to obtain and compile materials regarding conservative activists was an in-kind contribution to a presidential campaign but taking no further action based on the limited value of the contribution). 
	314 
	Figure

	See 11 C.F.R. § 109.20(b); Coordination E&J, 68 Fed. Reg. at 421, 431 (explaining that, in the analogous context of a coordinated communication, a “determination of whether a request or suggestion has occurred requires a fact-based inquiry”); see also Solicitation E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 13928 (explaining that “suggest” encompasses more communications than “solicit”). 
	315 

	See 11 C.F.R. § 109.20(b); see also 52 U.S.C. § 30102(e)(2); 11 C.F.R. § 101.2; Factual & Legal Analysis at 6 (July 22, 2015), MUR 6566 (Lisa Wilson-Foley for Congress) (“[A]ny candidate who receives a contribution does so as an agent of the candidate’s authorized committee”). 
	316 

	Trump Committee Resp. at 5, MUR 7207. 
	317 
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	1 no authority to explain why a request or suggestion cannot take the form of a brief phrase or 2 seeming aside.Indeed, the Commission’s regulatory examples of statements that would 3 constitute solicitations include short phrases and comments, such as “I will not forget those who 4 contribute at this crucial stage.”5 In the context of a solicitation, the Commission has explained that the analysis is 6 premised on whether the recipient should reasonably have understood that a solicitation was 7 made.  The C
	318 
	319 
	320
	321 

	10 Trump Committee provides no explanation of how Trump’s tone, demeanor, or the content of his 11 statement should have indicated to his audience that he was not serious or did not intend to be 12 taken literally.  Indeed, as noted above, Trump made the request at the very moment that news 13 outlets were widely reporting that Russia had both the capability and motivation to launch a 14 cyberattack against his opponent.  
	Moreover, the record belies the Trump Committee’s assertion that Trump’s statement was an offhand remark and, instead, indicates that Trump and senior campaign officials prepared a press strategy, communications campaign, and messaging concerning the purportedly missing Clinton emails.  See Special Counsel’s Report at 54; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 230. 
	318 

	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m)(2)(xi). 
	319 

	Solicitation E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 13929. 
	320 

	Id.  In MUR 6939 (Huckabee, et al.), the Commission found that an objective listener would not reasonably have understood that presidential candidate Mike Huckabee solicited million-dollar contributions for his authorized committee when he said:  “I will be funded and fueled not by the billionaires, but by working people across America who will find out that $15 and $25 a month contributions can take us from Hope to higher ground.  Now, rest assured, if you want to give a million dollars, please do it.” F&L
	321 
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	1 The Trump Committee Response argues that the Commission should 
	Figure

	2 dismiss the matter because the Special Counsel’s Office declined to prosecute anyone for 
	3 solicitation or coordination.However, it is not clear whether the Special Counsel considered 
	322 

	4 pursuing criminal campaign-finance charges against Trump or the Trump Committee relating to 
	5 Trump’s “Russia, if you’re listening” statement.In any event, the Special Counsel’s decision 
	323 

	6 not to criminally prosecute individuals associated with the Trump Committee does not govern 
	7 the Commission’s course of action in these civil matters. 
	8 The Special Counsel’s publicly known decisions to not criminally prosecute were based 
	9 on considerations that are materially distinct from the Commission’s consideration of these 
	10 matters in an administrative and civil context.  While a criminal prosecution for a violation of the 
	11 Act would need to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the violation was knowing and willful, 
	12 the Commission in a civil proceeding would only have to establish a violation of the Act based 
	13 upon the preponderance of the evidence— regardless of whether the respondent was aware of 
	324 

	14 the illegality.Indeed, in previous cases where the DOJ was unable to secure criminal 
	325 

	Trump Committee Resp., (citing Special Counsel’s Report at 187).  As noted above, we administratively severed from the Complaint  allegations against Trump and the Trump Committee involving Russian interference in the 2016 election and merged them into MUR 7207.  Supra note 1. The Special Counsel’s Office explained its prosecution and declination decisions with respect to potential criminal campaign-finance charges stemming from only two alleged interactions between individuals associated with the Trump Com
	322 
	Figure
	323 
	Figure

	III.Eof this Report. 
	See Herman & MacLean v. Huddleston, 459 U.S. 375, 387 (1983) (“In a typical civil suit for money damages, plaintiffs must prove their case by a preponderance of the evidence.”). 
	324 

	See FEC v. Novacek, 739 F. Supp. 2d 957, 966 (N.D. Tx. 2010) (finding that Commission need not establish intent where Commission seeks civil penalties on a non-knowing and willful basis); see also FEC v. Malenick 2004) (holding that a “knowing” violation of the Act “as opposed to a ‘knowing and willful’ one, does not require knowledge that one is violating the law, but merely requires an intent to act.”) (quoting FEC v. John A. Dramesi for Congress Comm., 640 F. Supp. 985, 987 (D.N.J.1986)). 
	325 
	, 310 F.Supp.2d 230, 237 n.9 (D.D.C.
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	1 convictions for a violation of the Act, the Commission has successfully conciliated with 2 respondents on a non-knowing and willful basis to ensure that the interests of the Act were 3 served.  Moreover, for the Commission to find reason to believe in these administrative 4 proceedings at this stage, the information before the Commission need only raise a reasonable 5 inference, i.e., credibly allege, that a violation occurred.6 In addition, the Special Counsel’s Office explained, in the context of its de
	326
	327 
	328

	10 to the Commission’s civil enforcement of the Act.  Indeed, with respect to the foreign national 
	11 prohibition in particular, the Commission has previously explained that a justiciable violation 
	12 occurs even when the value is “nominal” or “difficult to ascertain.”Moreover, the Act 
	329 

	13 provides for statutory penalties, which are well suited for solicitation matters.  Consequently, 
	330

	14 the Special Counsel’s decision to not file suit against Respondents is not a bar to civil 
	15 enforcement of the Act. 
	See Conciliation Agreement, MUR 7221 (James Laurita) (respondent admitted to non-knowing and willful violations of 52 U.S.C. §§ 30116 and 30122 after his criminal trial ended in a hung jury); Conciliation Agreement, MUR 5818 (Feiger, Feiger, Kenney, Johnson, & Giroux, P.C.) (corporate respondent entered into conciliation agreement on non-knowing and willful basis for violations of sections 30118 and 30122 after criminal trial of individual defendants resulted in acquittal). 
	326 

	See Statement of Policy Regarding Commission Action in Matters at the Initial Stage in the Enforcement Process, 72 Fed. Reg. 12545, 12545 (Mar. 16, 2007) (explaining also that “reason to believe” findings “indicate only that the Commission found sufficient legal justification to open an investigation to determine whether a violation of the Act has occurred”). 
	327 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 188. 
	328 

	AO 2007-22 at 6. 
	329 

	Cf. MUR 7048 (Cruz) (conciliating statutory penalty for soft money solicitation violation). 
	330 
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	1 Accordingly, because the available information indicates that Trump solicited a 2 contribution — i.e., something of value for less than the “usual and normal” charge, for the 3 purpose of influencing an election — from a foreign national, and the Russian Federation made a 4 contribution — i.e., an expenditure made at Trump’s request or suggestion — we recommend 5 that the Commission find reason to believe that the Russian Federation made, and Trump and the 6 Trump Committee knowingly solicited, accepted o
	-
	331 

	9 Solicited a Foreign National In-Kind Contribution from WikiLeaks Through 10 Roger Stone 11 The Amended Complaint in MUR 7207 alleges that the Trump Committee coordinated 12 the hack-and-release operation with the Russian Federation, as evidenced by Stone apparently 13 having advance knowledge of the “content and timing” of WikiLeaks’s releases.  However, 14 the available information does not support a conclusion that the Trump Committee or its agents 15 coordinated with the Russian Federation with respect
	332
	333

	For the reasons discussed above, we also recommend that the Commission take no further action as to the Russian Federation with respect to this violation, beyond the recommended reason to believe finding. 
	331 

	First Am. Compl. ¶ 32, MUR 7207. 
	332 

	See supra note 11 and accompanying text; see also infra Part III.G.2 (recommending the Commission find reason to believe the Trump Committee, through Paul Manafort, solicited contributions by transferring polling data to foreign nationals, but pointing to a lack of evidence of coordination in the form of in-kind contributions made in response to the solicitations). 
	333 
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	1 actually communicated, directly or indirectly, including through WikiLeaks as an intermediary, 2 with the Russian Federation to obtain inside knowledge of forthcoming releases.3 Moreover, there is a mixed record as to whether Stone obtained any non-public 4 information from WikiLeaks, either directly or through an intermediary, about upcoming 5 releases. The Senate Intelligence Committee, in its review of the documentary evidence, 6 explained that it “could not reliably trace the provision of non-public i
	334 
	335

	10 WikiLeaks.  Neither the Special Counsel nor the Senate Intelligence Committee obtained a full 
	11 record of Stone’s communications, which Stone sought to conceal.  However, Stone told 
	336

	12 Trump and senior Trump Committee officials that WikiLeaks would release emails damaging to 
	13 Clinton; Stone said this before Assange announced on June 12, 2016, that WikiLeaks had 
	14 information about Clinton that it would publish, and before WikiLeaks released a collection of 
	15 documents hacked from the DNC on July 22, 2016.  
	16 Nevertheless, the available information shows that Stone, acting as an agent of the Trump 
	17 Committee, solicited hacked documents about Clinton from WikiLeaks, an apparent foreign 
	18 national organization.Specifically, Stone attempted to contact Assange in his capacity as 
	337 

	See supra Part II.C.2.a. Nonetheless, neither the Special Counsel nor the Senate Intelligence Committee obtained a full record of Stone’s communications during the 2016 election because Stone took steps to conceal his communications by using alternative and encrypted channels and because Stone made false statements to investigators. Senate Intelligence Committee Report. Vol. 5 at 237 n.1554, 251. 
	334 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 222. 
	335 

	Id. at 237 n.1554, 251. 
	336 

	Though the official nature of the WikiLeaks organization is unclear, the entity’s overall foreign status is apparent, especially during the 2016 election, when its de facto headquarters was in London, England within the 
	337 
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	1 founder and publisher of WikiLeaks, through Corsi and Credico; Stone did so not simply to 2 inquire about upcoming releases, but also to request certain hacked documents relating to Clinton 3 that Stone presumed were in the possession of WikiLeaks.  Stone made a prohibited solicitation 4 of a contribution from a foreign national when he emailed Corsi:  “Get to Assange. . . . and get 5 the pending wikileaks emails . . . they deal with [the Clinton] Foundation, allegedly.”  Stone 6 further made a prohibited
	338
	339
	340 

	10 “to ask, request, or recommend, explicitly or implicitly, that another person make a contribution, 11 donation, transfer of funds, or otherwise provide anything of value.”The email to Credico 12 specifically references an “ask” of Assange.  Moreover, while Stone did not ask for a 13 monetary donation, his request was for a thing of value.Stone solicited specific emails to 
	341 
	342
	343 

	Ecuadorian Embassy.  Moreover, it is well-known that the founder and leader of WikiLeaks, Julian Assange, is an Australian foreign national. Accordingly, there is a reasonable basis to infer that Stone’s solicitation of a foreign national was made knowingly. See 11 C.F.R § 110.20(a)(4) (defining “knowingly” to mean, inter alia, that a person must:  “Be aware of facts that would lead a reasonable person to conclude that there is a substantial probability that the source of the funds solicited, accepted or re
	Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 35; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 235; supra note 132 and accompanying text. 
	338 

	Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 50; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 243; supra note 145 and accompanying text.    
	339 

	Stone Trial Tr., Exs. 54-55; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 244; supra note 146 and accompanying text. 
	340 

	11 C.F.R. § 110.20(a)(6) (defining “solicit,” for purposes of the foreign national prohibition, to have the same meaning as in the soft money prohibition codified at 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m)). 
	341 

	“[T]o solicit means to ask.”  11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m). 
	342 

	See supra Part III.D; Factual & Legal Analysis at 7, MUR 7271 (DNC) (citing Factual & Legal Analysis at 13-20, MUR 6414 (Carnahan) (explaining that a committee’s receipt of investigative or opposition research services without paying the usual or normal charge may result in an in-kind contribution)). 
	343 
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	1 corroborate opposition research concerning decisions Clinton allegedly made regarding Libya 2 during her tenure as Secretary of State and allegations that the Clinton Foundation conducted 3 unlawful activity.4 Stone’s requests for specific emails through Credico and Corsi represent solicitations of 5 material provided at no cost that would relieve the Trump Committee of the expense of obtaining 6 such valuable information themselves, and that were not otherwise publicly available for the 7 campaign’s use.
	344 
	345
	346

	10 campaign.Stone’s solicitations were, therefore, of things of value and constitute solicitations 11 of contributions from a foreign national. 12 That Stone made his requests through intermediaries does not change the analysis.  13 Commission regulations specify that a “solicitation may be made directly or indirectly” and thus 14 capture solicitations Stone made through persons acting on his behalf.  The record shows that 15 Stone tasked Corsi and Credico with passing his requests “to Assange.”  Moreover, 
	347 
	348
	349

	Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 50; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 243. 
	344 

	See AO 2007-22 at 6 (noting that the provision of election materials to a campaign results in a contribution because it “would relieve [the] campaign of the expense that it would otherwise incur to obtain such materials”). 
	345 

	See First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 9, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.) (noting that attendee lists provided to a campaign “may not have been publicly available”). 
	346 

	See id. at 10 (recommending that contact lists provided to a campaign without charge were “of value” because they “may at least point [the campaign] in the direction of persons who might help [its] election efforts”). 
	347 

	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m) (incorporated in foreign national prohibition at 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(a)(6)). 
	348 

	Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 35 (email from Stone to Corsi); see Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 48 (text from Stone to Credico regarding “a request to pass on to [A]ssange”); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 235, 243.  Corsi told investigators that he was a self-described “operative” for Stone, seeking to assist the Trump campaign in a personal capacity. Special Counsel’s Report at 54 (quoting Corsi 10/31/18 FBI 302). 
	349 
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	1 intermediaries took steps to follow through on Stone’s requests.  Corsi forwarded Stone’s 2 solicitation to Malloch who lived in London and whom Corsi believed had access to Assange.3 Credico forwarded Stone’s solicitation to Margaret Kunstler, Credico’s friend and an attorney for 4 a WikiLeaks employee who helped set up an interview with Assange on Credico’s radio show.5 Though Kunstler apparently had the ability to contact Assange, she testified at Stone’s criminal 6 trial that that she did not pass Sto
	350 
	351 
	352 

	10 solicitation prohibition creates three elements the Commission must identify in order to find a 11 violation of the statute:  (1) that there was a solicitation; (2) of a contribution or donation; 12 (3) from a foreign national.While the final element here appears to require the receipt of the 13 solicitation by an actual foreign national, courts’ treatment of an analogous element in the federal 14 bribery statute — an anti-corruption statute like the Act — indicates that an actual foreign 15 national’s r
	353 
	354
	355

	Special Counsel’s Report at 55.  Malloch acknowledged that Corsi asked him to get in touch with Assange but denied attempting to contact Assange because he did not have a connection to Assange. Id. at 55 n.218. 
	350 

	Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 55 (email from Credico to Kunstler); see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 244 (citing Twitter direct message from Assange to Trump Jr, identifying Kunstler as his point-of-contact for submissions). 
	351 

	Stone Trial Tr. at 837:10-23; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 244. 
	352 

	52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2). 
	353 

	See 148 Cong. Rec. S2139 (daily ed. Mar. 20, 2002) (statement of Sen. McCain) (remarking on parallels between campaign finance law and the bribery statute, stating that BCRA’s solicitation prohibitions are “no different from the Federal laws and ethics rules that prohibit Federal officeholders from using their offices or positions of power to solicit money or other benefits.”). 
	354 

	The federal bribery statute prohibits the offer of “anything of value” to a “public official” with intent to “influence any official act,” and it similarly prohibits a “public official” from seeking or accepting “anything of value” in connection with “the performance of any official act.”  18 U.S.C. § 201(b)(1)-(2). Courts have upheld 
	The federal bribery statute prohibits the offer of “anything of value” to a “public official” with intent to “influence any official act,” and it similarly prohibits a “public official” from seeking or accepting “anything of value” in connection with “the performance of any official act.”  18 U.S.C. § 201(b)(1)-(2). Courts have upheld 
	355 
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	1 solicitation prohibition to asks made of, but not actually received by, foreign nationals would not 2 only parallel a comparable criminal political corruption statute, but also accord with Congress’s 3 interest in “preventing foreign influence over the U.S. political process.”4 Finally, the record indicates that Stone acted as an agent of the Trump Committee when 5 he solicited contributions from a foreign national and his solicitation is, therefore, imputed to the 6 committee. The Commission has not spec
	356 

	10 transfer, or spend funds in connection with any election.”Actual authority is created by 11 manifestations of consent, express or implied, by the principal to the agent about the agent’s 12 authority to act on the principal’s behalf.In its revised Explanation and Justification for the 13 definition of “agent” at section 300.2(b), the Commission stated that “the candidate/principal 14 may also be liable for any impermissible solicitations by the agent, despite specific instructions 
	357 
	358 

	356 Bluman, 800 F. Supp. 2d at 287; 
	357 
	11 C.F.R.The definition set forth in the soft money rules may have some salience here because the Commission cross-references the definition of “solicit” at section 300.2(m) of the soft money rules in defining that term for purposes of the foreign national prohibition.  See 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(a)(6). 
	 § 300.2(b)(3); Restatement (Third) of Agency 3d §§ 2.01-2.02 (2006). 

	358 
	Agency E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4975-76; AO 2007-05 (Iverson) at 3. 
	convictions under the bribery statute even when there was no “public official,” an element that is analogous to the 
	convictions under the bribery statute even when there was no “public official,” an element that is analogous to the 
	convictions under the bribery statute even when there was no “public official,” an element that is analogous to the 

	“foreign national” element in section 30121, stating that bribery occurs when a person offers or asks for money with 
	“foreign national” element in section 30121, stating that bribery occurs when a person offers or asks for money with 

	the requisite intent to influence an official act, regardless of whether there is no actual public official to be bribed. 
	the requisite intent to influence an official act, regardless of whether there is no actual public official to be bribed. 

	See Lopez v. United States, 373 U.S. 427, 428-32 (1963); United States v. Wright, 665 F.3d 560, 568 (10th Cir. 
	See Lopez v. United States, 373 U.S. 427, 428-32 (1963); United States v. Wright, 665 F.3d 560, 568 (10th Cir. 

	2012); United States v. Arbelaez, No. 94-20349, 1995 WL 103637, at *1-2 (5th Cir. Mar. 2, 1995); United States v. 
	2012); United States v. Arbelaez, No. 94-20349, 1995 WL 103637, at *1-2 (5th Cir. Mar. 2, 1995); United States v. 

	Opdahl, 930 F.2d 1530, 1535 (11th Cir. 1991); United States v. Pilarinos, 864 F.2d 253, 253-55 (2d Cir. 1988); 
	Opdahl, 930 F.2d 1530, 1535 (11th Cir. 1991); United States v. Pilarinos, 864 F.2d 253, 253-55 (2d Cir. 1988); 

	United States v. Gallo, 863 F.2d 185, 189 (2d Cir. 1988); United States v. Jacobs, 431 F.2d 754, 757-60 (2d Cir. 
	United States v. Gallo, 863 F.2d 185, 189 (2d Cir. 1988); United States v. Jacobs, 431 F.2d 754, 757-60 (2d Cir. 

	1970). 
	1970). 
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	1 not to do so.”  The Commission has explained that the definition of agent must cover 
	359

	2 “implied” authority because “[o]therwise, agents with actual authority would be able to engage 
	3 in activities that would not be imputed to their principals so long as the principal was careful 
	4 enough to confer authority through conduct or a mix of conduct and spoken words.”The 
	360 

	5 Commission has extended agency principles to individuals beyond official campaign members 
	6 and includes “volunteers” in its definition of an agent.
	361 

	7 Trump and the most senior officers of the Trump Committee appear to have granted 
	8 Stone actual authority to solicit WikiLeaks by instructing Stone to contact WikiLeaks regarding 
	9 future releases of hacked documents.   Witnesses reported overhearing conversations between 
	362

	10 Stone and Trump discussing WikiLeaks information.  Following the release of the DNC 
	363

	11 emails on July 22, 2016, Manafort told investigators that Trump instructed him to remain in 
	12 touch with Stone, and Gates stated that Manafort asked him to “follow up with Mr. Stone on 
	364

	Agency E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4978 (citing United States v. Investment Enterprises, Inc., 10 F.3d 263, 266 (5th Cir. 1993) (determining that it is a settled matter of agency law that liability exists “for unlawful acts of [] agents, provided that the conduct is within the scope of the agent’s authority); Factual & Legal Analysis at 5, MUR 7048 (Cruz for President) (same); Restatement (Second) of Agency § 216 (“A master or other principal may be liable to another whose interests have been invaded by the tortio
	359 

	Prohibited and Excessive Contributions: Non-Federal Funds or Soft Money, 67 Fed. Reg. 49064, 49082 (July 29, 2002). 
	360 

	Agency E&J at 4977; see also Factual & Legal Analysis at 5-6, MUR 7048 (Cruz for President) (concluding volunteer fundraiser was an agent of candidate’s campaign committee, which became liable for volunteer’s improper solicitation). 
	361 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 53 (citing redacted interview between investigators for the Special Counsel’s Office and Manafort) (Trump instructed Manafort to tell Stone to follow up with WikiLeaks). 
	362 

	E.g., Special Counsel’s Report at 53 (citing interview with Cohen); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 229-30 (indicating that Cohen recalled that the conversation took place on July 18 or 19, 2016). 
	363 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 53. The Senate Intelligence Committee assessed that “Manafort and Gates tasked Stone with communicating with WikiLeaks” and that “[a]fter receiving Trump’s directive via Manafort,” Stone “channeled his efforts to reach Assange.” Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 233; see also id. at 
	364 
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	1 occasion to find out when the additional information might be coming out.”  Bannon, who 
	365

	2 served as Campaign Manager after Manafort, stated that Stone was the campaign’s “access 
	3 point” to WikiLeaks.Because Stone was an agent for the Trump Committee by virtue of the 
	366 

	4 actual authority granted to him, the Trump Committee is liable for Stone’s impermissible 
	5 solicitations of WikiLeaks via Assange.  Though the available information does not establish 
	367

	6 that Trump Committee officials explicitly directed Stone to make the solicitations at issue, 
	7 Stone’s conduct was a reasonable outgrowth of the Trump Committee’s general directives to 
	8 Stone to obtain information about upcoming WikiLeaks releases.
	368 

	9 In its explanation of its declination decision with respect to potential criminal campaign
	-

	10 finance charges stemming from Stone’s outreach to WikiLeaks, the Special Counsel’s Report 
	11 focused on WikiLeaks’s release of stolen materials as expenditures or, if the release were 
	12 coordinated with the Trump Committee, as contributions, rather than Stone’s solicitation of 
	13 contributions from WikiLeaks.Because of this difference in focus, as well as the material 
	369 

	222 (“Trump directed Campaign officials to stay in touch with Roger Stone about future WikiLeaks activities regarding Clinton-related emails.  Manafort in turn tasked Stone to contact Julian Assange, and Stone endeavored to reach Assange through several intermediaries.  Stone reported back to senior Campaign officials and associates, and to Trump directly.”). 
	Stone Trial Tr. at 938 (testimony of Gates). 
	365 

	Id. at 860:22-861:1, 862:19-21, 869:14-19; 872:13-21 (testimony of Bannon). 
	366 

	See, e.g., Factual & Legal Analysis, MUR 7048 (Cruz for President) (finding Cruz for President liable for agent’s impermissible solicitation). 
	367 

	See Restatement (Third) of Agency § 2.02 (Scope of Actual Authority) (“An agent has actual authority to take action designated or implied in the principal’s manifestations to the agent and acts necessary or incidental to achieving the principal’s objectives, as the agent reasonably understands the principal’s manifestations and objectives when the agent determines how to act.”); see also United States v. Sun-Diamond Growers of Cal., 138 F.3d 961, 970 (D.C. Cir. 1998) (holding an employer liable for actions 
	368 

	See Special Counsel’s Report at 188-91.  As discussed above, there is not a reasonable basis to conclude that WikiLeaks made a foreign national in-kind contribution to the Trump Committee by coordinating with Stone as to the email releases; we therefore make no recommendation as to the Trump Committee’s possible coordination with respect to WikiLeaks’s release of emails. 
	369 
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	1 differences between criminal prosecutions and civil administrative enforcement discussed above 2 — including the burden of proof, mens rea, and valuation thresholds — the Special Counsel’s 3 decision to not charge Stone or WikiLeaks is not a bar to civil enforcement of the Act against the 4 Trump Committee for soliciting foreign national contributions as alleged.5 Accordingly, we recommend that the Commission find reason to believe that the Trump 6 Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. 
	370 

	10 Made, and an Unknown Congressional Candidate Solicited, Accepted or 11 Received, a Foreign National Contribution 12 According to the Special Counsel’s investigation, an unknown candidate for U.S. 13 Congress sought and received information that would benefit his or her candidacy from the 14 GRU.  On August 15, 2016, “Guccifer 2.0,” the online persona controlled by the GRU as part of 15 its larger hack-and-release operation targeting the 2016 election, “received a request for stolen 16 documents from a ca
	371 

	See supra notes 324-330 and accompanying text.  Additionally, neither Stone nor WikiLeaks is a respondent in these matters.  Despite Stone’s role in the solicitation of WikiLeaks, and WikiLeaks’s role in the dissemination of hacked materials, we do not recommend notifying Stone or WikiLeaks given the impending expiration of the statute of limitations and WikiLeaks’s likely claim to the press exemption. See, e.g., DNC v. Russian Fed’n, 392 F. Supp. 3d at 430-36 (assessing WikiLeaks’s claimed press defense). 
	370 

	GRU Indictment ¶ 43(a); see Special Counsel’s Report at 43. 
	371 
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	1 as an in-kind contribution because they were provided without charge.The Special Counsel’s 2 Report specifically describes the documents as “relating to the candidate’s opponent” and, thus, 3 akin to opposition research.In prior matters, the Commission has determined that “opposition 4 research” conducted using foreign government resources may be a thing of value, and therefore 5 its provision without charge may be subject to the Act.In MUR 7271, a foreign embassy 6 reportedly “utilized its resources and 
	372 
	373 
	374 
	375 

	10 documents that were obtained through the utilization of Russian Federation resources and 
	11 expenditure of its funds constitutes a prohibited solicitation of a foreign national contribution.  
	12 The GRU’s hack-and-release operation involved the services of a dozen hackers, costing 
	13 thousands of dollars in wages and computer infrastructure.
	376 

	14 Commission regulations require that a person must “knowingly” solicit a foreign 
	15 national, and define knowingly to mean, inter alia, that a person must “[b]e aware of facts that 
	See 52 U.S.C. § 30101(8)(A)(i) (defining contribution as including “anything of value”); id. § 30121(a)(2) (prohibiting foreign national from making a contribution or donation of money or “other thing of value”); 11 C.F.R. § 100.52(d)(1) (providing that “anything of value includes all in-kind contributions” such as “the provision of any goods or services”). 
	372 

	See Special Counsel’s Report at 43.  Similarly, Guccifer 2.0 sent a state lobbyist and blogger “gigabytes of Florida-related data stolen from the DCCC,” but it is unclear whether the information was election-related. Id. 
	373 

	F&LA at 10, MUR 7271 (DNC) (concluding that a national party committee’s alleged solicitation and receipt of opposition research services compiled using foreign embassy staff resources may result in an in-kind contribution) (open matter); see also F&LA at 13-20, MUR 6414 (Carnahan) (explaining that a candidate committee’s receipt of investigative/opposition research to gather negative information on the candidate’s general election opponent without charge may result in an in-kind contribution). 
	374 

	F&LA at 7-8, MUR 7271 (DNC) (internal quotations omitted). 
	375 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 36 n.109, 39, 41; GRU Indictment ¶ 39. 
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	1 
	1 
	would lead a reasonable person to conclude that there is a substantial probability” that the person 

	2 
	2 
	being solicited is a foreign national.377
	  The request by the unknown candidate was made to 

	3 
	3 
	Guccifer 2.0, a fictitious online persona, and not directly to the GRU.  However, the facts 

	4 
	4 
	nonetheless indicate that the candidate knowingly made the request to a foreign national.  By 

	5 
	5 
	August 2016, when the request was made, there had been public reports attributing election 

	6 
	6 
	hacking to Russian state-sponsored actors and Guccifer 2.0 had publicly claimed to be 

	7 
	7 
	Romanian.378 
	These circumstances, which likely would have been known by anyone who 

	8 
	8 
	actually attempted to contact Guccifer 2.0 for assistance, would lead a reasonable person to 

	9 
	9 
	conclude that there is a substantial probability that the source of the contribution solicited, 

	10 
	10 
	accepted, or received was a foreign national.379
	  Therefore, the GRU’s provision of the stolen 

	11 
	11 
	documents, in response to the unknown candidate’s request, resulted in the making, acceptance, 

	12 
	12 
	and receipt of a foreign national contribution. 

	13 
	13 
	The identity of the candidate who solicited, accepted, and received a foreign national 

	14 
	14 
	contribution from the GRU is not publicly known or otherwise available from the information in 


	15 the Commission’s possession at this time.  
	Figure
	Figure
	377 
	11 C.F.R. § 110.20(a)(4)(ii). 
	378 
	Special Counsel’s Report at 42, 45; Ellen Nakashima, Russian Government Hackers Penetrated DNC, Stole Opposition Research on Trump, WASH. POST, June 14, 2016; Dmitri Alperovitch, CrowdStrike Blog, Bears in the Midst: Intrusion into the Democratic National Committee (June 15, 2016); Lorenzo Franceschi-Bicchierai, Here’s the Full Transcript of Our Interview With DNC Hacker Guccifer 2.0, VICE, June 21, 2016. 
	379 
	11 C.F.R. § 110.20(a)(4)(ii). 
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	1   The Commission has previously authorized investigations in similar circumstances 2 where there is credible information suggesting an unknown respondent has violated the Act.3 Therefore, we recommend that the Commission find reason to believe that the Russian 4 Federation made, and the Unknown Congressional Candidate knowingly solicited, accepted or 5 received, a prohibited in-kind foreign national contribution in violation of 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a) 6 and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(b), (g).7 G. The Commission Shou
	Figure
	380 
	381 

	8 Trump Committee Violated the Act by Transferring Internal Campaign 9 Polling Data to Foreign Nationals 10 The Complaint in MUR 7623 alleges that Paul Manafort’s sharing of the Trump 11 Committee’s polling data with foreign nationals is evidence that the Trump Committee and the 12 Russian Federation engaged in impermissible coordination.According to the Special 13 Counsel’s Report, on a periodic basis during the 2016 election, Manafort, Chief Strategist and 14 Campaign Chairman of the Trump Committee, dire
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	384 

	See, e.g., Certification at 1, MUR 6920 (American Conservative Union) (Jan. 26, 2017); Certification at 1, 
	380 

	MUR 7194 (Unknown Respondent) (Feb. 12, 2018). For the reasons discussed above, we also recommend that the Commission take no further action as to the Russian Federation with respect to this violation, beyond the recommended reason to believe finding. 
	381 

	Compl. at 13, MUR 7623. Special Counsel’s Report at 129-31, 135-36, 140. Id. at 129-30, 140; accord Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 28-29. 
	382 
	383 
	384 
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	1 Although the Special Counsel did not ascertain whether Manafort shared the polling data 
	2 for personal or campaign-related purposes, in either case, the transfers would have violated the 
	3 Act.If his purpose was personal, i.e., to convince Deripaska to drop the Pericles lawsuit or to 
	385 

	4 convince the Opposition Bloc to pay the $2 million Manafort believed that he was owed, then 
	5 Manafort would have committed a personal use violation.  If his purpose was campaign-related, 
	6 i.e., to induce the recipients to take some action to benefit the Trump Committee, then Manafort 
	7 would have violated the Act by soliciting a foreign national contribution.  Accordingly, as 
	8 explained below, we make recommendations under both theories, and note that it is possible that 
	9 Manafort could have simultaneously violated both the personal use and foreign national 
	10 prohibitions because he transferred the data to multiple recipients and could have had separate 
	11 reasons.
	386 

	12 1. 
	Personal Use 

	13 Under the Act, a contribution accepted by a candidate may be used for, inter alia, 
	14 “otherwise authorized expenditures in connection with the campaign for Federal office of the 
	The Special Counsel’s Report did not specifically analyze whether Manafort’s sharing of polling data was a violation of the Act, but generally recognized that establishing a criminal violation requires evidence as to “issues of intent.” Special Counsel’s Report at 185. By contrast, in the civil context, the respondent’s intention or knowledge of wrongdoing is not an element of a violation of the Act. Though we do not know why the Special Counsel’s Office might not have analyzed this issue for a potential vi
	385 

	We also note President Trump granted a full and unconditional pardon to Manafort on December 23, 2020, 
	but that it was directed towards his convictions in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia 
	and in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia relating to crimes arising out of his political 
	consulting work in Ukraine, unrelated to the 2016 election. See Paul J. Manafort, Jr., Executive Grant of Clemency 
	(Dec. 23, 2020), . 
	https://www.justice.gov/file/1349071/download
	https://www.justice.gov/file/1349071/download


	Cf. First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 4, 16, MUR 7272 (Party of Regions, et al.) (recommending dismissal with respect to alleged foreign national contributions, despite suspicious circumstances, given “alternative explanations” unrelated to a possible scheme).  Here, the information indicates that Manafort acted with either a personal or campaign-related purpose, in both instances resulting in a violation.  The voluminous record includes no obvious “alternative explanations” to explain Manafort’s actions which d
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	1 
	1 
	candidate,” “for ordinary and necessary expenses incurred in connection with duties of the 

	2 
	2 
	individual as a holder of Federal office,” as well as for “any other lawful purpose” not otherwise 

	3 
	3 
	prohibited under the Act.387
	  However, the Act prohibits the conversion of campaign funds by 

	4 
	4 
	any person to “personal use.”388
	  “Personal use” is the use of funds in a campaign account “to 

	5 
	5 
	fulfill a commitment, obligation or expense of any person that would exist irrespective of the 

	6 
	6 
	candidate’s campaign or duties as a Federal officeholder.”389
	  The Act and Commission 

	7 
	7 
	regulations list certain uses of campaign funds that constitute per se conversion to personal 

	8 
	8 
	use.390
	  For other payments, the “Commission will determine, on a case-by-case basis, whether 

	9 
	9 
	other uses” of campaign funds constitute personal use by applying the “irrespective test,” that is, 

	10 
	10 
	whether the payment fulfills a commitment, obligation, or expense that would exist irrespective 

	11 
	11 
	of the candidate’s campaign or duties as a federal officeholder.391 

	12 
	12 
	The personal use prohibition applies to the use of campaign funds as well as to the 

	13 
	13 
	transfer of a “campaign committee asset.”392 
	The “transfer of a campaign committee asset is not 


	14 personal use so long as the transfer is for fair market value.”
	393 

	52 U.S.C. § 30114(a). Id. § 30114(b). 11 C.F.R. § 113.1(g); see also 52 U.S.C. § 30114(b)(2). 52 U.S.C. § 30114(b)(2); 11 C.F.R. § 113.1(g)(1)(i). 11 C.F.R. § 113.1(g)(1)(ii). Id. § 113.1(g)(3). 
	387 
	388 
	389 
	390 
	391 
	392 

	This provision “seeks to limit 
	393 
	Id. (“Any depreciation that takes place before the transfer must be allocated between the committee and the purchaser based on the useful life of the asset.”).  Analogously, Commission regulations provide that the transfer of polling data to a political committee without charge is a per se in-kind contribution.  11 C.F.R. § 106.4(b); see also Advisory Op. 1990-12 (Strub) at 2; Advisory Op. 2006-04 (Tancredo for Congress Comm.) at 5-6; Advisory Op. 1998-18 (Wash. State Democratic Comm.) at 4; Factual & Legal
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	1 indirect conversions of campaign funds to personal use.”  The Commission has concluded that 2 non-tangible property, such as campaign mailing lists, social media accounts, and websites, are 3 campaign committee assets subject to the regulation.4 Here, if Manafort transferred the polling data without charge for any non-campaign 5 purpose, the transfer would violate 11 C.F.R. § 113.1(g)(3).  The factual record provides an 6 explanation for why Manafort may have transferred the polling data without charge, u
	394
	395 

	10 oligarch to drop the lawsuit against him and, in the case of the Ukrainian oligarchs, who were 11 leaders of the Opposition Bloc, Manafort apparently sought to induce their favor so as to secure 12 payment of the $2 million that he claimed was still owed to him for his consulting work.  Gates, 13 who Manafort tasked with collecting and preparing the polling data to be sent to the foreign 14 nationals, told investigators that he did not know why Manafort wanted him to send polling 15 information but thoug
	396 

	Expenditures; Reports by Political Committees; Personal Use of Campaign Funds, 60 Fed. Reg. 7,862, 7,869 (Feb. 9, 1995). 
	394 

	Advisory Op. 2014-06 (Ryan) at 8; Advisory Op. 2011-02 (Brown) at 6-7 (determining that more than de minimis use of a campaign’s website and social media accounts to promote a book would result in misuse of a campaign committee asset). 
	395 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 135-36 (citing Gates 2/2/18 FBI 302; Gates 9/27/18 FBI 302; Gates 2/12/18 FBI 302; Gates 1/31/18 FBI 302) (“Gates reported that Manafort said that being hired on the Campaign would be ‘good for business’ and increase the likelihood that Manafort would be paid the approximately $2 million he was owed for previous political consulting work in Ukraine.”). 
	396 
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	1 Although the Special Counsel could not conclusively determine Manafort’s purpose in 2 sharing the polling data, there is information suggesting that Manafort did so to fulfill his 3 personal commitments, obligations, or expenses.  For instance, in an April 2016 email from 4 Manafort to Kilimnik, sent shortly after Manafort transmitted the March 2016 memo announcing 5 his appointment to the Trump campaign, Manafort asked:  “How do we use to get whole [with 6 Deripaska]?”In a July 2016 email from Manafort t
	397
	398 
	399

	10 lawsuit and the funds that the Opposition Bloc owed to Manafort for his political consulting 
	11 work and how Manafort might be able to obtain payment.”  Accordingly, the current record 
	400

	12 supports a reasonable inference that Manafort’s transfer of the Trump Committee’s polling data 
	13 to foreign national recipients may have been made to fulfill a commitment, obligation, or 
	14 expense that existed irrespective of Trump’s campaign.
	401 

	15 Therefore, we recommend that the Commission find reason to believe that Manafort and 
	16 the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30114(b) and 11 C.F.R. § 113.1(g)(3). 
	402

	Id. at 136. 
	397 

	Id. at 135 (quoting 4/11/2016 Emails, Manafort & Kilimnik). 
	398 

	Id. at 137 (citing 7/7/16 Email, Manafort to Kilimnik; Manafort 9/11/18 FBI 302). 
	399 

	Id. at 140-41 (citing Gates 1/30/18 FBI 302, at 2-4; Patten 5/22/18 FBI 302). 
	400 

	52 U.S.C. § 30114(b). 
	401 

	As the Trump Committee’s Campaign Chairman and Chief Strategist, Manafort appears to have acted within the scope of his responsibility in managing and directing the use of campaign assets and resources, including through directing Gates, the Deputy Campaign Manager, to transfer campaign assets; thus, Manafort’s actions are imputed to the principal on whose behalf he acted. See RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF AGENCY § 7.03 (Am. Law Inst. 2006); cf. Agency E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,978 (“a person may be an agent as a res
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	1 2. 2 If Manafort transferred the polling data without charge to induce the Russian and 3 Ukrainian oligarchs to take some action with that data to the benefit of the Trump Committee, 4 the transfer would have resulted in a violation because Manafort would have solicited an in-kind 5 foreign national contribution. 6 As discussed above, Commission regulations state that “to solicit means to ask, request, 7 or recommend, explicitly or implicitly, that another person make a contribution, donation, 8 transfer 
	Foreign National Prohibition 
	403 

	10 contains a clear message asking, requesting, or recommending that another person make a 11 contribution, donation, transfer of funds, or otherwise provide anything of value.”12 A reasonable inference can be made that Manafort would have only sent the highly13 specific and dense polling data to the foreign oligarchs if they had a use for that data and if 14 Manafort expected something in return.  As detailed above, Manafort’s Deputy Campaign 15 Chairman, Richard Gates, who Manafort tasked with collecting 
	404 
	-
	405

	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m). 
	403 

	Id. (“The context includes the conduct of persons involved in the communication.”). 
	404 

	The Special Counsel’s Report does not describe the polling data in detail, but also does not include any limiting language that would imply anything but the actual, complete results were sent.  Moreover, statements from Manafort’s criminal matter that appear to reference polling data suggest dense information was transmitted. See Tr. of Sealed Hearing at 89-90, United States  v. Manafort, 1:17-cr-00201 (D.D.C. Feb. 4, 2019) (referring to what may be polling data as “very detailed . . . on a level that is ve
	405 
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	1 approximately 100 questions,” and that “these questionnaires tested a variety of questions related 
	2 to Trump and Clinton.”  Internal polling data is a campaign asset that can help the recipient 
	406

	3 understand which messages are effective and can help develop a campaign strategy; such 
	4 information is generally, if not exclusively, geared towards helping the candidate and the 
	5 committee.  Thus, it is reasonable to infer that Manafort sent the polling data to induce the 
	407

	6 recipients to use the data to provide some election-related assistance to the campaign.
	408 

	7 Indeed, the foreign national recipients were politically-sophisticated actors with a track 
	8 record of involvement in other countries’ affairs.  One of the recipients, Deripaska, is a 
	409

	9 Russian oligarch “closely aligned” with Putin who was later sanctioned by the United States 
	10 Department of the Treasury for having acted or purported to act on behalf of the Russian 
	11 government in carrying out “malign activity around the globe.”The other recipients were 
	410 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 71 n.391 (further explaining that, the campaign pollster “repeatedly produced ‘topline’ results throughout the campaign in a similar format, creating dozens of documents with thousands of pages of text,” but that “[i]t is unclear how much of this data Gates shared with Kilimnik”). 
	406 

	See id. at 78 (citing interview with Brad Parscale that “98 percent” of the Trump Committee’s resource “allocation was determined by the Campaign’s internal polling data as provided by its pollsters”). Polling data allows the recipient to “understand the public’s positions on issues or candidates, opponents’ vulnerabilities, which messages are effective, compare demographic groups and alternatives, and otherwise develop an effective political strategy.”  Statement of Reasons at 6, Vice Chair Hunter and Comm
	407 

	Manafort’s subjective intent is ultimately not dispositive, since sending dense polling data on a periodic basis during the election can be fairly interpreted as asking the recipient to take some action using the polling data. See Solicitation E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 13,928 (“the [solicit] definition sets forth an objective test that focuses on the communications in context, and does not turn on subjective interpretations by the person making the communication or its recipient”). 
	408 

	As noted above, the Special Counsel’s investigation “did not identify evidence of a connection between Manafort’s sharing polling data and Russia’s interference in the election.”  Special Counsel’s Report at 131. However, this does not preclude the possibility that Deripaska or the Opposition Bloc leaders individually provided something of value to the campaign separate from the Russian government’s active measures described above, or that Manafort solicited their assistance but they rebuffed his request. 
	409 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 131; U.S. Dep’t of the Treasury, Treasury Designates Russian Oligarchs, Officials, and Entities in Response to Worldwide Malign Activity (Apr.press-releases/sm0338.  In July 2016, Kilimnik told Manafort that Deripaska was paying “attention to the campaign” 
	410 
	 6, 2018), https://home.treasury.gov/news/ 
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	1 senior officials for the Opposition Bloc, a Ukrainian political party and successor to the former 2 Party of Regions, which from 2012 to 2014 conducted a secret lobbying campaign in the United 3 States orchestrated by Manafort.4 Another circumstance indicating that Manafort solicited a foreign national in-kind 5 contribution is that at the same time that Manafort transferred polling data, he had in-person 6 meetings with Kilimnik who sent the polling data to the oligarchs on behalf of Manafort.At 7 one of
	411 
	412 
	413 

	10 The Special Counsel’s Report states that the investigation had a “limited ability to gather 11 evidence on what happened to the polling data after it was sent to Kilimnik,” and therefore was 12 unable to determine “what Kilimnik (or others he may have given it to) did with [the polling 13 data].”Accordingly, given the available information at this time, there is insufficient 14 information from which to conclude that the oligarchs made and Manafort and the Trump 15 Committee accepted an in-kind contribut
	414 

	and “will be most likely looking for ways to reach out to you pretty soon.” Special Counsel’s Report at 137 (citing 7/08/16 Email, Kilimnik to Manafort) (recounting discussions with Deripaska’s deputy). 
	Special Counsel’s Report at 131-32; Superseding Criminal Information ¶¶ 9, 22-26, 43, United States v. Paul J. Manafort, Jr., 1:17-cr-00201 (D.D.C. Sept. 14, 2018) (explaining how Manafort took various steps “to keep the Ukraine lobbying as secret as possible”). 
	411 

	Supra notes 188-191 and accompanying text. 
	412 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 140 (citing Manafort 9/11/18 FBI 302; Gates 1/30/18 FBI 302) (internal quotations omitted). 
	413 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 131.  It appears likely that the Russian and Ukrainian oligarchs received the polling data.  Manafort sent the data over the course of several months, which would be unusual if he did not receive some indication that the transmissions had been received. See id. at 132, 135, 137. There is evidence that Kilimnik was in contact with Deripaska’s deputy, and that they spoke about Deripaska’s “attention to the campaign,” again making it unlikely that Manafort would have continuously se
	414 
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	1 polling data provided by Manafort.  However, given Manafort’s pattern of sending the polling 2 data to politically-sophisticated recipients on a periodic basis over several months during the 3 election cycle, it can be inferred that Manafort was soliciting the recipients to take some action to 4 benefit the campaign.  A recipient of such highly-specific and dense information as the polling 5 data, who received such information on a periodic basis, would have reasonably understood, 6 given the context desc
	415

	10 Therefore, we recommend that the Commission find reason to believe that Manafort and 11 the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by 12 knowingly soliciting a prohibited foreign national in-kind contribution. 13 H. The Commission Should Dismiss the Allegation That Cambridge Analytica, 
	416


	14 LLC Violated the Act by Providing Information to the Russian Federation 
	14 LLC Violated the Act by Providing Information to the Russian Federation 
	15 The Supplemental Complaint in MUR 7268 does not provide any factual basis in support 16 of its allegation that Cambridge Analytica “provided illegally sourced social profiles to the 17 Russians”and we are not aware of any source that otherwise supports this allegation. 
	417 

	18 Therefore, because the Supplemental Complaint is vague, speculative, and unsupported by the 19 available information, we recommend that the Commission dismiss the allegation that 20 Cambridge Analytica, LLC violated the Act, as alleged. 
	Solicitation E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 13,929 (“[T]he Commission’s objective standard hinges on whether the recipient should have reasonably understood that a solicitation was made.”). 
	415 

	For the reasons discussed above, Manafort’s actions are imputed to the Trump Committee, on whose behalf he acted. See supra note 402. 
	416 

	Supp. Compl. at 1, MUR 7268 (Donald J. Trump). 
	417 
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	IV. INVESTIGATION 
	As discussed above, the majority of the activity at issue in these matters has been extensively investigated by the United States Intelligence Community, Special Counsel, and Senate Intelligence Committee, among other investigative bodies.  The only outstanding facts necessary to ascertain prior to conciliation relate to the identity of the unknown congressional candidate who allegedly solicited an in-kind contribution from the Russian Federation when he or she contacted the Guccifer 2.0 persona controlled 
	documents relating to his or her opponent.  
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	Figure
	1 2 


	3 VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 
	3 VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 
	4 
	4 
	4 
	1. Find reason to believe that the Russian Federation and the Internet Research 5 Agency violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(1)(C) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(f) by making 6 prohibited foreign national expenditures and independent expenditures in 7 connection with the influence campaign targeting the 2016 presidential election; 

	8 
	8 
	2. Find reason to believe that the Russian Federation and the Internet Research 


	9 Agency violated 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c) and 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(b) by failing to 10 report independent expenditures in connection with the influence campaign; 
	11 
	11 
	11 
	3. Find reason to believe that Donald J. Trump and Donald J. Trump for President, 12 Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. 13 § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting, accepting or 14 receiving an in-kind contribution from the Russian Federation in connection with 15 Trump’s press conference statement; 

	16 
	16 
	4. Find reason to believe that the Russian Federation violated 52 U.S.C. 17 § 30121(a)(1)(A) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(b) by making a prohibited in-kind 18 contribution to Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. by expending resources to 19 hack Clinton-related servers in response to Trump’s press conference statement; 

	20 
	20 
	5. Find reason to believe that Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T. 21 Crate in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 22 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting a prohibited in-kind contribution from 23 WikiLeaks; 

	24 
	24 
	6. Find reason to believe that the Russian Federation made a prohibited in-kind 25 foreign national contribution in violation of 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(1)(A) and 26 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(b); 

	27 
	27 
	7. Find reason to believe that an Unknown Congressional Candidate knowingly 28 solicited, accepted or received a prohibited in-kind foreign national contribution 29 in violation of 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g); 

	30 
	30 
	8. Find reason to believe that Paul Manafort and Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. 31 and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. 32 § 30114(b) and 11 C.F.R. § 113.1(g)(3) by transferring a campaign committee 33 asset without charge; 

	34 
	34 
	9. Find reason to believe that Paul Manafort and Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. 35 and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. 
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	1 § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting a prohibited in2 kind foreign national contribution; 
	-

	3 
	3 
	3 
	10. Dismiss the allegation that Cambridge Analytica, LLC violated the Act by 4 providing information to the Russian Federation; 

	5 
	5 
	11. Take no further action as to the Russian Federation and the Internet Research 6 Agency; 

	7 
	7 
	12. Approve the attached Factual and Legal Analyses; 

	8 
	8 
	13. Authorize pre-probable cause conciliation with Donald J. Trump for President, 


	9 Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer, Donald J. Trump, 10 and Paul Manafort; 
	11 14. Approve the attached Conciliation Agreements; and 
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	1 15. Approve the appropriate letters. 
	2 
	3 
	February 23, 2021
	4 ___________ 5 Date 6 7 8 9 
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	29 
	30 
	31 
	32 Attorney 
	33 
	34 
	35 Attachments: 
	________________________ Lisa J. Stevenson Acting General Counsel ________________________ Charles Kitcher Acting Associate General Counsel For Enforcement ________________________ Jin Lee Acting Assistant General Counsel _________________________ Claudio J. Pavia Acting Assistant General Counsel _________________________ Nicholas I. Bamman Attorney _________________________ Amanda Andrade 
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	APPENDIX 
	Exhibit 1 — Examples of Paid Social Media Ads Purchased by the IRA 
	Exhibit 1 — Examples of Paid Social Media Ads Purchased by the IRA 
	P
	Figure

	… We know that you defend American Muslims now in your presidential campaign, but did you support us before campaign? 
	We didn't forget who supported the war in Iraq, we are Muslims and Americans, so we know your support to invade Iraq in 2003 have caused hundreds of American soldiers to die hundreds of miles away from their homes, and also millions of Iraqi Muslims, including innocent men, women and Children, to die in their homes, and for what? 
	Libya! You supported bombing and destroying the whole country just to kill Al-Gaddafi. You said in an interview: “We came, we saw, he died”. Let's not forget about Benghazi, where you declined to increase the embassy security, and that caused the death of the US. Ambassador J. Christopher Stevens and US. Foreign Service Information Management Officer Sean Smith and CIA contractors Tyrone S. Woods and Glen Doherty and Ten others were also injured in the attacks. 
	You killed Saddam Hussein and Al-Gaddafi in Iraq and Lybia [sic] leaving the countries there in chaos, which led to the birth of ISIS, which is now a threat not only to the US. but the whole world! 
	You are supporting gun control, disarming the American Citizens and at the same time selling weapons to groups in the Middle East to fight their leaders, creating on the short run terrorist groups as we saw in Libya, Iraq, Afghanistan and Syria. 
	8 years ago you were against refugees, but now you support them. 10 years ago you were against same sex marriage, but now you support it. You Change your views very fast. You speak as a democrat and act as a republican. Sorry, but you can not be our representer, you can not be the president of the United States. 
	Sincerely, 
	United Muslims of America 
	Facebook Ad purchased by “United Muslims of America” which ran from March 18-21, 2016, at a cost of approx. $89 (5,550 rubles) garnering 19,055 impressions (or views) and 2,445 clicks 
	Identifier in House Intelligence Committee Dataset: 1640 
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	… Fellow Texans! It's time to say a strong NO to the establishment robbers. It is unacceptable for us to see them ruin all we've been building for decades. For centuries. The establishment thinks they can treat us like stupid sheep but they are wrong. We won’t put up with this anymore. The corrupt media does not talk about the crimes committed by Killary Rotten Clinton, neither does it mention the leaked emails but it would rather keep on kicking around some outdated tapes featuring Trump. Even Republicans 

	Figure
	Use our page to team up with other locals. Invite your friends and family, spread the word and let's make this effort together! Get Ready to Secede! 
	Facebook Ad purchased by “Heart of Texas” which ran from November 2-3, 2016, at a cost of approx. $67 (4,386 rubles) garnering 17,334 impressions and 1807 clicks 
	Facebook Ad purchased by “Heart of Texas” which ran from November 2-3, 2016, at a cost of approx. $67 (4,386 rubles) garnering 17,334 impressions and 1807 clicks 
	Identifier in House Intelligence Committee Dataset: 725 

	Figure
	… Please support us, we really try to make America better! Our followers are going to make their future better and encourage to support #HillaryClintonForPrison2016 flashmob. BlackMattersUS Blackluive [sic] 
	Instagram Ad purchased by “_born__black_” which ran on April 19, 2016, until an unspecified end date at a cost of approx. $49 (3,032 rubles) garnering 27,379 impressions and 54 clicks 
	Identifier in House Intelligence Committee Dataset: 1744 
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	Figure
	Figure
	Facebook Ad purchased by “Donald Trump America” which ran from August 2-5, 2016, at a cost of approx. $254 (14,607 rubles) garnering 34,943 impressions and 6,276 clicks 
	Identifier in House Intelligence Committee Dataset: 1785 
	Identifier in House Intelligence Committee Dataset: 1785 
	Facebook Ad purchased by “Being Patriotic” which ran from May 10-11, 2016, at a cost of approx. $12 (700 rubles) garnering 3,643 impressions and 730 clicks 

	Identifier in House Intelligence Committee Dataset: 471 
	Figure
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	Facebook Ad purchased by “Being Patriotic” which ran from August 4-20, 2016, at a cost of approx.impressions and 8,382 clicks 
	 $476 (27,402.97 rubles) garnering 59,025 

	Identifier in House Intelligence Committee Dataset: 525 
	Figure
	Facebook Ad purchased by “Being Patriotic” which ran on June 2-22, 2016, at a cost of approx. impressions and 1,454 clicks 
	Facebook Ad purchased by “Being Patriotic” which ran on June 2-22, 2016, at a cost of approx. impressions and 1,454 clicks 
	$287 (16,533.91 rubles) garnering 18,915 

	Identifier in House Intelligence Committee Dataset: 466 


	Figure
	Facebook Ad purchased by “Being Patriotic” which ran from August 2-5, 2016, at a cost of approx.impressions and 6,276 clicks 
	Facebook Ad purchased by “Being Patriotic” which ran from August 2-5, 2016, at a cost of approx.impressions and 6,276 clicks 
	 $254 (14,606.52 rubles) garnering 34,943 

	Identifier in House Intelligence Committee Dataset: 1785 
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	… We could help Mr. Trump win Pennsylvania which is a battleground state. We’d like to organize a rally “Miners for Trump” in Pennsylvania. 
	Have something against coal industries? Please note then that burning coal is not more harmful than lumber. Alternative energy is only possible when subsidized by government for it is not lucrative. You cannot leave tens of thousands of people without a job just because of lobbyists’ interests. 
	The current list of locations is being elaborated. Suggested Cities are Erie, Pittsburg, Scranton, Harrisburg, Allentown, and Philly. 
	Confirmed locations: Marconi Plaza, Philadelphia. Miners for Trump: Unity day in Pennsylvania 
	Facebook Ad purchased by “Being Patriotic” which ran from September 23 – October 1, 2016, at a cost of approx.garnering 7,282 impressions and 457 clicks 
	 $124 (7,120.60 rubles) 

	Identifier in House Intelligence Committee Dataset: 470 
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	Exhibit 2 — Examples of Organic Social Media Posts by IRA-Controlled Accounts 
	Figure
	Post by “Being Patriotic” / New Knowledge White Paper Slide Deck at 37 
	Figure
	Figure
	Post by “Being Patriotic” / New Knowledge White Paper Slide Deck at 37 
	Figure
	Post by “Being Patriotic” / New Knowledge White Paper Slide 
	Deck at 37 Post by “Being Patriotic” / New Knowledge White Paper Slide Deck at 37 
	Figure
	Figure
	Post by “Being Patriotic” / New Knowledge White Paper Slide Deck at 37 
	New Knowledge White Paper Slide Deck at 37 
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	New Knowledge White Paper Slide Deck at 37 
	Figure
	Post by “South United” Facebook account on March 9, 2016, garnering 986,203 engagements / New Knowledge White Paper Slide Deck at 47 Post by “Being Patriotic” / New Knowledge White Paper Slide Deck at 37 Post by “Being Patriotic” Facebook account on September 8, 2016, garnering 723,750 engagements / New Knowledge White Paper Slide Deck at 47 
	Figure
	New Knowledge White Paper Slide Deck at 37 
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Post by “Secured Borders” Facebook account on October 7, 2016, garnering 102,253 engagements / New Knowledge White Paper Slide Deck at 51 
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	Figure
	Figure
	Post by “Blacktivist” in November 2016 / New Knowledge White Paper Slide Deck at 106 
	Post by “Army of Jesus” / New Knowledge White Paper Slide Deck at 91 
	Figure
	Figure
	Post by “Being Patriotic” / New Knowledge White Paper Slide Deck at 100 
	Post by “Woke Blacks” in November 2016 / New Knowledge White Paper Slide Deck at 106 
	Figure
	Post by “Born Liberal” in August 2016 / New Knowledge White Paper Slide Deck at 103 
	Figure
	New Knowledge White Paper Slide Deck at 106 
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	Post by “Blacktivist” / New Knowledge White Paper Slide Deck 
	at 107 Post by “Army_of_Jesus” / New Knowledge White Paper Slide Deck at 91 
	at 107 Post by “Army_of_Jesus” / New Knowledge White Paper Slide Deck at 91 


	Figure
	Figure
	Post by “Black Matters” / New Knowledge White Paper Slide Deck at 107 Post by “Blacktivist” / New Knowledge White Paper at 82 
	Figure
	Post by “Williams & Kalvin” on November 7, 2016 / New 
	Post by “Williams & Kalvin” on November 7, 2016 / New 
	Post by @feminism_tag Instagram account / New Knowledge 

	Knowledge White Paper at 87 
	White Paper at 29 
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	“Heads up: If you voted for Bernie in the Primaries, the Election Board will NOT let you vote for Hillary on Nov 8.” 
	Post by @Christ__Tegner Twitter account, on November 5, 2016, “repeatedly @-messaging individual Twitter users, including several famous influencers” / New Knowledge White Paper at 85 
	“Hillary is the first candidate in American history to be labeled a threat by American troops.” 
	Post by @TEN_GOP Twitter account (posing as the real Tennessee Democratic Party) on November 5, 2016 / New Knowledge White Paper at 85 
	“I say it as it is. When you decide to choose between two evil [sic], you are somehow condoning to whatever comes afterwards. The excuse that a lost Black vote for Hillary is a Trump win is bs. It could be late, but y’all might want to support Jill Stein instead.” 
	Portion of post by @Woke_Blacks Twitter account, on November 6, 2016 / New Knowledge White Paper at 86 
	“Hillary Clinton is a traitor! Hillary Clinton is a liar! Hillary Clinton is insane! I know that many black people support this old dirty bitch. I don’t know why they do this, still it’s their personal choice and we are a free country yet. But, listen to my word of truth and don’t let them fool you.” 
	Post by “Williams & Kalvin” Facebook account on November 7, 2016 / New Knowledge White Paper at 87 
	“I cannot stand the level of corruption that surrounds this administration. Obama and Hillary have committed treasonous acts against our country. They both belong behind bars, not in the White House! Do you agree?” 
	Portion of post by “Secured Borders” on November 7, 2016, which garnered 4,891 engagements / New Knowledge White Paper at 89 
	“Tennessee GOP backs @realDonaldTrump period #makeAmericaGreatAgain #tngop #tennessee #gop.” 
	Post by @TEN_GOP Twitter account, on April 3, 2016 / Special Counsel’s Report at 22 n.46 
	“BREAKING: Thousands of names changed on voter rolls in Indiana. Police investigating #VoterFraud #DrainTheSwamp.” 
	Undated post by @TEN_GOP retweeted by Donald Trump, Jr. on October 26, 2016 / Special Counsel’s Report at 33 
	-
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	APPENDIX 
	APPENDIX 
	Exhibit 3 -Examples of Rallies Organized by the IRA 
	Name 
	Name 
	Name 
	Location(s) 
	Date(s) 
	Notable Facts 

	(Pro-Tmmp Rally) 
	(Pro-Tmmp Rally) 
	Tmmp Tower, New York 
	Unknovro 
	"Matt Skiber" privately messaged dozens of pro-Tmmp Facebook groups asking for assistance in planning the rally1 

	"March for Tl1llllp" 
	"March for Tl1llllp" 
	New York 
	6/26/2016 
	"Matt Skiber" contacted a real U.S. person to assist with the rally, offering money for printing and megaphone; IRA sent press releases to NY media using 2allfomsa@yahoo.com email address

	"Support Hillary, Save American Muslims" 
	"Support Hillary, Save American Muslims" 
	Washington, DC 
	7/09/2016 
	Apparent effo1t to undermine Clinton given IRA's attempt to induce real U.S. person to hold a pro-Sharia Law sign at the event with image ofClinton; IRA coordinated with real U.S. person to order posters3 

	"Down With Hilla1y " 
	"Down With Hilla1y " 
	Tmmp Tower, New York 
	7/23/2016 
	IRA offered money to real U.S. persons for expenses; "Josh Milton" sent press releases to over thirty media outlets4 

	"Florida Goes Tmmp" 
	"Florida Goes Tmmp" 
	West Palm Beach Miami 13 unknown locations 
	8/20/2016 
	IRA-controlled accounts coordinated with the Tmmp campaign (hiding Russian links) and pro-Tl1llllp grassroots groups, and induced others to perfonn tasks at rallies such as building a cage for hired Clinton impersonator to ride in wearing a prison unifonn5 

	(Pro-Tmmp Rally) 
	(Pro-Tmmp Rally) 
	New York 
	9/ 11/2016 
	Real U.S. person who impersonated Clinton at the West Palm Beach ''Florida Goes Tnunp" rally apparently paid by IRA? to travel from Florida to appear at this rally6 

	(Pro-Tnunp Rally) 
	(Pro-Tnunp Rally) 
	Miami 
	9/ 11/2016 
	Apparently organized by real U.S. grassroots group, but coordinated with IRA groups, and IRA sent money to pay for materials 7 

	"Miners for Tnunp" 
	"Miners for Tnunp" 
	Pittsburgh & Philadelphia 
	10/02/2016 
	Promoted with IRA-created posters8 
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	Citations 
	Special Counsel’s Report at 25. IRA Indictment ¶¶ 54, 61-62; see Special Counsel’s Report at 31. New Knowledge White Paper at 81. IRA Indictment ¶¶ 54, 66-67. Id. ¶¶ 55, 72, 76; Special Counsel’s Report at 31-32, 35. IRA Indictment ¶ 84. Id. ¶ 82. Special Counsel’s Report at 31. 
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	1 FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 2 3 FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS 4 5 6 7 RESPONDENT: Cambridge Analytica, LLC MUR: 7268 8 9 I. INTRODUCTION 
	10 The Complaint in this matter alleges that Cambridge Analytica, LLC, a former political 11 consulting company, provided illegally sourced social profiles to the Russian Federation.The 12 allegation here is vague, speculative, and unsupported by the available information.  Therefore, 13 the Commission dismisses the allegation that Cambridge Analytica, LLC, violated the Act, as 14 alleged. 15 II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 16 Cambridge Analytica, LLC was a limited liability company organized in Delaware on 17 Decem
	1 
	2 
	3
	4 
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	MUR 7268 (Cambridge Analytica, LLC) Factual and Legal Analysis Page 2 of 2 
	1 of Cambridge Analytica.”  The Supplemental Complaint does not provide any additional 
	5

	2 information regarding the allegation or cite to a particular source.
	6 

	Supp. Compl. at 1, MUR 7268 (Jan. 16, 2020) (“Supp. Compl.”). 
	Supp. Compl. at 1, MUR 7268 (Jan. 16, 2020) (“Supp. Compl.”). 
	1 


	Cambridge Analytica LLC, Delaware Div.NameSearch.aspx (viewed Feb. 18, 2021). 
	Cambridge Analytica LLC, Delaware Div.NameSearch.aspx (viewed Feb. 18, 2021). 
	2 
	 of Corps., https://icis.corp.delaware.gov/ecorp/entitysearch/ 


	SCL Group Limited, U.K.house.gov.uk/company/05514098 (last visited Feb. 18, 2021). 
	SCL Group Limited, U.K.house.gov.uk/company/05514098 (last visited Feb. 18, 2021). 
	3 
	 Companies House Registration, Company No. 05514098, https://beta.companies 


	Craig Timberg and Tom Hamburger, Former Cambridge Analytica Workers Say Firm Sent Foreigners to Advise U.S. Campaigns, WASH. POST (Mar. 25, 2018). 
	Craig Timberg and Tom Hamburger, Former Cambridge Analytica Workers Say Firm Sent Foreigners to Advise U.S. Campaigns, WASH. POST (Mar. 25, 2018). 
	4 




	3 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 
	3 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 
	4 The Supplemental Complaint in MUR 7268 does not provide any factual basis in support 
	5 of its allegation that Cambridge Analytica “provided illegally sourced social profiles to the 
	6 Russians” and we are not aware of any source that otherwise supports this allegation.  
	7

	7 Therefore, because the Supplemental Complaint is vague, speculative, and unsupported by the 
	8 available information, the Commission dismisses the allegation that Cambridge Analytica, LLC 
	9 violated the Act, as alleged. 
	Supp. Compl. at 1. 
	5 

	The term “British investigation” may be a reference to an investigation conducted by the Information Commissioner’s Office of the United Kingdom into Cambridge Analytica, LLC. See Ltr from Elizabeth Denham CBE, UK Information Commissioner, to Julian Knight MP, Chair, Digital, Cultural and Media Sport Select Comm., House of Commons (Oct. 2, 2020) (announcing the findings of investigation into Cambridge Analytica, LLC’s alleged “use of personal information and political influence”), available at taken/2618383
	6 
	https://ico.org.uk/media/action-weve
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	Figure
	1 FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 2 3 FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS 4 5 RESPONDENTS: Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and       MURs: 7207, 7268, 7623 6 Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity 7 as treasurer 8 Donald J. Trump 9 
	10 I. INTRODUCTION 
	11 The Complaints in these matters allege that Respondents violated the Federal Election 
	12 Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, (the “Act”), in a variety of ways based upon the Russian 
	13 Federation’s interference in the 2016 U.S. presidential election.  A number of the Complaints 
	14 rely on the findings in official government reports, including those issued by the United States 
	15 Intelligence Community and the Special Counsel for the DOJ, which have uniformly concluded 
	16 that the Russian Federation engaged in a wide-ranging campaign to influence the 2016 U.S. 
	17 presidential election.The Russian Federation perpetrated its so-called “influence campaign,” 
	1 

	See OFFICE OF THE DIR. OF NAT’L INTELLIGENCE, INTELLIGENCE COMMUNITY ASSESSMENT: ASSESSING RUSSIAN ACTIVITIES AND INTENTIONS IN RECENT US ELECTIONS at ii, 1 (Jan. 6, 2017) (“Intelligence Community Assessment”); SPECIAL COUNSEL ROBERT S. MUELLER, III, U.S. DEP’T OF JUSTICE, REPORT ON THE INVESTIGATION INTO RUSSIAN INTERFERENCE IN THE 2016 PRESIDENTIAL ELECTION at 1, 4 (Mar. 22, 2019) (redactions partially removed on June 19 and November 2, 2020) (“Special Counsel’s Report”) (citations reference Volume 1). Th
	1 

	In addition to these official reports, testimony and statements by expert and U.S. government witnesses 
	called before Congress, indictments brought by the Special Counsel against individuals and entities involved in the 
	Russian influence campaign, and the trial transcript of an individual associated with the Trump campaign charged 
	with obstructing investigations into the Russian influence campaign provide relevant information about the Russian 
	Federation’s activities. E.g., Disinformation: A Primer in Russian Active Measures and Influence Campaigns: 
	Hearing Before the S. Select Comm. on Intelligence, 115th Cong. (Mar. 30, 2017); Open Hearing on Foreign 
	Influence Operations’ Use of Social Media Platforms (Company Witnesses) Before the S. Select Comm. on 
	Intelligence, 115th Cong. (Sept. 5, 2018); Superseding Indictment, United States v. Internet Research Agency, et al., 
	1:18-cr-00032 (D.D.C. Nov. 8, 2019) (“IRA Indictment”); Indictment, United States v. Netyksho, et al., 1:18-cr-
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	Figure
	1 also known as “active measures,” in two ways:  (1) by conducting a social media campaign 2 through a Russian LLC known as the Internet Research Agency (the “IRA”); and (2) a hack-and3 release operation through a Russian military agency, the Main Intelligence Directorate of the 4 General Staff of the Russian Army (the “GRU”).  Both measures are subjects of the instant 5 Complaints. 6 Allegations of Russian efforts to influence the 2016 U.S. presidential election garnered 7 significant attention and media c
	-
	2 

	10 coverage in July 2016, after WikiLeaks published a tranche of documents stolen from the DNC 11 on the eve of the Democratic National Convention, and in October 2016, after WikiLeaks 12 published documents stolen from John Podesta, the Chair of Hillary Clinton’s 2016 presidential 13 campaign.  At the same time, researchers and journalists began observing a proliferation of 14 suspected Russian “troll” accounts on social media platforms posing as U.S. citizens and 15 organizations while engaging in online 
	3
	4 

	00215 (D.D.C. July 13, 2018) (“GRU Indictment”); Transcript, United States v. Roger J. Stone, Jr., 1:19-cr-00018 (D.D.C.) (“Stone Trial Tr.”). 
	See David E. Sanger and Nick Corasaniti, D.N.C. Says Russian Hackers Penetrated its Files, Including Dossier on Donald Trump, N.Y. TIMES, June 14, 2016. 
	2 

	Joe Uchill, WikiLeaks Posts 20,000 DNC Emails, THE HILL, July 22, 2016; Ellen Nakashima, U.S. Government Officially Accuses Russia of Hacking Campaign to Interfere with Elections, WASH. POST, Oct. 7, 2016 (cited by First Am. Compl. at 4 n.1, MUR 7207 (May 4, 2017)). 
	3 

	E.g., Andrew Weisburd and Clint Watts, How Russia Dominates Your Twitter Feed to Promote Lies (And, Trump, Too), DAILY BEAST, Aug. 6, 2016 (cited by First Am. Compl. at 10 n.26, MUR 7207); Natasha Bertrand, It Looks Like Russia Hired Internet Trolls to Pose as Pro-Trump Americans, BUSINESS INSIDER, July 27, 2016 (cited by First Am. Compl. at 11 n.27, MUR 7207); see also Special Counsel’s Report at 18 n.28 (defining the term “troll” as “paid operatives—who post inflammatory or otherwise disruptive content on
	4 
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	Figure
	1 About a month before Election Day, on October 7, 2016, the United States Intelligence 2 Community published a press release assessing that the Russian Federation was responsible for 3 the hackings and releases of stolen documents.  Two months after the election, on January 6, 4 2017, the United States Intelligence Community published a declassified version of a highly 5 classified assessment coordinated among the Central Intelligence Agency, Federal Bureau of 6 Investigation, and National Security Agency.
	5
	6 

	10 The Special Counsel, appointed on May 17, 2017, examined multiple contacts between 11 members of Trump’s principal campaign committee, Donald J. Trump for President and Bradley 12 T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer (the “Trump Committee”), and individuals having or 13 claiming to have ties to the Russian government and concluded, in a report publicly released on 14 April 18, 2019, that evidence may not have been sufficient to establish or sustain criminal 15 prosecution of Trump Committee off
	7 
	8 
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	Figure
	1 additionally indicted individuals who worked for or were associated with the Trump campaign 2 for obstructing the investigations into Russian election interference or for conduct unrelated to 3 the 2016 presidential election but discovered during the Special Counsel’s investigation.4 The Senate Intelligence Committee released a five-volume series of reports, between July 5 2019 and August 2020, providing further details on Russian efforts to influence the 2016 election 6 and related interactions with the 
	9 
	10 

	10 Russian intelligence services” as distinguished from the Special Counsel’s Report’s “focus[] on 11 criminal activity.”12 The Complaints in these matters each cite to the official reports regarding Russian efforts 13   The Complaints in MURs 7207, 7268, 7623, allege 14 that the Trump Committee coordinated with the Russian Federation, resulting in the acceptance 15 of prohibited foreign national in-kind contributions, and that the Trump Committee failed to 
	11 
	to interfere in the 2016 election.
	12
	Figure

	defraud the United States including by failing to report political expenditures to the Commission); GRU Indictment ¶¶ 1-2 (charging 12 individuals who served as Russian military intelligence officers with various crimes relating to the hack-and-release operation, such as conspiracy to commit an offense against the United States). 
	E.g., Indictment, United States v. Roger J. Stone, Jr., 1:19-cr-00018 (D.D.C. Jan. 24, 2019); Indictment, United States v. Paul J. Manafort, Jr. and Richard W. Gates III, l:17-cr-00201 (D.D.C. Oct. 30, 2017); Superseding Indictment, United States v. Manafort and Gates, l:18-cr-00083 (E.D. Va. Feb. 22, 2018); Statement of the Offense, United States v. Michael T. Flynn, 1:17-cr-00232 (D.D.C. Dec. 1, 2017); Information, United States v. George Papadopoulos, 1:17-cr-00182 (D.D.C. Oct. 3, 2017). 
	9 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at v. 
	10 

	Id. at 4. 
	11 

	First Am. Compl. ¶¶ 9-12, MUR 7207; Compl. at 1, MUR 7268 (Aug. 8, 2017); Compl. at 4-5, MUR 7623 (July 22, 2019). 
	12 
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	Figure
	1   As support for the coordination allegations, the Complaints 2 specifically allege that the Trump Committee solicited an impermissible foreign national in-kind 3 contribution when candidate Trump made a statement about Clinton’s emails directed towards 4 the Russian Federation at a campaign press conference:  “Russia, if you’re listening, I hope 5 you’re able to find the 30,000 emails that are missing.”In addition, the Complaints assert that 6 “close associates” of the Trump Committee, specifically Roger
	report the in-kind contributions.
	13
	14 
	15
	Russian oligarchs and briefed an intermediary for the oligarchs about the campaign’s strategy.
	16 

	10 In Response, Trump and the Trump Committee argue that the allegations regarding 11 coordination are speculative and fail to satisfy the “conduct” standard of the coordinated 12 communications test.They also argue that Trump’s “Russia, if you’re listening” statement was 13 The Trump Committee further 14 argues that the Commission should dismiss the allegations because the Special Counsel declined 
	17 
	an “offhand remark,” and not an actual request or suggestion.
	18 

	13 
	at 6, 13, MUR 7623 (July 22, 2019); 
	First Am. Compl. ¶¶ 29, 64(a), MUR 7207; Compl. at 15, MUR 7623; Compl. at 1, MUR 7637 (Aug. 16, The phrase “emails that are missing” was a reference to allegedly missing or 
	14 

	First Am. Compl. ¶ 32, MUR 7207. 
	15 

	Compl. at 12-13, MUR 7623. 
	16 

	Trump Committee Resp. at 3, 5, MUR 7207 (Jan. 25, 2017); Trump Committee & Trump Joint Resp. at 1, MUR 7207 (May 26, 2017) (incorporating prior response); Trump Committee Resp. at 2, 5-7, MUR 7268 (Sept. 14, 2017); Trump Committee Resp. at 1, MUR 7623 (Sept. 5, 2019); Trump Committee Resp. at 1, MUR 7637 (Sept. 16, 2019) (citing to prior responses). 
	17 

	Trump Committee Resp. at 5, MUR 7207; see Trump Committee & Trump Joint Resp. at 1, MUR 7207. 
	18 

	First Am. Compl. ¶¶ 61-66, MUR 7207; Compl. at 1, MUR 7268; Supp. Compl. at 1, MUR 7268; Compl. 
	2019); deleted emails from Clinton’s personal server during her tenure as Secretary of State. 
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	1 
	1 
	to indict anyone associated with the Trump Committee for conspiracy or coordination with the 

	2 
	2 
	Russian Federation in its election interference activities.19 

	3 
	3 
	As discussed below, the available information indicates that Trump solicited the Russian 

	4 
	4 
	Federation’s help in attempting to locate 30,000 Clinton emails, and that the Russian Federation 

	5 
	5 
	through the GRU responded by attempting to hack individuals from Clinton’s personal office for 

	6 
	6 
	the first time.  The Commission therefore finds reason to believe that the Russian Federation 

	7 
	7 
	made, and that Donald J. Trump and the Trump Committee knowingly solicited, accepted or 

	8 
	8 
	received, a foreign national in-kind contribution, in violation of 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a) and 

	9 
	9 
	11 C.F.R. § 110.20(b), (g).  

	10 
	10 
	In addition, the Special Counsel’s Report and evidence introduced at Stone’s trial 

	11 
	11 
	indicates that Stone, acting as an agent of the Trump Committee, unlawfully solicited 

	12 
	12 
	WikiLeaks, a foreign national, for specific hacked emails relating to Clinton.  Consequently, the 

	13 
	13 
	Commission finds reason to believe that the Trump Committee knowingly solicited an in-kind 

	14 
	14 
	foreign national contribution from WikiLeaks in violation of 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 

	15 
	15 
	11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g).  

	16 
	16 
	The record also reflects that Manafort, acting as a Trump Committee agent, appears to 

	17 
	17 
	have provided internal proprietary Trump Committee polling data to Russian and Ukrainian 

	18 
	18 
	oligarchs.  The record indicates that Manafort sent the polling data for one or both of two 

	19 
	19 
	possible purposes, both of which are impermissible under the Act:  Manafort transferred a 

	20 
	20 
	committee asset without charge, apparently to resolve business disputes with the recipients, or 

	21 
	21 
	solicited a foreign national by sending the polling data to induce the recipients to take some 


	19 Trump Committee Resp. at 1, MUR 7623 (citing Special Counsel’s Report at 2); Trump Committee Resp. at 1-2, 
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	Figure
	1 action to benefit the Trump campaign. Thus, the Commission finds reason to believe that the 2 Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30114(b) and 11 C.F.R. § 113.1(g)(3) by transferring a 3 campaign committee asset without charge, and that the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. 4 § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.2(g) by knowingly soliciting a prohibited in-kind foreign 5 national contribution.  6 II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 7 A. Russian Social Media Campaign Conducted by the IRA 8 The IRA was a Russian LLC that
	Petersburg, Russia during the relevant period.
	20 

	10 entity that operated “at the direction of the Kremlin” and conducted what it called “information 11 warfare against the United States of America.”  The IRA employed hundreds of paid staff12 and received its funding from Yevgeny Prigozhin, a Russian oligarch and “close Putin ally with 13 ties to Russian intelligence”; Prigozhin also controlled other companies that had Russian 14 
	21
	22
	23 
	government contracts.
	24 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 4; IRA Indictment ¶ 10; see also Special Counsel’s Report at 16 (explaining that the Internet Research Agency, LLC dissolved in 2014, and was followed by a series of successor companies as part of an effort to “hide its funding and activities”). For purposes of this Report, the term IRA refers to the Internet Research Agency, LLC and its successor companies. 
	20 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 32; see Intelligence Community Assessment at 3-4; see also id. at 2 (“We assess that influence campaigns are approved at the highest levels of the Russian Government— particularly those that would be politically sensitive.”). 
	21 

	IRA Indictment ¶ 10(c). Indeed, the title of the IRA’s internal manual was “Waging Information Warfare Against the United States.” Special Counsel’s Report at 20. 
	22 

	IRA Indictment ¶ 10(a); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 25; see Special Counsel’s Report at 15-16. 
	23 

	Intelligence Community Assessment at 4; accord Special Counsel’s Report at 16-17; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 23-24; see IRA Indictment ¶¶ 11-12; see also U.S. Dep’t of the Treasury, Treasury Sanctions Individuals and Entities in Connection with Russia’s Occupation of Crimea and the Conflict in Ukraine 
	24 

	(Dec. 20, 2016) (sanctioning Prigozhin). 
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	Figure
	1 Currently available information does not indicate precisely how much the IRA spent on 2 operations to interfere with the 2016 U.S. election, but the Senate Intelligence Committee has 3   The Special Counsel’s investigation 4 obtained information that the IRA’s monthly budget, by September 2016, was approximately 5 6 There is information suggesting that, by July 2016, “more than eighty” IRA employees were 7 specifically tasked with U.S.-related operations, and each were paid approximately $1,000 per 8 mont
	determined that it was a “multi-million dollar” effort.
	25
	$1.25 million, although that figure includes operations that did not target the United States.
	26 
	payments alone.
	27 

	10 Ahead of the 2016 election, IRA employees traveled to the United States on at least two 11 intelligence-gathering missions: a June 2014 trip lasting approximately three weeks to locations 12 in Nevada, California, New Mexico, Colorado, Illinois, Michigan, Louisiana, Texas, and New 13   The Special Counsel’s investigation 14 uncovered information showing that by approximately 2014, the IRA “began to track and study 15 groups on U.S. social media sites dedicated to U.S. politics and social issues,” and for
	York; and a November 2014 trip to Atlanta, Georgia.
	28
	population.
	29 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 22-23. IRA Indictment ¶ 11(b); see Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 25. IRA Indictment ¶ 10(d); see Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 26-27. IRA Indictment ¶ 30 (stating that IRA employees purchased equipment such as cameras, SIM cards, and 
	25 
	26 
	27 
	28 

	drop phones); Special Counsel’s Report at 21 (describing how the travelers lied about the purpose of their trip to the 
	U.S. Department of State on their applications to enter the United States). IRA Indictment ¶ 29; Special Counsel’s Report at 19; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 30. 
	29 
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	Figure
	1 During the 2016 election, IRA employees operated accounts on U.S. social media 2 platforms, including Facebook, Twitter, YouTube, and Instagram, masquerading as U.S. citizens 3 The Special Counsel’s Report states that the fake accounts were 4 designed to “influence public opinion” and, more specifically, to “influence U.S. audiences on 5 the election.”  In the words of one IRA employee:  “I created all these pictures and posts, and 6 the Americans believed that it was written by their people.”7 First, the
	and grassroots organizations.
	30 
	31
	32 
	The accounts fall primarily into two categories.
	33 

	10 Second, there were organizational accounts that purported to 11 be U.S. grassroots organizations, each concentrating on a specific segment of society or a 12 political cause, such as “Being Patriotic,” a conservative group; “Stop All Invaders,” an anti13 immigration group; and “Blacktivist,”IRA employees “spent months 14 developing fake . . . personas and cultivating networks of supporters and followers among 
	Johnson,” an African American.
	34 
	-
	 a social-justice group.
	35 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 22; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 3; see New Knowledge, White Paper at 4-5, The Tactics & Tropes of the Internet Research Agency (Dec. 17, 2018) (“New Knowledge White Paper”) (drafted at the request of the Senate Intelligence Committee); Univ. of Oxford, Graphika, Working Paper at 8, Computational Propaganda Research Project: The IRA, Social Media and Political Polarization in the United States, 2012-2018 (Dec. 17, 2018) (“Computational Propaganda Research Projec
	30 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 19, 27; see Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 3. 
	31 

	IRA Indictment ¶ 58(d); see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol 2. at 29 (explaining that IRA employees “were required to study and monitor . . . the language and trends of internet users in the United States”). 
	32 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 22. The IRA also deployed automated Twitter accounts (or bots) to amplify the content generated by the individual, organizational, and news accounts. Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 51; Special Counsel’s Report at 26. 
	33 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 27; New Knowledge White Paper at 85, 90. 
	34 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 6, 45; Special Counsel’s Report at 24-25. The pages for the purported U.S. organizations were professional looking and many used branded logos and typographies. New Knowledge White Paper at 42. 
	35 
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	Figure
	1 sympathetic and agreeable Americans.”Social media experts analyzing the IRA’s activity at 
	36 

	2 the request of the Senate Intelligence Committee explained that the accounts were “designed to 
	3 blend their activities with those of authentic and highly engaged users” and “infiltrate political 
	4 discussion.”  In addition to operating accounts in the two primary categories, the IRA also 
	37

	5 operated accounts that purported to be U.S. news media entities, such as Baton Rouge Voice, 
	6   Finally, the IRA operated a fake account that 
	@MissouriNewsUS, and @OnlineCleveland.
	38

	7 
	impersonated the Tennessee Republican Party using the handle @TEN_GOP.
	39 

	8 According to information released by Twitter and Facebook, the IRA operated 
	9 approximately 3,800 accounts on Twitter, 470 on Facebook, and 170 on Instagram, which is 
	10 owned by 
	Facebook.
	40
	  Among these were accounts with hundreds of thousands of followers.
	41 

	11 The IRA-controlled accounts attracted millions of aggregate followers and millions more 
	12 “engagements” (shares, likes, comments, etc.); collectively, the IRA reached at least 126 million 
	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 54. 
	36 

	Computational Propaganda Research Project Working Paper at 27, 39; see New Knowledge White Paper at 13; Special Counsel’s Report at 27. 
	37 

	Russia Investigative Task Force Hearing with Social Media Companies Before the H. Permanent Select Comm. on Intelligence, 115th Cong. (Nov. 1, 2017) (support documents, labeled SD002 at 53); New Knowledge White Paper at 66. 
	38 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 22; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 54. This IRA-created account had more followers than the official account of the Tennessee Republican Party and garnered attention from senior officials of the Trump Committee. U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES PERMANENT SELECT COMM. ON INTELLIGENCE, REPORT ON RUSSIAN ACTIVE MEASURES at 33 (Mar. 22, 2018); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 54; Special Counsel’s Report at 33-34 (citing tweets by Trump, Donald Trump Jr., K
	39 

	Open Hearing: Social Media Influence in the 2016 U.S. Election Before the S. Select Comm. on Intelligence, 115th Cong. (Nov. 1, 2017); Open Hearing on Foreign Influence Operations’ Use of Social Media Platforms (Company Witnesses) Before the S. Select Comm. on Intelligence, 115th Cong. (Sept. 5, 2018); Twitter, Update on Twitter’s Review of the 2016 Election (Jan. 19, 2018) (updated Jan. 31, 2018); Special Counsel’s Report at 15; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 50, 76-77. Much of the data pro
	40 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 14-15. 
	41 
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	Figure
	1   Many IRA posts gained significant 2 popularity or “went viral.”High-profile individuals, including Donald Trump Jr., Eric Trump, 3 Kellyanne Conway, Roger Stone, Sean Hannity, Michael Flynn, and Brad Parscale, retweeted or 4 The Special Counsel’s Report cited a study that found that U.S. 5 news outlets often quoted the IRA-controlled accounts believing they were the accounts of U.S. 6 7 The IRA used some of its fake organizational accounts, i.e., those pretending to be 8 associated with U.S. grassroots 
	people, according to an estimate provided by Facebook.
	42
	43 
	responded to IRA accounts.
	44 
	citizens.
	45 

	10 purpose of attracting additional followers to whom the IRA could later disseminate further 
	11 For example, the IRA ran an ad from a fictitious organization called “Heart 
	communications.
	46 

	12 of Texas” criticizing the “establishment” and proposing that Texas secede.  During the 2016 
	13 The Senate 
	election cycle, the IRA purchased over 1,000 ads totaling approximately $70,000.
	47 

	Id.; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 40, 45, 48, 50 (identifying “over 61,500 Facebook posts, 116,000 Instagram posts, and 10.4 million tweets that were the original creations of IRA influence operatives”); New Knowledge White Paper at 7, 32; see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 4 (cautioning that the “full scope of this activity remains unknown”). 
	42 

	See Special Counsel’s Report at 27. 
	43 

	Id. at 27-28, 33-34; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 40. 
	44 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 27 (citing Josephine Lukito and Chris Wells, Most Major Outlets Have Used Russian Tweets as Sources for Partisan Opinion: Study, COLUMBIA JOURNALISM REV. (Mar. 8, 2018)). 
	45 

	See id. at 25; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 44; see also New Knowledge White Paper Slide Deck at 60 (example Facebook ads for “Being Patriotic,” with text “United We Stand! Welcome every patriot we can reach. Flag and news!” and for “Back the Badge,” with text “Community of people who support our brave Police Officers”). 
	46 

	Public Statement, Minority Members of the U.S. House of Representatives Permanent Select Comm. on Intelligence, Exposing Russia’s Effort to Sow Discord Online: The Internet Research Agency and Advertisements (May 10, 2018) (figure derived by analyzing database of IRA ads provided in statement). The Senate Intelligence Committee determined that the IRA created 1,519 ads that were “viewed” prior to the election. Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 44. The mix of keywords in Facebook’s “Ad Manager” 
	47 
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	Figure
	1 Intelligence Committee concluded that approximately 5 million people viewed the IRA2 3 A relatively small number of the IRA’s publicly known paid ads referenced the election 4   Based on our review of the ads made available by the House Intelligence 5 Committee, we identified at least 58 IRA-purchased ads totaling approximately $3,000, 6 accounting for 698,000 impressions (or views), which appear to support or oppose a candidate, 7 namely Trump and Clinton, The Special Counsel’s Report refers to “dozens” 
	-
	purchased ads during the 2016 election cycle.
	48 
	or candidates.
	49
	respectively.
	50 

	10 with the hashtag “#KIDS4TRUMP.”Examples of IRA-purchased ads targeting the 2016 11 election, obtained from the database made available by the House Intelligence Committee, can 12 be found in Exhibit 1 in the Appendix to this Report. 13 The Senate Intelligence Committee explained that, despite “being a focus of early press 14 reporting,” paid social media ads “were not key to the IRA’s activity.”Rather, the thrust of the 15 IRA’s operation focused on “organic” content, that is, the non-ad social media pos
	51 
	52 
	generated by paid IRA employees posing as U.S. citizens and grassroots organizations.
	53 

	“Black Power” (18); “Gun Owners of America” (18); and “Right to keep and bear arms” (17). New Knowledge White Paper at 35. 
	See Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 44. A review of the public database of IRA ads shows approximately 17.8 million ad impressions (or total views) during the 2016 election cycle. 
	48 

	Id. See supra note 48 (database of ads). The amounts for ads purchased in rubles were calculated based on the exchange rate to USD on the date that the ad was created. The Senate Intelligence Committee determined that “77 
	49 
	50 

	of 1,519” ads, roughly five percent, “viewed prior to the election . . . included text referencing Hillary Clinton or Donald Trump.” Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 44. Special Counsel’s Report at 25. Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 40. Id. at 43-45, 77. 
	51 
	52 
	53 
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	Figure
	1 Numerous posts from these fake accounts mentioned political candidates:  in excess of 
	2   According to the Special 
	4,300 on Facebook; 21,000 on Instagram; and 628,000 on Twitter.
	54

	3 Counsel’s Report, the IRA pursued “a targeted operation” that “favored [] Trump and disparaged 
	4 Clinton.”The Senate Intelligence Committee similarly concluded that “IRA social media 
	55 

	5 activity was overtly and almost invariably supportive of then-candidate Trump, and to the 
	6 detriment of Secretary Clinton’s campaign.”  An internal IRA document gave the following 
	56

	7 instruction to its paid employees:  “Main idea:  Use any opportunity to criticize Hillary and the 
	8 rest (except Sanders and Trump — we support them).”  Another IRA document criticized an 
	57

	9 employee’s “lower” number of posts negative to Clinton and ordered him or her to “intensify 
	10 criticizing Hillary Clinton.”
	58 

	11 Many IRA posts used election-related hashtags (e.g., #Trump2016, #Hillary4Prison) and 
	12 some IRA accounts bore election-related handles (e.g., “Clinton FRAUDation,” “Trumpsters 
	13 The IRA accounts also pushed voter suppression messages — primarily targeting 
	United”).
	59 

	New Knowledge White Paper at 76; see Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 32. The majority of content disseminated by IRA accounts did not mention candidates, but rather involved “innocuous content” to “build character details for their fake personas . . . until the opportune moment arrived when the account was used to deliver tailored ‘payload content’ designed to influence the targeted user.” Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 32. Thus, the relatively low number of election-related p
	54 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 4. The IRA used real, unwitting Americans as a source of information. For example, in June 2016, IRA employees communicated with a Texas grassroots activist who advised them to focus on “purple states like Colorado, Virginia & Florida.” IRA Indictment ¶ 31. The IRA followed that advice, thereafter using the term “purple states” as part of its strategy lexicon. Id. 
	55 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 4; see also id. at 6 (explaining that the IRA also targeted Republican candidates during the presidential primaries that were apparently hostile to Russian interests). 
	56 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 23 (“The document provided different talking points and considerations for the different social media accounts operated by the IRA, broken into the following categories: ‘Black Community,’ ‘Don’t Shoot,’ ‘Patriotic,’ ‘Texas,’ ‘LGBT, ‘Muslims,’ and ‘Refugees.’”). 
	57 

	Id. at 24. 
	58 

	IRA Indictment ¶ 44; see Special Counsel’s Report at 33 n.96; Computational Propaganda Research Project Working Paper at 27. 
	59 
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	Figure
	1 African Americans — such as promoting an election boycott or spreading incorrect voting 2   Examples of organic IRA posts targeting the election, drawn from the Special 3 Counsel’s Report, New Knowledge White Paper, and Computational Propaganda Research 4 Project Working Paper, can be found in Exhibit 2 in the Appendix to this Report. 5 The IRA, mainly through its fake organizational accounts, also planned and organized 6 dozens of political rallies in U.S.  Some appear to have drawn “hundreds” of attende
	instructions.
	60
	 cities.
	61
	62
	63

	10 for these efforts is unknown, but it would appear to include at least the cost of buttons, flags, 
	11 posters, megaphones, and banners, in addition to the salaries it paid to IRA staff to coordinate 
	12 these activities as well as payments sent to real U.S. persons who carried out tasks on behalf of 
	13   In August 2016, the IRA paid an American to 
	the IRA unaware of the Russian connection.
	64

	14 build a cage on a flatbed truck, and another to sit inside the cage wearing a costume of Clinton in 
	See Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 35, 38 (“No single group of Americans was targeted by IRA information operatives more than African-Americans.”); Computational Propaganda Research Project Working Paper at 19, 26; New Knowledge White Paper at 8, 81, 84. 
	60 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 29. The IRA organized the rallies without a physical presence in the United States by relying on real-world assistance from unwitting Americans. First, an IRA-controlled social media account would announce the rally. Next, the IRA-controlled account would reach out to followers, looking for someone to serve as the event coordinator (often pretending that the true coordinator could not attend); from those responding, the IRA-controlled account would select a real U.S. person to be
	61 
	-

	Special Counsel’s Report at 29. 
	62 

	Id. at 31. 
	63 

	IRA Indictment ¶ 94; Special Counsel’s Report at 32 n.94 (citing private social media messages discussing payments for rally supplies and construction materials). 
	64 
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	Figure
	1 2 Several of the IRA-organized rallies received support from or drew the attention of the Trump 3   However, there is no public information indicating that the Trump Committee was 4   Examples of IRA-organized 5 political rallies, based on information gathered by the Special Counsel’s investigation, can be 6 found in Exhibit 3 in the Appendix to this Report. 7 B. Russian Hack-and-Release Operation Conducted by the GRU 8 During the 2016 election, the GRU, a Russian military intelligence agency, hacked 9 co
	a prison uniform; this display was featured at an IRA-organized pro-Trump rally in Florida.
	65 
	Committee.
	66
	aware of the Russian organization and execution of these events.
	67

	10 “Democratic Congressional Campaign Committee”), and John Podesta, Chair of the Clinton 
	68

	11   According to the Special Counsel’s Report and other official reports, the GRU 
	campaign.
	69

	12 distributed documents stolen from those networks and accounts primarily by transferring them to 
	13 WikiLeaks for publication, but also by releasing them on a GRU-operated WordPress blog, 
	IRA Indictment ¶¶ 72, 77; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 37. In September 2016, the IRA paid the same person to travel from Florida to New York to appear at another IRA-organized, pro-Trump rally. IRA Indictment ¶ 84. 
	65 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 35. For example, in June 2016, a Trump Committee volunteer agreed to provide signs for an IRA-organized “March for Trump,” and the official Trump Committee Facebook account reposted photos from an IRA-organized “Florida Goes Trump” rally held in Miami. Id. at 31, 34, 35 n.108. 
	66 
	-

	Id. at 35. 
	67 

	Compare DCCC, Am. Statement of Org. (Oct. 15, 2015), with Democratic Congressional Campaign Committee, Am. Statement of Org. (May 22, 2015). 
	68 

	Intelligence Community Assessment at 2; Special Counsel’s Report at 36; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 7-8, 63-70. The GRU also attempted to hack individuals and entities responsible for election administration such as state boards of election, secretaries of state, and private companies that supply election-related technology. Special Counsel’s Report at 50; Intelligence Community Assessment at 3. The Senate Intelligence Committee found that Russian actors may have targeted “all 50 states.”
	69 
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	Figure
	1 releasing them on a GRU-operated website called “DCLeaks,” sending the documents directly to 
	2 news reporters, and, in at least one instance, sending documents upon request to a congressional 
	3 The Special Counsel’s Report assessed that the releases were “designed and timed 
	candidate.
	70 

	4 to interfere with the 2016 U.S. presidential election and undermine the Clinton campaign.”
	71 

	5 By March 2016, the GRU targeted persons affiliated with the Clinton campaign with 
	6 email “spearphishing” Spearphishing is a method of hacking 
	attacks to steal their credentials.
	72 

	7 The 
	whereby the victim is unknowingly lured into providing credentials to a malicious actor.
	73 

	8 GRU attempted to spearphish “over 300 individuals” affiliated with Clinton, the DCCC, and the 
	9 DNC.Included among those whom the GRU successfully spearphished was Podesta, whose 
	74 

	10 hacked documents, as discussed below, were published on WikiLeaks in October 2016, about a 
	11 month before Election Day.Further, by using the credentials of certain spearphishing targets, 
	75 

	12 The GRU stole thousands 
	the GRU was able to access the DNC and DCCC computer servers.
	76 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 36, 42-43; Intelligence Community Assessment at 2-3; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 170-72. 
	70 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 36. The GRU, like the IRA but to a lesser extent, also published “anti-Clinton content” on social media using fake accounts. Id. at 37; see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 2 at 64 (describing the GRU’s use of social media accounts, pretending to be U.S. persons, posting anti-Clinton and pro-DCLeaks content). 
	71 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 36; Intelligence Community Assessment at 2. 
	72 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 36 n.112; U.S. DEP’T OF JUSTICE, REPORT OF THE ATT’Y GENERAL’S CYBERDIGITAL TASK FORCE at 36 (July 2, 2018); U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES PERMANENT SELECT COMM. ON INTELLIGENCE, REPORT ON RUSSIAN ACTIVE MEASURES at 34 (Mar. 22, 2018). The GRU’s typical mode of operation was to send a “spoofed” email (i.e., from a malicious source made to appear as a trusted source), prompting the recipient to change his or her password. The reset password button in the email would surreptitiousl
	73 
	-

	GRU Indictment ¶ 21(b); Special Counsel’s Report at 37. Although the GRU focused on persons affiliated with the Clinton campaign, DCCC, and DNC, it conducted cyber operations against both Republican and Democratic targets. See Intelligence Community Assessment at 2-3. The GRU used a “variety of means” to perpetrate the hackings, GRU Indictment ¶ 3, but it appears spearphishing was the principal method. 
	74 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 37. 
	75 

	This occurred as follows: the GRU spearphished a DCCC employee, obtained the person’s network credentials, and accessed the DCCC network; once on the DCCC network, the GRU was able to access the DNC 
	76 
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	1 of documents, including emails, strategy memos, analyses of congressional races, fundraising 2   By June 8, 2016, the GRU began posting stolen emails 3 The DC Leaks “about” page falsely stated that it was 4 operated by “American hacktivists who respect and appreciate freedom of speech, human rights 5 and government of the people,” when in fact the DC Leaks website was controlled by the 6 GRU.7 On June 14, 2016, the DNC publicly announced that it had been hacked and blamed 8 Russian government-sponsored   
	information, and opposition research.
	77
	and documents on the DCLeaks website.
	78 
	79 
	actors.
	80
	81

	10   Guccifer 2.0 11 published select documents hacked from the DNC, including its opposition research file on 12   Thereafter, Guccifer 2.0 posted thousands of additional hacked documents over 
	WordPress blog and issued a post to claim responsibility for the DNC hacking.
	82
	Trump.
	83

	network through a pre-existing virtual private network (“VPN”). GRU Indictment ¶¶ 4, 23-24, 26(a); Special Counsel’s Report at 38. 
	Special Counsel’s Report at 38, 40, 43; GRU Indictment ¶ 28(a); Intelligence Community Assessment at 2. In order to exfiltrate the data through an encrypted connection, the GRU used a leased computer in Illinois. See GRU Indictment ¶ 28. 
	77 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 36, 41; Intelligence Community Assessment at 2-3. DC Leaks published documents on a periodic basis from victims such as Colin Powell and Clinton campaign staffer William Rinehart. 
	78 

	Disinformation: A Primer in Russian Active Measures and Influence Campaigns: Hearing Before the S. Select Comm. on Intelligence, Prepared Statement of Kevin Mandia, CEO of FireEye, Inc., 115th Cong. 5 (Mar. 30, 2017) (“Mandia Statement”). 
	(archived version from June 20, 2016). Before it was shut down in March 2017, the DCLeaks website received over one million page views. GRU Indictment ¶ 36. 
	79 
	DC Leaks | About, https://web.archive.org/web/20160620202602/http://dcleaks.com/index.php/about 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 42; Ellen Nakashima, Russian Government Hackers Penetrated DNC, Stole Opposition Research on Trump, WASH. POST, June 14, 2016. 
	80 

	Intelligence Community Assessment at 3; Special Counsel’s Report at 42; Lorenzo Franceschi-Bicchierai, Here’s the Full Transcript of Our Interview with DNC Hacker ‘Guccifer 2.0,’ VICE, June 21, 2016. 
	81 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 41, 43; Intelligence Community Assessment at 3; Mandia Statement at 5. 
	82 

	Guccifer 2.0, DNC’s Servers Hacked by Lone Hacker, / (archived version from June 15, 2016). 
	83 
	https://web.archive.org/web/20160615212154/https://guccifer2.wordpress.com/2016/06/15/dnc
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	1 several months; the GRU promoted the releases through posts on GRU-controlled social media 2 accounts and emails of “exclusive” content from Guccifer 2.0 to U.S.3 By July 2016, the GRU provided WikiLeaks with hacked documents using the DCLeaks 4 5 WikiLeaks describes itself as a “multi-national media organization and associated library” that 6 specializes in “the analysis and publication of large datasets of censored or otherwise restricted 7 official materials involving war, spying, and corruption.”Curre
	84
	 news journalists.
	85 
	and Guccifer 2.0 online personas through Twitter direct message and other online channels.
	86 
	87 

	10 11 Public statements and known private messages between WikiLeaks and the Guccifer 2.0 12 and DCLeaks accounts controlled by the GRU present a conflicting timeline as to the exact date 13 that the GRU delivered the hacked documents to WikiLeaks.  On June 12, 2016, Assange gave a 14 press interview in which he announced that WikiLeaks was planning to release emails relating to 
	election, resided at the Ecuadorian embassy in London, England.
	88 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 43 n.147 (listing thirteen separate blog post releases that occurred between June 15, 2016, and October 18, 2016); Intelligence Community Assessment at 2-3; Mandia Statement at 4. 
	84 

	Intelligence Community Assessment at 2-3; Special Counsel’s Report at 43; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 186-87; Disinformation: A Primer in Russian Active Measures and Influence Campaigns: Hearing Before the S. Select Comm. on Intelligence, Opening Statement of Thomas Rid, Professor of Security Studies, King’s College London at Ex. 7, 115th Cong. 5 (Mar. 30, 2017) (emails between Guccifer 2.0 and The Smoking Gun). 
	85 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 44-46. 
	86 

	19, 2021). 
	87 
	https://wikileaks.org/What-is-WikiLeaks html (last accessed Feb. 

	Id.; Assange “Free to Return Home” Once Legal Challenges Over, Australia PM Says, REUTERS, Jan. 4, 2021. The U.S. filed extradition proceedings in London, England against Assange to stand trial in the U.S. for charges relating to his alleged conspiracy with Chelsea Manning to hack classified documents. Megan Specia, Julian Assange Appears in London Court for U.S. Extradition Hearing, N.Y. TIMES, Sept. 7, 2020; see also Second Superseding Indictment, United States v. Assange, 1:18-cr-111 (E.D. Va. June 24, 2
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	Figure
	1 Clinton; two days later (the same day that the DNC announced it had been hacked), DCLeaks 2 sent WikiLeaks a Twitter direct message offering assistance and proposing to “do it together.”3 The next day, June 15, 2016, Guccifer 2.0 announced on the WordPress blog that it had given 4   On July 6, 2016, WikiLeaks sent a message to 5 Guccifer 2.0 via Twitter direct message, asking for “anything hillary related,” and emphasized 6 that “we want it in the next tweo [sic] days prefable [sic] because the [Democrati
	89 
	hacked DNC “files and mails” to WikiLeaks.
	90
	91 
	92

	10 “big archive,” attaching an encrypted file named “wk dnc link1.txt.gpg” and noting this was a 11 “new attempt.”  On July 22, three days before the Democratic National Convention, WikiLeaks 12 released a tranche of over 20,000 documents from the DNC that had been supplied by the GRU 13 via Guccifer 2.0.
	93
	94 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 209; Special Counsel’s Report at 45. 
	89 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 209. The Senate Intelligence Committee stated that it could not confirm that the GRU transferred hacked DNC materials to WikiLeaks before Assange’s interview and Guccifer 2.0’s announcement. Id. at 210. The Senate Intelligence Committee does, however, detail multiple communications from June 22 to July 6, 2016, between WikiLeaks and Guccifer 2.0 Id. at 210; see also Special Counsel’s Report at 45 (quoting June 22, 2016, Twitter direct message from WikiLeaks to 
	90 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 45 (citing July 6, 2016, Twitter direct message from @WikiLeaks to @Guccifer_2). According to internal communications obtained by the Special Counsel, WikiLeaks’s employees “privately expressed opposition” to Clinton. Id. at 44. 
	91 

	Id. at 45. 
	92 

	Id. at 46; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 211 (concluding that this email “suggest[s] that previous efforts to share the data through other channels had failed”). 
	93 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 46. 
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	Figure
	1 Later in the fall, on September 15, 2016, DC Leaks messaged WikiLeaks via Twitter 2 direct message:  “hi there!  I’m from DC Leaks.  How could we discuss some submission-related 3 issue? . . . . You won’t be disappointed, I promise.”  On October 7, 2016, WikiLeaks released a 4 The 5 release occurred on the same day as the U.S. government announced that the Russian 6 government was responsible for election hacking and less than an hour after the Washington Post 7 published an Access Hollywood outtake video
	95
	set of emails from Podesta’s personal email account provided by the GRU via DC Leaks.
	96 
	97 
	Podesta emails until the election.
	98 

	10 Another way in which the GRU disseminated hacked documents was through direct 11 contact with at least one federal candidate. According to information obtained during the Special 12 Counsel’s investigation, on or about August 15, 2016, Guccifer 2.0 “received a request for stolen 13 documents from a candidate for the U.S. Congress,” and responded by sending documents 14   Currently, we are aware of no additional information 15 about the interaction between Guccifer 2.0 and the unknown candidate. 
	relating to the candidate’s opponent.
	99

	Id. (citing to Sept. 15, 2016, Twitter direct message from @dcleaks_ to @WikiLeaks). A few days later, DCLeaks followed up with an encrypted message bearing the subject “Submission.” Id. at 47 (citing Sept. 22, 2016, 
	95 
	email from dcleaksproject@gmail.com). 

	GRU Indictment ¶ 49. 
	96 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 36, 58; Press Release, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Security Press Office, Joint Statement from the Dep’t of Homeland Security and Office of the Dir. of Nat’l Intelligence on Election Security 
	97 

	(Oct. 7, 2016). 
	Special Counsel’s Report at 48; GRU Indictment ¶ 49; Mandia Statement at 5. 
	98 

	GRU Indictment ¶ 43(a); Special Counsel’s Report at 43. Similarly, Guccifer 2.0 sent a state lobbyist and blogger approximately 2.5 gigabytes of Florida-related data stolen from the DCCC. GRU Indictment ¶ 43(b); Special Counsel’s Report at 43. 
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	Supp. Compl. at 1. 
	Supp. Compl. at 1. 
	7 


	Press Release, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Security Press Office, Joint Statement from the Dep’t of Homeland Security and Office of the Dir. of Nat’l Intelligence on Election Security (Oct. 7, 2016). 
	Press Release, U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Security Press Office, Joint Statement from the Dep’t of Homeland Security and Office of the Dir. of Nat’l Intelligence on Election Security (Oct. 7, 2016). 
	5 


	Intelligence Community Assessment at 1-5. 
	Intelligence Community Assessment at 1-5. 
	6 


	Special Counsel’s Report at 180. The Special Counsel’s Report further noted that several U.S. persons connected to the Committee made false statements about those contacts and took other steps to obstruct the Special Counsel’s investigation and those of Congress. Those individuals were charged by the Special Counsel’s office with making false statements and obstructing justice. Id. 
	Special Counsel’s Report at 180. The Special Counsel’s Report further noted that several U.S. persons connected to the Committee made false statements about those contacts and took other steps to obstruct the Special Counsel’s investigation and those of Congress. Those individuals were charged by the Special Counsel’s office with making false statements and obstructing justice. Id. 
	7 


	IRA Indictment ¶ 9 (charging the IRA, two companies that funded the IRA, and 13 individuals who controlled or worked for the IRA with various crimes relating to the social media campaign, such as conspiracy to 
	IRA Indictment ¶ 9 (charging the IRA, two companies that funded the IRA, and 13 individuals who controlled or worked for the IRA with various crimes relating to the social media campaign, such as conspiracy to 
	8 


	Figure
	1 C. Interactions Between the Trump Committee and the Russian Federation 
	1 C. Interactions Between the Trump Committee and the Russian Federation 
	2 The Complaints in MURs 7207, 7268, 7623, 7637, allege that Trump and the 
	Figure
	100 

	3 Trump Committee coordinated with, and made solicitations to, the Russian Federation in election 
	4 interference activities.  As discussed below, the Special Counsel’s Report found that Trump 
	101

	5 and his campaign interacted with the Russian Federation in three principal ways relevant to the 
	6 Complaints in these matters:  (1) Trump’s “Russia, if you’re listening” statement; (2) contacts 
	7 with WikiLeaks regarding the release of documents hacked by the Russians; and (3) Paul 
	8 Manafort’s sharing of internal polling data with Russian and Ukrainian oligarchs.
	102 

	9 1. 
	Trump’s “Russia, if you’re listening” Statement 

	10 On July 27, 2016, shortly after WikiLeaks’s first publication of DNC documents, Trump 
	11 stated at a televised campaign news conference: 
	12 I have nothing to do with Putin.  I’ve never spoken to him.  I don’t know 13 anything about him other than he will respect me.  He doesn’t respect our 14 president. And if it is Russia — which it’s probably not, nobody knows 15 who it is — but if it is Russia, it’s really bad for a different reason, 16 because it shows how little respect they have for our country, when they 17 would hack into a major party and get everything.  But it would be 18 interesting to see.  I will tell you this — Russia, if you’
	103 

	The Commission administratively severed from MURs 7637 the allegations against Donald J. Trump and Donald J. Trump for President involving Russian interference in the 2016 election and merged them into MUR 7207, which involves similar allegations. 
	100 
	Figure

	First Am. Compl. ¶¶ 61-66, MUR 7207; Compl. at 1, MUR 7268; Compl. at 6-13, MUR 7623; Compl. at 
	101 
	1-2, MUR 7637; 

	A fourth way that the Trump Committee interacted with the Russian Federation, or individuals from the Russian Federation, relates to a June 9, 2016, meeting held at Trump Tower in New York City. See Special Counsel’s Report at 110-123. This interaction is addressed in a different First General Counsel’s Report. 
	102 

	C-SPAN, Donald Trump on Russian & Missing Hillary Clinton Emails, YOUTUBE (July 27, 2016), 
	103 
	https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3kxG8uJUsWU (cited by Special Counsel’s Report at 49). 
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	Figure
	1 Trump’s reference to “the 30,000 emails that are missing” relates to emails allegedly 2 erased from Hillary Clinton’s personal email server that she used while Secretary of State.3 Within approximately five hours after Trump’s statement, the GRU commenced spearphishing 4 attacks targeting email accounts associated with Clinton’s personal office; this was the first time 5 the GRU is known to have targeted Clinton’s personal office.  The Special Counsel did not 6 identify whether the GRU successfully hacked
	104 
	105
	106

	10 locating Clinton’s emails.  According to Rick Gates, Deputy Chairman of the Trump 11 Committee, the campaign prepared a press strategy, communications campaign, and messaging 12 based on the potential release of the missing Clinton emails.
	107
	108 

	13 2. 14 The available information reflects that individuals associated with the Trump Committee 15 sought information from WikiLeaks regarding its cache of stolen documents.  
	Trump Committee’s Contacts with WikiLeaks 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 61; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 222 n.1437 (“The Committee assesses that, at this time, the references to Clinton’s ‘emails’ reflected a focus on allegedly missing or deleted emails from Clinton’s personal sever during her tenure as Secretary of State.”). 
	104 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 49 (“It is unclear how the GRU was able to identify these email accounts, which were not made public.”); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 232; GRU Indictment ¶ 22. 
	105 

	See, e.g., David E. Sanger and Eric Schmitt, Spy Agency Consensus Grows That Russia Hacked D.N.C., N.Y. TIMES, July 26, 2016. 
	106 

	See Special Counsel’s Report at 61 (Stone pursued offer of Clinton emails in May of 2016); id. at 62 (following Trump’s “Russia, if you’re listening statement,” Trump “repeatedly” instructed campaign associates to locate the emails). 
	107 

	Id. at 54 (citing Gates interviews); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 226; id. at 230 (citing Gates’s FBI interview and Stone trial testimony describing “brainstorming sessions” about the Clinton emails from June to July 2016). 
	108 
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	Figure
	1 a. Roger Stone 
	2 Roger J. Stone, Jr. was a Trump Committee official until August 2015 but maintained 
	3 regular contact with and publicly supported the Trump Committee through the remainder of the 
	4 2016 election.  The Special Counsel’s Report, the Senate Intelligence Committee Report, and 
	109

	5 testimony from Stone’s criminal trial describe multiple conversations between Stone and Trump 
	6 Committee officials in which Stone represented that he was conveying non-public information 
	7 about WikiLeaks’s release of hacked emails.
	110 

	8 Stone told Trump and senior Trump Committee officials that WikiLeaks would release 
	9 emails damaging to Clinton; Stone said this before Assange announced on June 12, 2016, that 
	10 WikiLeaks had information about Clinton that it would publish, and before WikiLeaks released a 
	11 collection of documents hacked from the DNC on July 22, 2016.Gates informed investigators 
	111 

	12 that in approximately May 2016, before Assange’s WikiLeaks announcement, Stone told him 
	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 223 (explaining how Stone “stayed in close communication with the Campaign,” including dozens of phone calls with Manafort and Gates); see also Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 167 (government exhibit identifying, in August 2016, nearly 50 phone calls between Stone and senior members of the Trump campaign); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 227 (describing records obtained by the Committee showing “numerous phone calls” between Trump and Stone). 
	109 

	On November 15, 2019, following a jury trial, Stone was convicted of obstructing an official proceeding, 
	making false statements, and witness tampering, and was sentenced to 40 months in prison. See Verdict Form at 1
	-

	2, United States v. Roger J. Stone, 1:19-cr-00018 (D.D.C. Nov. 15, 2019); Press Release, Dep’t of Justice, 
	https://www.justice.gov/usao-dc/pr/roger-stone-found-guilty-obstruction-false-statements-and-witness-tampering 
	https://www.justice.gov/usao-dc/pr/roger-stone-found-guilty-obstruction-false-statements-and-witness-tampering 

	(accessed Jan. 3, 2020) (summarizing case history and guilty plea); Judgment at 2, United States v. Roger J. Stone, 
	1:19-cr-00018 (D.D.C. Feb. 20, 2020). The charges arose out of Stone’s interviews in connection with 
	investigations regarding Russian interference in the 2016 election by the Senate Intelligence Committee, House 
	Intelligence Committee, and the FBI. Stone Indictment ¶ 7. The criminal verdict related to Stone’s alleged efforts 
	to obstruct investigations regarding Russian interference in the 2016 election and does not answer whether there 
	were violations of federal campaign finance law. In July 2020, Trump commuted Stone’s sentence; in December 
	2020, Trump pardoned Stone for the crimes for which he had been convicted. See Executive Grant of Clemency 
	(July 10, 2020)Executive Grant of Clemency (Dec. 23, 2020), . 
	; 
	https://www.justice.gov/file/1349096/download
	https://www.justice.gov/file/1349096/download


	Special Counsel’s Report at 52-59; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 221-52; Stone Trial Tr. at 927:3-928:4 (Gates testimony). 
	110 

	See Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 223-25; Special Counsel’s Report at 52 (“Other members and associates of the Trump Campaign, however, told the Office that Stone claimed to the Campaign as early as June 2016—before any announcement by Assange or WikiLeaks—that he learned that WikiLeaks would release documents damaging to the Clinton Campaign.”); Stone Trial Tr. at 927:3-928:4 (Gates testimony). 
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	Figure
	1 that something “big” was coming that had to do with a leak of information and, more 
	2 specifically, that Assange had Clinton’s emails.Similarly, Manafort stated that Stone told 
	112 

	3 him, in June 2016, that “a source close to WikiLeaks confirmed that WikiLeaks had the emails 
	4 from Clinton’s server.”  Moreover, Stone appears to have discussed WikiLeaks with Trump 
	113

	5 himself.  Michael Cohen, Trump’s personal attorney, told investigators that, on or around July 
	6 19, 2016, he heard a conversation between Stone and Trump on speakerphone in which Stone 
	7 told Trump, “I got off the telephone a moment ago with Julian Assange.  And in a couple of 
	8 days, there’s going to be a massive dump of emails that’s going to be extremely damaging to the 
	9 Clinton campaign,” to which Trump responded, “that’s good.  Keep me posted.”  Although 
	114

	10 Stone did not specify the date of WikiLeaks’s release and mistakenly predicted that WikiLeaks 
	11 would release Clinton’s purportedly missing emails, Stone correctly predicted that WikiLeaks 
	12 would release hacked emails detrimental to the Clinton campaign before such knowledge was 
	13 made public.
	115 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 52; see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 223; Stone Trial Tr. at 921:3-22, 927:3-928:4 (testimony of Gates). 
	112 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 223-24 (quoting Manafort 9/13/18 FBI 302); see also Special Counsel’s Report at 52. 
	113 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 229-30 (citing interview of Michael Cohen); see also Special Counsel’s Report at 53 (citing separate interview of Cohen). Trump, in written responses to questions from the Special Counsel, stated: “I do not recall discussing WikiLeaks with [Stone], nor do I recall being aware of Mr. Stone having discussed WikiLeaks with individuals associated with my campaign,” and claimed to have “no recollection of the specifics of any conversations I had with Mr. Stone betwe
	114 

	E.g., Stone Trial Tr. at 921:5-11 (testimony of Gates) (“Mr. Stone indicated that he had information that would be coming out at some point, although a date was never given. And that was the information that he had passed along.”); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 223-24 (“Like Gates, Manafort recalled Stone telling him that emails would be released ‘soon,’ but Stone ‘did not know when.’”); id. at 231 (describing how Manafort recalled being confused by Stone’s predication, which was that WikiL
	115 
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	Figure
	1 Cohen informed investigators that, after WikiLeaks released hacked emails from the 2 DNC on July 22, 2016, Trump told him something to the effect of, “I guess Roger was right” and 3 that “Stone knew what he was talking about.”Similarly, Manafort recalled that he “thought 4 that Stone had been right.”  Manafort informed investigators that, on or about July 25, 2016, he 5 spoke with Trump about how Stone had apparently predicted the release and claimed to have 6 access to WikiLeaks; Trump directed Manafort 
	116 
	117
	118 
	119 
	120 

	10 and Gates tasked Stone with communicating with WikiLeaks” and that “[a]fter receiving 11 Trump’s directive via Manafort, Stone channeled his efforts to reach Assange through Jerome 12 Corsi.”13 Corsi, who worked for the media outlet WorldNetDaily, told investigators that he was a 14 self-described “operative” for Stone, seeking to assist the Trump campaign in a personal 15 capacity.  On July 25, 2016, Stone emailed Corsi with the instruction:  “Get to Assange [a]t 16 Ecuadorian Embassy in London and get 
	121 
	122

	shortly after the GRU released hacked documents from the DNC for the first time on the Guccifer 2.0 blog, Stone told Gates that “more information would be coming out of the DNC hack.”) (quoting Gates’s testimony, Stone Trial Tr. at 931-32). 
	Special Counsel’s Report at 53 (quoting Cohen 9/18/18 FBI 302); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 231 (quoting Cohen 8/07/18 FBI 302). Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 232 (quoting Manafort 9/13/18 FBI 302). Special Counsel’s Report at 53 (citation redacted). Id. at 53-54; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 232-33 (citing Manafort 9/13/18 FBI 302). Special Counsel’s Report at 54; Stone Trial Tr. at 938:1-5 (testimony of Gates). Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol.
	116 
	117 
	118 
	119 
	120 
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	Figure
	1 Clinton] Foundation, allegedly.”  Corsi forwarded the email to Theodore Malloch, an 
	123

	2 associate who, at the time, lived in London, the same city in which Assange was then-ensconced 
	3 in the Ecuadorian Embassy.  Malloch, however, denied communicating with Assange or 
	124

	4 WikiLeaks and told investigators for the Special Counsel that, although Corsi asked him to get in 
	5 touch with Assange, he made no such attempt because he did not have a way to contact 
	6 Assange.
	125 

	7 In early August 2016, Corsi emailed Stone: 
	8 Word is friend in embassy plans 2 more dumps.  One shortly after I’m 
	9 back [from Italy on August 12].  2nd in Oct.  Impact planned to be very 10 damaging. . . . I expect presidential campaign to get serious starting Sept. 11 Still in pre-season games.  Time to let more than Podesta to be exposed as 12 in bed w enemy if they are not ready to drop HRC.  That appears to be the 13 game hackers are now about.  Would not hurt to start suggesting HRC old, 14 memory bad, had stroke — neither he nor she well.  I expect that much of 15 next dump [to] focus on, setting stage for Found
	126 

	Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 35 (email from Stone to Corsi) (emphasis omitted, ellipsis in original); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 235. Previously, Stone contacted Corsi and discussed Corsi’s ability to contact Assange. Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 234 (citing Corsi 9/6/18 FBI 302 and phone records). 
	123 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 55; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 235 (email from Corsi to Malloch). On July 31, 2016, Stone sent another email to Corsi telling him that Malloch “should see Assange.” Special Counsel’s Report at 55; Stone Trial Tr., Exs. 148 at 3, 164 (call records); id., Ex. 36 (email). 
	124 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 55 n.218. Malloch also reported to federal investigators that Corsi had no connection to Assange. Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 236 (citing Malloch 6/8/18 FBI 302). 
	125 

	Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 37 (email from Corsi to Stone); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 237
	126 
	-

	38. On August 3, 2016, the day after receiving the reply from Corsi, Stone wrote an email to Manafort: “I have an idea… [t]o save Trump’s ass. Call me pls.” Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 25. 
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	Figure
	1 On August 21, 2016, Stone tweeted: “Trust me, it will soon the [sic] Podesta’s time in the 2 barrel.”Corsi stated to investigators that during numerous phone calls in late August, “Stone 3 was asking for further information” about “timing and content of the Podesta email release.”4 When investigators asked where Corsi obtained the information regarding Podesta, Corsi 5 said that he could not recall, stating only that he thought someone gave him the information 6 while he was traveling in Italy and that “i
	127 
	128 
	129 
	130 

	10 whether Corsi had a connection to Assange and, if he did, who it was.
	131 

	11 Stone also sought information from WikiLeaks through Randy Credico, a New York 
	12 radio host.  On August 27, 2016, two days after Credico interviewed Assange on his show, 
	132

	13 Credico sent Stone a text message stating: “Julian Assange has kryptonite on Hillary.”
	133 

	See First Am. Compl. ¶ 32 n.38, MUR 7207 (citing Aug. 21, 2016, 7:24am tweet from @RogerJStoneJr ); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 241. It is unclear whether Stone’s tweet and the phrase in Corsi’s email — “Time to let more than Podesta to be exposed as in bed w the enemy if they are not ready to drop HRC” — are premised on Stone or Corsi’s knowledge that Podesta had been hacked and that his emails were soon to be published by WikiLeaks. 
	127 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 241 (quoting Corsi 9/21/18 FBI 302). 
	128 

	Id. at 239 (quoting Corsi 9/17/18 FBI 302). Corsi told investigators that while on his Italy trip someone told him that WikiLeaks had Podesta’s emails and that they would be released “seriatim and not all at once.” Id. 
	129 

	Id. at 240 (quoting Corsi 11/1/18 FBI 302); see also id. at 233 n.1530 (“[A]lthough some of Corsi’s testimony was consistent and could be corroborated by documents and phone records, the Committee encountered difficulty in determining the veracity of Corsi’s conflicting statements regarding how he had obtained information about WikiLeaks possessing information on John Podesta — namely, whether he had been told the information by a source of had deduced it on his own.”). 
	130 

	See id.; Special Counsel’s Report 53-56. 
	131 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 56; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 242. 
	132 

	Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 189 at 6 (text from Credico to Stone); Special Counsel’s Report at 56 (citing 8/27/16, text message, Credico to Stone); see also Stone Trial Tr. at 366:15 (testimony of FBI agent regarding texts from Credico to Stone discussing Assange appearing on Credico’s show); Stone Trial Tr. at 601:1-602:25 (describing 
	133 
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	Figure
	1 Credico testified at Stone’s criminal trial that his statement was based on “public statements” by 2 Assange.3 On September 18, 2016, Stone emailed Credico with a “request to pass on to 4 Assange.”The email stated: “Please ask Assange for any State or HRC e-mail from August 5 10 to August 30 — particularly on August 20, 2011 that mention [the key person named in the 6 article] or confirm this narrative” and contained an article about Clinton’s alleged conduct as 7 Secretary of State regarding Libya.After 
	134 
	135 
	136 

	10 copied Stone.At Stone’s trial, however, Kunstler testified that she did not pass Stone’s 11 request to Assange or anyone else at WikiLeaks.Further, Credico testified that he was not an 12 intermediary between Stone and Assange and that his statements implying that he possessed non-
	137 
	138 

	how Credico was friends with an attorney who did work for WikiLeaks, Margaret Kunstler, and how Kunstler arranged for Assange to appear on Credico’s show). 
	Stone Trial Tr. at 613:12-13; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 243. 
	134 

	Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 48 (text from Stone to Credico that he would be “e-mailing u a request to pass on to [A]ssange”); id., Ex. 50 (email from Stone to Credico); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 243. 
	135 

	Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 50; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 243. 
	136 

	Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 55 (email from Credico to Kunstler); see also Stone Trial Tr., Exs. 53-54 (emails between Credico and Stone). Kunstler represented Sarah Harrison, who at the time worked for WikiLeaks, after lawyers representing Assange “decided that it would be helpful to have a second lawyer for Ms. Harrison,” and Kunstler explained she only represented WikiLeaks to the extent there was overlap; regarding whether she was a WikiLeaks attorney, Kunstler answered: “technically, I don’t know.” Stone Trial
	137 

	Stone Trial Tr. at 837:10-23; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 244. 
	138 
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	Figure
	1 public information from Assange were either based on public information or outright 2 fabrications.3 During the time that he was communicating with Corsi and Credico, Stone was also 4 reporting back to the Trump Committee regarding WikiLeaks.  Steve Bannon, who joined the 5 Trump Committee in mid-August 2016 as Chief Executive Officer, stated that Stone told him 6 both before he joined the campaign and repeatedly thereafter, that he had a “connection to 7 Assange” and claimed that “WikiLeaks was going to 
	139 
	140 
	141 

	10 about early August 2016, that damaging information was going to be released about Podesta.11 It appears that Stone may have informed Trump himself about upcoming WikiLeaks releases. 12 Gates told investigators that on or about September 29, 2016, while driving with Trump to 13 LaGuardia Airport, Trump received a call from Stone, after which he told Gates that “more 14 WikiLeaks information would be coming.”
	142 
	143 

	Stone Trial Tr. at 619:24-621:21, 624:17-19, 629:11-18, 630:5-16, 631:8-10. Credico testified that his sense that a WikiLeaks release was forthcoming was based on his reading of press reports and the fact that someone apparently “followed” him after he stood outside the Ecuadorian Embassy in London. Id. at 624:20-626:7. 
	139 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 241 (quoting Special Counsel’s Report at 54; Stone Trial Tr. at 850, 857-61 (testimony of Bannon)). 
	140 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 244 (quoting Manafort 9/13/18 FBI 302). When he spoke with Stone, Manafort had officially left the campaign but continued to advise senior campaign officials in an informal capacity. Special Counsel’s Report at 141 (citing 10/21/16 Email, Manafort to J. Kushner; Gates 2/12/18 FBI 302). 
	141 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 240 (citing Gates 10/25/18 FBI 302). 
	142 

	Stone Trial Tr. at 946:13 (testimony of Gates); see id. at 938:19-939:18, 952:14-23; Special Counsel’s Report at 54; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 244-45. 
	143 

	ATTACHMENT 3 Page 29 
	MURs 7207, 7268, & 7623 (Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., et al.) Factual and Legal Analysis Page 30 of 64 
	Figure
	1 On October 7, 2016, WikiLeaks released the Podesta emails, and Trump Committee 2 officials credited Stone with having correctly predicted the release.  The campaign made use of 3 the hacked documents that WikiLeaks released by incorporating them into Trump’s speeches, 4 tweets, and press releases.  WikiLeaks sent a private message to Stone on October 13, 2016, 5 following the Podesta release, admonishing him for spreading “false claims of association” 6 regarding Stone’s public statements taking credit fo
	144
	145
	146 
	147 

	10 documentary evidence, such as texts or private messages, showing that Stone actually 
	11 communicated, directly or indirectly through an intermediary, with WikiLeaks or Assange to 
	12 obtain inside knowledge of forthcoming releases.The Senate Intelligence Committee in its 
	148 

	13 review of the documentary evidence explained that it “could not reliably trace the provision of 
	14 non-public information from WikiLeaks to Stone.”
	149 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 250-51 (quoting statements from senior Trump Committee officials). The Special Counsel and the Senate Intelligence Committee investigated whether Stone played any part in the timing of WikiLeaks’s release of Podesta’s emails to coincide with the Access Hollywood tape but could not corroborate evidence that he did. Special Counsel’s Report at 58-59, 176 (noting that phone records did not verify Stone having received the tape in advance); Senate Intelligence Comm
	144 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 253-56. 
	145 

	Id. at 252. Stone had also made public statements indicating that he was in contact with Assange, to which WikiLeaks issued tweets denying any such communications. Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 239. 
	146 

	Id. at 252. 
	147 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 52 (“Stone has publicly denied having any direct contact with Assange and claimed not to have had any discussions with an intermediary connected to Assange until July or August 2016.”). 
	148 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 222. It is also noteworthy that, based on the available communications between WikiLeaks and the GRU (using the Guccifer 2.0 and DCLeaks personas), it is unclear whether WikiLeaks had obtained hacked documents from the GRU by the time Stone was telling Trump Committee officials about upcoming releases. See Special Counsel’s Report at 45 (identifying June 14, 2016, as the first known contact between WikiLeaks and the GRU, post-dating when Stone first told Trump 
	149 
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	Figure
	1 As detailed above, investigators were unable to identify Stone’s source, if any, and the 2 two possible sources identified in the Special Counsel’s Report and the Senate Intelligence 3 Committee Reports, Corsi and Credico, do not explain Stone’s predictions to Trump and Trump 4 Committee officials concerning WikiLeaks’s releases. Nevertheless, the available information 5 shows that Stone attempted to contact WikiLeaks, through Corsi and Credico, not simply to 6 inquire about upcoming releases, but also to
	10 Trump Jr., the candidate’s son and campaign adviser, via Twitter direct message.  First, on 
	11 September 20, 2016, WikiLeaks messaged Trump Jr. to provide the password of an as-yet
	-

	12 unpublished anti-Trump website (WikiLeaks separately tweeted the password to the general 
	13 public) and asked whether he had any comments about the site; Trump Jr. replied:  “Off the 
	14 record, I don’t know what that is but I’ll ask around.”  Second, on October 3, 2016, WikiLeaks 
	150

	15 messaged Trump Jr. to ask him to help disseminate an anti-Clinton link; Trump Jr. responded 
	16 that he “had done so” and asked “what’s behind this Wednesday leak I keep reading about?” 
	17 though WikiLeaks did not respond to that question.  Third, on October 12, 2016, following the 
	151

	upcoming release on WikiLeaks damaging to Clinton; and identifying September 15, 2016, as the first known contact between WikiLeaks and the GRU regarding the Podesta emails, post-dating when Stone continued to tell Trump Committee official about a second release and when Stone engaged in communications with Corsi and Credico about a second release); see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 214-15 (identifying gaps in the documentary record and the possibility that the GRU sent the hacked docu
	Special Counsel’s Report at 60; see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 256 (indicating direct message was sent September 21, 2016). 
	150 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 60. The unidentified link apparently directed to a website that alleged Clinton had advocated targeting Assange with a drone. Id.; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 247. 
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	Figure
	1 Podesta release, WikiLeaks messaged Trump Jr. asking for help promoting the URL of a website 
	2 to help “dig through the trove of stolen documents and find stories”; on October 14, 2016, Trump 
	3 Jr. tweeted the URL:  “For those who have the time to read about all the corruption and 
	4 hypocrisy all the @wikileaks emails are right here:  wlsearch.tk.”
	152 

	5 3. 
	Sharing of Internal Polling Data by Paul Manafort 

	6 Paul Manafort officially joined the Trump Committee on March 29, 2016, as the 
	7 Campaign’s Convention Manager.  By May 19, 2016, Manafort became Campaign Chairman 
	153

	8 and Chief Strategist, but he left that position and departed the campaign on August 19, 2016.
	154 

	9 However, even after his departure from the campaign, Manafort continued to provide campaign 
	10 officials with advice.
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 60; see Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 257. 
	152 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 134 (citing Trump Committee, Press Release, Donald J. Trump Announces Campaign Convention Manager Paul J. Manafort (Mar. 29, 2016)); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 56 (explaining that Trump appears to have hired Manafort on March 16, 2016, and that his hiring was not made public until March 29, 2016). The Special Counsel brought indictments against Manafort and Gates, related to their consulting work in Ukraine, resulting in guilty pleas for a variety of charges, 
	153 
	https://www.justice.gov/sco 
	https://www.justice.gov/sco 

	https://www.justice.gov/file/1349071/download
	https://www.justice.gov/file/1349071/download


	Special Counsel’s Report at 134 (citing Meghan Keneally, Timeline of Manafort’s Role in the Trump Campaign, ABC NEWS, Oct. 20, 2017); Special Counsel’s Report Vol. 2 at 20. 
	154 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 141 (citing 10/21/16 Email, Manafort to J. Kushner; Gates 2/12/18 FBI 302). 
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	Figure
	1 Immediately upon joining the Trump Committee, Manafort directed Gates to prepare 2 memoranda addressed to Oleg Deripaska, a Russian oligarch with close ties to Putin, and three 3 Ukrainian oligarchs, Rinat Akhmetov, Serhiy Lyovochkin, and Boris Kolesnikov.The 4 memoranda described Manafort’s appointment to the Trump campaign and expressed his interest 5 in consulting on Ukrainian politics in the future.  The memorandum to Deripaska, specifically, 6 included the suggestion that Manafort could brief Deripas
	156
	157 
	158
	159 

	10 influence operations, frequently in countries where he has a significant economic interest.”11 Before he joined the campaign, Manafort had consulted for Deripaska from 2005 to 2009, but 12 their relationship soured after a failed business deal.  In 2014, one of Deripaska’s companies, 13 Surf Horizon Limited, filed a lawsuit against Manafort, seeking millions of dollars in damages, 14 and the litigation remained ongoing during the 2016 election.  Akhmetov, Lyovochkin, and 
	160 
	161
	162

	On April 6, 2018, the U.S. Department of the Treasury announced sanctions against Deripaska “for having acted or purported to act for or on behalf of, directly or indirectly, a senior official of the Government of the Russian Federation” in connection with “malign activity around the globe,” U.S. Dep’t of the Treasury, Press Release, Treasury Designates Russian Oligarchs, Officials, and Entities in Response to Worldwide Malign Activity (Apr. 6, 2018). The Special Counsel’s investigation neither established 
	156 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 135 (citing Gates 2/02/18 FBI 302); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 58-59. 
	157 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 135; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 60. 
	158 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 60. 
	159 

	Id. at 27. 
	160 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 131-32 (citing Gates 2/02/18 FBI 302; Gates 3/12/18 FBI 302; Manafort 12/16/15 Dep.). 
	161 

	Surf Horizon Limited initially brought suit against Manafort in the Cayman Islands but later filed in New York State Court. Compl. ¶¶ 34-48, Surf Horizon Limited v. Manafort & Gates, 650130/2018 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. Jan. 
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	1 Kolesnikov were senior officials of the Opposition Bloc, a pro-Russian Ukrainian political party 2 that is the successor to the Party of Regions.  From 2005 to 2015, Manafort consulted for the 3 Party of Regions and the Opposition Bloc, receiving millions of dollars from his consulting 4 work, but the Opposition Bloc allegedly failed to pay him $2 million and the debt remained 5 outstanding during the 2016 election.6 On March 30, 2016, Gates emailed the memoranda, along with a press release about 7 Manafo
	163
	164
	165 
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	167 

	10 “Russian intelligence officer” who may have been connected to the GRU’s hack-and-release 11 operation.Kilimnik did not officially work for the Trump Committee but assisted Manafort 12 and Gates with translating documents and transmitting them to the Russian and Ukrainian 13 oligarchs.
	168 
	169 

	10, 2018); Compl. ¶ 1, Surf Horizon Limited v. Manafort & Gates, 650130/2018 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. Jan. 10, 2018) (alleging that Manafort and Gates “vanished more than $18.9 million”); see Special Counsel’s Report at 132. 
	Special Counsel’s Report at 132, 135 n.880; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 58-59 (describing the influence and wealth of the Ukrainian oligarchs, their Russian connections, and their previous working relationships with Manafort). 
	163 

	See Special Counsel’s Report at 131-32; see also id. at 132 (explaining that Akhmetov hired Manafort to work for Ukraine’s Party of Regions in 2005 after being introduced by Deripaska). 
	164 

	Id. at 135 (citing Gates 2/2/18 FBI 302), 141 (citing Gates 1/30/18 FBI 302; Patten 5/22/18 FBI 302). 
	165 

	Id. at 131, 135 (citing 3/30/16 Email, Gates to Kilimnik). 
	166 

	Id. at 129, 131-32. Kilimnik did not provide any statements to the Special Counsel’s Office. Kilimnik was charged, along with Manafort and Gates, with crimes relating to their political consulting work in Ukraine, but he apparently remains at large. See Superseding Indictment, United States v. Manafort & Kilimnik, 1:17-cr-00201 
	167 

	(D.D.C. June 08, 2018); SCR, App. D-1 ¶ 5. Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 28-29. Special Counsel’s Report at 131-34 (also explaining how the FBI has assessed that Kilimnik has ties to 
	168 
	169 

	Russian intelligence). 
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	Figure
	1 The Special Counsel’s Report summarized Gates’s testimony that, in April or early May 
	2 2016, Manafort instructed Gates “to send Kilimnik . . . internal polling data and other updates so 
	3 that Kilimnik, in turn, could share it with Ukrainian oligarchs” and that Gates “understood that 
	4 the information would also be shared with Deripaska.”Gates sent the data on a periodic basis 
	170 

	5 to Kilimnik via WhatsApp pursuant to instructions he received from Manafort.After 
	171 

	6 Manafort resigned from the campaign in August 2016, Gates continued to send the polling 
	7 data.Gates described the data as “topline” data, which included the results of internal polling 
	172 

	8 including state, dates, generic, decided GOP, and other such numbers, and explained that he 
	9 would copy and paste from summary sheets provided by Trump Committee pollster and 
	10 longtime Manafort associate Tony Fabrizio.The Senate Intelligence Committee stated that 
	173 

	11 “Kilimnik was capable of comprehending the complex polling data he received,” had worked 
	See id. at 136 (citing Gates 1/31/18 FBI 302; Gates 9/27/18 FBI 302). The Special Counsel’s finding that Manafort sent polling data is based primarily on statements made by Gates and Sam Patten, a Kilimnik associate. See id. at 129 (“Manafort claims not to recall that specific instruction”), 133 n. 862 (noting Patten pled guilty to a FARA violation and also admitted to withholding information from the Senate in its investigation); see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 80 (stating that Patt
	170 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 136 (citing Gates 1/31/18 FBI 302). 
	171 

	Id. (citing Gates 2/12/18 FBI 302); id. at 136 n.893 (explaining that the transmission became less frequent and Gates’s access to internal polling data became limited when Tony Fabrizio, the Trump Committee pollster who prepared the polling data, was “distanced from the Campaign”). 
	172 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 70-71 (citing Gates 2/15/19 FBI 302). Gates recalled that it was not the entire raw data set, nor was it cross tabs. Id. The Special Intelligence Committee analyzed the polling data Fabrizio sent to Manafort and Gates, and described the “topline” data as consisting of “all responses for each polled question on a questionnaire, which usually included approximately 100 questions,” and that the questionnaires “tested a variety of questions related to Trump and Cli
	173 
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	1 with Fabrizio before, and had previous experience with “present[ing] the outcome of polls to 2 politicians and colleagues.”3 The Special Counsel’s Report states that the investigation had a “limited ability to gather 4 evidence on what happened to the polling data after it was sent to Kilimnik,” and therefore was 5 unable to determine “what Kilimnik (or others he may have given it to) did with” the polling 6 data.  Moreover, neither the Special Counsel nor the Senate Intelligence Committee 7 determined Ma
	174 
	175
	176
	177 

	10 Manafort told him that working for the Trump Committee would increase the likelihood that he 
	11 would receive the $2 million allegedly owed to him by the Opposition Bloc.
	178 

	12 Manafort met with Kilimnik in person on at least two occasions during the election, both 
	13 times in New York.  Shortly after the first meeting, which occurred on May 7, 2016, Manafort 
	179

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 77-78 (describing how, for over a decade, Kilimnik had “regularly helped formulate and review polling questionnaires and scripts, hired and overseen polling experts, [and] analyzed and interpreted polling results”). 
	174 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 131. It appears likely that the Russian and Ukrainian oligarchs received the polling data. Manafort sent the data over the course of several months which would be unusual if he did not receive some indication that the transmissions had been received. See id. at 132, 135, 137. There is evidence that Kilimnik was in contact with Deripaska’s deputy, and that they spoke about Deripaska’s “attention to the campaign,” again making it unlikely that Manafort would have continuously sent 
	175 

	Id. at 136 (citing Gates 2/12/18 FBI 302; Gates 1/31/18 FBI 302); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 29. The investigation “did not identify evidence of a connection between Manafort’s sharing polling data and Russia’s interference in the election.” Special Counsel’s Report at 131. However, there is a question as to the certainty of this determination. See id. (noting “questions about Manafort’s credibility” and “our limited ability to gather evidence”). 
	176 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 135-36. 
	177 

	Id. at 135. 
	178 

	Id. at 138-39. 
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	Figure
	1 ordered Gates to send polling data.  During the second meeting, which occurred on August 2, 2 2016, Manafort and Kilimnik discussed Manafort’s strategy for Trump to win the election; this 3 “encompassed the Campaign’s messaging and its internal polling data” and the battleground 4 states of Michigan, Wisconsin, Pennsylvania, and Minnesota.  More specifically, according to 5 the Senate Intelligence Committee Report, “Manafort walked Kilimnik through the internal 6 polling data . . . in detail,” explained h
	180
	181
	182 

	9 4. 10 The Special Counsel’s Report extensively details a “series of contacts between Trump 11 Committee officials and individuals with ties to the Russian government,” but states that the 12 investigation “did not establish that members of the Trump Committee conspired or coordinated 13 with the Russian government in its election interference activities.”  These include, inter alia, 14 a meeting between Jeff Sessions and Russian Ambassador Kislyak, Carter Page’s connections to 15 Russian intelligence, and
	Additional Contacts 
	183

	Id. at 136 n.888 (citing Gates 11/07/18 FBI 302); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 70. 
	180 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 140 (citing Manafort 9/11/18 FBI 302; Gates 1/30/18 FBI 302). They also discussed Manafort’s legal matter with Deripaska and his financial dispute with the Opposition Bloc. Id. at 141. The Special Counsel Report’s details about the content of the meeting are based on statements by Manafort and Gates, who also attended, and by a business associate of Kilimnik (Sam Patten), who Kilimnik spoke with after the meeting. Id. at 139-41. The original purpose of the meeting was for Kilimni
	181 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 79-80 (citing Gates 2/2/18 FBI 302). 
	182 

	Id. at 5 (recognizing that “the Russian government perceived it would benefit from a Trump presidency and worked to secure that outcome, and that the Campaign expected it would benefit electorally from information stolen and released through Russian efforts”). 
	183 
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	1 hacking operations.  These allegations were not directly raised in any of the Complaints and 2 do not appear relevant to the allegations raised in the Complaints; this Report thus does not 3 address those findings at length here. 4 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 5 A. The Act’s Foreign National Prohibition 6 The Act and Commission regulations prohibit any foreign national from “directly or 7 indirectly” making “a contribution or donation of money or other thing of value,” “an express or 8 implied promise to make a co
	184

	10 state, or local election.  The Act and Commission regulations also prohibit any person from 11 knowingly soliciting, accepting, or receiving a contribution or donation from a foreign 12 national.  Under Commission regulations, “to solicit” means “to ask, request, or recommend, 13 explicitly or implicitly, that another person make a contribution, donation, transfer of funds, or 14 otherwise provide anything of value.”15 In affirming the constitutionality of the Act’s ban on foreign national contributions 
	185
	186
	187 

	18 foreign citizens do not have a constitutional right to participate in, and 19 thus may be excluded from, activities of democratic self-government.  It 20 follows, therefore, that the United States has a compelling interest for 21 purposes of First Amendment analysis in limiting the participation of 
	Id. at 66-110, 123-129; see also id. at 144-73 (post-election and transition-period contacts). As noted above, the Special Counsel’s Report also details a June 9, 2016, meeting at Trump Tower organized by Donald Trump, Jr. to obtain damaging information on Clinton from Russian nationals. 
	184 

	52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(1); 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(b), (c), (e), (f). 
	185 

	52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2); 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g); see also 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(a)(4) (definition of knowingly). 
	186 

	11 C.F.R. § 110.20(a)(6) (incorporating the definition at 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m)). 
	187 
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	Figure
	1 foreign citizens in activities of American democratic self-government, and 2 in thereby preventing foreign influence over the U.S. political process.3 4 The Act defines “contribution” as “any gift, subscription, loan, advance, or deposit of 
	188 

	5 money or anything of value made by any person for the purpose of influencing any election for 6 Federal office.”The Act similarly defines “expenditure” as “any purchase, payment, 7 distribution, loan, advance, deposit, or gift of money or anything of value, made by any person 8 for the purpose of influencing any election.”  “[A]nything of value includes all in-kind 9 contributions” such as “the provision of any goods or services without charge or at a charge that 
	189 
	190

	10 is less than the usual and normal charge.”  Although goods or services provided by a person 11 — foreign or domestic — to a political committee at the usual and normal charge do not 12 constitute a contribution under the Act, soliciting, accepting, or receiving information in 13 connection with an election from a foreign national, as opposed to purchasing the information at 14 the usual and normal charge or hiring a foreign national in a bona fide commercial transaction to 15 perform services for the pol
	191
	192 

	800 F. Supp. 2d 281, 288 (D.D.C. 2011), aff’d, 565 U.S. 1104 (2012); see also U.S. v. Singh, 924 F.3d 1030, 1043 (9th Cir. 2019) (holding that “Congress was within its power when it acted to protect the country's political processes after recognizing the susceptibility of the elections process to foreign interference”). 
	188 

	52 U.S.C. § 30101(8)(A)(i). 
	189 

	Id. § 30101(9)(A)(i). 
	190 

	11 C.F.R. §§ 100.52(d)(1), 100.111(e)(1); see Advisory Op. 2007-22 at 5 (Hurysz) (“AO 2007-22”). 
	191 

	AO 2007-22 at 6 (citing Contribution Limitations and Prohibitions, 67 Fed. Reg. 69,928, 69,940 (Nov. 19, 2002) (“As indicated by the title of section 303 of BCRA, ‘Strengthening Foreign Money Ban,’ Congress amended [52 U.S.C. § 30121] to further delineate and expand the ban on contributions, donations, and other things of value by foreign nationals”) (emphasis added) (“2002 Prohibitions E&J”)); see also Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 24-27, MUR 4250 (Republican Nat’l Comm., et al.) (Sep. 8, 1999) (describing the le
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	Figure
	1 B. The Commission Finds Reason to Believe That Trump and the Trump 2 Committee Solicited, Accepted or Received a Prohibited Foreign National 3 Contribution by Coordinating with the Russian Federation in Connection 4 with Trump’s Press Conference Statement 
	5 Payments for “coordinated communications” are addressed under a three-prong test at 6 11 C.F.R. § 109.21 and other coordinated expenditures are addressed under 11 C.F.R. 7 § 109.20(b).  The Commission has explained that section 109.20(b) applies to “expenditures that 8 are not made for communications but that are coordinated with a candidate, authorized 9 committee, or political party committee.”Section 109.20(a) defines coordination to mean 
	193 

	10 “made in cooperation, consultation or concert with, or at the request or suggestion of, a 11 candidate, a candidate’s authorized committee, or a political party committee.”12 Trump’s statement — “Russia, if you’re listening, I hope you’re able to find the 30,000 13 emails that are missing. I think you will probably be rewarded mightily by our press” — 14 constitutes both a prohibited solicitation of a foreign national contribution and a request or 15 suggestion under section 109.20(a).  16 Trump made an 
	194 
	195

	prohibition which, “unlike other provisions of the Act, has its origins in, and essentially remains, a national security 
	provision with broad application”). Coordinated and Independent Expenditures, 68 Fed. Reg. 421, 425 (Jan. 3, 2003) (“Coordination E&J”); see also Advisory Opinion 2011-14 (Utah Bankers Association). 
	193 

	11 C.F.R. § 109.20(a). Special Counsel’s Report at 49. 
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	1 intangible things are “anything of value” under the Act, the Commission has analyzed a number 2 of indicia of value, including, as relevant here, whether the provision of the thing would 3 “relieve” the campaign of an expense it would otherwise incur,whether the provider of the 4 thing or any third party “utilized its resources” to produce, organize, or collect the thing 5 provided; and whether the thing “may not have been publicly available” for the campaign’s 6 use absent the provider’s actions.  For in
	196 
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	198

	10 [have been] of value in connection with the [] election”; and it appeared the materials were not 11 “readily or publicly available.”12 Trump made the statement seeking the Clinton emails at a campaign press conference, 13 with television cameras and recording devices in the room, at a time when numerous sources 14 were reporting that Russia was aiding his campaign.  This occurred five days after WikiLeaks 15 released DNC documents.  Although official government investigations had not yet revealed the 
	199 

	See AO 2007-22 at 6 (noting that the provision of election materials to a campaign results in a contribution because it “would relieve [the] campaign of the expense that it would otherwise incur to obtain such materials”). 
	196 

	See, e.g., First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 10, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.) (dispositive Commission opinion) (recommending finding reason to believe that a nonprofit corporation made prohibited in-kind contributions by providing a campaign with its private lists of conservative organizations and individuals, which the corporation “utilized its resources to obtain and compile”), and Certification, MUR 5409 (Oct. 19, 2004) (approving recommendation). 
	197 

	See, e.g., First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 9, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.) (noting that attendee lists provided to a campaign “may not have been publicly available”). 
	198 

	First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 8-10, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.) (internal quotation marks omitted); Certification ¶ 2, MUR 5409 (Oct. 19, 2004). The Commission found reason to believe that the respondents in MUR 5409 violated the prohibition on corporate contributions but took no further action because the value of the materials at issue appeared to be limited. First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 10-12, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.); Certification ¶ 2, MUR 5409. MUR 5409, however, did not involve a foreign national c
	199 
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	1 Russian Federation’s role in the hacking, news reports at the time indicated that the Russian 2 Federation was likely responsible for the DNC hack and, further, that intelligence officials had 3 briefed the White House about the Russian Federation’s role the DNC hack.  During the press 4 conference, just moments before asking Russia to find the 30,000 emails, Trump recognized that 5 Russia had apparently attacked the DNC and had the capacity to “hack into a major party and get 6 everything.”The segue from
	200
	201 

	10 resources to locating Clinton’s emails, mentioned the emails in multiple internal meetings, sent 11 several senior officials to meet with Russian nationals on the promise of Russian government 12 providing dirt on Clinton on June 9, and made Clinton’s emails a focal point of Trump’s press 13 strategy.In other words, Trump made his statement with every available indication that the 14 Russian Federation would receive his message — including by underscoring his request with the 15 phrase “Russia, if you’re
	202 

	See, e.g., David E. Sanger and Eric Schmitt, Spy Agency Consensus Grows That Russia Hacked D.N.C., N.Y. TIMES, July 26, 2016. 
	200 

	C-SPAN, Donald Trump on Russian & Missing Hillary Clinton Emails, YOUTUBE (July 27, 2016), Trump also made public statements questioning whether Russian hackers were responsible for the intrusions. Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 253-54. However, Trump’s purported uncertainty as to the Russian Federation’s responsibility for the DNC or Podesta hacks is irrelevant to the conclusion that Trump solicited the Russian Federation to find the 30,000 Clinton emails. 
	201 
	https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3kxG8uJUsWU (starting at 0:41) (cited by Special Counsel’s Report at 49). 

	See, e.g., Special Counsel’s Report at 61 (Stone pursued offer of Clinton emails in May of 2016); id.at 62 (following Trump’s “Russia, if you’re listening statement,” Trump “repeatedly” instructed campaign associates to locate the emails); id.at 54 (“According to Gates, by the late summer of 2016, the Trump Campaign was planning a press strategy, a communications campaign, and messaging based on the possible release of Clinton emails by WikiLeaks.”). 
	202 
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	1 Specifically, Trump requested that “Russia” provide, without charge, a thing of benefit 2 and value to his campaign — the public release of the “30,000 emails that are missing” — that 3 would relieve the campaign of the expense of obtaining the thing the campaign had previously 4 tried to procure, and that was not otherwise publicly available for the campaign’s use.  In 5 context, the statement therefore constitutes a solicitation of a contribution by Trump individually 6 and on behalf of the Trump Commit
	203
	204
	205 
	206

	10 appears to have made a contribution to the Trump Committee by acting in response to Trump’s 11 solicitation.  Five hours after Trump’s solicitation, the GRU launched a spearphishing operation 12 against individuals associated with Clinton’s personal office and Clinton’s campaign, and thus 13 persons whose information might be helpful in tracking down the emails which originated on 14 Clinton’s personal server that Trump had solicited.  The Russian Federation’s payments for 
	207

	See AO 2007-22 at 6 (noting that the provision of materials from previous elections, including “flyers, advertisements, door hangers, tri-folds, signs, and other printed material,” to a campaign results in a contribution because it “would relieve [the] campaign of the expense that it would otherwise incur to obtain such materials”). 
	203 

	See First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 9, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.) (noting that attendee lists provided to a campaign “may not have been publicly available”). 
	204 

	Cf. Factual & Legal Analysis at 8-11, MUR 7048 (Cruz for President) (finding reason to believe candidate committee made a prohibited soft money solicitation through its agent’s statement). 
	205 

	See 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2); Definitions of “Solicit” and “Direct,” 71 Fed. Reg. 13926, 13929 (Mar. 20, 2006) (“Solicitation E&J”) (explaining removal of language concerning provision of solicited contribution from definition of “solicit” at section 300.2(m) because such “focus[] on the delivery of the funds or thing of value after the solicitation has taken place, as opposed to how a solicitation is made” is “unnecessary”). 
	206 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 49; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 232; see also GRU Indictment ¶ 22. 
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	1 this effort were for the purpose of influencing a federal election and thus an expenditure as 2 defined by the Act, for the reasons described above.3 The Russian Federation’s expenditures were coordinated with the Trump Committee 4 because they appear to have been made at the request or suggestion of Trump, in response to 5 Trump’s statement at the press conference.  Moreover, because they were coordinated, the 6 Russian Federation’s expenditures for the post-statement hacking operation constitute prohibi
	208 
	209
	210

	10 The Trump Committee’s Response in MUR 7207 claims that Trump’s statement was an 11 “offhand remark,” and thus not a request or solicitation.  The Trump Committee has provided 12 no authority to explain why a request or suggestion cannot take the form of a brief phrase or 13 seeming aside.Indeed, the Commission’s regulatory examples of statements that would 
	211
	212 

	Advisory Op. 2018-12 at 8 (foreign cyberattacks against political targets constitute violations of section 30121). 
	208 

	See 11 C.F.R. § 109.20(b); Coordination E&J, 68 Fed. Reg. at 421, 431 (explaining that, in the analogous context of a coordinated communication, a “determination of whether a request or suggestion has occurred requires a fact-based inquiry”); see also Solicitation E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 13928 (explaining that “suggest” encompasses more communications than “solicit”). 
	209 

	See 11 C.F.R. § 109.20(b); see also 52 U.S.C. § 30102(e)(2); 11 C.F.R. § 101.2; Factual & Legal Analysis at 6 (July 22, 2015), MUR 6566 (Lisa Wilson-Foley for Congress) (“[A]ny candidate who receives a contribution does so as an agent of the candidate’s authorized committee”). 
	210 

	Trump Committee Resp. at 5, MUR 7207. 
	211 

	Moreover, the record belies the Trump Committee’s assertion that Trump’s statement was an offhand remark and, instead, indicates that Trump and senior campaign officials prepared a press strategy, communications campaign, and messaging concerning the purportedly missing Clinton emails. See Special Counsel’s Report at 54; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 230. 
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	Figure
	1 constitute solicitations include short phrases and comments, such as “I will not forget those who 2 contribute at this crucial stage.”3 In the context of a solicitation, the Commission has explained that the analysis is 4 premised on whether the recipient should reasonably have understood that a solicitation was 5 made.  The Commission has explained that, in the solicitation context, “words that would by 6 their plain meaning normally be understood as a solicitation, may not be a solicitation when 7 consi
	213 
	214
	215 

	10 taken literally.  Indeed, as noted above, Trump made the request at the very moment that news 11 outlets were widely reporting that Russia had both the capability and motivation to launch a 12 cyberattack against his opponent. 13 The Trump Committee Response argues that the Commission should 14 dismiss the matter because the Special Counsel’s Office declined to prosecute anyone for 15 solicitation or coordination.However, it is not clear whether the Special Counsel considered 16 pursuing criminal campaig
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	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m)(2)(xi). 
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	Solicitation E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 13929. 
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	Id. In MUR 6939 (Huckabee, et al.), the Commission found that an objective listener would not reasonably have understood that presidential candidate Mike Huckabee solicited million-dollar contributions for his authorized committee when he said: “I will be funded and fueled not by the billionaires, but by working people across America who will find out that $15 and $25 a month contributions can take us from Hope to higher ground. Now, rest assured, if you want to give a million dollars, please do it.” F&LA a
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	Trump Committee Resp., (citing Special Counsel’s Report at 187). 
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	1 Trump’s “Russia, if you’re listening” statement.  In any event, the Special Counsel’s decision 2 not to criminally prosecute individuals associated with the Trump Committee does not govern 3 the Commission’s course of action in these civil matters. 4 The Special Counsel’s publicly known decisions to not criminally prosecute were based 5 on considerations that are materially distinct from the Commission’s consideration of these 6 matters in an administrative and civil context. While a criminal prosecution 
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	10 the illegality.Indeed, in previous cases where the DOJ was unable to secure criminal 11 convictions for a violation of the Act, the Commission has successfully conciliated with 12 respondents on a non-knowing and willful basis to ensure that the interests of the Act were 13 served.  Moreover, for the Commission to find reason to believe in these administrative 
	219 
	220

	The Special Counsel’s Office explained its prosecution and declination decisions with respect to potential criminal campaign-finance charges stemming from only two alleged interactions between individuals associated with the Trump Committee and foreign nationals: the June 9 meeting at Trump Tower, and WikiLeaks’s release of stolen materials. Special Counsel’s Report at 180. 
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	See Herman & MacLean v. Huddleston, 459 U.S. 375, 387 (1983) (“In a typical civil suit for money damages, plaintiffs must prove their case by a preponderance of the evidence.”). 
	218 

	See FEC v. Novacek, 739 F. Supp. 2d 957, 966 (N.D. Tx. 2010) (finding that Commission need not establish intent where Commission seeks civil penalties on a non-knowing and willful basis); see also FEC v. Malenick2004) (holding that a “knowing” violation of the Act “as opposed to a ‘knowing and willful’ one, does not require knowledge that one is violating the law, but merely requires an intent to act.”) (quoting FEC v. John A. Dramesi for Congress Comm., 640 F. Supp. 985, 987 (D.N.J.1986)). 
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	, 310 F.Supp.2d 230, 237 n.9 (D.D.C. 

	See Conciliation Agreement, MUR 7221 (James Laurita) (respondent admitted to non-knowing and willful violations of 52 U.S.C. §§ 30116 and 30122 after his criminal trial ended in a hung jury); Conciliation Agreement, MUR 5818 (Feiger, Feiger, Kenney, Johnson, & Giroux, P.C.) (corporate respondent entered into conciliation agreement on non-knowing and willful basis for violations of sections 30118 and 30122 after criminal trial of individual defendants resulted in acquittal). 
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	1 proceedings at this stage, the information before the Commission need only raise a reasonable 2 inference, i.e., credibly allege, that a violation occurred.3 In addition, the Special Counsel’s Office explained, in the context of its declination to 4 prosecute participants in the June 9 Trump Tower meeting, that it would need to prove that a 5 contribution solicited or accepted by the Trump Committee had a value of at least $25,000 to 6 establish a felony criminal charge.  However, there is no such monetar
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	10 provides for statutory penalties, which are well suited for solicitation matters.  Consequently, 11 the Special Counsel’s decision to not file suit against Respondents is not a bar to civil 12 enforcement of the Act. 13 Accordingly, because the available information indicates that Trump solicited a 14 contribution — i.e., something of value for less than the “usual and normal” charge, for the 15 purpose of influencing an election — from a foreign national, and the Russian Federation made a 16 contributio
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	See Statement of Policy Regarding Commission Action in Matters at the Initial Stage in the Enforcement Process, 72 Fed. Reg. 12545, 12545 (Mar. 16, 2007) (explaining also that “reason to believe” findings “indicate only that the Commission found sufficient legal justification to open an investigation to determine whether a violation of the Act has occurred”). 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 188. 
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	AO 2007-22 at 6. 
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	Cf. MUR 7048 (Cruz) (conciliating statutory penalty for soft money solicitation violation). 
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	1 accepted a prohibited foreign national in-kind contribution from the Russian Federation in 2 violation of 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g). 3 C. The Commission Finds Reason to Believe That the Trump Committee 
	4 Solicited a Foreign National In-Kind Contribution from WikiLeaks Through 5 Roger Stone 6 The Amended Complaint in MUR 7207 alleges that the Trump Committee coordinated 7 the hack-and-release operation with the Russian Federation, as evidenced by Stone apparently 8 having advance knowledge of the “content and timing” of WikiLeaks’s releases.  However, 9 the available information does not support a conclusion that the Trump Committee or its agents 10 coordinated with the Russian Federation with respect to t
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	First Am. Compl. ¶ 32, MUR 7207. 
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	See infra Part III.D (finding reason to believe the Trump Committee, through Paul Manafort, solicited contributions by transferring polling data to foreign nationals, but pointing to a lack of evidence of coordination in the form of in-kind contributions made in response to the solicitations). 
	226 

	Nonetheless, neither the Special Counsel nor the Senate Intelligence Committee obtained a full record of Stone’s communications during the 2016 election because Stone took steps to conceal his communications by using alternative and encrypted channels and because Stone made false statements to investigators. Senate Intelligence Committee Report. Vol. 5 at 237 n.1554, 251. 
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	1 WikiLeaks to Stone.”There is no available information regarding Stone’s source, if any, 2 ahead of the DNC release, and there is doubt as to whether Stone’s two purported WikiLeaks 3 contacts ahead of the Podesta release, Corsi and Credico, had any reliable way of contacting 4 WikiLeaks. Neither the Special Counsel nor the Senate Intelligence Committee obtained a full 5 record of Stone’s communications, which Stone sought to conceal.However, Stone told 6 Trump and senior Trump Committee officials that Wik
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	10 Nevertheless, the available information shows that Stone, acting as an agent of the Trump 11 Committee, solicited hacked documents about Clinton from WikiLeaks, an apparent foreign 12 national organization.Specifically, Stone attempted to contact Assange in his capacity as 13 founder and publisher of WikiLeaks, through Corsi and Credico; Stone did so not simply to 14 inquire about upcoming releases, but also to request certain hacked documents relating to Clinton 15 that Stone presumed were in the posses
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	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 222. 
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	Id. at 237 n.1554, 251. 
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	Though the official nature of the WikiLeaks organization is unclear, the entity’s overall foreign status is apparent, especially during the 2016 election, when its de facto headquarters was in London, England within the Ecuadorian Embassy. Moreover, it is well-known that the founder and leader of WikiLeaks, Julian Assange, is an Australian foreign national. Accordingly, there is a reasonable basis to infer that Stone’s solicitation of a foreign national was made knowingly. See 11 C.F.R § 110.20(a)(4) (defin
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	Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 35; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 235. 
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	1 further made a prohibited solicitation when he sent an email to Credico stating, “Please ask 2 Assange for any State or HRC e-mail from August 10 to August 30 . . . .”  Stone followed up 3 with Credico on at least six occasions to confirm that he had sent the request to Assange.4 The messages Stone sent to Credico and Corsi to send to WikiLeaks via Assange appear 5 “to ask, request, or recommend, explicitly or implicitly, that another person make a contribution, 6 donation, transfer of funds, or otherwise
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	10 during her tenure as Secretary of State and allegations that the Clinton Foundation conducted 11 unlawful activity.12 Stone’s requests for specific emails through Credico and Corsi represent solicitations of 13 material provided at no cost that would relieve the Trump Committee of the expense of obtaining 14 such valuable information themselves, and that were not otherwise publicly available for the 15 campaign’s use.  Moreover, because WikiLeaks had released its first tranche of documents to 
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	Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 50; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 243. Stone Trial Tr., Exs. 54-55; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 244. 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(a)(6) (defining “solicit,” for purposes of the foreign national prohibition, to have the 
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	same meaning as in the soft money prohibition codified at 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m)). “[T]o solicit means to ask.” 11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m). Factual & Legal Analysis at 13-20, MUR 6414 (Carnahan) (explaining that a committee’s receipt of 
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	investigative or opposition research services without paying the usual or normal charge may result in an in-kind contribution). 
	Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 50; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 243. See AO 2007-22 at 6 (noting that the provision of election materials to a campaign results in a contribution because it “would relieve [the] campaign of the expense that it would otherwise incur to obtain such materials”). 
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	See First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. at 9, MUR 5409 (Norquist, et al.) (noting that attendee lists provided to a campaign “may not have been publicly available”). 
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	1 great fanfare and media coverage just weeks before Stone’s first solicitation, Stone made his 2 solicitation with knowledge of how the solicited emails may confer a benefit on the Trump 3 campaign.Stone’s solicitations were, therefore, of things of value and constitute solicitations 4 of contributions from a foreign national. 5 That Stone made his requests through intermediaries does not change the analysis.  6 Commission regulations specify that a “solicitation may be made directly or indirectly” and thu
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	10 solicitation to Malloch who lived in London and whom Corsi believed had access to Assange.11 Credico forwarded Stone’s solicitation to Margaret Kunstler, Credico’s friend and an attorney for 12 a WikiLeaks employee who helped set up an interview with Assange on Credico’s radio show.13 Though Kunstler apparently had the ability to contact Assange, she testified at Stone’s criminal 14 trial that that she did not pass Stone’s request to Assange or anyone else at WikiLeaks.
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	See id. at 10 (recommending that contact lists provided to a campaign without charge were “of value” because they “may at least point [the campaign] in the direction of persons who might help [its] election efforts”). 
	240 

	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m) (incorporated in foreign national prohibition at 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(a)(6)). 
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	Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 35 (email from Stone to Corsi); see Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 48 (text from Stone to Credico regarding “a request to pass on to [A]ssange”); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 235, 243. Corsi told investigators that he was a self-described “operative” for Stone, seeking to assist the Trump campaign in a personal capacity. Special Counsel’s Report at 54 (quoting Corsi 10/31/18 FBI 302). 
	242 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 55. Malloch acknowledged that Corsi asked him to get in touch with Assange but denied attempting to contact Assange because he did not have a connection to Assange. Id. at 55 n.218. 
	243 

	Stone Trial Tr., Ex. 55 (email from Credico to Kunstler); see also Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 244 (citing Twitter direct message from Assange to Trump Jr, identifying Kunstler as his point-of-contact for submissions). 
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	Stone Trial Tr. at 837:10-23; Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 244. 
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	1 Although WikiLeaks may not have received Stone’s solicitations, this does not foreclose 2 a finding that Stone made a prohibited foreign national solicitation.  Although no Commission 3 precedent squarely addresses this issue, the language and structure of the Act’s foreign national 4 solicitation prohibition creates three elements the Commission must identify in order to find a 5 violation of the statute:  (1) that there was a solicitation; (2) of a contribution or donation; 6 (3) from a foreign national
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	10 solicitation prohibition to asks made of, but not actually received by, foreign nationals would not 
	11 only parallel a comparable criminal political corruption statute, but also accord with Congress’s 
	12 interest in “preventing foreign influence over the U.S. political process.”
	249 

	13 Finally, the record indicates that Stone acted as an agent of the Trump Committee when 
	14 he solicited contributions from a foreign national and his solicitation is, therefore, imputed to the 
	52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2). 
	246 

	See 148 Cong. Rec. S2139 (daily ed. Mar. 20, 2002) (statement of Sen. McCain) (remarking on parallels between campaign finance law and the bribery statute, stating that BCRA’s solicitation prohibitions are “no different from the Federal laws and ethics rules that prohibit Federal officeholders from using their offices or positions of power to solicit money or other benefits.”). 
	247 

	The federal bribery statute prohibits the offer of “anything of value” to a “public official” with intent to “influence any official act,” and it similarly prohibits a “public official” from seeking or accepting “anything of value” in connection with “the performance of any official act.” 18 U.S.C. § 201(b)(1)-(2). Courts have upheld convictions under the bribery statute even when there was no “public official,” an element that is analogous to the “foreign national” element in section 30121, stating that br
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	Bluman, 800 F. Supp. 2d at 287. 
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	1 committee. The Commission has not specifically defined “agent” in the context of the foreign 2 national solicitation prohibition, but, in the soft money context, which uses the same definition of 3 “solicit” as the foreign national prohibition regulation, Commission regulations define “agent” as 4 “any person who has actual authority, either express or implied, . . . [t]o solicit, receive, direct, 5 transfer, or spend funds in connection with any election.”Actual authority is created by 6 manifestations o
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	10 not to do so.”The Commission has explained that the definition of agent must cover 
	252 

	11 “implied” authority because “[o]therwise, agents with actual authority would be able to engage 
	12 in activities that would not be imputed to their principals so long as the principal was careful 
	13 enough to confer authority through conduct or a mix of conduct and spoken words.”The 
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	11 C.F.R. The definition set forth in the soft money rules may have some salience here because the Commission cross-references the definition of “solicit” at section 300.2(m) of the soft money rules in defining that term for purposes of the foreign national prohibition. See 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(a)(6). 
	250 
	§ 300.2(b)(3); Restatement (Third) of Agency 3d §§ 2.01-2.02 (2006). 

	Agency E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4975-76; AO 2007-05 (Iverson) at 3. 
	251 

	Agency E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4978 (citing United States v. Investment Enterprises, Inc., 10 F.3d 263, 266 (5th Cir. 1993) (determining that it is a settled matter of agency law that liability exists “for unlawful acts of [] agents, provided that the conduct is within the scope of the agent’s authority); Factual & Legal Analysis at 5, MUR 7048 (Cruz for President) (same); Restatement (Second) of Agency § 216 (“A master or other principal may be liable to another whose interests have been invaded by the tortio
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	Prohibited and Excessive Contributions: Non-Federal Funds or Soft Money, 67 Fed. Reg. 49064, 49082 (July 29, 2002). 
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	1 Commission has extended agency principles to individuals beyond official campaign members 2 and includes “volunteers” in its definition of an agent.3 Trump and the most senior officers of the Trump Committee appear to have granted 4 Stone actual authority to solicit WikiLeaks by instructing Stone to contact WikiLeaks regarding 5 future releases of hacked documents. Witnesses reported overhearing conversations between 6 Stone and Trump discussing WikiLeaks information.Following the release of the DNC 7 ema
	254 
	255 
	256 
	257
	258

	10 served as Campaign Manager after Manafort, stated that Stone was the campaign’s “access 
	11 point” to WikiLeaks.Because Stone was an agent for the Trump Committee by virtue of the 
	259 

	12 actual authority granted to him, the Trump Committee is liable for Stone’s impermissible 
	13 solicitations of WikiLeaks via Assange.  Though the available information does not establish 
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	Agency E&J at 4977; see also Factual & Legal Analysis at 5-6, MUR 7048 (Cruz for President) (concluding volunteer fundraiser was an agent of candidate’s campaign committee, which became liable for volunteer’s improper solicitation). 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 53 (citing redacted interview between investigators for the Special Counsel’s Office and Manafort) (Trump instructed Manafort to tell Stone to follow up with WikiLeaks). 
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	E.g., Special Counsel’s Report at 53 (citing interview with Cohen); Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 229-30 (indicating that Cohen recalled that the conversation took place on July 18 or 19, 2016). 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 53. The Senate Intelligence Committee assessed that “Manafort and Gates tasked Stone with communicating with WikiLeaks” and that “[a]fter receiving Trump’s directive via Manafort,” Stone “channeled his efforts to reach Assange.” Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 233; see also id. at 222 (“Trump directed Campaign officials to stay in touch with Roger Stone about future WikiLeaks activities regarding Clinton-related emails. Manafort in turn tasked Stone to contact Juli
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	Stone Trial Tr. at 938 (testimony of Gates). 
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	Id. at 860:22-861:1, 862:19-21, 869:14-19; 872:13-21 (testimony of Bannon). 
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	See, e.g., Factual & Legal Analysis, MUR 7048 (Cruz for President) (finding Cruz for President liable for agent’s impermissible solicitation). 
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	1 that Trump Committee officials explicitly directed Stone to make the solicitations at issue, 2 Stone’s conduct was a reasonable outgrowth of the Trump Committee’s general directives to 3 Stone to obtain information about upcoming WikiLeaks releases.4 In its explanation of its declination decision with respect to potential criminal campaign5 finance charges stemming from Stone’s outreach to WikiLeaks, the Special Counsel’s Report 6 focused on WikiLeaks’s release of stolen materials as expenditures or, if t
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	10 — including the burden of proof, mens rea, and valuation thresholds — the Special Counsel’s 
	11 decision to not charge Stone or WikiLeaks is not a bar to civil enforcement of the Act against the 
	12 Trump Committee for soliciting foreign national contributions as alleged.
	263 

	13 Accordingly, the Commission finds reason to believe that the Trump Committee violated 
	14 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by soliciting an in-kind foreign national 
	15 contribution from WikiLeaks in the form of hacked documents pertaining to Trump’s opponent. 
	See Restatement (Third) of Agency § 2.02 (Scope of Actual Authority) (“An agent has actual authority to take action designated or implied in the principal’s manifestations to the agent and acts necessary or incidental to achieving the principal’s objectives, as the agent reasonably understands the principal’s manifestations and objectives when the agent determines how to act.”); see also United States v. Sun-Diamond Growers of Cal., 138 F.3d 961, 970 (D.C. Cir. 1998) (holding an employer liable for actions 
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	See Special Counsel’s Report at 188-91. As discussed above, there is not a reasonable basis to conclude that WikiLeaks made a foreign national in-kind contribution to the Trump Committee by coordinating with Stone as to the email releases. 
	262 

	Additionally, neither Stone nor WikiLeaks is a respondent in these matters. 
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	1 D. There is Reason to Believe That the Trump Committee Violated the Act by 2 Transferring Internal Campaign Polling Data to Foreign Nationals 3 The Complaint in MUR 7623 alleges that Paul Manafort’s sharing of the Trump 4 Committee’s polling data with foreign nationals is evidence that the Trump Committee and the 5 Russian Federation engaged in impermissible coordination.  According to the Special 6 Counsel’s Report, on a periodic basis during the 2016 election, Manafort, Chief Strategist and 7 Campaign C
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	Compl. at 13, MUR 7623. 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 129-31, 135-36, 140. 
	265 

	Id. at 129-30, 140; accord Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 28-29. 
	266 

	The Special Counsel’s Report did not specifically analyze whether Manafort’s sharing of polling data was a violation of the Act, but generally recognized that establishing a criminal violation requires evidence as to “issues of intent.” Special Counsel’s Report at 185. By contrast, in the civil context, the respondent’s intention or knowledge of wrongdoing is not an element of a violation of the Act. Though it is unclear why the Special Counsel’s Office might not have analyzed this issue for a potential vio
	267 

	President Trump granted a full and unconditional pardon to Manafort on December 23, 2020, but it was directed towards his convictions in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia and in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia relating to crimes arising out of his political consulting work in Ukraine, unrelated to the 2016 election. See Paul J. Manafort, Jr., Executive Grant of Clemency (Dec. 23, 2020), . 
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	1 convince the Opposition Bloc to pay the $2 million Manafort believed that he was owed, then the 2 Trump Committee committed a personal use violation.  If his purpose was campaign-related, i.e., 3 to induce the recipients to take some action to benefit the Trump Committee, then the Trump 4 Committee violated the Act by soliciting a foreign national contribution.  Accordingly, as 5 explained below, the Commission makes reason to believe findings under both theories.  It is 6 possible that the Trump Committe
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	9 1. 10 Under the Act, a contribution accepted by a candidate may be used for, inter alia, 11 “otherwise authorized expenditures in connection with the campaign for Federal office of the 12 candidate,” “for ordinary and necessary expenses incurred in connection with duties of the 13 individual as a holder of Federal office,” as well as for “any other lawful purpose” not otherwise 14 prohibited under the Act.  However, the Act prohibits the conversion of campaign funds by 15 any person to “personal use.”“Per
	Personal Use 
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	The information indicates that Manafort acted with either a personal or campaign-related purpose, in both instances resulting in a violation. The voluminous record includes no obvious “alternative explanations” to explain Manafort’s actions which do not result in a violation. 
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	52 U.S.C. § 30114(a). Id. § 30114(b). 11 C.F.R. § 113.1(g); see also 52 U.S.C. § 30114(b)(2). 
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	1 use.For other payments, the “Commission will determine, on a case-by-case basis, whether 2 other uses” of campaign funds constitute personal use by applying the “irrespective test,” that is, 3 whether the payment fulfills a commitment, obligation, or expense that would exist irrespective 4 of the candidate’s campaign or duties as a federal officeholder.5 The personal use prohibition applies to the use of campaign funds as well as to the 6 transfer of a “campaign committee asset.”The “transfer of a campaig
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	10 campaign committee assets subject to the regulation.11 Here, if Manafort transferred the polling data without charge for any non-campaign 12 purpose, the transfer would violate 11 C.F.R. § 113.1(g)(3).  The factual record provides an 13 explanation for why Manafort may have transferred the polling data without charge, unrelated to 14 the Trump campaign. It appears that Manafort may have transferred the polling data to resolve 15 business disputes with the Russian and Ukrainian oligarchs that long pre-dat
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	52 U.S.C. § 30114(b)(2); 11 C.F.R. § 113.1(g)(1)(i). 
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	11 C.F.R. § 113.1(g)(1)(ii). 
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	Id. § 113.1(g)(3). 
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	Id. (“Any depreciation that takes place before the transfer must be allocated between the committee and the purchaser based on the useful life of the asset.”). Analogously, Commission regulations provide that the transfer of polling data to a political committee without charge is a per se in-kind contribution. 11 C.F.R. § 106.4(b); see also Advisory Op. 1990-12 (Strub) at 2; Advisory Op. 2006-04 (Tancredo for Congress Comm.) at 5-6; Advisory Op. 1998-18 (Wash. State Democratic Comm.) at 4; Factual & Legal A
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	Expenditures; Reports by Political Committees; Personal Use of Campaign Funds, 60 Fed. Reg. 7,862, 7,869 (Feb. 9, 1995). 
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	Advisory Op. 2014-06 (Ryan) at 8; Advisory Op. 2011-02 (Brown) at 6-7 (determining that more than de minimis use of a campaign’s website and social media accounts to promote a book would result in misuse of a campaign committee asset). 
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	1 the Trump Committee.  In Deripaska’s case, Manafort apparently sought to induce the Russian 2 oligarch to drop the lawsuit against him and, in the case of the Ukrainian oligarchs, who were 3 leaders of the Opposition Bloc, Manafort apparently sought to induce their favor so as to secure 4 payment of the $2 million that he claimed was still owed to him for his consulting work.  Gates, 5 who Manafort tasked with collecting and preparing the polling data to be sent to the foreign 6 nationals, told investigat
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	10 Although the Special Counsel could not conclusively determine Manafort’s purpose in 11 sharing the polling data,there is information suggesting that Manafort did so to fulfill his 12 personal commitments, obligations, or expenses.  For instance, in an April 2016 email from 13 Manafort to Kilimnik, sent shortly after Manafort transmitted the March 2016 memo announcing 14 his appointment to the Trump campaign, Manafort asked: “How do we use to get whole [with 15 Deripaska]?”  In a July 2016 email from Mana
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 135-36 (citing Gates 2/2/18 FBI 302; Gates 9/27/18 FBI 302; Gates 2/12/18 FBI 302; Gates 1/31/18 FBI 302) (“Gates reported that Manafort said that being hired on the Campaign would be ‘good for business’ and increase the likelihood that Manafort would be paid the approximately $2 million he was owed for previous political consulting work in Ukraine.”). 
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	Id. at 136. 
	279 

	Id. at 135 (quoting 4/11/2016 Emails, Manafort & Kilimnik). 
	280 

	Id. at 137 (citing 7/7/16 Email, Manafort to Kilimnik; Manafort 9/11/18 FBI 302). 
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	1 lawsuit and the funds that the Opposition Bloc owed to Manafort for his political consulting 2 work and how Manafort might be able to obtain payment.”  Accordingly, the current record 3 supports a reasonable inference that Manafort’s transfer of the Trump Committee’s polling data 4 to foreign national recipients may have been made to fulfill a commitment, obligation, or 5 expense that existed irrespective of Trump’s campaign.6 Therefore, the Commission finds reason to believe that the Trump Committee viol
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	8 2. 
	Foreign National Prohibition 

	9 If Manafort transferred the polling data without charge to induce the Russian and 10 Ukrainian oligarchs to take some action with that data to the benefit of the Trump Committee, 11 the transfer would have resulted in a violation because Manafort would have solicited an in-kind 12 foreign national contribution. 13 As discussed above, Commission regulations state that “to solicit means to ask, request, 14 or recommend, explicitly or implicitly, that another person make a contribution, donation, 15 transfer
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	Id. at 140-41 (citing Gates 1/30/18 FBI 302, at 2-4; Patten 5/22/18 FBI 302). 
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	52 U.S.C. § 30114(b). 
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	As the Trump Committee’s Campaign Chairman and Chief Strategist, Manafort appears to have acted within the scope of his responsibility in managing and directing the use of campaign assets and resources, including through directing Gates, the Deputy Campaign Manager, to transfer campaign assets; thus, Manafort’s actions are imputed to the principal on whose behalf he acted. See RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF AGENCY § 7.03 (Am. Law Inst. 2006); cf. Agency E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 4,978 (“a person may be an agent as a res
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	11 C.F.R. § 300.2(m). 
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	Figure
	1 contains a clear message asking, requesting, or recommending that another person make a 2 contribution, donation, transfer of funds, or otherwise provide anything of value.”3 A reasonable inference can be made that Manafort would have only sent the highly4 specific and dense polling data to the foreign oligarchs if they had a use for that data and if 5 Manafort expected something in return.  As detailed above, Manafort’s Deputy Campaign 6 Chairman, Richard Gates, who Manafort tasked with collecting and pr
	286 
	-
	287

	10 approximately 100 questions,” and that “these questionnaires tested a variety of questions related 11 to Trump and Clinton.”Internal polling data is a campaign asset that can help the recipient 12 understand which messages are effective and can help develop a campaign strategy; such 13 information is generally, if not exclusively, geared towards helping the candidate and the 
	288 

	Id. (“The context includes the conduct of persons involved in the communication.”). 
	286 

	The Special Counsel’s Report does not describe the polling data in detail, but also does not include any limiting language that would imply anything but the actual, complete results were sent. Moreover, statements from Manafort’s criminal matter that appear to reference polling data suggest dense information was transmitted. See Tr. of Sealed Hearing at 89-90, United States v. Manafort, 1:17-cr-00201 (D.D.C. Feb. 4, 2019) (referring to what may be polling data as “very detailed . . . on a level that is very
	287 

	Senate Intelligence Committee Report Vol. 5 at 71 n.391 (further explaining that, the campaign pollster “repeatedly produced ‘topline’ results throughout the campaign in a similar format, creating dozens of documents with thousands of pages of text,” but that “[i]t is unclear how much of this data Gates shared with Kilimnik”). 
	288 

	ATTACHMENT 3 Page 61 
	MURs 7207, 7268, & 7623 (Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., et al.) Factual and Legal Analysis Page 62 of 64 
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	1 committee.  Thus, it is reasonable to infer that Manafort sent the polling data to induce the 
	289

	2 recipients to use the data to provide some election-related assistance to the campaign.
	290 

	3 Indeed, the foreign national recipients were politically-sophisticated actors with a track 
	4 record of involvement in other countries’ affairs.One of the recipients, Deripaska, is a 
	291 

	5 Russian oligarch “closely aligned” with Putin who was later sanctioned by the United States 
	6 Department of the Treasury for having acted or purported to act on behalf of the Russian 
	7 government in carrying out “malign activity around the globe.”The other recipients were 
	292 

	8 senior officials for the Opposition Bloc, a Ukrainian political party and successor to the former 
	9 Party of Regions, which from 2012 to 2014 conducted a secret lobbying campaign in the United 
	10 States orchestrated by Manafort.
	293 

	See id. at 78 (citing interview with Brad Parscale that “98 percent” of the Trump Committee’s resource “allocation was determined by the Campaign’s internal polling data as provided by its pollsters”). Polling data allows the recipient to “understand the public’s positions on issues or candidates, opponents’ vulnerabilities, which messages are effective, compare demographic groups and alternatives, and otherwise develop an effective political strategy.” Statement of Reasons at 6, Vice Chair Hunter and Commr
	289 

	Manafort’s subjective intent is ultimately not dispositive, since sending dense polling data on a periodic basis during the election can be fairly interpreted as asking the recipient to take some action using the polling data. See Solicitation E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 13,928 (“the [solicit] definition sets forth an objective test that focuses on the communications in context, and does not turn on subjective interpretations by the person making the communication or its recipient”). 
	290 

	As noted above, the Special Counsel’s investigation “did not identify evidence of a connection between Manafort’s sharing polling data and Russia’s interference in the election.” Special Counsel’s Report at 131. However, this does not preclude the possibility that Deripaska or the Opposition Bloc leaders individually provided something of value to the campaign separate from the Russian government’s active measures described above, or that Manafort solicited their assistance but they rebuffed his request. 
	291 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 131; U.S. Dep’t of the Treasury, Treasury Designates Russian Oligarchs, Officials, and Entities in Response to Worldwide Malign Activity (Apr. press-releases/sm0338. In July 2016, Kilimnik told Manafort that Deripaska was paying “attention to the campaign” and “will be most likely looking for ways to reach out to you pretty soon.” Special Counsel’s Report at 137 (citing 7/08/16 Email, Kilimnik to Manafort) (recounting discussions with Deripaska’s deputy). 
	292 
	6, 2018), https://home.treasury.gov/news/ 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 131-32; Superseding Criminal Information ¶¶ 9, 22-26, 43, United States v. Paul J. Manafort, Jr., 1:17-cr-00201 (D.D.C. Sept. 14, 2018) (explaining how Manafort took various steps “to keep the Ukraine lobbying as secret as possible”). 
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	Figure
	1 Another circumstance indicating that Manafort solicited a foreign national in-kind 2 contribution is that at the same time that Manafort transferred polling data, he had in-person 3 meetings with Kilimnik who sent the polling data to the oligarchs on behalf of Manafort.At 4 one of the meetings, Manafort briefed Kilimnik “on the state of the Trump Campaign and [his] 5 plan to win the election,” which “included discussion of battleground states” and “encompassed 6 the Campaign’s messaging and its internal p
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	10 data].”  Accordingly, given the available information at this time, there is insufficient 11 information from which to conclude that the oligarchs made and Manafort and the Trump 12 Committee accepted an in-kind contribution from the oligarchs’ use of the Trump Committee 13 polling data provided by Manafort.  However, given Manafort’s pattern of sending the polling 14 data to politically-sophisticated recipients on a periodic basis over several months during the 15 election cycle, it can be inferred that
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	Supra notes 156-159 and accompanying text. 
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	Special Counsel’s Report at 140 (citing Manafort 9/11/18 FBI 302; Gates 1/30/18 FBI 302) (internal quotations omitted). 
	295 

	Special Counsel’s Report at 131. It appears likely that the Russian and Ukrainian oligarchs received the polling data. Manafort sent the data over the course of several months, which would be unusual if he did not receive some indication that the transmissions had been received. See id. at 132, 135, 137. There is evidence that Kilimnik was in contact with Deripaska’s deputy, and that they spoke about Deripaska’s “attention to the campaign,” again making it unlikely that Manafort would have continuously sent
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	Solicitation E&J, 71 Fed. Reg. at 13,929 (“[T]he Commission’s objective standard hinges on whether the recipient should have reasonably understood that a solicitation was made.”). 
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	1 
	1 
	given the context described above, that Manafort was asking them to take some action297 and, 

	2 
	2 
	because the data was specifically designed to benefit the Trump Committee, that the action was 

	3 
	3 
	to make a contribution in the form of using the data to the benefit of the Trump Committee in the 

	4 
	4 
	election. 

	5 
	5 
	Therefore, the Commission finds reason to believe that the Trump Committee298 violated 

	6 
	6 
	52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting a prohibited foreign 

	7 
	7 
	national in-kind contribution. 


	For the reasons discussed above, Manafort’s actions are imputed to the Trump Committee, on whose behalf he acted. See supra note 284. 
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	BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	In the Matter of ) 
	) MURs 7207, 7268, 7274 and 7623 Russian Federation; Donald J. Trump for ) President, Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in ) his official capacity as treasurer; Donald ) 
	J. Trump; Unknown Congressional ) Candidate; Cambridge Analytica, LLC; ) Paul Manafort; Internet Research Agency ) 
	CERTIFICATION 
	CERTIFICATION 

	I, Vicktoria J. Allen, recording secretary of the Federal Election Commission executive 
	session, do hereby certify that on April 22, 2021, the Commission took the following actions in 
	the above-captioned matter:  
	1. Failed by a vote of 2-4 to: 
	Instruct the Office of General Counsel to deliver the letter to the Secretary of State as last circulated by Vice Chair Dickerson’s Office on Friday, April 9, 2021 at 5:34 p.m. 
	Commissioners Dickerson and Trainor voted affirmatively for the motion.  
	Commissioners Broussard, Cooksey, Walther, and Weintraub dissented.   
	2. Failed by a vote of 2-2 to: 
	Direct the staff to send the letter to the State Department as circulated by Commissioner Weintraub’s Office on April 12, 2021 at 10:27 p.m. and amend the letter where “Matters Under Review” would be spelled out. 
	Federal Election Commission Page 2 Certification for MURs 7207, 7268, 7274, and 7623 April 22, 2021 
	Commissioners Broussard and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the motion.  
	Commissioners Trainor and Cooksey dissented.  Commissioners Dickerson and Walther 
	abstained. 
	3. Failed by a vote of 3-3 to: 
	a. 
	a. 
	a. 
	Find reason to believe that the Russian Federation and the Internet Research Agency violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(1)(C) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(f) by making prohibited foreign national expenditures and independent expenditures in connection with the influence campaign targeting the 2016 presidential election. 

	b. 
	b. 
	Find reason to believe that the Russian Federation and the Internet Research Agency violated 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c) and 11 C.F.R.  § 109.10(b) by failing to report independent expenditures in connection with the influence campaign. 

	c. 
	c. 
	Find reason to believe that Donald J. Trump and Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting, accepting or receiving an in-kind contribution from the Russian Federation in connection with Trump’s press conference statement. 

	d. 
	d. 
	Find reason to believe that the Russian Federation violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(1)(A) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(b) by making a prohibited in-kind contribution to Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. by expending resources to hack Clinton-related servers in response to Trump’s press conference statement. 

	e. 
	e. 
	Find reason to believe that Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting a prohibited in-kind contribution from WikiLeaks. 

	f. 
	f. 
	Find reason to believe that the Russian Federation made a prohibited in-kind foreign national contribution in violation of 52 U.S.C.  § 30121(a)(1)(A) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(b). 

	g. 
	g. 
	Find reason to believe that an Unknown Congressional Candidate knowingly solicited, accepted or received a prohibited in-kind foreign national contribution in violation of 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g). 
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	h. 
	h. 
	h. 
	Find reason to believe that Paul Manafort and Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. § 30114(b) and 11 C.F.R. § 113.1(g)(3) by transferring a campaign committee asset without charge. 

	i. 
	i. 
	Find reason to believe that Paul Manafort and Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting a prohibited in-kind foreign national contribution. 

	j. 
	j. 
	Dismiss the allegation that Cambridge Analytica, LLC violated the Act by providing information to the Russian Federation. 

	k. 
	k. 
	Take no further action as to the Russian Federation and the Internet Research Agency. 

	l. 
	l. 
	Approve the Factual and Legal Analyses, as recommended in the First General Counsel’s Report dated February 23, 2021, subject to the edits circulated by Commissioner Weintraub’s Office on April 19, 2021 at 6:37 p.m. 

	m. 
	m. 
	Authorize pre-probable cause conciliation with Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer, Donald J. Trump, and Paul Manafort. 

	n. 
	n. 
	Approve the Conciliation Agreements, as recommended in the First General Counsel’s Report dated February 23, 2021. 

	o. 
	o. 
	Approve the appropriate letters. 


	Commissioners Broussard, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the motion.  Commissioners Cooksey, Dickerson, and Trainor dissented. 
	4. Decided by a vote of 4-2 to: 
	a. Find reason to believe that the Unknown Congressional Candidate violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g). 
	b. 
	Federal Election Commission Page 4 Certification for MURs 7207, 7268, 7274, and 7623 April 22, 2021 
	c. 
	c. 
	c. 
	Dismiss the Russian Federation and Internet Research Agency pursuant to Heckler v. Chaney. 

	d. 
	d. 
	Send the appropriate letters. 

	e. 
	e. 
	Direct the Office of General Counsel to draft the appropriate Factual and Legal Analyses. 


	Commissioners Broussard, Dickerson, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioners Cooksey and Trainor dissented. 
	5. Failed by a vote of 3-3 to: 
	a. 
	a. 
	a. 
	Dismiss Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer, Donald J. Trump, Cambridge Analytica, LLC, and Paul Manafort pursuant to the Commission’s prosecutorial discretion under Heckler v. Chaney. 

	b. 
	b. 
	Send the appropriate letters. 

	c. 
	c. 
	Revise the appropriate Factual and Legal Analyses. 


	Commissioners Cooksey, Dickerson, and Trainor voted affirmatively for the motion.  Commissioners Broussard, Walther, and Weintraub dissented. 
	6. Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: 
	a. 
	a. 
	a. 
	Dismiss the allegation that Cambridge Analytica, LLC violated the Act by providing information to the Russian Federation. 

	b. 
	b. 
	Approve the Factual and Legal Analysis that supported Item 6(a). 


	Commissioners Broussard, Cooksey, Dickerson, Trainor, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision. 
	7. Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: 
	a. 
	a. 
	a. 
	Close the file as to all respondents, except the unknown Congressional candidate. 

	b. 
	b. 
	Issue appropriate letters. 
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	Commissioners Broussard, Cooksey, Dickerson, Trainor, Walther, and Weintraub voted 
	affirmatively for the decision. 
	Attest: 
	Digitally signed by Vicktoria Allen Date:  19:57:43 -04'00' 
	Vicktoria Allen 
	2021.04.26

	April 26, 2021 Date 
	Vicktoria J. Allen Acting Deputy Secretary of the Commission 
	Figure


	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	Washington, DC 20463 
	April 30, 2021 
	VIA EMAIL: scrosland@jonesday.com 
	VIA EMAIL: scrosland@jonesday.com 
	VIA EMAIL: scrosland@jonesday.com 
	VIA EMAIL: scrosland@jonesday.com 


	E. Stewart Crosland Jones Day 51 Louisiana Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20001 
	RE: MURs 7207, 7268, and 7623 
	Donald J. Trump 
	Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. 
	Bradley T. Crate in his official     
	capacity as treasurer 
	Dear Mr. Crosland: 
	On December 22, 2016, May 10, 2017, August 15, 2017, and July 25, 2019, the Federal Election Commission notified your clients, Donald J. Trump, Make America Great Again PAC (formerly known as Donald J. Trump for President, Inc.), and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer, of multiple complaints alleging that your clients had violated certain sections of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended. 
	On April 22, 2021, the Commission considered the complaints but was equally divided on whether to find reason to believe your clients violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g), or that Make America Great Again PAC (formerly known as Donald J. Trump for President, Inc.), and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. § 30114(b) and 11 C.F.R. § 113.1(g)(3).  Accordingly, the Commission closed its file in this matter as it pertains to your clients.  A Statement o
	You are advised that the confidentiality provisions of 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(12)(A) remain in effect, and that these matters are still open with respect to other respondents.  The Commission will notify you when the entire file has been closed. If you have any questions, please contact Amanda Andrade, the attorney assigned to these matters, at (202) 694-1650. 
	Sincerely, Jin Lee 
	Acting Assistant General Counsel 
	Figure


	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	Washington, DC 20463 
	June 1, 2021 

	MEMORANDUM 
	MEMORANDUM 
	MEMORANDUM 

	TO: The Commission 
	FROM: Lisa J. Stevenson Acting General Counsel 
	Charles Kitcher Acting Associate General Counsel   for Enforcement 
	BY: Jin Lee 
	Attorney 
	SUBJECT: MURs 7207, 7268, 7274, and 7623 (Russian Federation, et al.) – Revised Factual & Legal Analyses for the Russian Federation, Internet Research Agency, and Unknown Congressional Candidate and Recommendation to Close the File 
	Acting Assistant General Counsel Claudio Pavia Acting Assistant General Counsel Amanda Andrade 
	On April 22, 2021, the Commission voted, inter alia, to dismiss the Russian Federation and Internet Research Agency pursuant to Heckler v. Chaney, 470 U.S. 821 (1985), and find reason to believe that an Unknown Congressional Candidate violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g).Further, the Commission directed the Office of General Counsel to draft the appropriate Factual and Legal Analyses for these Respondents.
	1 
	2 

	Attached are revised Factual and Legal Analyses for the Russian Federation and Internet Research Agency 
	MURs 7207, 7268, 7274, and 7623 (Russian Federation, et al.) Memorandum to the Commission Page 2 of 2 
	Figure
	Also attached is a draft Factual and Legal Analysis for the Unknown Congressional Candidate 
	Figure
	Finally, because the Unknown Congressional Candidate is only a Respondent in MUR 7207 and represents a discrete piece of the overall allegations in these matters, the Office of the General Counsel recommends that the Commission sever the allegations as to the Unknown Congressional Candidate and open a new MUR as to him or her.  We further recommend that the Commission close the file in MURs 7207, 7268, 7274, and 7623, and send the appropriate letters. 
	Certification ¶¶ 4(a), (c) (Apr. 26, 2021). Id. ¶ 4(e). 
	Certification ¶¶ 4(a), (c) (Apr. 26, 2021). Id. ¶ 4(e). 
	Certification ¶¶ 4(a), (c) (Apr. 26, 2021). Id. ¶ 4(e). 
	1 
	2 




	RECOMMENDATIONS: 
	RECOMMENDATIONS: 
	1) Approve the attached Factual and Legal Analyses; 
	2) Open a new MUR with the Unknown Congressional Candidate as the Respondent; 
	3) Close the file in MURs 7207, 7268, 7274, and 7623; and 
	4) Send the appropriate letters. 
	Figure
	BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	In the Matter of ) 
	) MURs 7207, 7268, 7274 and 7623 Russian Federation, Internet Research ) Agency, and Unknown Congressional ) Candidate: Withdrawal and ) Resubmission of Revised Factual & ) Legal Analyses and Recommendation to ) Close the File ) 
	CERTIFICATION 
	CERTIFICATION 

	I, Laura E. Sinram, recording secretary for the Federal Election Commission executive 
	session on August 10, 2021, do hereby certify that the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to: 
	1. 
	1. 
	1. 
	Close the file. 

	2. 
	2. 
	Send the appropriate letters. 


	Commissioners Broussard, Cooksey, Dickerson, Trainor, Walther, and Weintraub voted 
	affirmatively for the decision. 
	Attest: 
	Digitally signed by Laura Sinram
	Figure


	Laura Sinram 
	Laura Sinram 
	Date:  20:41:06 -04'00'
	2021.08.13

	August 13, 2021 Date 
	Laura E. Sinram Acting Secretary and Clerk of the Commission 
	Figure
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	Washington, DC 20463 
	August 18, 2021 
	August 18, 2021 
	VIA CERTIFIED MAIL 
	RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 

	Robert C. Sinnot 
	Figure
	Medford, OR 97504 
	RE: MURs 7266 & 7268 
	Dear Mr. Sinnot: 
	This is in reference to the complaint you filed with the Federal Election Commission on August 8, 2017, and its supplements, filed September 15, 2017, January 9 and October 29, 2018, and January 16, 2020.  We note that the Office of General Counsel administratively severed from your MUR 7268 complaint the allegation that officials from the Donald J. Trump campaign met with Russian nationals on June 9, 2016, in Trump Tower to obtain opposition research and merged that allegation into pre-existing MUR 7266.  
	On March 9, 2021, the Commission considered the allegations in MUR 7266 but were equally divided on whether to find reason to believe that Donald J. Trump and Make America Great Again PAC (f/k/a Donald J. Trump for President, Inc.), and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer (the “Trump Committee”) and Donald J. Trump, Jr. violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting a contribution from a foreign national in connection with the Trump Tower meeting.  Acco
	On April 22, 2021, the Commission considered the allegations raised in your complaint and voted to dismiss the allegation that Cambridge Analytica, LLC violated the Act by providing information to the Russian Federation.  A copy of the Factual and Legal Analysis which formed a basis for the Commission’s decision regarding Cambridge Analytica, LLC is enclosed.   
	In addition, the Commission was equally divided on whether to find reason to believe that the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting, accepting or receiving an in-kind contribution from the Russian Federation in connection with Trump’s press conference statement; that the Russian Federation violated 52 
	U.S.C.§ 30121(a)(1)(A) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(b) by making a prohibited in-kind contribution to the Trump Committee by expending resources to hack Hillary Clinton-related servers in response to Trump’s press conference statement; that the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting a prohibited in-kind contribution 
	Robert C. Sinnot MURs 7266 & 7268 Page 2 
	from WikiLeaks; that Paul Manafort and the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30114(b) and 11 C.F.R. § 113.1(g)(3) by transferring a campaign committee asset without charge in connection with the alleged transmission of polling data; and that Manafort and the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting a prohibited in-kind foreign national contribution in connection with the alleged transmission of polling data.  In addition, the Commission voted to d
	Documents related to MUR 7266 have been placed on the public record and documents related to MUR 7268 will be placed on the public record within 30 days. See Disclosure of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702 (Aug. 2, 2016). 
	The Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, allows a complainant to seek judicial review of the Commission’s dismissal of this action. See 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(8). If you have any questions, please contact Nicholas Bamman, the attorney assigned to this matter, at 
	(202)
	694-1650 or nbamman@fec.gov. 

	Sincerely, 
	Figure
	Table
	TR
	Claudio Pavia 

	TR
	Acting Assistant General Counsel 

	Enclosures: 
	Enclosures: 

	Factual and Legal Analysis 
	Factual and Legal Analysis 

	Statement of Reasons 
	Statement of Reasons 


	1 FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 2 3 FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS 4 5 6 7 RESPONDENT:    Cambridge Analytica, LLC MUR: 7268 8 9 I. INTRODUCTION 
	10 The Complaint in this matter alleges that Cambridge Analytica, LLC, a former political 11 consulting company, provided illegally sourced social profiles to the Russian Federation.The 12 allegation here is vague, speculative, and unsupported by the available information.  Therefore, 13 the Commission dismisses the allegation that Cambridge Analytica, LLC, violated the Act, as 14 alleged. 15 II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 16 Cambridge Analytica, LLC was a limited liability company organized in Delaware on 17 Decem
	1 
	2
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	MUR 7268 (Cambridge Analytica, LLC) Factual and Legal Analysis Page 2 of 2 
	1 of Cambridge Analytica.”  The Supplemental Complaint does not provide any additional 
	5

	2 information regarding the allegation or cite to a particular source.
	6 

	Supp. Compl. at 1, MUR 7268 (Jan. 16, 2020) (“Supp. Compl.”). 
	Supp. Compl. at 1, MUR 7268 (Jan. 16, 2020) (“Supp. Compl.”). 
	1 


	Cambridge Analytica LLC, Delaware Div. NameSearch.aspx (viewed Feb. 18, 2021). 
	Cambridge Analytica LLC, Delaware Div. NameSearch.aspx (viewed Feb. 18, 2021). 
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	of Corps., https://icis.corp.delaware.gov/ecorp/entitysearch/ 


	SCL Group Limited, U.K. Companies House Registration, Company No. house.gov.uk/company/05514098 (last visited Feb. 18, 2021). 
	SCL Group Limited, U.K. Companies House Registration, Company No. house.gov.uk/company/05514098 (last visited Feb. 18, 2021). 
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	05514098, https://beta.companies 


	Craig Timberg and Tom Hamburger, Former Cambridge Analytica Workers Say Firm Sent Foreigners to Advise U.S. Campaigns, WASH. POST (Mar. 25, 2018). 
	Craig Timberg and Tom Hamburger, Former Cambridge Analytica Workers Say Firm Sent Foreigners to Advise U.S. Campaigns, WASH. POST (Mar. 25, 2018). 
	4 




	3 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 
	3 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 
	4 The Supplemental Complaint in MUR 7268 does not provide any factual basis in support 
	5 of its allegation that Cambridge Analytica “provided illegally sourced social profiles to the 
	6 Russians”and we are not aware of any source that otherwise supports this allegation. 
	7 

	7 Therefore, because the Supplemental Complaint is vague, speculative, and unsupported by the 
	8 available information, the Commission dismisses the allegation that Cambridge Analytica, LLC 
	9 violated the Act, as alleged. 
	Supp. Compl. at 1. 
	5 

	The term “British investigation” may be a reference to an investigation conducted by the Information Commissioner’s Office of the United Kingdom into Cambridge Analytica, LLC. See Ltr from Elizabeth Denham CBE, UK Information Commissioner, to Julian Knight MP, Chair, Digital, Cultural and Media Sport Select Comm., House of Commons (Oct. 2, 2020) (announcing the findings of investigation into Cambridge Analytica, LLC’s alleged “use of personal information and political influence”), available at taken/2618383
	6 
	https://ico.org.uk/media/action-weve
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	In the Matter of 
	In the Matter of 
	In the Matter of 
	) 

	TR
	) 
	MURs 7265 and 7266 

	Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and 
	Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and 
	) 

	Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer; 
	Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer; 
	) 

	Donald Trump, Jr.; Paul Manafort; 
	Donald Trump, Jr.; Paul Manafort; 
	) 

	Jared Kushner; Rob Goldstone 
	Jared Kushner; Rob Goldstone 
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	STATEMENT OF REASONS OF VICE CHAIR ALLEN DICKERSON AND 
	Supp. Compl. at 1. 
	Supp. Compl. at 1. 
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	COMMISSIONERS SEAN J. COOKSEY AND JAMES E. “TREY” TRAINOR, III 
	COMMISSIONERS SEAN J. COOKSEY AND JAMES E. “TREY” TRAINOR, III 
	The Complaints in these matters claim that Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley 
	T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer (“Trump Committee”),through its agents, solicited a prohibited foreign-national contribution in the form of negative information about the committee’s 2016 election opponent. The allegations center around a meeting between Trump Committee representatives and various foreign nationals on June 9, 2016, at Trump Tower in New York City.
	1 
	2 

	The Commission received the first complaint on July 10, 2017, and the second complaint three days later, but it did not immediately assess their merits.Instead, the Commission opted to hold the matters in abeyance for nearly two years pending the outcome of other publicly known government investigations. By the time the relevant investigations finished in mid-2019 with no civil or criminal charges, however, the Office of General Counsel (“OGC”) still had not evaluated the complaints to make recommendations 
	3 
	4 

	1 
	conciliation with the Respondents on February 5, 2021, and OGC’s recommendations were first placed on the agenda for discussion at our March 9, 2021, executive session.
	5 

	By that point, the statute of limitations had nearly run: a mere 92 days remained, despite our having received the complaints 1,332 days prior.Being only at the initial stage of enforcement—considering whether there was reason to believe the law had been violated—there was no reasonable chance for the Commission to bring an enforcement action to fruition in the remaining time.Moreover, attempting to press enforcement in these matters would have required expending significant resources and forgoing critical 
	6 
	7 
	8 

	In short, the Commission had no viable course of action but to dismiss these matters. Indeed, the Commission recently unanimously dismissed another matter that faced a nearly identical statute-of-limitations problem.
	9 

	Nonetheless, it is regrettable that the Commission did not have the opportunity to consider these matters with the luxury of time. This outcome should prompt the Commission to reflect on when, and under what circumstances, it abates its own investigations pending the work of other agencies. In many cases, the Commission does so to its own detriment, and this is perhaps one example. 
	First General Counsel’s Report at 36–37 (Feb. 5, 2021), MURs 7265 and 7266 (Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., et al.); Certification (March 9, 2021), MURs 7265 and 7266 (Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., et al.). 
	5 

	See 28 U.S.C. § 2462 (“[A]n action, suit or proceeding for the enforcement of any civil fine, penalty, or forfeiture, pecuniary or otherwise, shall not be entertained unless commenced within five years from the date when the claim first accrued.”). The Complainants might have brought a delay suit against the Commission for failing to act on their complaints after 120 days under 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(8), but did not in this case. 
	6 

	After finding reason to believe a violation has occurred, the Commission must undertake additional investigatory and deliberative steps before it can bring an enforcement action in federal court in a matter. After any attempt to conciliate with Respondents fails, OGC would then need to draft probable-cause briefs recommending that the Commission pursue enforcement. Respondents would be given fifteen days to respond to those briefs, as well as the right to request a probable-cause hearing. Following any hear
	7 

	OGC’s theory of a violation relied upon an expansive and novel definition of what constitutes a “thing of value” and, consequently, a “contribution” under the Federal Election Campaign Act. 52 U.S.C. § 30101(8)(A). The Commission has previously divided over whether general information that is helpful to a campaign is a “thing of value.” See Statement of Reasons of Vice Chair Caroline C. Hunter and Commissioners Lee E. Goodman and Matthew 
	8 

	S. Petersen at 6–7, MUR 6958 (Senator Claire McCaskill, et al.) (concluding that general advice from polling was not a “thing of value”). 
	See Certification (April 9, 2021), MUR 7395 (Heller for Senate, et al.) (dismissing under Heckler v. Chaney a matter with 88 days remaining on the statute of limitations); see also Statement of Chair Shana M. Broussard and Commissioner Ellen L. Weintraub at 2, MUR 7395 (Heller for Senate, et al.) (“[I]n light of the imminent statute of limitations and other priorities on the Commission’s docket, we voted to dismiss the allegations.”). 
	9 

	2 
	_________________________________ Sean J. Cooksey 
	In this position, however, our agency’s limited enforcement resources are better directed toward other investigations with better odds of success. Commission staff time and funds are especially precious in light of the significant backlog of enforcement cases that the Commission accrued while lacking a quorum. Considering the foregoing, three Commissioners declined to pursue this quixotic enforcement effort and instead voted to dismiss the complaints as a matter of prosecutorial discretion under Heckler v. 
	10 
	Chaney
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	______________________________ Allen Dickerson Vice Chair 
	May 10, 2021 
	Date 
	May 10, 2021 
	Date 
	Commissioner 
	_________________________________ James E. “Trey” Trainor, III Commissioner 
	May 10, 2021 
	Date 
	Statement of Commissioner Ellen L. Weintraub, supra n.4. 470 U.S. 821, 831 (1985). 
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	These Complaints were originally filed against, among others, the political committee Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. After the 2020 election, the committee changed its name to Make America Great Again PAC. See Trump Committee, Amend. Statement of Org. (Feb. 27, 2021). 
	These Complaints were originally filed against, among others, the political committee Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. After the 2020 election, the committee changed its name to Make America Great Again PAC. See Trump Committee, Amend. Statement of Org. (Feb. 27, 2021). 
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	See Complaint at 2–4 (July 10, 2017), MUR 7265 (Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., et al.); Complaint at 2–9 (July 13, 2017), MUR 7266 (Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., et al.). 
	See Complaint at 2–4 (July 10, 2017), MUR 7265 (Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., et al.); Complaint at 2–9 (July 13, 2017), MUR 7266 (Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., et al.). 
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	Complaint (July 10, 2017), MUR 7265 (Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. et al.). 
	Complaint (July 10, 2017), MUR 7265 (Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. et al.). 
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	See Statement of Commissioner Ellen L. Weintraub on the Senate’s Votes to Restore the Federal Election Commission to Full Strength (Dec. 9, 2020), available at content/documents/2020-12-Quorum-Restoration-Statement.pdf (“We have had enough commissioners to vote on enforcement matters for only 28 days since September 2019.”). 
	See Statement of Commissioner Ellen L. Weintraub on the Senate’s Votes to Restore the Federal Election Commission to Full Strength (Dec. 9, 2020), available at content/documents/2020-12-Quorum-Restoration-Statement.pdf (“We have had enough commissioners to vote on enforcement matters for only 28 days since September 2019.”). 
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	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	Washington, DC 20463 
	VIA FIRST CLASS MAIL 
	VIA FIRST CLASS MAIL 
	VIA FIRST CLASS MAIL 
	August 18, 2021 

	LaMonica Herbst & Maniscalco, LLP 3305 Jerusalem Avenue Wantagh, NY 11793 
	LaMonica Herbst & Maniscalco, LLP 3305 Jerusalem Avenue Wantagh, NY 11793 
	RE: 
	MUR 7268 Cambridge Analytica, LLC 

	Dear Sir/Madam: 
	Dear Sir/Madam: 


	On July 2, 2020, the Federal Election Commission notified you of a complaint alleging that your client, Cambridge Analytica, LLC, had violated certain sections of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the “Act”).  A copy of the complaint was forwarded to you at that time. 
	Upon further review of the allegations contained in the complaint, the Commission, on April 22, 2021, voted to dismiss the allegations as they pertain to your client.  The Factual and Legal Analysis, which more fully explains the Commission’s decision, is enclosed for your information. 
	Documents related to the case will be placed on the public record within 30 days.  See Disclosure of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702 (Aug. 2, 2016). 
	If you have any questions, please contact Nicholas Bamman, the attorney assigned to this 
	matter, at (202) 694-1650 or nbamman@fec.gov. 

	Sincerely, 
	Figure
	Claudio Pavia Acting Assistant General Counsel 
	Enclosure: Factual and Legal Analysis 
	1 FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 2 3 FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS 4 5 6 7 RESPONDENT:    Cambridge Analytica, LLC MUR: 7268 8 9 I. INTRODUCTION 
	10 The Complaint in this matter alleges that Cambridge Analytica, LLC, a former political 11 consulting company, provided illegally sourced social profiles to the Russian Federation.The 12 allegation here is vague, speculative, and unsupported by the available information.  Therefore, 13 the Commission dismisses the allegation that Cambridge Analytica, LLC, violated the Act, as 14 alleged. 15 II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 16 Cambridge Analytica, LLC was a limited liability company organized in Delaware on 17 Decem
	1 
	2
	3
	4 

	MUR 7268 (Cambridge Analytica, LLC) Factual and Legal Analysis Page 2 of 2 
	1 of Cambridge Analytica.”  The Supplemental Complaint does not provide any additional 
	5

	2 information regarding the allegation or cite to a particular source.
	6 

	Supp. Compl. at 1, MUR 7268 (Jan. 16, 2020) (“Supp. Compl.”). 
	Supp. Compl. at 1, MUR 7268 (Jan. 16, 2020) (“Supp. Compl.”). 
	1 


	Cambridge Analytica LLC, Delaware Div. NameSearch.aspx (viewed Feb. 18, 2021). 
	Cambridge Analytica LLC, Delaware Div. NameSearch.aspx (viewed Feb. 18, 2021). 
	2 
	of Corps., https://icis.corp.delaware.gov/ecorp/entitysearch/ 


	SCL Group Limited, U.K. Companies House Registration, Company No. house.gov.uk/company/05514098 (last visited Feb. 18, 2021). 
	SCL Group Limited, U.K. Companies House Registration, Company No. house.gov.uk/company/05514098 (last visited Feb. 18, 2021). 
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	05514098, https://beta.companies 


	Craig Timberg and Tom Hamburger, Former Cambridge Analytica Workers Say Firm Sent Foreigners to Advise U.S. Campaigns, WASH. POST (Mar. 25, 2018). 
	Craig Timberg and Tom Hamburger, Former Cambridge Analytica Workers Say Firm Sent Foreigners to Advise U.S. Campaigns, WASH. POST (Mar. 25, 2018). 
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	3 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 
	3 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 
	4 The Supplemental Complaint in MUR 7268 does not provide any factual basis in support 
	5 of its allegation that Cambridge Analytica “provided illegally sourced social profiles to the 
	6 Russians”and we are not aware of any source that otherwise supports this allegation. 
	7 

	7 Therefore, because the Supplemental Complaint is vague, speculative, and unsupported by the 
	8 available information, the Commission dismisses the allegation that Cambridge Analytica, LLC 
	9 violated the Act, as alleged. 
	Supp. Compl. at 1. 
	5 

	The term “British investigation” may be a reference to an investigation conducted by the Information Commissioner’s Office of the United Kingdom into Cambridge Analytica, LLC. See Ltr from Elizabeth Denham CBE, UK Information Commissioner, to Julian Knight MP, Chair, Digital, Cultural and Media Sport Select Comm., House of Commons (Oct. 2, 2020) (announcing the findings of investigation into Cambridge Analytica, LLC’s alleged “use of personal information and political influence”), available at taken/2618383
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	https://ico.org.uk/media/action-weve
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	Supp. Compl. at 1. 
	Supp. Compl. at 1. 
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	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	Washington, DC 20463 
	VIA EMAIL 
	VIA EMAIL 
	VIA EMAIL 
	August 18, 2021 

	E. Stewart Crosland, Esq. Jones Day 51 Louisiana Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20001 scrosland@jonesday.com 
	E. Stewart Crosland, Esq. Jones Day 51 Louisiana Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20001 scrosland@jonesday.com 

	TR
	RE: 
	MURs 7207, 7268, and 7623 Donald J. Trump Make American Great Again PAC (f/k/a    Donald J. Trump for President, Inc.) and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer 

	Dear Mr. Crosland: 
	Dear Mr. Crosland: 


	On December 22, 2016, August 15, 2017, and July 25, 2019, the Federal Election Commission notified your clients, Donald J. Trump and Make America Great Again PAC (f/k/a Donald J. Trump for President, Inc.), and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer (the “Trump Committee”), of the complaints in MURs 7207, 7268 and 7623, alleging that your clients violated certain sections of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended. 
	On April 22, 2021, the Commission considered the complaints and their supplements but was equally divided on whether to find reason to believe that Trump and the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting, accepting or receiving an in-kind contribution from the Russian Federation in connection with Trump’s press conference statement; that the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting a prohibited
	Documents related to the case will be placed on the public record within 30 days.  See Disclosure of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702 (Aug. 2, 2016), effective September 1, 2016. A Statement of Reasons providing the basis for the Commission’s decision will follow. 
	E. Stewart Crosland MURs 7207, 7268, and 7623 Page 2 
	If you have any questions, please contact Nicholas Bamman, the attorney assigned to this 
	matter, at (202) 694-1650 or nbamman@fec.gov. 

	Sincerely, 
	Figure

	Claudio Pavia Acting Assistant General Counsel 
	BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	In the Matter of ) ) MURs 7207, 7268, 7274 and 7623 Russian Federation, et al. ) CERTIFICATION 
	I, Vicktoria J. Allen, recording secretruy for the Federal Election Commission executive session on September 28, 2021, do hereby ce1iify that the Co1mnission decided by a vote of5-1 to take the following actions in MURs 7207, 7268, 7274, and 7623: 
	1. Reopen the file in these matters. 2. 
	3. 
	4. Send the appropriate letters. Commissioners Broussard, Cooksey, Dickerson, Trainor, and Weintraub voted 
	affnmatively for the decision. Commissioner Walther dissented. Attest: 
	·, Cktor·1 a A11 en Digitally signed by Vicktoria Allen 
	Figure
	V

	Date: 2021 .09.29 12:03:39 -04'00' 
	September 29, 2021 
	Date Vicktoria J. Allen Acting Deputy Secretruy ofthe Commission 
	Figure
	Figure

	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	Washington, DC 20463 

	      October 1, 2021 
	      October 1, 2021 
	VIA CERTIFIED MAIL
	RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 

	Robert C. Sinnot 
	Medford, OR 97504 
	RE: MURs 7266 & 7268 
	Dear Mr. Sinnot: 
	This is in reference to the complaint you filed with the Federal Election Commission on August 8, 2017, and its supplements, filed September 15, 2017, January 9 and October 29, 2018, and January 16, 2020. We note that the Office of General Counsel administratively severed from your MUR 7268 complaint the allegation that officials from the Donald J. Trump campaign met with Russian nationals on June 9, 2016, in Trump Tower to obtain opposition research and merged that allegation into pre-existing MUR 7266. 
	On August 18, 2021, we wrote to inform you that (1) on March 9, 2021, the Commission considered the allegations in MUR 7266 but was equally divided on whether to find reason to believe that Donald J. Trump and Make America Great Again PAC (f/k/a Donald J. Trump for President, Inc.), and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer (the “Trump Committee”) and Donald J. Trump, Jr. violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting a contribution from a foreign nationa
	Robert C. Sinnot MURs 7266 & 7268 Page 2 
	transmission of polling data; (4) the Commission voted to dismiss the Russian Federation as a matter of prosecutorial discretion; and (4) on August 10, 2021, the Commission closed its file in MUR 7268. 
	This letter is to inform you that, on September 28, 2021, the Commission voted to reopen MUR 7268 for further consideration.  MUR 7266 remains closed. 
	If you have any questions, please contact Nicholas Bamman, the attorney assigned to this matter, at (202) 694-1628 or . 
	nbamman@fec.gov

	       Sincerely,       Claudio Pavia
	       Acting Assistant General Counsel 
	Figure

	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	Washington, DC 20463 
	VIA FIRST CLASS MAIL
	VIA FIRST CLASS MAIL
	VIA FIRST CLASS MAIL
	      October 1, 2021 

	LaMonica Herbst & Maniscalco, LLP  3305 Jerusalem Avenue Wantagh, NY 11793 
	LaMonica Herbst & Maniscalco, LLP  3305 Jerusalem Avenue Wantagh, NY 11793 

	TR
	RE: 
	MUR 7268         Cambridge Analytica, LLC 

	Dear Sir/Madam: 
	Dear Sir/Madam: 


	On July 2, 2020, the Federal Election Commission notified you of a complaint alleging that Cambridge Analytica, LLC, had violated certain sections of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the “Act”). A copy of the complaint was forwarded to you at that time. 
	On August 18, 2021, we wrote to inform you that upon further review of the allegations contained in the complaint, the Commission, on April 22, 2021, voted to dismiss the allegations as they pertain to your client.  At that time, the Commission closed its file in this matter. 
	This letter is to inform you that, on September 28, 2021, the Commission voted to reopen the matter for further consideration. 
	If you have any questions, please contact Nicholas Bamman, the attorney assigned to this matter, at (202) 694-1628 or . 
	nbamman@fec.gov

	       Sincerely,       Claudio Pavia
	       Acting Assistant General Counsel 
	Figure

	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	Washington, DC 20463 
	VIA EMAIL
	VIA EMAIL
	VIA EMAIL
	        October 1, 2021 

	E. Stewart Crosland Jones Day 51 Louisiana Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20001 scrosland@jonesday.com 
	E. Stewart Crosland Jones Day 51 Louisiana Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20001 scrosland@jonesday.com 

	TR
	RE: 
	MURs 7207, 7268, and 7623        Donald J. Trump Make America Great Again PAC (f/k/a  Donald J. Trump for President, Inc.) and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer 

	Dear Mr. Crosland: 
	Dear Mr. Crosland: 


	On December 22, 2016, August 15, 2017, and July 25, 2019, the Federal Election Commission notified your clients, Donald J. Trump and Make America Great Again PAC (f/k/a Donald J. Trump for President, Inc.) and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer (the “Trump Committee”), of the complaints in MURs 7207, 7268 and 7623, alleging that your clients violated certain sections of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended. 
	On August 18, 2021, we wrote to inform you that (1) on April 22, 2021, the Commission considered the complaints and their supplements but was equally divided on whether to find reason to believe that Trump and the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting, accepting or receiving an in-kind contribution from the Russian Federation in connection with Trump’s press conference statement; that the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F
	This letter is to inform you that, on September 28, 2021, the Commission voted to reopen the matter for further consideration. 
	E. Stewart Crosland MURs 7207, 7268, and 7623 Page 2 
	If you have any questions, please contact Nicholas Bamman, the attorney assigned to this matter, at (202) 694-1628 or . 
	nbamman@fec.gov

	       Sincerely,       Claudio Pavia
	       Acting Assistant General Counsel 
	BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	In the Matter of ) ) MURs 7207, 7268, 7274 and 7623 
	) 
	First General Counsel’s Report in Public ) 
	File of MURs 7207, 7268, 7274, and ) 
	7623 -(Russian Federation, et al.) ) 
	CERTIFICATION 
	CERTIFICATION 

	I, Vicktoria J. Allen, recording secretary of the Federal Election Commission executive session, do hereby certify that on January 13, 2022, the Commission took the following actions, subject to the Notice of Errata dated December 21, 2021 and January 10, 2022, in the above-captioned matter: 
	1. Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: 
	Figure
	Commissioners Broussard, Cooksey, Dickerson, Trainor, Walther, Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision. 
	2. Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: 
	a. 
	a. 
	a. 
	Close the file. 

	b. 
	b. 
	Issue appropriate letters. 


	Federal Election Commission Page2 Ce1iification for MURs 7207, 7268, 7274, and 7623 Jaimaiy 13, 2022 
	Collllllissioners Broussard, Cooksey, Dickerson, Trainor, Walther, and Weintraub voted 
	affnmatively for the decision. 
	Attest: 
	Figure

	Digitally signed byVicktoria J 
	Allen 
	Allen 
	Vicktoria JAllen 

	Date:2022.01.1418:28:31 -05'00' 
	Januaiy 14, 2022 
	Date Vicktoria J. Allen Acting Deputy Secretaiy of the Commission 
	~ 
	Figure


	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	Washington, DC 20463 
	VIA CERTIFIED MAIL January 19, 2022 RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 
	VIA CERTIFIED MAIL January 19, 2022 RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 
	Robert C. Sinnot 
	Medford, OR 97504 
	RE: MURs 7266 & 7268 
	Dear Mr. Sinnot: 
	This is in reference to the complaint you filed with the Federal Election Commission on August 8, 2017, and its supplements, filed September 15, 2017, January 9 and October 29, 2018, and January 16, 2020. We note that the Office of General Counsel administratively severed from your MUR 7268 complaint the allegation that officials from the Donald J. Trump campaign met with Russian nationals on June 9, 2016, in Trump Tower to obtain opposition research and merged that allegation into pre-existing MUR 7266. 
	On March 9, 2021, the Commission considered the allegations in MUR 7266 but were equally divided on whether to find reason to believe that Donald J. Trump and Make America Great Again PAC (f/k/a Donald J. Trump for President, Inc.), and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer (the “Trump Committee”) and Donald J. Trump, Jr. violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting a contribution from a foreign national in connection with the Trump Tower meeting. Accor
	On April 22, 2021, the Commission considered the allegations raised in your complaint and voted to dismiss the allegation that Cambridge Analytica, LLC violated the Act by providing information to the Russian Federation. A copy of the Factual and Legal Analysis which formed a basis for the Commission’s decision regarding Cambridge Analytica, LLC is enclosed.  
	In addition, the Commission was equally divided on whether to find reason to believe that the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting, accepting or receiving an in-kind contribution from the Russian Federation in connection with Trump’s press conference statement; that the Russian Federation violated 52 
	U.S.C. § 30121(a)(1)(A) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(b) by making a prohibited in-kind contribution to the Trump Committee by expending resources to hack Hillary Clinton-related servers in response to Trump’s press conference statement; that the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting a prohibited in-kind contribution 
	Robert C. Sinnot MURs 7266 & 7268 Page 2 
	from WikiLeaks; that Paul Manafort and the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30114(b) and 11 C.F.R. § 113.1(g)(3) by transferring a campaign committee asset without charge in connection with the alleged transmission of polling data; and that Manafort and the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting a prohibited in-kind foreign national contribution in connection with the alleged transmission of polling data. In addition, the Commission voted to di
	Documents related to MUR 7266 have been placed on the public record and documents related to MUR 7268 will be placed on the public record within 30 days.  See Disclosure of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702 (Aug. 2, 2016). 
	The Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, allows a complainant to seek judicial review of the Commission’s dismissal of this action.  See 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(8). If you have any questions, please contact Nicholas Bamman, the attorney assigned to this matter, at 
	(202) 694-
	1650 or nbamman@fec.gov. 

	Sincerely, 
	Figure
	Claudio Pavia Acting Deputy Associate General Counsel 
	Enclosures: Factual and Legal Analysis Statement of Reasons 
	Enclosures: Factual and Legal Analysis Statement of Reasons 
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 

	Figure
	BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	In the Matter of 
	In the Matter of 
	In the Matter of 
	) 

	TR
	) 
	MURs 7265 and 7266 

	Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and 
	Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and 
	) 

	Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer; 
	Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer; 
	) 

	Donald Trump, Jr.; Paul Manafort; 
	Donald Trump, Jr.; Paul Manafort; 
	) 

	Jared Kushner; Rob Goldstone 
	Jared Kushner; Rob Goldstone 
	) 


	STATEMENT OF REASONS OF VICE CHAIR ALLEN DICKERSON AND 
	COMMISSIONERS SEAN J. COOKSEY AND JAMES E. “TREY” TRAINOR, III 
	COMMISSIONERS SEAN J. COOKSEY AND JAMES E. “TREY” TRAINOR, III 
	The Complaints in these matters claim that Donald J. Trump for President, Inc. and Bradley 
	T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer (“Trump Committee”),through its agents, solicited a prohibited foreign-national contribution in the form of negative information about the committee’s 2016 election opponent. The allegations center around a meeting between Trump Committee representatives and various foreign nationals on June 9, 2016, at Trump Tower in New York City.
	1 
	2 

	The Commission received the first complaint on July 10, 2017, and the second complaint three days later, but it did not immediately assess their merits.Instead, the Commission opted to hold the matters in abeyance for nearly two years pending the outcome of other publicly known government investigations. By the time the relevant investigations finished in mid-2019 with no civil or criminal charges, however, the Office of General Counsel (“OGC”) still had not evaluated the complaints to make recommendations 
	3 
	4 

	1 
	conciliation with the Respondents on February 5, 2021, and OGC’s recommendations were first placed on the agenda for discussion at our March 9, 2021, executive session.
	5 

	By that point, the statute of limitations had nearly run: a mere 92 days remained, despite our having received the complaints 1,332 days prior.Being only at the initial stage of enforcement—considering whether there was reason to believe the law had been violated—there was no reasonable chance for the Commission to bring an enforcement action to fruition in the remaining time.Moreover, attempting to press enforcement in these matters would have required expending significant resources and forgoing critical 
	6 
	7 
	8 

	In short, the Commission had no viable course of action but to dismiss these matters. Indeed, the Commission recently unanimously dismissed another matter that faced a nearly identical statute-of-limitations problem.
	9 

	Nonetheless, it is regrettable that the Commission did not have the opportunity to consider these matters with the luxury of time. This outcome should prompt the Commission to reflect on when, and under what circumstances, it abates its own investigations pending the work of other agencies. In many cases, the Commission does so to its own detriment, and this is perhaps one example. 
	First General Counsel’s Report at 36–37 (Feb. 5, 2021), MURs 7265 and 7266 (Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., et al.); Certification (March 9, 2021), MURs 7265 and 7266 (Donald J. Trump for President, Inc., et al.). 
	5 

	See 28 U.S.C. § 2462 (“[A]n action, suit or proceeding for the enforcement of any civil fine, penalty, or forfeiture, pecuniary or otherwise, shall not be entertained unless commenced within five years from the date when the claim first accrued.”). The Complainants might have brought a delay suit against the Commission for failing to act on their complaints after 120 days under 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(8), but did not in this case. 
	6 

	After finding reason to believe a violation has occurred, the Commission must undertake additional investigatory and deliberative steps before it can bring an enforcement action in federal court in a matter. After any attempt to conciliate with Respondents fails, OGC would then need to draft probable-cause briefs recommending that the Commission pursue enforcement. Respondents would be given fifteen days to respond to those briefs, as well as the right to request a probable-cause hearing. Following any hear
	7 

	OGC’s theory of a violation relied upon an expansive and novel definition of what constitutes a “thing of value” and, consequently, a “contribution” under the Federal Election Campaign Act. 52 U.S.C. § 30101(8)(A). The Commission has previously divided over whether general information that is helpful to a campaign is a “thing of value.” See Statement of Reasons of Vice Chair Caroline C. Hunter and Commissioners Lee E. Goodman and Matthew 
	8 

	S. Petersen at 6–7, MUR 6958 (Senator Claire McCaskill, et al.) (concluding that general advice from polling was not a “thing of value”). 
	See Certification (April 9, 2021), MUR 7395 (Heller for Senate, et al.) (dismissing under Heckler v. Chaney a matter with 88 days remaining on the statute of limitations); see also Statement of Chair Shana M. Broussard and Commissioner Ellen L. Weintraub at 2, MUR 7395 (Heller for Senate, et al.) (“[I]n light of the imminent statute of limitations and other priorities on the Commission’s docket, we voted to dismiss the allegations.”). 
	9 

	2 
	_________________________________ Sean J. Cooksey 
	In this position, however, our agency’s limited enforcement resources are better directed toward other investigations with better odds of success. Commission staff time and funds are especially precious in light of the significant backlog of enforcement cases that the Commission accrued while lacking a quorum. Considering the foregoing, three Commissioners declined to pursue this quixotic enforcement effort and instead voted to dismiss the complaints as a matter of prosecutorial discretion under Heckler v. 
	10 
	Chaney
	11 

	______________________________ Allen Dickerson Vice Chair 
	May 10, 2021 
	Date 
	May 10, 2021 
	Date 
	Commissioner 
	_________________________________ James E. “Trey” Trainor, III Commissioner 
	May 10, 2021 
	Date 
	Statement of Commissioner Ellen L. Weintraub, supra n.4. 470 U.S. 821, 831 (1985). 
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	1 FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 2 3 FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS 4 5 6 7 RESPONDENT:    Cambridge Analytica, LLC MUR: 7268 8 9 I. INTRODUCTION 
	10 The Complaint in this matter alleges that Cambridge Analytica, LLC, a former political 11 consulting company, provided illegally sourced social profiles to the Russian Federation.The 12 allegation here is vague, speculative, and unsupported by the available information.  Therefore, 13 the Commission dismisses the allegation that Cambridge Analytica, LLC, violated the Act, as 14 alleged. 15 II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 16 Cambridge Analytica, LLC was a limited liability company organized in Delaware on 17 Decem
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	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	Washington, DC 20463 
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	LaMonica Herbst & Maniscalco, LLP 
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	3305 Jerusalem Avenue 
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	Wantagh, NY 11793 

	TR
	RE: 
	MUR 7268 

	TR
	Cambridge Analytica, LLC 


	Dear Sir/Madam: 
	On July 2, 2020, the Federal Election Commission notified you of a complaint alleging that your client, Cambridge Analytica, LLC, had violated certain sections of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the “Act”). A copy of the complaint was forwarded to you at that time. 
	Upon further review of the allegations contained in the complaint, the Commission, on April 22, 2021, voted to dismiss the allegations as they pertain to your client. Accordingly, on August 10, 2021, the Commission closed its file in this matter.  On September 28, 2021, the Commission reopened the file in this matter for further consideration.  On January 13, 2022, the Commission closed the file in this matter without making any additional findings.  The Factual and Legal Analysis, which more fully explains
	Documents related to the case will be placed on the public record within 30 days. See Disclosure of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702 (Aug. 2, 2016). 
	If you have any questions, please contact Nicholas Bamman, the attorney assigned to this matter, at (202) 694-1650 or . 
	nbamman@fec.gov

	Sincerely, Claudio Pavia 
	Acting Deputy Associate General Counsel 
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	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
	Washington, DC 20463 
	VIA EMAIL January 19, 2022 
	E. Stewart Crosland, Esq. Jones Day 51 Louisiana Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20001 
	scrosland@jonesday.com 
	scrosland@jonesday.com 
	scrosland@jonesday.com 


	RE: MURs 7207, 7268, and 7623 
	Donald J. Trump 
	Make American Great Again PAC (f/k/a 
	Donald J. Trump for President, Inc.) and 
	Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity 
	as treasurer 
	Dear Mr. Crosland: 
	On December 22, 2016, August 15, 2017, and July 25, 2019, the Federal Election Commission notified your clients, Donald J. Trump and Make America Great Again PAC (f/k/a Donald J. Trump for President, Inc.), and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer (the “Trump Committee”), of the complaints in MURs 7207, 7268 and 7623, alleging that your clients violated certain sections of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended. 
	On April 22, 2021, the Commission considered the complaints and their supplements but was equally divided on whether to find reason to believe that Trump and the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting, accepting or receiving an in-kind contribution from the Russian Federation in connection with Trump’s press conference statement; that the Trump Committee violated 52 U.S.C. § 30121(a)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.20(g) by knowingly soliciting a prohibited
	Documents related to the case will be placed on the public record within 30 days.  See Disclosure of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702 (Aug. 2, 2016), effective September 1, 2016. A Statement of Reasons providing the basis for the Commission’s decision will follow.  
	E. Stewart Crosland MURs 7207, 7268, and 7623 Page 2 
	If you have any questions, please contact Nicholas Bamman, the attorney assigned to this matter, at (202) 694-1650 or . 
	nbamman@fec.gov

	Sincerely, 
	Figure
	Claudio Pavia Acting Deputy Associate General Counsel 










